THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken, including the Rights Issue, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal, you should
consult a licensed securities dealer or registered institution in securities, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountants or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited (the “Company”), you should at once hand this circular, together with the enclosed
form of proxy, to the purchaser or to the licensed securities dealer or registered institution in securities or other agent through whom the sale was affected for transmission to
the purchaser.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this circular, make no representation as
to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this circular.

This circular is for information purposes only and does not constitute an invitation or offer to acquire, purchase or subscribe for any securities of the Company.
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Capitalised terms used in this cover have the same meanings as those defined in this circular.

It should be noted that the Consolidated Shares are required to be dealt in on an ex-rights basis from Thursday, 19 May 2016. Dealings in the Rights Shares in their nil-paid
form will take place from Thursday, 2 June 2016 to Friday, 10 June 2016 (both dates inclusive). If the conditions of the Rights Issue are not fulfilled or waived (as applicable)
at or before 4:00 p.m. Thursday, 23 June 2016 (or such later time as the Company and the Underwriter and the Steering Committee Majority may agree), the Rights Issue will
not proceed. Any persons contemplating dealings in the Shares prior to the date on which the conditions of the Rights Issue are fulfilled or waived (as applicable), and/or
dealings in the nil-paid Rights Shares, are accordingly subject to the risk that the Rights Issue may not become unconditional or may not proceed. Any Shareholders or other
persons contemplating dealing in the Consolidated Shares and/or the Rights Shares in their nil-paid form are recommended to consult their own professional advisers. A letter
of advice from Somerley Capital Limited, the Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders, is set out on pages 79 to
106 of this circular and a letter of recommendation from the Independent Board Committee to the Independent Shareholders is set out on pages 77 to 78 of this circular.

The Underwriting Agreement in respect of the Rights Issue contains provisions entitling the Underwriter by notice in writing to the Company to terminate the Underwriting
Agreement on the occurrence of certain events including force majeure. These events are set out in the section headed “TERMINATION OF THE UNDERWRITING
AGREEMENT?” on page iv of this circular.

A notice convening the EGM to be held at United Conference Centre & Business Centre, 10/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong on Monday, 16 May
2016 at 10:00 a.m. is set out on pages EGM-1 to EGM-7 of this circular. Whether or not you are able to attend the EGM, you are requested to complete the accompanying
form of proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return the same to the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, as soon as possible but in any event not less than 48 hours before
the time appointed for the holding of the EGM or any adjournment thereof. Completion and delivery of the form of proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting in
person at the EGM or any adjournment thereof if you so wish, and in such case, the form of proxy previously submitted by such member(s) shall be deemed to be revoked.
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WARNING

WARNING OF THE RISKS OF DEALING IN THE SHARES AND RIGHTS SHARES

The Rights Issue is conditional upon the satisfaction of certain conditions as
described in the section headed “CONDITIONS OF THE RIGHTS ISSUE” and is inter-
conditional with the Debt Restructuring. In particular, attention is drawn to the following
conditions that must be satisfied (i) the Underwriting Agreement having become
unconditional and not having been terminated (see the section headed “TERMINATION
OF THE UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT?” in this circular); (ii) the parties to the
Underwriting Agreement complying with their obligations hereunder; (iii) the Executive
granting the Whitewash Waiver; (iv) the Schemes being sanctioned and all conditions
precedent to the Schemes (and any other documentation giving effect to the Debt
Restructuring), other than the completion of the Rights Issue, having been satisfied; and
(v) the Independent Shareholders approving the Rights Issue and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver,
the Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal subject to approval
at the EGM. Famous Speech is a special purpose vehicle whose ordinary course of
business does not include underwriting. It is reliant upon external funding to underwrite
the Rights Issue and such Funding is not at this stage committed. If the conditions of the
Rights Issue are not fulfilled or if Famous Speech exercises the right to terminate the
Underwriting Agreement pursuant to the terms therein, the Rights Issue will not proceed.
Alternatively, if Famous Speech fails to secure its external funding it will unlikely be able
to comply with its obligations under the Underwriting Agreement and the Rights Issue
will not proceed.

Any Shareholders or potential investors contemplating selling or purchasing Shares
and/or nil-paid Rights Shares up to the date when the conditions of the Rights Issue are
fulfilled will bear the risk that the Rights Issue might not become unconditional and might
not proceed. The Shares are expected to be dealt in on an ex-rights basis from Thursday,
19 May 2016. In particular, attention is drawn to the following material conditions
precedent which will need to be satisfied on or before the ex-rights day; (i) the
Independent Shareholders approving the Rights Issue and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the Specific
Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal subject to approval at the
EGM; and (ii) the sanction of the BVI Scheme and the Hong Kong Scheme by the BVI
Court and the Hong Kong Court, respectively. The Company will publish separate
announcement(s) to inform the public about the satisfaction of the above conditions
precedent. Dealings in the Rights Shares in nil-paid form are expected to take place from
Thursday, 2 June 2016 to Friday, 10 June 2016 (both days inclusive).

Any Shareholder or other person contemplating transferring, selling or purchasing
the Shares and/or Rights Shares in their nil-paid form is advised to exercise caution when
dealing in the Shares and/or the nil-paid Rights Shares.

Any party who is in any doubt about his/her/its position or any action to be taken is
recommended to consult his/her/its own professional adviser(s). Any Shareholder or other
person dealing in the Shares or in the nil-paid Rights Shares up to the date on which all
the conditions to which the Rights Issue is subject are fulfilled (and the date on which the
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WARNING

Underwriter’s right of termination of the Underwriting Agreement ceases) will
accordingly bear the risk that the Rights Issue may not become unconditional or may not
proceed.

Qualifying Shareholders should be aware of and take note that no application for
excess Rights Shares will be offered and any Untaken Shares will be taken up by Famous
Speech pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement.

Qualifying Shareholders who do not take up the Rights Shares to which they are
entitled should note that their shareholdings in the Company will be very materially
diluted through the issuance of the Rights Shares, the Scheme Shares and the Anti-
dilution Shares and if applicable, the issuance of the CVR Shares.

Shareholders and potential investors should also be aware of and take note that the
Share Consolidation is conditional upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out in
the paragraph headed “CONDITIONS OF THE SHARE CONSOLIDATION” in the
section headed “PROPOSED SHARE CONSOLIDATION” of this circular. Therefore, the
Share Consolidation may or may not proceed. Shareholders should note that, even if the
Share Consolidation proceeds, successful matching of the sale and purchase of odd lots of
Consolidated Shares is not guaranteed. Shareholders and potential investors are advised
to exercise caution when dealing in the Shares, and if they are in any doubt about their
position, they should consult their professional advisers.

Overseas Shareholders should note that they may or may not be entitled to
participate in the Rights Issue (including any right to Anti-dilution Shares). Accordingly,
Overseas Shareholders should exercise caution when dealing in the securities of the
Company.
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TERMINATION OF THE UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT

The Underwriting Agreement contains provisions granting the Underwriter, by notice in
writing to the Company, the right to terminate the Underwriter’s obligations thereunder on the
occurrence of certain events. The Underwriter may terminate the arrangements set out in the
Underwriting Agreement by notice in writing to the Company issued by Famous Speech in its
sole discretion at any time prior to the latest Time for Termination if there occurs:

(i) an introduction of any new law or regulation or any change in existing law or
regulation (or the judicial interpretation thereof); or

(i1) any act of God, war, riot, public disorder, civil commotion, fire, flood, explosion,
epidemic, terrorism, strike or lock-out;

and in the opinion of the Underwriter acting reasonably, such change would have a material
and adverse effect on the business, financial or trading position or prospects of the Group as a
whole or the success of the Rights Issue.

The Underwriting Agreement also contain a provision granting the Company, by notice in
writing to the Underwriter, the right to terminate the Underwriting Agreement if the
Underwriter fails to satisfy its funding obligations under the Underwriting Agreement to the
Company by 4:00 p.m. on the Settlement Date.

If the Restructuring Effective Date has not occurred by the Longstop Date, the
Underwriting Agreement shall terminate and no party shall have any obligation to any other
party save for any antecedent breach.

If the Underwriter or the Company terminates the Underwriting Agreement, the
Rights Issue will not proceed. A further announcement would be made if the
Underwriting Agreement is terminated by the Underwriter or the Company.
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the

following meanings:

“2015 Annual Results”

“Acceptance Date”

“acting in concert”

“AlixPartners”

“Amendment of Articles”

“Amy Wang”

“Amy Wang Loan Agreement”

“Amy Wang Share
Subscription”

“Amy Wang Shareholder Loan”

“Announcements”

the preliminary annual results of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015 published on 22
April 2016

4:00 p.m. on the last business day on which payment and
acceptance of the Rights Shares can be made under the
Rights Issue, which shall be 15 June 2016 (or such other
date as the Underwriter may agree in writing with the
Company and the Steering Committee Majority)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Takeovers Code

AlixPartners Services UK LLP, the financial advisor of the
Company in relation to the Debt Restructuring

the proposed amendment of the Articles, details of the
proposed amendment of the Articles are set out in the
section headed ‘““PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION”
in this circular

Ms. Wang Yi Han, the daughter of Mr. Wang, whose
address is Avenida Sir Anders Ljungstedt No. 297 E 303
EDF L’arc 48 Andar G48, Macau

the loan agreement entered into between Amy Wang and
Famous Speech dated 11 March 2016 in relation to,
amongst other things, the Amy Wang Shareholder Loan

the subscription by Amy Wang of twenty-one (21) ordinary
shares of US$1 each in the capital of Famous Speech at par
value pursuant to the Share Subscription Agreement

the shareholder loan provided by Amy Wang in the
maximum amount of US$10,995,000 to Famous Speech

various announcements of the Company in connection with,
amongst others, the Debt Restructuring and the proposed
Rights Issue, dated 8 May 2015, 31 May 2015, 16 June
2015, 22 June 2015, 21 July 2015, 3 August 2015, 14
August 2015, 31 August 2015, 2 October 2015, 9 October
2015, 19 October 2015, 4 November 2015, 26 November
2015, 22 December 2015, 28 December 2015, 28 January
2016, 25 February 2016, 13 March 2016, 22 March 2016,
24 March 2016, 11 April 2016 and 12 April 2016



DEFINITIONS

“Anti-dilution Shares”

“Articles”

“associate(s)”

“Bar Date”

“Board”
“Bondholder(s)”

“Business Day(s)”

“BVI”
“BVI Court”

“BVI Scheme”

“Cash Consideration”

“CCASS”

“Company”

the new Consolidated Shares to be allotted and issued to
Qualifying Shareholders, who elect to take up the Rights
Shares, for the purpose of protecting the Rights Issue from
the dilution effect of the issuance of Scheme Shares. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Anti-dilution Shares are in addition
to the Rights Shares

the articles of association of the Company, as amended
from time to time

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

5:00 p.m. New York time on the date falling three months
after the Restructuring Effective Date

the board of Directors, as constituted from time to time
beneficial holder(s) of the Senior Notes

any day (excluding Saturdays and Sundays and any day on
which a tropical cyclone warning signal No. 8 or above is
hoisted or remains hoisted between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00
noon and is not lowered at or before 12:00 noon or on
which a “black” rainstorm warning is hoisted or remains in
effect between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon and is not
discontinued at or before 12:00 noon and public holidays)
on which banks in Hong Kong and in the PRC are open for
general business

the British Virgin Islands
the Commercial Court of the BVI

a scheme of arrangement between the Company and the
Bondholders under section 179A of the Business
Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands (2004)
reflecting the terms of the Debt Restructuring

the sum of US$41,703,334

the Central Clearing and Settlement System established and
operated by HKSCC

Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI with limited liability whose Shares
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1733)



DEFINITIONS

“connected person(s)”

“Consent Fee”

’

“Consenting Bondholders’

“Consolidated Share(s)”

“controlling shareholder”

“Controlling Shareholder
Group”

“CVR(S)”

“CVR Settlement Price”

“CVR Share(s)”

“CVR Specific Mandate”

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

approximately US$ 6.8 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$52.7 million), being the consent fee that will be shared
pro rata based on the outstanding principal amount held by
and among those Consenting Bondholders that became a
party to the Restructuring Support Agreement on or prior to
5:00 pm (Hong Kong time) on 23 December 2015 (or such
later date as the Company and the Steering Committee
Majority may agree in writing) in a total amount equal to
2% of the outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid
interest in respect of the Senior Notes as at 25 November
2015

those Bondholders who have acceded to the Restructuring
Support Agreement

the ordinary share(s) of the Company immediately after the
Share Consolidation

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

means Mr. Wang and his directly or indirectly wholly
owned companies, namely, Winsway Group, Winsway
Resources, Great Start and Winsway International, which
together own approximately 40.24% of the existing issued
Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date

certain contingent value rights with an aggregate notional
value of US$10 million, which will be a one-off payment to
the Bondholders pursuant to the Debt Restructuring upon
the occurrence of certain trigger events. Details of the major
terms and conditions of the CVRs, including such trigger
events, are set out in the section headed ‘“Principal Terms
of the CVRs” in this circular

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed
“Principal terms of the CVRs” in this circular

up to 112,318,850 Consolidated Shares that might be issued
in settlement of the CVRs

the specific mandate to be granted by the Independent
Shareholders to the Board at the EGM to authorise the
Directors to allot and issue up to a maximum number of
112,318,850 CVR Shares



DEFINITIONS

“Debt Restructuring”

“Director(s)”

“EGM”

“Elective Scheme

Consideration”

“Executive”

“Existing Share(s)”

“Explanatory Statement”

“Famous Speech” or
“Underwriter”

“Famous Speech Undertaking”

“Final Distribution Date”

“QGreat Start”

“Group”
“HK$”

“HKSCC”

the restructuring of the outstanding Senior Notes
implemented through the Schemes

the director(s) of the Company

an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be
convened for the purpose of considering, and if thought fit,
approving among other things, the Rights Issue, the
Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the
Specific Mandate, the issuance of the CVRs, the CVR
Specific Mandate, the Special Deal, the Share Consolidation
and the Amendment of Articles

the Cash Consideration and the Scheme Shares

the Executive Director of the Corporate Finance Division of
SFC, or any delegate of the Executive Director

ordinary share(s) of the Company, before the Share
Consolidation becoming effective

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed
“Proposed Debt Restructuring” in this circular

Famous Speech Limited, a company incorporated in the
BVI with limited liability with its registered office at OMC
Chambers, Wickhams Cay 1, Road Town, Tortola, British
Virgin Islands, which is wholly owned by Amy Wang as at
the Latest Practicable Date and will be 73.3% owned by
Amy Wang and 26.7% by Magnificient Gardenia upon
completion of the Share Subscription Agreement. Amy
Wang is a director of Famous Speech

the irrevocable undertaking letter dated 11 March 2016
given by Famous Speech in favour of the Company and the
Trustee, for the benefit of the Bondholders

the date falling 10 Business Days after the Bar Date

Great Start Development Ltd., a company incorporated in
the BVI

the Company and its subsidiaries
Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited



DEFINITIONS

“Hong Kong”
“Hong Kong Court”

“Hong Kong Scheme”

“Houlihan Lokey”

“Indenture”

“Independent Board
Committee”

“Independent Financial
Advisor”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
the High Court of Hong Kong

a scheme of arrangement between the Company and the
Bondholders pursuant to sections 673 and 674 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (as amended) as
applicable in Hong Kong reflecting the terms of the Debt
Restructuring

the financial advisor to the Steering Committee, and as at
the Latest Practicable Date, it and none of its group
companies hold any Shares or other relevant securities (as
defined in note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) of the
Company

an indenture dated 8 April 2011 in relation to the Senior
Notes between, amongst others, the Company, certain of its
subsidiaries and the Trustee as amended, varied and
supplemented from time to time including by a
supplemental indenture dated 24 April 2012 and a second
supplemental indenture dated 11 October 2013

the independent board committee, comprising all
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. James
Downing, Mr. Ng Yuk Keung, Mr. Wang Wenfu and Mr.
George Jay Hambro and the non-executive Director, namely
Mr. Lu Chuan, which has been formed to advise the
Independent Shareholders in respect of the Rights Issue and
the transactions contemplated thereunder including the
Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the
Special Deal

Somerley Capital Limited, a corporation licensed to carry
out Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activities under the SFO,
independent financial advisor appointed by the Company to
advise the Independent Shareholders as well as the
Independent Board Committee on, the Rights Issue, the
Whitewash Waiver, the Underwriting Agreement and the
Special Deal



DEFINITIONS

“Independent Shareholder(s)”

“independent third party”

“Initial Anti-dilution Shares”

“Initial Bondholder(s)”

“Initial Distribution Date”
“Initial Scheme Consideration
Deadline”

“Initial Scheme Share(s)”

“Interest Payments”

in relation to the Whitewash Waiver, the Rights Issue, the
Underwriting Agreement, the issuance of the CVRs, the
Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the
Special Deal, the Shareholder(s) other than (i) Famous
Speech and its concert parties (including but not limited to
the Controlling Shareholder Group, Amy Wang,
Magnificent Gardenia), Minmetals Cheerglory, its concert
parties and its associates; and (ii) those who are involved or
interested in the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement,
the issuance of the CVRs, the Specific Mandate, the CVR
Specific Mandate and the Special Deal, and/or the
Whitewash Waiver and (iii) Bondholders who are also
Shareholders and their respective concert parties

party who is independent of and not connected with the
Company and any of the Directors, chief executive and
substantial Shareholders of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of their respective associates

the Anti-dilution Shares to be issued and allotted on the
Initial Distribution Date

Bondholder(s) in respect of whom a duly completed account
holder letter and distribution confirmation deed has been
provided to and received by the information agent on or
before Initial Scheme Consideration Deadline

the date falling three Business Days after the Restructuring
Effective Date

5:00 p.m. New York time on 17 May 2016

the Scheme Shares to be issued and allotted to the Initial
Bondholders on the Initial Distribution Date

the scheduled interest payments of US$13.15 million in
relation to the Senior Notes which fell due on each of 8
April 2015, 8 October 2015 and 8 April 2016, respectively



DEFINITIONS

“Irrevocable Undertaking”

“Last Trading Day”

“Latest Practicable Date”

’

“Latest Time for Termination’

“Listing Rules”

“Longstop Date”

“Macau”

the irrevocable undertaking letter dated 25 November 2015
given by Mr. Wang in favour of the Company and the
Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders, whereby Mr.
Wang undertook that, assuming the launch of the Rights
Issue, among other things, (a) he would, or procure
companies controlled by him to (i) subscribe for all the
Rights Shares provisionally allotted to him or the relevant
companies; and (ii) lodge with the Company acceptances, in
respect of such Rights Shares provisionally allotted to the
relevant companies with payment in full in cash; or (b) he
would, or procure companies controlled by him or his close
relatives to, underwrite the Rights Shares provisionally
allotted to but not subscribed by other existing
Shareholders, at the subscription price of the Rights Issue
pursuant to an underwriting agreement in respect of the
Rights Issue to ensure that the Rights Issue raises at least
US$50 million in cash and that such funds shall be applied
to satisfy payment of the Cash Consideration, Consent Fee
and the success fee of Houlihan Lokey, details of which are
set out in this circular

28 August 2015, being the last trading day of the Existing
Shares on the Stock Exchange before the release of the
Rights Issue Announcement

22 April 2016, being the latest practicable date prior to the
printing of this circular for the purpose of ascertaining
certain information for inclusion in this circular

4:00 p.m. on the Settlement Date, being the fifth Business
Day after (but excluding) the Acceptance Date, or such
other time as may be agreed between the Company and the
Underwriter and the Steering Committee Majority

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange

15 July 2016 (or such later date as may be agreed by the
Company, Famous Speech and the Steering Committee
Majority)

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC



DEFINITIONS

“Magnificent Gardenia”

“Magnificent Gardenia Loan
Agreement”

“Magnificent Gardenia Shares
Subscription”

“Magnificent Gardenia
Shareholder Loan”

“Memorandum”

“Minmetals Cheerglory”

“Minmetals South-East Asia”

Magnificent Gardenia Limited, a company incorporated in
the BVI with limited liability which is directly wholly-
owned by Minmetal South-East Asia and ultimately owned
as to approximately 88.4% and 11.6% by China Minmetals
Corporation and China Reform Holdings Corporation Ltd.,
respectively, both being state-owned enterprises
incorporated in the PRC. Save as disclosed in the section
headed “Implications Under the Listing Rules” in this
circular, none of China Minmetals Corporation’s group
companies (including China Reform Holdings Corporation
Ltd.) hold any Shares and other relevant securities (as
defined in note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) of the
Company as at the Latest Practicable Date

the loan agreement entered into between Magnificent
Gardenia and Famous Speech dated 19 March 2016 in
relation to, amongst others, Magnificent Gardenia
Shareholder Loan

Magnificent Gardenia subscribes for and Famous Speech
issues eight (8) ordinary shares to Magnificent Gardenia in
the consideration of US$8 pursuant to the Share
Subscription Agreement

the shareholder loan provided by Magnificent Gardenia in
maximum amount of US$4,005,000 to Famous Speech

the Memorandum of Association of the Company, as
amended from time to time

Minmetals Cheerglory Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability, which is wholly owned
by Minmetals International trading Co Pte. Ltd, and
ultimately owned as to approximately 88.4% and 11.6% by
China Minmetals Corporation and China Reform Holdings
Corporation Ltd., respectively, both being state-owned
enterprises incorporated in the PRC

Minmetals South-East Asia Corporation Pte Ltd., a
company incorporated in Singapore with limited liability,
which is the sole shareholder of Magnificent Gardenia



DEFINITIONS

“Mr. Wang”

“New Shares”

“Non-Qualifying
Shareholder(s)”

“Offshore Bank”

“Offshore Loan”

“Overseas Shareholder(s)”

B

“Participating Bondholders’

“Posting Date”

“PRC”

“Prospectus”

“Prospectus Documents™

Mr. Wang Xingchun (FHLFESEAE), the controlling
shareholder of the Company and includes, where the
context requires, any member or members of the
Controlling Shareholder Group, whose address is Avenida
Sir Anders Ljungstedt No. 297 E 303 EDF L’arc 48 Andar
G48, Macau

collectively, the Rights Shares, the Scheme Shares and the
Anti-dilution Shares

Shareholder(s) whose name(s) appear(s) on the register of
members of the Company on the Record Date and whose
address(es) as shown on such register (is) are outside Hong
Kong where the Directors, based on legal advice, consider it
necessary or expedient to exclude any such Shareholders on
account either of legal restrictions under the laws of the
relevant place or the requirements of the relevant regulatory
body or stock exchange in that place

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch

the loan to be provided by the Offshore Bank in the
principal amount of up to US$50 million to Famous Speech
for the purpose of underwriting the Rights Issue

Shareholder(s) whose name(s) appear(s) on the register of
members of the Company at the close of business on the
Record Date and whose address(es) as shown on such
register is (are) outside Hong Kong

Bondholders in respect of whom a duly completed account
holder letter and distribution confirmation deed has been
provided to and received by the information agent on or
before the Bar Date

Tuesday, 31 May 2016, or such other date as the Company
may agree in writing with Famous Speech and the Steering
Committee Majority, at the date on which the Prospectus
Documents are expected to be despatched

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose
of this circular, Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

the prospectus to be issued by the Company in relation to
the Rights Issue

the Prospectus and the PAL(s)



DEFINITIONS

“Provisional Allotment
Letter(s)” or “PAL(s)”

“Provisional Liquidation Event”

“Qualifying Shareholder(s)”

“Record Date”

“Recognition Filings”

“Registrar”

the provisional allotment letter(s) for the Rights Issue

the judicial appointment of one or more provisional
liquidators (or analogous officeholders) to the Company
and/or any Subsidiary Guarantor or any steps being taken in
relation thereto

Shareholder(s) other than Non-Qualifying Shareholder(s)
whose name(s) appear(s) on the register of members of the
Company on the Record Date

the date for determining the entitlement of the Qualifying
Shareholders whose name(s) appear(s) on the register of
members of the Company on the date for determining the
entitlement of the qualifying shareholders to the Rights
Issue

being a petition under Chapter 15 of the US Bankruptcy
Code for recognition of the compromise and arrangement of
the Hong Kong Scheme and a request for the U.S.
Bankruptcy Court to grant a Chapter 15 Recognition Order,
that is, an order of the U.S. Bankruptcy Court recognising
and giving effect to certain aspects of the compromise and
arrangement set out in the Hong Kong Scheme, including
the release of the Company from its obligations under the
Schemes

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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DEFINITIONS

“Restricted Action”

“Restructuring”

“Restructuring Documents”

2

“Restructuring Effective Date

“Restructuring Support

Agreement”

“Rights Issue”

“Rights Issue Announcement”

“Rights Share(s)”

(a) the acceleration of any liabilities or any declaration that
any liabilities are prematurely due and payable or payable
on demand in respect of the Senior Notes and any security
documents; (b) the making of any demand against the
Company and/or any Group entity under or in relation to
any guarantee, indemnity, surety or other assurance against
loss in respect of the Senior Notes and any security
documents; (c) enforcing or requiring the enforcement of
any security created under any security document; (d) the
suing for, commencing or joining of any legal or arbitration
proceedings against the Company or any Group entity to
recover any liabilities due and payable pursuant to the
Indenture; and (e) the petitioning, applying or voting for, or
the taking of any formal steps (including the appointment of
any liquidator, provisional liquidator, receiver, administrator
or similar officer) in relation to, the winding up,
dissolution, administration, receivership or reorganisation of
the Company or any Group entity or any suspension of
payments or moratorium of any indebtedness of the
Company or any Group entity, or any analogous procedure
or step in any jurisdiction

the transactions contemplated under the Debt Restructuring
and the proposed Rights Issue

all documents, agreements and instruments necessary to
implement the Restructuring in accordance with the
Restructuring Support Agreement and the Term Sheet

the date on which all Scheme Conditions are satisfied

the restructuring support agreement dated 25 November
2015 entered into between the Company, the Consenting
Bondholders and the Subsidiary Guarantors

the issue of the Rights Shares by the Company on the terms
and subject to the conditions to be set out in the Prospectus
Documents

the announcement of the Company published on 13 March
2016 in relation to, among other things, the proposed Rights
Issue

new Consolidated Shares proposed to be provisionally
allotted and issued to the Qualifying Shareholders for
subscription pursuant to the Rights Issue, for the avoidance
of doubt, excluding the Anti-dilution Shares
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DEFINITIONS

“Rule 3.7 Announcements”

“Scheme Conditions”

“Scheme Consideration”

“Scheme Consideration
Trustee”

“Scheme Meetings”

“Scheme Record Time”

“Scheme Share(s)”

“Schemes”

“Security Deposit”

“Senior Notes”

the announcements of the Company published on 26
November 2015, 22 December 2015, 28 December 2015,
28 January 2016 and 25 February 2016 in relation to,
among other things, entering into the Restructuring Support
Agreement and the discussion of a possible rights issue

has the meaning ascribed to it under the section headed
“Scheme Conditions” in this circular

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed
“Scheme Consideration™ in this circular

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas or such other
person as may be appointed pursuant to the terms of the
Schemes to act as trustee of the Cash Consideration, the
Consent Fee and the cash allocated to pay the Houlihan
Lokey success fee in accordance with the Schemes

collectively, (i) a meeting of the Bondholders in relation to
the Hong Kong Scheme, as convened by order of the Hong
Kong Court for the purpose of considering and, if thought
fit, approving the Hong Kong Scheme; (ii) and a meeting of
the Bondholders in relation to the BVI Scheme, as
convened by order of the BVI Court for the purpose of
considering and, if thought fit, approving the BVI Scheme;
and “Scheme Meeting” shall mean either of them

5:00 p.m. New York time on 29 April 2016

new Consolidated Shares proposed to be provisionally
allotted and issued to the Bondholders pursuant to the Debt
Restructuring

collectively, the BVI Scheme and the Hong Kong Scheme

the security deposit in an amount equal to 30% of the
principal amount of the Offshore Loan pledged by Shanghai
Guanding to an onshore commercial bank in connection
with the Offshore Loan

the US$500,000,000 8.50% senior notes due 2016 issued by
the Company on 8 April 2011 of which approximately
US$309,310,000 in principal amount remains outstanding as
the Latest Practicable Date
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DEFINITIONS

“Settlement Date”

“SFC”

“SFO”

“Shanghai Guanding”

“Share(s)”

“Share Consolidation™

“Shareholder(s)”

“Shareholder Agreement”

“Shareholder Loan”

“Shareholder Loan Agreements”

“Share Subscriptions”

“Share Subscription
Agreement”

“Share Subscription
Completion”

“Share Subscription Completion
Date”

22 June 2016, being the fifth Business Day following the
Acceptance Date (or such other time or date as the
Underwriter, the Company and the Steering Committee
Majority may agree in writing) subject to the terms of the
Underwriting Agreement

the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws
of Hong Kong)

Shanghai Guanding Petrochemical Co., Ltd. (76 & £ il
L AP 7)), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Famous
Speech incorporated in the PRC

the existing ordinary share(s) of the Company or the
Consolidated Share(s) (as the case may be)

the proposed consolidation of every twenty (20) Existing
Shares into one (1) Consolidated Share

the holder(s) of the Shares

the shareholder agreement of Famous Speech to be entered
into between Amy Wang, Magnificent Gardenia and
Famous Speech on or before the Share Subscription
Completion

collectively, the Amy Wang Shareholder Loan and the
Magnificent Gardenia Shareholder Loan

collectively, the Amy Wang Loan Agreement and the
Magnificent Gardenia Loan Agreement

collectively, the Magnificent Gardenia Share Subscription
and the Amy Wang Share Subscription

the share subscription agreement dated 11 March 2016
between, Magnificent Gardenia, Amy Wang and Famous
Speech in relation to, among other things, the subscription
of shares in Famous Speech by Magnificent Gardenia

the completion of the Share Subscription pursuant to the
Share Subscription Agreement

the date of the Completion as contemplated in the Share
Subscription Agreement
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DEFINITIONS

“Share Subscription Transaction
Documents™

“Special Deal”

“Specific Mandate”

“Steering Committee”

LR

“Steering Committee Majority

“Stock Exchange”
“Subscription Price”

“Subsidiary Guarantor(s)”

“Sub-underwriting Agreement”

“Supplemental Irrevocable
Undertaking”

“Takeovers Code”

the Share Subscription Agreement, Shareholder Agreement,
Shareholder Loan Agreements and other documents relating
to the transactions contemplated therein

the use of proceeds from the Rights Issue including the
payment of the Consent Fee and the distribution of the Cash
Consideration, together with the CVR Shares and Scheme
Shares, to be paid and/or allocated to the Bondholders who
are shareholders, which constitute special deal under Rule
25 of the Takeovers code

the specific mandate to be granted by the Shareholders to
the Board at the EGM to authorise the Directors to allot and
issue up to a maximum number of 2,829,898,935 New
Shares (subject to effect of treatment to fractional
Consolidated Share)

the ad hoc group of Bondholders, as constituted from time
to time, formed for the purposes of facilitating discussions
between the Bondholders and the Company about the
restructuring of the Senior Notes

any member or members of the Steering Committee who in
aggregate own more than 50% of the total Senior Notes
held by the Steering Committee

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
HK$0.69 per Rights Share

certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company which
are guarantors under the Indenture and parties to the
Restructuring Support Agreement

the sub-underwriting agreement dated 11 April 2016 entered
into between Famous Speech and Wincon Asset
Management in relation to the sub-underwriting
arrangement in respect of the Rights Issue

the supplemental undertaking to the Irrevocable
Undertaking dated 11 March 2016 given by Mr. Wang in
favour of the Company and the Trustee, for the benefit of
the Bondholders

The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs
issued by the SFC
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“Term Sheet”

“Triggering Event”

“Trustee”

“Underwriting Agreement”

“Underwritten Shares”

“U.S.” or “United States”

“U.S. Bankruptcy Court”

“US$”

L3

“Wincon Asset Management

“Whitewash Waiver”

the term sheet appended to the Restructuring Support
Agreement

has the meaning ascribed to it in the section headed
“Principal Terms of CVRs” in this circular

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas in its capacity as
trustee who acts for the benefit of the Bondholders under
the Indenture (or any successor trustee appointed under the
terms of the Indenture) to perform certain duties and
exercise rights on the terms of the Indenture

the underwriting agreement dated 11 March 2016 entered
into between the Company, the Controlling Shareholder
Group (including Mr. Wang) and Famous Speech in relation
to the underwriting arrangements in respect of the Rights
Issue

all Rights Shares that are to be taken up by Famous Speech
subject to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting
Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Anti-dilution
Shares will be issued in respect of all Rights Shares taken
up by the Underwriter (as well as relevant Qualifying
Shareholders)

the United States of America

the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of
Manhattan

United States dollars

Wincon Asset Management Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI with its registered office at Units
2703-06, Convention Plaza Office Tower, 1 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, which is wholly owned by Mr. Li
Kwong Yuk, an independent third party

the waiver by the Executive under Note 1 on Dispensations
from Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code of the obligation on
the part of Famous Speech to make a mandatory general
offer to the Shareholders, for all the Shares, except those
already owned or agreed to be acquired by Famous Speech
and parties acting in concert with it (including but not
limited to the Controlling Shareholder Group), which would
otherwise arise as a result of the fulfilling its obligations
under the Underwriting Agreement
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DEFINITIONS

“Winsway Group”

“Winsway International”

“Winsway Resources”

“%”

Winsway Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in the BVI

Winsway International Petroleum & Chemicals Limited, a
company incorporated in the BVI

Winsway Resources Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI

per cent.
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF THE SHARE CONSOLIDATION,
THE RIGHTS ISSUE AND THE CHANGE IN BOARD LOT SIZE

The expected timetable of the Share Consolidation and the Rights Issue is set out below.
All the times and dates in this circular refer to Hong Kong local times and dates. The expected
timetable is subject to change, and any such change will be further announced by the Company
as and when appropriate.

Event 2016

(Hong Kong time)
Despatch of circular with notice and proxy forms for the EGM ............. Monday, 25 April
Scheme MeEetiNgS. . ...ttt ettt et ettt e e e e 10:00 am on

Tuesday, 3 May

BVI Court Sanction Hearing .......... ..., 10:00 a.m. (BVI time) on
Wednesday, 11 May

Latest time for lodging transfers of Shares in order to qualify
for the attendance and voting at the EGM. .................... ... ........... 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 11 May

Register of members closes to determine the qualification
for attendance and voting at the EGM (both dates inclusive)........... Thursday, 12 May to
Monday, 16 May

Latest time for lodging proxy forms for the EGM ............................. 10:00 a.m. on

Saturday, 14 May
Expected date and time of the EGM............ ... ... .. . i i, 10:00 a.m. on

Monday, 16 May
Announcement of the poll results of the EGM ............................. Monday, 16 May
Effective date of the Share Consolidation............. ... ... ... ... Tuesday, 17 May
Commencement of dealings in the Consolidated Shares.......................... 9:00 a.m. on

Original counter for trading in the Existing Shares
in board lot of 1,000 Existing Shares (in the form of
existing Share certificates) temporarily closes............. .. ... ... 9:00 a.m. on

Temporary counter for trading in the Consolidated Shares

in board lot of 50 Consolidated Shares (in the form of
existing share certificates) OPens .. .......uuuuieeet i 9:00 a.m. on
Tuesday, 17 May

First day of free exchange of existing certificates
for new share certificates for the Consolidated Shares commences......... Tuesday, 17 May
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF THE SHARE CONSOLIDATION,
THE RIGHTS ISSUE AND THE CHANGE IN BOARD LOT SIZE

Event 2016
(Hong Kong time)

Hong Kong Court Sanction Hearing ........ ... ... o i i i, 10:00 a.m. on
Tuesday, 17 May

Last day of dealings in the Consolidated Shares on cum-rights basis ..... Wednesday, 18 May
First day of dealings in the Consolidated Shares on ex-rights basis......... Thursday, 19 May
Latest time for lodging transfer of the Consolidated Shares
in order to qualify for the Rights Issue ........ ... ... ... .. . ... 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 20 May
Closure of register of members to determine eligibility

for the Rights Issue (both dates inclusive) ............................. Monday, 23 May to
Friday, 27 May

Record Date for determining entitlements to the Rights Issue ................. Friday, 27 May
Register of members of the Company re-opens...................ooovi.... Monday, 30 May
Prospectus Documents expected to be despatched .......................... Tuesday, 31 May

Original counter for trading in the Consolidated Shares
in board lot of 1,000 Consolidated Shares
(in the form of new share certificates) re-opens .................vviiiunnnn.... 9:00 a.m. on
Tuesday, 31 May

Parallel trading in Consolidated Shares in the form of
new Consolidated Share certificates and
existing Share certificates COMMENCes .............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnn, 9:00 a.m. on
Tuesday, 31 May

Designated broker starts to stand in the market

to provide matching services for the sale and
purchase of odd lots of Consolidated Shares .................................. 9:00 a.m. on
Tuesday, 31 May

First day of dealing in nil-paid Rights Shares ............ ... .. ... ... ... .... 9:00 a.m. on
Thursday, 2 June

Latest time for splitting in nil-paid Rights Shares .............................. 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 6 June

Last day of dealings in nil-paid Rights Shares ................................. 4:00 p.m. on
Friday, 10 June

Latest time for Acceptance of, and payment for, the Rights Shares.............. 4:00 p.m. on
Wednesday, 15 June
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF THE SHARE CONSOLIDATION,
THE RIGHTS ISSUE AND THE CHANGE IN BOARD LOT SIZE

Event 2016
(Hong Kong time)

Temporary counter for trading in the Consolidated Shares

in board lot of 50 Consolidated Shares (in the form of
existing Share certificates) closes. ... ... 4:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, 21 June

Parallel trading in Consolidated Shares in the form of
new Consolidated Share certificates and
existing Share certificates CloSes ..., 4:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, 21 June

Designated broker ceases to stand in the market
to provide matching services for odd lots of Consolidated Shares ............. 4:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, 21 June

Latest time for Termination of the Underwriting Agreement .................... 4:00 p.m. on
Wednesday, 22 June

Last day for free exchange of existing share certificates
for the existing Shares or the Shares for

new share certificates for the Consolidated Shares....................... Thursday, 23 June
Restructuring Effective Date ........ ... ... i i, Thursday, 23 June
Announcement of allotment results of the Rights Issue ..................... Monday, 27 June

Certificates for the Rights Shares (together with certificates
for the Initial Anti-dilution Shares) expected to be
despatched, and Initial Distribution Date for despatch
of the certificates for the Initial Scheme Shares and
CVRs to Initial Bondholders ... i i i on or before
Tuesday, 28 June

Refund cheques (if any) in respect of Rights Shares if
the Rights Issue is terminated expected to be posted on or before......... Tuesday, 28 June

Dealings in fully-paid Rights Shares (and Initial
Anti-dilution Shares and Initial Scheme Shares)
COMIMEIICE . o\t ettt e ettt e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e et ettt et e et 9:00 a.m. on
Wednesday, 29 June

Final Distribution Date for despatch of the certificates
for the remaining Scheme Shares (together with
certificates for the remaining Anti-Dilution Shares)
and remaining CVRS ... ... Friday, 14 October

Dealings in remaining Anti-dilution Shares and

remaining Scheme Shares commence ................coiiiiiiiriiiiinnnnnnnnn. 9:00 a.m. on
Monday, 17 October
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF THE SHARE CONSOLIDATION,
THE RIGHTS ISSUE AND THE CHANGE IN BOARD LOT SIZE

Event 2016
(Hong Kong time)

Effective date of the new board lot size
(12,000 Consolidated Shares) ..., Monday, 17 October

Designated brokers starts to stand in the market
to provide matching services for sale and purchase of
odd lots of Consolidated Shares............ooiiiiii i 9:00 a.m. on
Monday, 17 October

Designated broker ceases to stand in the market
to provide matching services for sale and purchase of
odd lots of Consolidated Shares.......... ... oo i i, 4:00 p.m. on
Tuesday, 8 November

EFFECT OF BAD WEATHER ON THE LATEST TIME FOR ACCEPTANCE OF AND
PAYMENT FOR THE RIGHTS SHARES

The latest time for acceptance of and payment for the Rights Shares will not take place if
there is a tropical cyclone warning signal no. 8 or above, or a ‘black’ rainstorm warning:

i.  in force in Hong Kong at any local time before 12:00 noon and no longer in force
after 12:00 noon on 15 June 2016. Instead, the latest time for acceptance of and
payment for the Rights Shares will be extended to 5:00 p.m. on the same Business
Day; or

ii. in force in Hong Kong at any local time between 12:00 noon and 4:00 p.m. on 15
June 2016. Instead, the latest time for acceptance of and payment for the Rights
Shares will be rescheduled to 4:00 p.m. on the following Business Day which does
not have either of those warnings in force at any time between 9:00 a.m. and 4:00
p-m.

If the latest time for acceptance of and payment for the Rights Shares does not take place
on 15 June 2016, the dates mentioned in the “EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF THE SHARE
CONSOLIDATION, THE RIGHTS ISSUE AND THE CHANGE IN BOARD LOT SIZE”
section in this circular may be affected. The Company will notify Shareholders by way of
announcement(s) on any change to the expected timetable as soon as practicable.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

WINSWAY”

WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED
XKEBXZEZRKR O BIRA A
(formerly known as “WINSWAY COKING COAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 7K £ 15 it (0 R 2 7 ”)
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 1733)

Executive Directors: Registered Office:

Ms. Cao Xinyi Akara Bldg.24

Ms. Zhu Hongchan De Castro Street

Mr. Wang Yaxu Wickhams Cay 1

Mr. Feng Yi Road Town, Tortola

BVI

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Lu Chuan Principal place of business
in Hong Kong:

Independent Non-executive Directors: Suites 2104-05

Mr. James Downing Hutchison House

Mr. Ng Yuk Keung 10 Harcourt Road

Mr. Wang Wenfu Hong Kong

Mr. George Jay Hambro
25 April 2016
To the Shareholders,

Dear Sirs or Madams,

(1) DEBT RESTRUCTURING WITH BONDHOLDERS;
(2) PROPOSED SHARE CONSOLIDATION;

(3) PROPOSED RIGHTS ISSUE IN THE PROPORTION OF 3 RIGHTS SHARES AND
9 ANTI-DILUTION SHARES FOR EVERY 1 CONSOLIDATED SHARE
HELD ON THE RECORD DATE AT HK$0.69 PER RIGHTS SHARE;
(4) CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO
THE ENTERING INTO OF UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT;

(5) PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO MEMORANDUM
AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION;

(6) SPECIFIC MANDATE TO ISSUE NEW SHARES;

(7) SPECIFIC MANDATE TO ISSUE CVR SHARES;

(8) ISSUANCE OF CVRS;

(9) APPLICATION FOR WHITEWASH WAIVER;

(10) SPECIAL DEAL;

(11) PROPOSED CHANGE OF BOARD LOT SIZE;

AND
(12) NOTICE OF EGM

1. INTRODUCTION

This circular is being sent to you to give you information relating to a series of
transactions which the Company proposes in order to restructure the Company, and in order to
seek your approval to those transactions at an EGM convened for 16 May 2016.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

As Shareholders will be aware, the Company’s financial liquidity has been adversely
impacted due to the depressed price of coking coal and the on-going oversupply and declining
demand in the PRC coking coal market. These market forces have contributed to a very
difficult trading environment. In light of these conditions, the Company has been actively
implementing cost controls and business rationalization measures to preserve cash and
Shareholder value in the Company, including the sale of non-core assets, which are detailed in
section 9 of this circular headed “REASONS FOR THE RIGHTS ISSUE AND THE DEBT
RESTRUCTURING™. Since the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company has, together with its
financial advisors, explored available strategic options and pursued alternative fund raising
options for the Company in order to address the payment obligations under the Senior Notes
and to maximise value for bondholders and shareholders. Details of these activities are set out
in the section headed “Alternative Fund Raising Activities” in under section 7 of this circular
headed ‘“THE UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT AND SUB-UNDERWRITING
AGREEMENT”.

The Company has, since May 2015, been in default under its Senior Notes. This led the
Company to negotiate a restructuring with a steering committee of Bondholders to avoid a
potential liquidation of the Company, which resulted in the Restructuring Support Agreement
being entered into on 25 November 2015. The Debt Restructuring which is proposed under the
terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement provides for the Senior Notes being redeemed in
return for providing to Bondholders a combination of a cash payment, newly issued Shares and
instruments known as “CVRs”. Further details of the Debt Restructuring are set out in this
Circular. In order to fund the cash component of the Debt Restructuring, the Company sought
investors for a potential issue of new equity in the Company and approached various potential
equity investors. Some of these discussions progressed to an advanced stage, but none resulted
in a firm investment proposal, other than a proposal from Mr. Wang to underwrite a rights
issue to raise money to fund the cash component and related expenses. Accordingly, Mr. Wang
entered into an irrevocable undertaking to underwrite such rights issue at the same time as the
Restructuring Support Agreement was entered into. Mr. Wang and Famous Speech, a company
which is currently wholly owned by his daughter, entered into an Underwriting Agreement on
11 March 2016 in fulfilment of this irrevocable undertaking (as subsequently modified).
Further details on the Rights Issue and the Underwriting Agreement are set out in this Circular.
The Debt Restructuring will be effected by schemes of arrangement in Hong Kong and the
BVI. One of the conditions to the schemes is that the Rights Issue has been completed.

After the review of the available strategic alternatives mentioned above (and after taking
into account the various cost controls and business rationalisation measures implemented), and
having considered the likely recoveries to all stakeholders on a liquidation of the Company, the
Directors believe that the Debt Restructuring represents the best outcome available for the
Shareholders and the Bondholders, particularly in light of the current lack of alternatives to
raise new capital. Accordingly, the Directors consider that it is prudent for the Company to
raise funds through the Rights Issue and to complete the Debt Restructuring on the terms
proposed. The Company selected Famous Speech as the sole underwriter because it was willing
to engage in negotiations in finalising the Debt Restructuring and the Rights Issue on terms
favourable for the Debt Restructuring balancing the interests of the Shareholders and
Bondholders. Famous Speech is a special purpose vehicle which is reliant upon external
funding to underwrite the Rights Issue and such funding is not at this stage committed. The
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financial adviser to the Company, UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, was of the view that there
were very slim chances, if any, of the Company securing commercial underwriters on the basis
of hard-underwriting. In the absence of alternative viable options, the Directors believe that the
entry into the Underwriting Agreement with Famous Speech represents the best opportunity to
fund the completion of the Debt Restructuring.

You are advised to read the whole of this circular which contains further details on the
matters set out above, and to read carefully the letter of recommendation from the Independent
Board Committee and the letter of advice from the Independent Financial Adviser set out on
pages 77 to 78 and pages 79 to 106 of this circular.

Reference is made to the Rule 3.7 Announcements in relation to, amongst others, (i) the
Company entering into the Restructuring Support Agreement with the Subsidiary Guarantors
and certain of the Consenting Bondholders on 25 November 2015 pursuant to which they have
agreed to support the proposed Debt Restructuring subject to the terms and conditions of such
agreement; and (ii) Mr. Wang executing the conditional Irrevocable Undertaking on 25
November 2015.

Details of the major proposed terms and conditions of the Debt Restructuring, as well as
the Irrevocable Undertaking are set out in the Rule 3.7 Announcement and developments in
relation to the Irrevocable Undertaking, are set out below.

Reference is also made to the Rights Issue Announcement in relation to, amongst others,
the Share Consolidation, the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the proposed
Amendment of Articles, the Specific Mandate to issue New Shares, the Specific Mandate to
issue CVR Shares, the issuance of CVRs, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal.

Completion of the Rights Issue will be conditional on, amongst other things, the
Schemes being sanctioned and all conditions precedent to the Schemes (and any other
documentation giving effect to the Debt Restructuring) having been satisfied other than
the completion of the Rights Issue.

Completion of the Debt Restructuring will be conditional on, amongst other things,
completion of the Rights Issue.

There is no certainty that the Restructuring, either in whole or in part, can be
executed and that the funding can be obtained. Shareholders are therefore urged to
exercise caution in dealing in the Shares.

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with, among other things, further details of
(a) the Debt Restructuring; (b) the proposed Share Consolidation; (c) the proposed Rights
Issue, including the Underwriting Agreement; (d) the proposed Amendment of Articles; (e) the
Specific Mandate; (f) the application for Whitewash Waiver; (g) the Special Deal; (h) the
issuance of the CVRs; (i) the CVR Specific Mandate; (j) a letter of recommendation from the
Independent Board Committee to the Independent Shareholders; (k) a letter of advice from the
Independent Financial Advisor to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders; and (1) a notice of the EGM setting out the relevant resolutions in respect of the
Restructuring.
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2. DEBT RESTRUCTURING WITH BONDHOLDERS

As mentioned in the Rule 3.7 Announcements, after trading hours on 25 November 2015,
the Company, Subsidiary Guarantors and certain of the Consenting Bondholders entered into
the Restructuring Support Agreement, pursuant to which they have agreed to support the Debt
Restructuring, subject to certain terms and conditions.

The proposed Debt Restructuring will consist of a redemption of the outstanding Senior
Notes and all accrued but unpaid interest thereon up to the Scheme Record Time (including,
without limitation, the Interest Payments) at a discount, with Bondholders accepting a
combination of the Cash Consideration, the Scheme Shares and the CVRs in full settlement. As
at 19 February 2016, the outstanding Senior Notes and all accrued but unpaid interest thereon
in aggregate amounted to approximately US$346.5 million. Each participating-Bondholder will
receive a pro rata allocation of the CVRs based on the outstanding principal amount held by
each participating Bondholder and, at its election (subject to certain conditions described
below), a combination of Cash Consideration and Scheme Shares. Upon completion of the
Debt Restructuring, the aggregate amount of the Cash Consideration and the aggregate number
of Scheme Shares and CVRs will be completely allocated among the Bondholders in
consideration of all claims in respect of the Senior Notes being extinguished.

The Debt Restructuring will be implemented by the Schemes, for which recognition will
be sought in the U.S. under Chapter 15 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. To initiate this process,
the Company has applied to the Hong Kong Court and the BVI Court for orders granting leave
to convene meetings of the Bondholders to vote on the Schemes (the “Scheme Meetings™).
These applications were heard before the BVI Court on 21 and 22 March 2016 and before the
Hong Kong Court on 21 March 2016 and the relevant orders were granted on 21 March, 2016
and 22 March 2016. The Scheme Meetings have accordingly been convened for 10:00 am on 3
May 2016. To enable the Bondholders to understand the Schemes and to make an informed
decision when deciding whether to approve them, a detailed explanatory statement
(“Explanatory Statement”) has been made available to the Bondholders in accordance with
the procedures required by Hong Kong and BVI law and practice. The Explanatory Statement
includes information as to the background of the Company and why the Restructuring is
necessary, the process undertaken to arrive at the proposed Restructuring, financial information
relating to the Company, definitive documentation relating to the CVRs and other related
documents required to give effect to the Schemes. The Explanatory Statement also includes a
liquidation analysis, which the Company retained AlixPartners to perform in order to analyse
estimated recoveries to creditors in a theoretical liquidation scenario (if the Restructuring were
not to be implemented). The Company has also filed the petition for the Chapter 15
Recognition with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court, which has scheduled a hearing to consider the
relief requested in the petition at 10:00 a.m. (New York time) on May 9, 2016 in Room 523 of
the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York, One Bowling
Green, New York, New York 10004. As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24
March 2016, the Scheme Meeting will be held in Hong Kong at 10.00 a.m. on Tuesday 3 May
2016 (Hong Kong time)/10:00 p.m. on 2 May 2016 (BVI time). The petition seeking sanction
of the BVI Scheme from the Commercial Division of the Eastern Caribbean Supreme Court
shall be heard at 10.00 a.m. (BVI time) on Wednesday 11 May 2016. The petition seeking
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sanction of the Hong Kong Scheme from the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region shall be heard at 10.00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on Tuesday 17 May
2016.

Prior to concluding the terms of the Debt Restructuring, the Company considered various
factors. The Company has, since May 2015, been in default under the Senior Notes (by reason
of its failure to make the first Interest Payment). This led the Company to negotiate a
restructuring with the Steering Committee in relation to the Senior Notes to avoid a potential
liquidation of the Company. In order to fund the cash component of the settlement with
Bondholders, the Company sought investors for a potential issue of new equity in the
Company. In this regard, the Company approached various potential equity investors in relation
to different possible fund-raising structures, including a rights issue, open offer or placing.
Some of these discussions progressed to an advanced stage, but none resulted in a firm
investment proposal.

Eventually, discussions between the Company and the Steering Committee resulted in
agreement on the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement (and appended Term Sheet),
which were founded on the willingness of Mr. Wang to underwrite a rights issue to raise an
agreed cash component of the Debt Restructuring. This is the amount of US$50 million to fund
the Cash Consideration, the Consent Fee and success fee to Houlihan Lokey. Bondholders
holding at least 83% of the principal amount of the outstanding Senior Notes have now
acceded to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

Scheme Conditions

The Schemes shall become fully effective upon the Restructuring Effective Date,
being the date on which the following conditions are satisfied:

(i) the sanction with or without modification (but subject to any such modification
being acceptable to the Company and in accordance with the terms of the
Schemes) of the BVI Scheme and the Hong Kong Scheme by the BVI Court
and the Hong Kong Court (respectively);

(ii) the court order sanctioning the BVI Scheme and the court order sanctioning the
Hong Kong Scheme having been delivered to the BVI Registrar of Companies
and the Hong Kong Registrar of Companies (respectively) for registration;

(iii) the US Bankruptcy Court having made an order under Chapter 15 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code recognising and giving effect to certain aspects of the
compromise and arrangement set out in the Hong Kong Scheme, including the
release of the Company from its obligations in respect of the Senior Notes;

(iv) an appropriate resolution having been passed by the Shareholders to approve the
issuance of the CVRs;

(v) the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange listing and granting permission to
deal in the Scheme Shares;
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(vi) the Rights Issue having completed and all of the proceeds therefrom (including
for the avoidance of doubt the proceeds from any and all underwriting
arrangements in respect thereof) having been transferred to the Scheme
Consideration Trustee;

(vii) each of the restructuring documents having been executed by each of the parties
thereto; and

(viii)the Company having paid all fees, costs and expenses of the advisers, the
Trustee, the collateral agent, the registrar, and the Scheme Consideration
Trustee that have been duly invoiced to the Company by 17 May 2016 (or such
later date as may be agreed by the Company with the relevant party or parties),
which fees shall not include the success fee payable to Houlihan Lokey.

Scheme Consideration
The proposed Scheme Consideration comprises:
(a) the Cash Consideration, representing the sum of US$41,703,334;

(b) the Scheme Shares with an attributed value of US$12.5 million, which shall
represent 18.75% of the total issued Shares on a fully diluted basis upon
completion of the Restructuring and after completion of the Share Consolidation
and issuance of all of the Rights Shares, Anti-dilution Shares and Scheme
Shares'; and

(¢) the CVRs with an aggregate notional value of US$10 million, which, subject to
terms and conditions, may be settled in cash or CVR Shares or a combination of
both at the discretion of the Company. For details regarding the major terms
and conditions of the CVRs, please refer to “Principal Terms of the CVRs” in
this circular.

Note 1: The Scheme Shares were attributed a value of US$12.5 million, which was derived from
the implied valuation of the Company of US$66.67 million based upon the fact that the
Rights Issue Shares, representing 75% of the total issued Shares post-Rights Issue,
would be issued for approximately US$50 million implying a value of US$66.67 million
for 100% of the Shares Accordingly, 18.75%, being the interest represented by the
Scheme Shares post-Rights Issue, have an attributed value of US$12.5 million, equal to
approximately HK$0.17 per Scheme Share, on the basis of 565,979,787 Scheme Shares
to be allotted and issued.

All Bondholders that submit a claim in the Schemes by the requisite Bar Date (see
below) will be entitled to receive a pro rata share of the Scheme Consideration based on
the outstanding principal amount held by the Bondholder and the Bondholder’s election of
Scheme Consideration. All such Bondholders will receive CVRs, but whether they receive
Cash Consideration and/or Scheme Shares will depend on the operation of the election
mechanism described below.
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Treatment of the Senior Notes

Upon completion of the Debt Restructuring, the outstanding Senior Notes will be
cancelled and all guarantees and security in connection with the Senior Notes will be
released.

Scheme claims, distribution of Scheme Consideration and Bar Date

In order to receive any Scheme Consideration under the Schemes, a Bondholder must
submit a claim (outlining the details of its Senior Notes, amongst other things) to the
information agent.

The Scheme Consideration will be distributed on two separate dates under the terms
of the Schemes:

(a) on the Initial Distribution Date, a proportion of the Scheme Consideration will
be distributed among all Bondholders that have submitted a claim in the
Schemes by the Initial Scheme Consideration Deadline (the ‘‘Initial
Bondholders™); and

(b) on the Final Distribution Date, the remainder of the Scheme Consideration (if
any) will be distributed among those Bondholders that have submitted a claim
in the Schemes by the Bar Date (including the Initial Bondholders) (the
“Participating Bondholders™).

On the Initial Distribution Date, each Initial Bondholder will receive a proportion of
the total Scheme Consideration pro rata to the proportion that its Scheme claim value
bears to all potential Scheme claims, being the total value of the outstanding Notes and
accrued, but unpaid interest (including the Interest Payments) up to the Scheme Record
Time.

If any Bondholder has not submitted a claim by the Initial Scheme Consideration
Deadline, the Scheme Consideration to which it would otherwise have been entitled will
not be issued on the Initial Distribution Date. Any Cash Consideration to which that
Bondholder would be entitled will be held on trust by the Scheme Consideration Trustee.
Any Scheme Shares and CVRs to which that Bondholder would be entitled will not be
issued by the Company until the Final Distribution Date.

Any Bondholder that submits a claim after the Initial Scheme Consideration Deadline
but before the Bar Date (thereby becoming a Participating Bondholder) will receive on the
Final Distribution Date an amount of Scheme Consideration pro rata to the proportion that
its Scheme claim value bears to all potential Scheme claims, being the total value of the
outstanding Notes and accrued, but unpaid interest (including the Interest Payments) up to
the Scheme Record Time.

Any Bondholder that fails to submit a claim by the date falling three months after the
Restructuring Effective Date (the “Bar Date”) will receive nil Scheme Consideration but
its claims against the Company and the other Group companies will be irrevocably
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released. Any remaining Scheme Consideration to which it would otherwise have been
entitled shall be distributed pro rata on the Final Distribution Date to the Participating
Bondholders. Each Participating Bondholder will receive an amount of the surplus
Scheme Consideration pro rata to the proportion that its Scheme claim value bears to all
Scheme claims actually submitted by the Bar Date.

The Company will publish a separate announcement to inform the public of the
Restructuring Effective Date and the Bar Date.

Election mechanism

All Participating Bondholders will receive a pro rata share of the CVRs. However,
whether a Participating Bondholder receives some or all of their remaining Scheme
Consideration in the form of Cash Consideration or Scheme Shares (together, the
“Elective Scheme Consideration”) will depend on whether (and how) they have
exercised their right to make an election.

Each Participating Bondholder is entitled to receive a pro rata share of the total
Elective Scheme Consideration (whether in the form of Cash Consideration or Scheme
Shares). For these purposes, the Scheme Shares will be attributed a value of US$12.5
million (approximately HK$96.9 million), meaning the value of the total Elective Scheme
Consideration is US$54,203,334.

Bondholders may choose to receive their entitlement to the Elective Scheme
Consideration in the form of the Cash Consideration only, the Scheme Shares only or a
combination of the two. However, this option is only open to Bondholders until the Initial
Scheme Consideration Deadline. Bondholders who submit a claim by the Initial Scheme
Consideration Deadline without making an election, or who submit a claim before the Bar
Date but after the Initial Scheme Consideration Deadline, will be deemed to have elected
to receive Scheme Shares only.

If the aggregate amount of the Cash Consideration that the Initial Bondholders elect
(and are entitled) to receive exceeds the actual amount of the Cash Consideration
available, on the Initial Distribution Date the Cash Consideration will be shared between
those Bondholders on a pro rata basis and they will be issued with Scheme Shares with a
value equal to the shortfall. Equally, if the aggregate number of Scheme Shares that the
Bondholders elect (and are entitled) to receive exceeds the actual number of the Scheme
Shares available, on the Initial Distribution Date the Scheme Shares will be shared
between those Bondholders on a pro rata basis and will receive a payment of the Cash
Consideration with a value equal to the shortfall.

If part of the Cash Consideration and some of the Scheme Shares remain on the Final
Distribution Date (that is, neither is “over-subscribed” on the Initial Distribution Date),
the same principles as outlined above will apply with respect to how that remaining
distribution is shared amongst the Participating Bondholders.
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Consent Fee

On or around the Restructuring Effective Date, the Scheme Consideration Trustee
will pay the Consent Fee of approximately US$6.8 million (approximately HKS$52.7
million), the total amount of which equals to 2% of the outstanding principal and accrued
but unpaid interest in respect of the Senior Notes as at 25 November 2015 (being the date
of the Restructuring Support Agreement). The Consent Fee will be shared pro rata among
those Consenting Bondholders that have become a party to the Restructuring Support
Agreement in accordance with the Restructuring Support Agreement.

Restructuring Support Agreement

The material terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement are set out below.

Termination

The Restructuring Support Agreement shall automatically terminate on:

(a)
(b)
(©)

(d)

(e)

¢9)

the occurrence of the Longstop Date;
the occurrence of the Restructuring Effective Date;

the entry of a final non-appealable order by any court of competent jurisdiction
or other competent governmental or regulatory authority making illegal or
otherwise preventing, prohibiting or materially restricting the consummation of
the Restructuring;

the petitioning, applying or voting for, or the taking of any formal steps
(including the appointment of any liquidator, receiver, administrator or similar
officer) by any person or entity in relation to, the winding up, dissolution,
administration, receivership or reorganisation of the Company or any Group
entity and/or any or all of its or their respective liabilities or any suspension of
payments or moratorium of any indebtedness of the Company or any Group
entity, or any analogous procedure or step in any jurisdiction, other than a
Provisional Liquidation Event;

the Schemes not being approved by a majority in number representing at least
75% in value of the Bondholders present and voting (either in person or by
proxy) at the Scheme Meetings; or

the Hong Kong court or the BVI court declining to sanction the Hong Kong
Scheme or the BVI Scheme (as applicable) and: (i) the Company confirming
that it will not appeal such order; or (ii) if an appeal is lodged, the appeal being
dismissed and the Hong Kong Court or the BVI Court (as the case may be)
granting a final order declining to sanction the Hong Kong Scheme or the BVI
Scheme.
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The Steering Committee Majority may terminate the Restructuring Support
Agreement by written notice to the Company if, other than due to any action taken
intentionally by any Consenting Bondholder:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

()

(2)

the Company or any Subsidiary Guarantor breaches any provision of the
Restructuring Support Agreement unless the breach is capable of remedy and is
remedied within 5 business days such breach;

any representation or statement made by the Company or any Subsidiary
Guarantor is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading in any material
respect;

a Provisional Liquidation Event occurs;
any Restricted Action is taken against any member of the Group;

circumstances have arisen which the Steering Committee Majority reasonably
believes in good faith to mean that it is reasonably likely that the Restructuring
cannot be successfully completed;

a Whitewash Waiver is not obtained by 25 February 2016 (or such later date as
may be agreed between the Company and the Steering Committee Majority; as
at the Latest Practicable Date, this had been extended to 29 April 2016); or

an agreement is not reached between the Company and the Steering Committee
Majority on the final form of the Restructuring Documents (other than the
Prospectus Documents) by 19 February 2016 (or such later date as may be
agreed between the Company and the Steering Committee Majority; and as at
the Latest Practicable Date, this has been extended to (and fulfilled by) 26
February 2016).

The Restructuring Support Agreement may be terminated at any time with the mutual
written consent of the Company and the Steering Committee Majority.

Each Consenting Bondholder may, by written notice to the Company, terminate the
Restructuring Support Agreement with respect to itself and rescind (to the extent
permitted by law) any consent previously provided by it with respect to the Restructuring
if the Company or any other Group company provides, or agrees to provide, to any
Consenting Bondholder in respect of its Senior Notes any payment or other benefit that
would disadvantage any other party, except as contemplated by the Restructuring Support
Agreement and the Term Sheet. Should there be such payment or other benefit proposed
to be offered to certain Bondholders who may also be Shareholders, the Company will
consult with the Executive in advance before proceeding with such arrangements, and
comply with the relevant requirements under the Takeovers Code.
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Conditions Precedent of the Restructuring Support Agreement

The obligation of any party under the Restructuring Support Agreement is
conditional on the Irrevocable Undertaking having been duly executed by Mr. Wang and
delivered to the Company and the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders and such
condition has been satisfied.

The Company’s and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ obligations

The Company and each Subsidiary Guarantor have undertaken in favour of the
Consenting Bondholders that they shall take all actions which in the reasonable opinion of
the Steering Committee Majority are reasonably necessary to take in order to support,
facilitate, implement or otherwise give effect to the Restructuring as soon as reasonably
practicable and, in any event, before the Longstop Date, including, amongst others, to:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

¢9)

work expeditiously to progress the Restructuring and to prepare, finalise,
execute and deliver the Restructuring Documents;

give any notice, order, consent, direction or information and to take all such
steps and actions as may be necessary or desirable to support, facilitate,
implement or otherwise give effect to the Restructuring including the proposing,
filing and pursuing expeditiously of the Restructuring Document, the Schemes
and the Recognition Filings;

call all creditor and shareholder meetings required to implement the
Restructuring including, without limitation, the Scheme Meetings;

take any actions pursuant to any order of, or sanction by, the BVI Court and the
Hong Kong Court, as the case may be, as may be required or necessary to
implement or give effect to the Restructuring;

use reasonable efforts to obtain from the Shareholders all necessary
shareholders’ approvals and consents in respect of the Rights Issue and the
Debt Restructuring; and

take all reasonable steps to seek and obtain promptly any necessary or desirable
consents, approvals or authorisations in connection with the Restructuring,
including, without limitation, consents, approvals or authorisations from the
Stock Exchange and any and all other relevant governmental bodies.
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Restrictions on the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors

The Company and each Subsidiary Guarantor shall not without the prior written
consent of the Steering Committee Majority take certain actions including amongst other

things:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(2)
(h)

@
Q)

intentionally taking, encouraging, assisting or supporting any action (or
procuring that any person does so) which would, or would reasonably be
expected to, frustrate, delay, impede or prevent the Schemes or the
Restructuring or which is inconsistent with the Restructuring Support
Agreement or the Term Sheet;

assigning or transferring any of its rights and interests in respect of, or declaring
or creating any trust of any of its rights, interests or benefits in respect of, the
Restructuring Support Agreement;

taking or consenting to the taking of any action which supports or favours any
proposed composition, compromise, assignment or arrangement with any
creditor of the Company or the Group other than pursuant to the
implementation of the Restructuring or the Restructuring Support Agreement;

paying or agreeing to pay any performance related bonus to any director or
officer or make any award or grant to any director under any incentive scheme
or bonus plan, other than in the normal course of business and consistent with
past practice;

issuing equity, or otherwise changing its capital structure in any way not
contemplated by the Restructuring Support Agreement or the Term Sheet
including, any steps which may involve the issue of any new debt, shares,
warrants or options to acquire any new shares, or increase its authorised shares
for any purpose other than to implement the Restructuring;

selling, transferring, leasing, acquiring, or otherwise disposing of any shares in
any other company or of all or any material part of its present or future
undertaking, material assets, rights or revenues;

paying any dividends or making other distributions to its Shareholders;

incurring any new debt, or becoming subject to any new liens or other
encumbrances, other than as may be incurred or created in the ordinary course
of its trading business for working capital purposes;

adopting any management compensation schemes;

entering into any other transaction other than in the ordinary course of business,
for arm’s length consideration; or
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(k) terminating any fee letter or confidentiality agreement entered into between any
Bondholder and the Company from time to time (as the same may be amended
from time to time) except as may be agreed between the relevant parties.

The Consenting Bondholders’ obligations

To the best knowledge of the Company, save for those Bondholders who are also
Shareholders as disclosed in the section headed “14. Special Deal” herein, all
Bondholders are third parties independent of the Company, that is, none of them is a
connected person of the Company, as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Each of the Consenting Bondholders shall (or, as applicable, procure that a duly
authorised representative, proxy or nominee shall), at the cost of the Company and the
Subsidiary Guarantors, take all reasonable actions which it is reasonably requested by the
Company to take in order to support, facilitate, implement or otherwise give effect to the
Restructuring as soon as reasonably practicable and, in any event, before the Longstop
Date, including, amongst others, to:

(a) support the Schemes prior and subject to the sanction of the BVI Court and the
Hong Kong Court, as applicable;

(b) attend the Scheme Meetings by proxy or in person and vote its Senior Notes in
favour of the Schemes and any amendment or modification to the Schemes or
adjournment to the Scheme Meetings, provided that they are proposed by the
Company and that the terms of the Schemes as amended or modified remain
consistent in all material respects with the terms of the Schemes without such
amendments or modifications and are consistent with and do not include any
additional material terms which are likely to adversely affect or conflict with
the terms of the Restructuring or its implementation;

(c) except where (b) above applies, exercise all votes cast in respect of its Senior
Notes against any amendment or modification to the Schemes or any proposal
to adjourn the Scheme Meetings;

(d) support any filings and petitions by the Company or any Subsidiary Guarantor
in such other jurisdictions as may be, in the discretion of the directors of the
Company or any Subsidiary Guarantor, reasonably required to implement the
Restructuring;

(e) support any other actions as may be taken by the Company or any Subsidiary
Guarantor pursuant to an order of, or sanction by, the BVI Court and the Hong
Kong Court, as the case may be, as may be reasonably required or reasonably
necessary to implement or give effect to the Restructuring;

(f) support the Recognition Filings;

(g) provide confirmation to any other party that it supports the Restructuring;
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(h)

(1)

execute any document and give any notice, order, consent, direction or
information and taking all such steps and actions which the Company considers
reasonably necessary to support, facilitate, implement or otherwise give effect to
the Restructuring provided that the form of any such document, notice, order,
consent, direction or information is reasonably satisfactory to the Steering
Committee Majority; and

in the case of those Consenting Bondholders who constitute the Steering
Committee, work within a reasonable timeframe and in good faith with the
Company and its advisers with a view to furthering the mutual objective of
implementing the Restructuring.

Restrictions on the Consenting Bondholders

The Consenting Bondholders shall not:

(a)

(b)

(©)

intentionally take, encourage, assist or support (or procure that any other person
takes, encourages, assists or supports) any action which would, or would
reasonably be expected to, frustrate, delay, impede or prevent the Schemes or
the Restructuring or which is inconsistent with the Restructuring Support
Agreement or the Term Sheet;

commence, take, support or actively assist any proceedings against the
Company and/or any Group company or any action in connection with any
default or event of default howsoever arising, including, without limitation, any
Restricted Action; and

assign, transfer or sub-participate any of its rights and interests in respect of, or
declare or create any trust of any of its rights, interests or benefits in respect of,
its Senior Notes or the Restructuring Support Agreement to, or in favour of, any
other person unless that person becomes a party to the Restructuring Support
Agreement or is already a Consenting Bondholder.

Completion

The completion of the Debt Restructuring and the possible Rights Issue will be
interconditional.
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3.

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE CVRS

Notional Value:

Triggering Event:

Maturity Date:

Settlement:

US$10 million, which will be a one-off payment to the
Bondholders upon the occurrence of the Triggering Event
as more particularly described below.

The triggering event will be when the Company’s cash
profit before taxation in any financial year exceeds
US$100 million. Such cash profit before taxation is
defined as the sum of ‘“Profit before Taxation” and
“Non-cash costs”. “Profit before Taxation” shall be the
figure reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss of the annual audited financial statements of the
Company. “Non-cash costs” shall be defined as the sum
of “Depreciation”, ‘“Amortization”, and “Equity settled
share-based transactions” reported in the consolidated
cash flow statement of the annual audited financial
statements of the Company. Such cash profit before
taxation shall also exclude any extraordinary gains and
losses and write downs outside normal course of business
operations of the Company.

5 years from the issue date of the CVRs (being the Initial
Distribution Date).

The Company shall have the right to choose to use cash
or CVR Shares (at the prevailing 30-day volume-
weighted average price “CVR Settlement Price”) to
settle the CVRs on the Settlement Date (as defined in the
Contingent Value Rights Instrument). The hypothetical
price of HK$0.69 has been adopted by the Company as a
floor price for the purpose of the CVR Specific Mandate.

In any event, if the Triggering Event were to occur
before the Maturity Date, meaning that the Company’s
cash profit before taxation in the relevant financial year
would have exceeded US$100 million, the Company
would expect to have sufficient cash to be able to settle
CVRs wholly in cash should it choose to do so and if the
relevant CVR Settlement Price were lower than HK$0.69
(equivalent to the Subscription Price), subject to
adjustment for share consolidations, sub-divisions and so
forth, the Company would not settle CVRs through the
issuance of CVR Shares without seeking a renewed
specific mandate from Shareholders at the relevant time.
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The Company’s basis in using the Subscription Price
HK$0.69 as the hypothetical CVR Settlement Price is
because should the Triggering Event occur and assuming
there will be no any further consolidation of Shares, the
Company does not contemplate the share price to fall
below the Subscription Price.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the Company is unable to
settle the CVRs by issuing CVR Shares, it will settle the
CVRs in cash.

Expiry: The CVRs will expire (and no payment shall be due from
the Company) if the Triggering Event does not occur
prior to the Maturity Date.

Listing: No application will be made for the listing of, and
permission to deal in, the CVRs on the Stock Exchange
or any other stock exchange.

Conditions Precedent: The ability of the Company to settle the CVRs by the
issuance of CVR Shares is conditional on, amongst other,
the following:

(i) the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
granting the listing of, and permission to deal in,
the CVR Shares;

(i1) the approval of Independent Shareholders of the
CVR Specific Mandate; and

(iii) all other relevant consents and approvals being
obtained from all relevant governmental and
regulatory authorities.

Application for listing of the CVR Shares

The Company will apply to the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange for the
listing of, and permission to deal in, the CVR Shares to be issued and allotted pursuant to
the CVR.

Subject to the granting of the listing of, and permission to deal in, the CVR Shares
on the Stock Exchange, the CVR Shares will be accepted as eligible securities by HKSCC
for deposit, clearance and settlement in CCASS with effect from their respective
commencement dates of dealings on the Stock Exchange or such other dates as determined
by HKSCC. Settlement of transactions between participants of the Stock Exchange on any
trading day is required to take place in CCASS on the second trading day thereafter. All
activities under CCASS are subject to the General Rules of CCASS and CCASS
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Operational Procedures in effect from time to time. Shareholders should seek advice from
their stockbrokers or other professional advisors for details of those settlement
arrangements and how such arrangements will affect their rights and interests.

Dealings in the CVR Shares which are registered in the register of members of the
Company in Hong Kong will be subject to the payment of stamp duty, Stock Exchange
trading fee, transaction levy or any other applicable fees and charges in Hong Kong.

Warning

Completion of the Debt Restructuring will be conditional on, amongst other
things, completion of the Rights Issue. Shareholders are therefore urged to exercise
caution in dealing in the Shares.

4. ENTERING INTO THE IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKING

On 25 November 2015, Mr. Wang gave the conditional Irrevocable Undertaking in favour
of the Company and the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders that, assuming the launch
of the possible Rights Issue by the Company, among other things:

(a) he would, or procure a company or companies controlled by him to (i) subscribe for
all the Rights Shares (subject to the subscription price not exceeding a prescribed
limit per Rights Share) provisionally allotted to him or a company or companies
controlled by him, under the possible Rights Issue; and (ii) lodge with the Company
acceptances, in respect of such Rights Shares provisionally allotted to him or a
company or companies controlled by him under the possible Rights Issue, with
payment in full therefor in cash;

(b) he would, or procure a company or companies controlled by him or his close
relatives to, either acting severally or in combination underwrite the Rights Shares
(subject to the subscription price not exceeding a prescribed limit per Rights Share)
provisionally allotted to but not subscribed by other existing shareholders, at the
Subscription Price of the Rights Issue pursuant to an underwriting agreement to be
entered into between him and the Company in relation to the underwriting
arrangements in respect of the Rights Issue, subject to the possible Rights Issue not
being terminated under the underwriting agreement to be entered into in relation to
the underwriting arrangements in respect of the Rights Issue to ensure that the Rights
Issue raises at least US$50 million in cash and that such funds shall be applied to
satisfy payment of the Cash Consideration, Consent Fee and the success fee of
Houlihan Lokey;

(c) without prejudice to (b) above, to the extent any members of senior management of
the Company may participate in the underwriting of the Rights Issue, his obligation
pursuant to (b) above will be reduced accordingly.
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Reference is made to the announcement made by the Company on 22 December 2015 in
relation to, amongst other things, the Irrevocable Undertaking becoming unconditional
following satisfaction on 17 December 2015 of the condition therein that Consenting
Bondholders holding more than 30% of the outstanding principal amount of the Senior Notes
accede to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

Pursuant to the Supplemental Irrevocable Undertaking and Underwriting Agreement, Mr.
Wang has irrevocably undertaken to the Company and the Underwriter that he will not, and
will procure that each company in the Controlling Shareholder Group will not dispose of the
Shares giving rise to the assured entitlements of Rights Shares under the Rights Issue, or such
assured entitlements of Rights Shares, on or before the Acceptance Date and will procure that
the Shares currently held by Winsway Resources and Winsway International will remain
registered in their respective names at the close of business on the Acceptance Date. Mr. Wang
has further irrevocably undertaken to the Company and the Underwriter that he will not, and
will procure the Controlling Shareholder Group will not, take up the entitlements of Rights
Shares under the Rights Issue.

Subsequently, on 11 March 2016, the Irrevocable Undertaking was modified by the
Famous Speech Undertaking and the Supplemental Irrevocable Undertaking to provide for
Famous Speech to take up the Controlling Shareholder Group’s assured entitlements under the
Rights Issue and to underwrite the Rights Issue on the terms of the Underwriting Agreement.
Famous Speech has also undertaken to enter into a facility agreement with a commercial bank,
pursuant to which the commercial bank shall provide a term loan in the principal amount of up
to US$50 million to Famous Speech for the purpose of making available sufficient funds in
Hong Kong dollars for underwriting the Rights Issue in full. Details of the Offshore Loan are
set out under the heading “THE SHAREHOLDER LOAN AGREEMENTS.”

5. PROPOSED SHARE CONSOLIDATION

The Board proposes to implement the Share Consolidation on the basis that every 20
Existing Shares be consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share and where applicable, the total
number of Consolidated Shares in the issued share capital of the Company immediately
following the Share Consolidation will be rounded down to a whole number, with fractional
entitlements being disregarded.

Effect of the Share Consolidation

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the authorised Existing Shares are 6,000,000,000
Shares, of which 3,773,198,693 Existing Shares have been issued.

Upon the proposed Share Consolidation becoming effective (assuming no further
Shares will be issued and/or repurchased prior to the date of the EGM), since the
Company does not have share capital and the Shares have no par value, the number of
authorised Shares will remain as 6,000,000,000, of which up to 188,659,929 Consolidated
Shares (subject to the treatment of fractional Consolidated Shares) will be in issue. The
Consolidated Shares will rank pari passu in all aspects with each other in accordance with
the Articles.
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Subject to the passing of the resolution at the EGM to amend the Articles as more
fully described under the heading — “PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION” below, any fractional
Consolidated Share(s) to which an individual Shareholder is entitled will not be issued by
the Company to such Shareholder, but will be aggregated, sold (if a premium, net of
expenses, can be obtained) and retained for the benefit of the Company, if feasible and
applicable.

Other than the necessary expenses, including professional fees and printing charges,
to be incurred in relation to the Share Consolidation, the implementation thereof will not
alter the underlying assets, business operations, management or financial position of the
Company or the interests or rights of the Shareholders, save for any fractional
Consolidated Shares to which the Shareholders may be entitled.

Application for Listing of the Consolidated Shares

An application will be made by the Company to the Listing Division of the Stock
Exchange for granting the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Consolidated Shares
arising from the proposed Share Consolidation. All necessary arrangements will be made
for the Consolidated Shares to be admitted into the CCASS.

No part of the securities of the Company is listed or dealt in or on which listing or
permission to deal is being or is proposed to be sought on any other stock exchange. The
Consolidated Shares will be identical and rank pari passu in all respects with each other
as to all future dividends and distributions which are declared, made or paid. Subject to
the granting of the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Consolidated Shares on the
Stock Exchange, the Consolidated Shares will be accepted as eligible securities by
HKSCC for deposit, clearance and settlement in CCASS with effect from the
commencement date of dealings in the Consolidated Shares on the Stock Exchange or
such other date as determined by HKSCC. Settlement of transactions between participants
of the Stock Exchange on any trading day is required to take place in CCASS on the
second trading day thereafter. All activities under CCASS are subject to the General Rules
of CCASS and CCASS Operational Procedures in effect from time to time.

Conditions of the Share Consolidation
The Share Consolidation is conditional on:

(i) the passing of an ordinary resolution by the Shareholders to approve the Share
Consolidation at the EGM;

(ii) the passing of a special resolution by the Shareholders to approve the
amendments to the Articles at the EGM and the filing of the amended Articles
with the BVI Companies Registry; and

(iii) the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange granting the listing of, and the
permission to deal in, the Consolidated Shares upon the Share Consolidation
becoming effective.
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The Share Consolidation will become effective on the next Business Day following
the fulfilment of all of the above conditions. To the best information, knowledge and
belief of the Directors, as at the Latest Practicable Date, no Shareholder has an interest in
the Share Consolidation that is materially different from the other Shareholders.
Therefore, no Shareholder is required to abstain from voting on the resolution to be
proposed at the EGM to approve the Share Consolidation.

Reasons for the Share Consolidation

The Company notes that under Rule 13.64 of the Listing Rules, where the market
price of the securities of a company listed on the Stock Exchange approaches the
extremity of HK$0.01, the Stock Exchange reserves the right to require the Company
either to change the trading method or consolidate the Shares. The Existing Shares were
trading at around HKS$0.134 per Share (being the average closing price per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five consecutive days up to and including 28
August 2015, the last trading day before trading was suspended on 31 August 2015) and
accordingly the cost of one board lot of 1,000 Existing Shares was less than HK$135. The
proposed Restructuring, including the issue of the Rights Shares, the Anti-dilution Shares
and the Scheme Shares based on the number of the Existing Shares would result in the
Company having 60,371,179,088 Existing Shares in issue which would likely move the
purchase price to the extremity of HK$0.01 per Share. The proposed Share Consolidation
is intended to drive the market price per Consolidated Share away from the base price
extremity in anticipation of the issue of the Rights Shares, the Antidilution Shares and the
Scheme Shares whilst lowering transaction dealing costs in a board lot of 1,000
Consolidated Shares as compared with dealing in 20 board lots of 1,000 Existing Shares
for the same overall value. The proposed Share Consolidation will reduce the total number
of Shares of the Company in issue.

Furthermore, the proposed Share Consolidation is expected to facilitate the
Company’s ability to conduct future fund-raising activities without the need to seek prior
shareholders’ approval for a share consolidation in future if the market price at that time
would be close to the extremity. Save as disclosed in this circular, as at the date hereof,
the Company has no intention to conduct other future fund-raising activities.

Implementation of the Share Consolidation will not, of itself, alter the underlying
assets, liabilities, business, operations, management, financial position or the share capital
of the Company or the proportionate interests of the Shareholders, except for the payment
of the related expenses. The Board believes that the Share Consolidation will not have any
adverse effect on the financial position of the Company. No capital of the Company will
be lost as a result of the Share Consolidation and, except for the expenses involved in
relation to the Share Consolidation, which are expected to be insignificant to the net asset
value of the Company, the net asset value of the Company will remain unchanged
immediately before and after the Share Consolidation becoming effective. The Share
Consolidation does not involve any diminution of any liability in respect of any unpaid
capital of the Company or the repayment to the Shareholders of any paid up capital of the
Company nor will it result in any change in the relative rights of the Shareholders.
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The Board is of the opinion that the Share Consolidation would give the Company
greater flexibility in pricing and future issue of the Shares, including but not limited to
the Consolidated Shares to be issued under the Rights Issue. In view of the foregoing, the
Board considers that the Share Consolidation is in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

Arrangement of odd lot trading

In order to facilitate the trading of odd lots of the Consolidated Shares, the Company
will appoint a securities firm to provide a matching service, on a best-efforts basis, to
those Shareholders who wish to acquire odd lots of the Consolidated Shares to make up a
full board lot, or to dispose of their holding of odd lots of the Consolidated Shares.
Details of the odd lot arrangement will be set out in this circular.

Shareholders should note that successful matching of the sale and purchase of
odd lots of the Consolidated Shares is not guaranteed.

Exchange of Share Certificates

Subject to the Share Consolidation becoming effective, Shareholders may submit
existing share certificates for Existing Shares to the Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, between 17 May 2016 to 23 June 2016 (both
days inclusive) during business hours, to exchange, at the expense of the Company, for
the new share certificates in respect of Consolidated Shares. It is expected that the new
certificates for Consolidated Shares will be available for collection within 10 Business
Days after the surrender of the existing share certificate to the Registrar for exchange.
Thereafter, the existing share certificates for the Existing Shares will cease to be valid for
delivery, trading and settlement purpose but will remain effective as documents of legal
title and will be accepted for exchange only on payment of a fee of HK$2.50 (or such
higher amount as may from time to time be specified by Stock Exchange) per existing
share certificate cancelled or new share certificate issued (whichever is the higher) by the
Shareholders. The existing share certificates are in red colour and the new share
certificates will be in blue colour.

The expected timetable for the Share Consolidation is set out in the section headed
“EXPECTED TIMETABLE” in this circular.

Warning

Shareholders and potential investors should also be aware of and take note that
the Share Consolidation is conditional upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent
set out in the paragraph headed ‘“CONDITIONS OF THE SHARE
CONSOLIDATION” in the section headed ‘“PROPOSED SHARE
CONSOLIDATION” of this circular. Therefore, the Share Consolidation may or
may not proceed. Shareholders and potential investors are advised to exercise caution
when dealing in the Shares, and if they are in any doubt about their position, they
should consult their professional advisers.
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6. PROPOSED RIGHTS ISSUE

On 24 February 2016 (after trading hours), the Board resolved to raise approximately
US$50 million (approximately HK$387.5 million) by way of the Rights Issue (assuming no
further issue of new Shares and there being no repurchase of Shares by the Company on or
before the Record Date).

Basis of the Rights Issue: 3 Rights Shares for every 1 Consolidated Share held
on the Record Date'

Subscription Price: HK$0.69 per Rights Share

Number of Existing Shares in issue 3,773,198,693 Existing Shares (resulting in up to
as at the Latest Practicable Date: 188,659,929 Consolidated Shares (subject to the
treatment of fractional Consolidated Shares) upon

the Share Consolidation becoming effective)

Number of Rights Shares: not more than 565,979,787 Rights Shares (assuming
no further increase in the number of issued Shares
on or before the Record Date)2

Number of Rights Shares and not more than 2,263,919,148 Consolidated Shares
Anti-dilution Shares immediately
after completion of the Rights
Issue:

Amount to be raised: Approximately US$50 million (approximately
HK$387.5 million)

Qualifying Shareholders should be aware of and take note that no application for
excess Rights Shares will be offered and any Untaken Shares will be taken up by Famous
Speech pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement.

Assuming no further issue of new Shares and there being no repurchase of Shares by the
Company on or before the Record Date, the 565,979,787 Rights Shares will represent 300% of
the Company’s issued Consolidated Shares based upon the Existing Shares as at the Latest
Practicable Date and will represent approximately 75% of the Company’s issued Consolidated
Shares immediately after completion of the Rights Issue, but before the issue of the Anti-
dilution Shares and the Scheme Shares.

Pursuant to the terms of the Irrevocable Undertaking, Mr. Wang originally agreed to
underwrite the Rights Issue. Subsequently, pursuant to the Famous Speech Irrevocable
Undertaking and the Supplemental Irrevocable Undertaking from Mr. Wang, it was agreed that
Famous Speech, rather than a vehicle wholly or majority owned by Mr. Wang and/or members

' Note 1: In addition, a further three Anti-dilution Shares will be issued to those Qualifying Shareholders
subscribing for every one Rights Share under the Rights Issue pursuant to the issuance of the Anti-
dilution Shares. See ““Anti-dilution Protection of the Rights Shares” below for more details.

2 Note 2: For the avoidance of doubt, Scheme Shares would not give rise to an entitlement to Rights Shares.
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of the Controlling Shareholder Group would do so instead because of constraints placed on Mr.
Wang and the Controlling Shareholder Group by their existing financial commitments. Mr.
Wang originally issued the Irrevocable Undertaking on the basis that the Rights Shares would
amount to 75% of the issued Shares post-Rights Issue. It was agreed with the Steering
Committee that the Scheme Consideration under the Debt Restructuring should include an
equity component to augment the Cash Consideration. It was agreed that the Scheme Shares to
be issued to Bondholders would amount to 18.75% (being 75% of the remaining shareholding
of 25%) of the issued Shares post-Rights Issue. The implementation of the Rights Issue by
issuing three Rights Shares for every one Existing Share, was the agreed structure between the
Company, the Steering Committee and Mr. Wang to raise the requisite US$50 million with the
Rights Shares representing 75% of the issued Shares post-Rights Issue.

The Board decided to proceed with the Rights Issue that originally to be underwritten by
Mr. Wang, and now underwritten by Famous Speech, a company wholly owned by Mr. Wang’s
daughter, Amy Wang and upon completion of the Share Subscription Agreement, owned as to
73.3% by Amy Wang and 26.7% by Magnificent Gardenia, respectively, after considering (i)
the limited financing options available to the Company; (ii) the pressing need to complete the
Debt Restructuring; and (iii) the fact that the Restructuring had been negotiated with the
Steering Committee on the basis that Mr. Wang would remain as Controlling Shareholder. For
details about how the Irrevocable Undertaking given by Mr. Wang was modified by the
Famous Speech Undertaking and the Supplemental Irrevocable Undertaking, please refer to the
section headed “ENTERING INTO THE IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKING” in this circular.

Anti-dilution Protection of the Rights Shares

As the issue of the Scheme Shares would dilute the 75% shareholding of those taking
up the Rights Shares (including Famous Speech), the issue of the Anti-dilution Shares for
no further consideration in the ratio of three Anti-dilution Shares for each one Rights
Share subscribed, is a mechanism to counter this dilutive effect as agreed in the Term
Sheet. This means in the case of Qualifying Shareholders who opt not to take up their
entitlements under the Rights Issue, their shareholding interests will be diluted by a
maximum of approximately 93.8% immediately after completion of the Rights Issue
(including the issuance of the Rights Shares and all the Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt
Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme Shares). The 1,697,939,361 Anti-
dilution Shares will represent 900% of the Company’s issued Consolidated Shares based
upon the Existing Shares as at the date of this circular.

Unless 100% of the Bondholders submit a claim before the Initial Scheme
Consideration Deadline and/or the Scheme Shares are “over distributed” (meaning the
number of Scheme Shares were oversubscribed by the Participating Bondholders pursuant
to their actual or deemed election of Scheme Shares) as described in the section headed
“ELECTION MECHANISM” in this circular above, the Scheme Shares will be issued in
two instalments on the Initial Distribution Date and the Final Distribution Date. Anti-
dilution Shares will correspondingly be issued in two instalments on the same dates. The
Initial Anti-dilution Shares, rounded up to the nearest whole Share, as applicable, will be
issued in the same ratio to all Anti-dilution Shares as the Initial Scheme Shares bear to all
the Scheme Shares. The remaining Anti-dilution Shares, rounded up to the nearest whole
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Share, as applicable, will be issued along with the remaining Scheme Shares on the Final
Distribution Date. Further announcement(s) will be made by the Company (when
appropriate) when the number of Initial Scheme Shares and therefore the number of Initial
Anti-dilution Shares has been ascertained.

A table showing the shareholding structure of the Group (assuming no Shares will be
issued and none repurchased on or before the Record Date) (i) as at the date of the Latest
Practicable Date; (ii) immediately upon the Share Consolidation becoming effective but
before completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of the Anti-dilution Shares)
and the Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme Shares); (iii)
immediately after completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of the
Antidilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme
Shares) and (iv) immediately after completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance
of the Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of all the
Scheme Shares) and assuming all the CVR Shares are all issued to Bondholders in
settlement of the CVRs are set out in “SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE
COMPANY”.

Qualifying Shareholders who do not take up the Rights Shares to which they are
entitled should note that their shareholdings in the Company will be very materially
diluted through the issuance of the Rights Shares, the Scheme Shares and the Anti-
dilution Shares and if applicable, the issuance of the CVR shares.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there are no outstanding share options under the
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 6 June 2014, and no restricted share unit
awards have been granted pursuant to a restricted share unit scheme approved and adopted
by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 11 June 2012.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company has no outstanding convertible securities or
options in issue or other similar rights which confer any right to convert into or subscribe
for Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Qualifying Shareholders

The Rights Issue will only be available to the Qualifying Shareholders, being those
persons who are registered as members of the Company at the close of business on the
Record Date and are not Non-Qualifying Shareholders.

In order to be registered as a member of the Company at the close of business on the
Record Date, any relevant transfer documents (together with the relevant share
certificates) must be lodged by a Shareholder with the Registrar at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 May 2016.

Shareholders whose Shares are held by a nominee company should note that the
Board will regard the nominee company as a single Shareholder according to the register
of members of the Company. Investors with their Shares held by a nominee (or CCASS)
are advised to consider whether they would like to arrange for the registration of the
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relevant Shares in their own name(s) prior to the Record Date. For investors whose Shares
are held by a nominee (or CCASS) and would like to have their names registered on the
register of members of the Company, they must lodge all necessary documents with the
Registrar at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 May 2016.

Closure of register of members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 23 May 2016
to Friday, 27 May 2016 (both days inclusive) for determining the entitlements to the
Rights Issue during which period no transfer of Consolidated Shares will be registered.

Basis of provisional allotment

The basis of the provisional allotment shall be 3 Rights Shares (in nil-paid form) for
every 1 Consolidated Share held by the Qualifying Shareholders as at the close of
business on the Record Date.

Application for all or any part of a Qualifying Shareholder’s provisional allotment
should be made by completing a PAL and lodging the same with a remittance for the
Rights Shares being applied for with the Registrar on or before the Acceptance Date.

Rights of Overseas Shareholders

The Prospectus Documents are not intended to be registered under the applicable
securities legislation of any jurisdiction other than Hong Kong. According to the register
of members of the Company as at 12 March 2016, there were a total of 128 Overseas
Shareholders whose registered addresses were located in 18 jurisdictions, namely
Australia, Belgium, British Virgin Islands, Canada, Cayman Islands, Demark, Germany,
Japan, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Macau, Netherland, PRC, Singapore, South Korea,
Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States, who held a total of
2,345,741,971 Shares representing approximately 62.17% of the total number of Shares in
issue (including the Controlling Shareholder Group). Having made enquiries regarding the
feasibility of extending the Rights Issue to the Overseas Shareholders in compliance with
Rule 13.36(2) of the Listing Rules and based on the relevant preliminary legal advice
provided by legal advisers of the relevant jurisdictions, the Company considers it is not
necessary to exclude such Overseas Shareholders from the Right Issue, except for the
Overseas Shareholders whose addresses are located in Canada and Japan. As at 12 March
2016, there were 4 Shareholders located in Canada and Japan holding in aggregate
10,480,400 Shares representing approximately 0.28% of the total Shares in issue as at the
Latest Practicable Date. However, it is the responsibility of the Shareholders (including
the Overseas Shareholders) to observe the local legal and regulatory requirements
applicable to them for taking up and onward sale (if applicable) of the Rights Shares.

The Company will continue to ascertain whether there are any other Overseas
Shareholders in any other jurisdiction(s) or any change to the status of Overseas
Shareholders as set out above and will, if necessary, make further enquiries regarding the
feasibility of extending the Rights Issue to such Overseas Shareholders. Further
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information in this connection will be set out in the Prospectus containing, among other
things, details of the Rights Issue, to be despatched to the Shareholders on the Posting
Date. The Company will send copies of the Prospectus (without the PAL) to the Non-
Qualifying Shareholders, if any, for information purposes only, on the Posting Date.

Arrangements will be made for the Rights Shares which would otherwise have been
provisionally allotted to the Non-Qualifying Shareholders to be sold in the market in their
nil-paid form as soon as practicable after dealings in the Rights Shares in their nil-paid
form commence and before dealings in the Rights Shares in their nil-paid form end, if a
premium (net of expenses) can be obtained. The proceeds of such sale, less expenses, of
more than HK$100 will be paid on a pro-rata basis to the relevant Non-Qualifying
Shareholders. In light of administrative costs, the Company will retain individual amounts
of HK$100 or less for its own benefit. Any unsold entitlement of Non-Qualifying
Shareholders to the Rights Shares will be taken up by Famous Speech pursuant to the
terms of the Underwriting Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Non-Qualifying
Shareholders (if any) who are also Independent Shareholders will be entitled to vote on
the resolution in respect of the Rights Issue (as well as the other resolutions to be
considered) at the EGM.

Overseas Shareholders should note that they may or may not be entitled to
participate in the Rights Issue (including any right to Anti-dilution Shares), subject
to the results of enquiries made by the Directors pursuant to Rule 13.36(2)(a) of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Overseas Shareholders should exercise caution when
dealing in the securities of the Company.

Subscription Price

The Subscription Price for the Rights Shares is HK$0.69 per Rights Share, payable
in full upon acceptance of the relevant provisional allotment of Rights Shares.

The Subscription Price represents:

(a) a discount of approximately 76% to the adjusted closing price of HK$2.90 per
Consolidated Share, based on the closing price of HK$0.145 per existing Shares
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day and adjusted for the
effect of the Share Consolidation;

(b) a discount of approximately 44% to the adjusted theoretical ex-rights price of
approximately HK$1.243 per Consolidated Share based on the closing price of
HK$0.145 per existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last
Trading Day and adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation;

(c) a discount of approximately 74% to the adjusted average closing price of
approximately HK$2.676 per Consolidated Share, based on the average closing
price of HK$0.1338 per existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
five consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day and
adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation; and
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(d) a discount of approximately 82% to the adjusted average closing price of
approximately HK$3.786 per Consolidated Share, based on the average closing
price of HK$0.1893 per existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last 30 consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day and
adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation.

The basis of the Rights Issue is 3 Rights Shares for every 1 Consolidated Share. As
the Company will issue 3 Anti-dilution Shares for each Rights Share subscribed, such
arrangement is similar to a rights issue if 12 rights shares for every one (1) Consolidated
Share at a theoretical subscription price of HK$0.1725 (being HK$0.69 x 3 + 12). This
theoretical subscription price represents:

(a) a discount of approximately 94% to the adjusted closing price of HK$2.90 per
Consolidated Share, based on the closing price of HK$0.145 per existing Shares
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day and adjusted for the
effect of the Share Consolidation;

(b) a discount of approximately 86% to the adjusted theoretical ex-rights price of
approximately HK$1.243 per Consolidated Share based on the closing price of
HK$0.145 per existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last
Trading Day and adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation;

(c) a discount of approximately 94% to the adjusted average closing price of
approximately HK$2.676 per Consolidated Share, based on the average closing
price of HK$0.1338 per existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
five consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day and
adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation; and

(d) a discount of approximately 95% to the adjusted average closing price of
approximately HK$3.786 per Consolidated Share, based on the average closing
price of HK$0.1893 per existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last 30 consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day and
adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation.

The terms of the Rights Issue, including the Subscription Price and the subscription
ratio, were determined after arm’s-length negotiations between the Company, Mr. Wang
and Famous Speech taking into account the following factors: (i) the terms set out in the
Term Sheet negotiated between the Company and the Bondholders including the amount
of US$50 million (approximately HK$387.5 million) needed to satisfy the Company’s
obligations under the terms of the Schemes and in connection with the proposed Debt
Restructuring; (ii) as at 30 June 2015, the unaudited net liabilities of the Group amount to
approximately HK$1,404 million, equivalent to approximately negative HK$0.372 per
Existing Share, based on 3,773,198,693 Existing Shares in issue at the date of the
Underwriting Agreement; (iii) the market price of the Existing Shares under prevailing
market and economic conditions; (iv) the net loss of the Group for the three consecutive
financial years since 2012; and (v) the capital needs and financial position of the Group.
The Directors (excluding the Independent Board Committee whose views are expressed in
the section headed “Letter from the Independent Board Committee”) consider that the

—47 —



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

terms of the Rights Issue, including the subscription ratio and the Subscription Price
which they believe has been set at a reasonable discount to the recent closing prices of the
Shares, to be fair and reasonable, in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole and are the best terms available to the Company.

Taking into account the estimated expenses in connection with the Rights Issue of
approximately HK$3.875 million, the net price per Rights Share upon full acceptance of
the relevant provisional allotment of Rights Shares will be approximately HK$0.68.

Status of Rights Shares, Anti-dilution Shares and Scheme Shares

The Rights Shares, when allotted and fully paid, the Anti-dilution Shares and the
Scheme Shares will rank pari passu in all respects with the Shares then in issue. Holders
of fully-paid Rights Shares, Anti-dilution Shares and/or Scheme Shares will be entitled to
receive all future dividends and distributions which are declared, made or paid after the
date of allotment of the Rights Shares in their fully-paid form and after the date of
allotment of the Anti-dilution Shares and the Scheme Shares, respectively.

Share certificates for Rights Issue and Initial Anti-dilution Shares

Subject to the authorization of the conditions of the Rights Issue, share certificates
for all fully-paid Rights Shares together with certificates for the Initial Anti-dilution
Shares are expected to be posted on or about Tuesday, 28 June 2016 by ordinary post to
the allottees, at their own risk, to their registered addresses. Share certificates for the final
issue of Anti-dilution Shares are expected to be posted on the Final Distribution Date.

Fractions of Rights Shares

The Company will not provisionally allot fractions of Rights Shares in nil-paid form
or proportional fractions of Anti-dilution Shares to the Qualifying Shareholders. All
fractions of Rights Shares will be aggregated (and rounded down to the nearest whole
number) and all nil-paid Rights Shares, arising from such aggregation will be sold in the
market for the benefit of the Company if a premium (net of expenses) can be achieved.
Any unsold fractions of Rights Shares will be taken up by Famous Speech pursuant to the
terms of the Underwriting Agreement.

No applications for excess Rights Shares

The Board considers that no application for excess Rights Shares will be offered to
Qualifying Shareholders and any Untaken Shares will be taken up by Famous Speech
pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement.

The Board believes that each Qualifying Shareholder will be given equal and fair
opportunity to maintain its pro rata shareholding interest in the Company through the
Rights Issue and accordingly for the following reasons has resolved not to adopt an excess
application mechanism, (i) the excess application mechanism may result in an unexpected
introduction of a new substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder to the Company
which may cast uncertainties on the Company’s future direction and accordingly may not
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be in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole; (ii) the excess
application mechanism may be abused by the Qualifying Shareholders by splitting their
shareholdings into odd lots to enable them to submit multiple top-up applications and be
possibly allocated more excess Rights Shares, which is not considered to be fair and
equitable.

The terms of the Debt Restructuring were finalised with the Steering Committee
on the expectation that Mr. Wang (or this family members or other members of the
Controlling Shareholder Group) would remain as the Controlling Shareholder
immediately after the Restructuring and that the Company would implement its new
business model, which the Company believes was one of the factors that the
Bondholders considered before agreeing to an equity component of the Scheme
Consideration (negotiated as 18.75% of the total issued Consolidated Shares on a
fully diluted basis in addition to the Cash Consideration and the CVRs). The
Irrevocable Undertaking given by Mr. Wang to take up his Rights Shares and
underwrite the Rights Issue was an essential element leading to the Restructuring
Support Agreement becoming effective. Should an unknown potential controlling
shareholder or a shareholder with a stake significant enough to disrupt the
implementation of the new business model were to emerge this could have a
destabilising effect and create uncertainty about the Company’s future operational
direction. The Company believes it is desirable for the chances of the Rights Issue’s
success and the approval of the Schemes by Bondholders and therefore in the
interests of the Company’s stakeholders generally to avoid uncertainty so far as
practicable and hence not to adopt an excess application mechanism in the Rights
Issue. For details about how the Irrevocable Undertaking given by Mr. Wang was
modified by the Famous Speech Undertaking and the Supplemental Irrevocable
Undertaking, please refer to the section headed “ENTERING INTO THE
IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKING?” in this circular.

In light of the above and given that the Independent Shareholders are provided the
opportunity to express their views on the terms of the Rights Issue (including no
application for excess Rights Shares) through their votes at the EGM, the Board believes
that it is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole not to offer any excess applications to the Qualifying Shareholders; and the
additional work which would be required to prepare for and administer the excess
application arrangement (such as printing excess application forms and incurring
professional fees to process and handle the excess applications) may not be justified as
the Company is seeking to reduce all unnecessary expenses so as to receive the maximum
net proceeds from the Rights Issue. It is estimated by the Company that the additional
costs and expenses, including additional fees payable to the Registrar, legal advisers and
other professional services providers, would be approximately HK$150,000, representing
approximately 0.04% of the gross proceeds from the Rights Issue.
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Application for listing

The Company will apply to the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange for the
listing of, and permission to deal in, the Rights Shares in both their nil-paid and fully-paid
forms to be issued and allotted pursuant to the Rights Issue and for the listing of, and
permission to deal in, the Anti-dilution Shares and the Scheme Shares.

Subject to the granting of the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Rights Shares
in both their nil-paid and fully-paid forms and the Anti-dilution Shares and the Scheme
Shares on the Stock Exchange, the Rights Shares in both their nil-paid and fully-paid
forms and the Anti-dilution Shares and the Scheme Shares will be accepted as eligible
securities by HKSCC for deposit, clearance and settlement in CCASS with effect from
their respective commencement dates of dealings on the Stock Exchange or such other
dates as determined by HKSCC. Settlement of transactions between participants of the
Stock Exchange on any trading day is required to take place in CCASS on the second
trading day thereafter. All activities under CCASS are subject to the General Rules of
CCASS and CCASS Operational Procedures in effect from time to time. Shareholders
should seek advice from their stockbrokers or other professional advisors for details of
those settlement arrangements and how such arrangements will affect their rights and
interests.

Dealings in the Rights Shares in both their nil-paid and fully-paid forms, the Anti-
dilution Shares and the Scheme Shares which are registered in the register of members of
the Company in Hong Kong will be subject to the payment of stamp duty, Stock
Exchange trading fee, transaction levy or any other applicable fees and charges in Hong
Kong.

7. THE UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT AND SUB-UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT

On 11 March 2016, Famous Speech as the underwriter, the Company, Mr. Wang and the
Controlling Shareholder Group entered into the Underwriting Agreement, pursuant to which
Famous Speech has conditionally agreed to subscribe for all Underwritten Shares that are not
taken up under the Rights Issue. Details of the underwriting agreement are as follows:

The Underwriter: Famous Speech is wholly owned by Amy Wang as at the
Latest Practicable Date, and subject to and upon completion of
the Share Subscription Agreement, will be owned as to 73.3%
by Amy Wang and 26.7% by Magnificent Gardenia,
respectively
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Total number of Rights Not less than 565,979,787 Rights Shares (assuming no new

Shares being Shares are issued and there being no repurchase of Shares by
underwritten by the the Company on or before the Record Date) including the
Underwriter: 227,737,515 Rights Shares which represent the Controlling

Shareholder Group’s entitlements under the Rights Issue and
which will be subscribed by Famous Speech. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Anti-dilution Shares will be issued in
respect of all Rights Shares taken up by the Underwriter (as
well as relevant Qualifying Shareholders).

Commission: Famous Speech will not be entitled to any commission or fees.

Famous Speech has entered into sub-underwriting arrangement with Wincon Asset
Management, a third party independent of the Company, its connected persons and their
associates to the extent necessary to ensure that the Company maintains its public float under
the Listing Rules immediately after the completion of the Underwriting Agreement. For further
details of the Sub-underwriting Agreements, please refer to the section headed ““Sub-
underwriting Agreement” below.

The terms of the Underwriting Agreement were determined after arm’s-length negotiations
between the Company and Famous Speech with reference to the existing financial position of
the Group, the size of the Rights Issue, and the current and expected market conditions. The
Board (excluding the Independent Board Committee whose views are expressed in the section
headed “Letter from the Independent Board Committee”) considers the terms of the
Underwriting Agreement are fair and reasonable so far as the Company and the Shareholders
are concerned.

Termination of the Underwriting Agreement

The Underwriting Agreement contains provisions granting Famous Speech, by notice
in writing to the Company, the right to terminate its obligations thereunder on the
occurrence of certain events. Famous Speech may terminate the arrangements set out in
the Underwriting Agreement by notice in writing to the Company issued by in its sole
discretion at any time prior to the Latest Time for Termination if there occurs:

(i) an introduction of any new law or regulation or any change in existing law or
regulation (or the judicial interpretation thereof); or

(i) any act of God, war, riot, public disorder, civil commotion, fire, flood,
explosion, epidemic, terrorism, strike or lock-out;

and in the opinion of Famous Speech acting reasonably, such change would or would
likely have a material and adverse effect on the business, financial or trading position or
prospects of the Group as a whole or the success of the Rights Issue.
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The Underwriting Agreement also contains a provision granting the Company, by
notice in writing to Famous Speech, the right to terminate the Underwriting Agreement if
Famous Speech fails to satisfy its funding obligations under the Underwriting Agreement
to the Company by 4:00 p.m. on the Settlement Date.

If the Restructuring Effective Date has not occurred by the Longstop Date, the
Underwriting Agreement shall terminate and no party shall have any obligation to any
other party save for any antecedent breach.

If the Underwriter or the Company terminates the Underwriting Agreement, the
Rights Issue will not proceed. A further announcement would be made if the
Underwriting Agreement is terminated by the Underwriter or the Company.

Sub-underwriting Agreement

On 11 April 2016, Wincon Asset Management, an independent third party of the
Company and as the sub-underwriter, and Famous Speech entered into the Sub-
Underwriting Agreement, pursuant to which Wincon Asset Management conditionally
agreed to subscribe for up to 75,912,505 Consolidated Shares representing approximately
2.52% of the total issued Shares immediately after completion of the Rights Issue, to
ensure that the Company maintains its public float under the Listing Rules upon
completion of the Rights Issue.

The principal business of Wincon Asset Management is investment holding. It is not
in its ordinary course of business to sub-underwrite issues of shares. None of Wincon
Asset Management, its ultimate beneficial owner Mr. Li Kwong Yuk, or their respective
associates and concert parties is a shareholder of the Company.

Conditions of the Rights Issue

The Rights Issue is conditional upon the following conditions being fulfilled or
waived (as appropriate):

(i) the passing at the EGM by Independent Shareholders of ordinary resolutions by
way of poll to approve the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the issue
of the CVRs, the Special Deal, the Whitewash Waiver, the Specific Mandate
and the CVR Specific Mandate; and by Shareholders of an ordinary resolution
by way of poll to approve, the Share Consolidation, and by Shareholders of a
special resolution to approve the Amendment of Articles;

(i) the Whitewash Waiver being granted by the Executive;

(iii) the consent of the Executive having being obtained to proceed with the Special
Deal in accordance with Rule 25 of the Takeovers Code;

(iv) the Hong Kong Scheme and the BVI Scheme being sanctioned by the Hong
Kong Court and the BVI Court, respectively;
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(v) the delivery to the Stock Exchange and registration by Registrar of Companies
in Hong Kong on or prior to the Posting Date of the Prospectus Documents,
each duly certified in compliance with Section 342C of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance and all other documents
required by law to be filed or delivered for registration no later than the Record
Date;

(vi) the posting of the Prospectus Documents to the Qualifying Shareholders on or
prior to the Posting Date;

(vii) the Stock Exchange granting listing of, and permission to deal in, the Rights
Shares in their nil-paid and fully-paid forms, as well as, the Anti-dilution Shares
and the Scheme Shares, and such listing and permission not being revoked prior
to the Latest Time for Termination;

(viii)compliance in all material respects by the Company with its obligations under
the Underwriting Agreement;

(ix) the Shares remaining listed on the Stock Exchange at all time prior to the Latest
Time for Termination and the Listing of the Shares have not been withdrawn;

(x) the Restructuring Support Agreement remaining effective and not having been
terminated (other than termination due to the completion of the Debt
Restructuring and Rights Issue under such agreement) before the Restructuring
Effective Date; and

(xi) all conditions precedent to the Schemes, other than the completion of the Rights
Issue, having been satisfied or as applicable, waived.

Other than the condition set out in paragraph (viii) which can be waived by Famous
Speech in relation to the Company obligations, all other conditions for the Rights Issue
are incapable of being waived. In the event that the conditions to the Rights Issue have
not been satisfied on or before the Latest Time for Termination (or in the case of
conditions (v) and (vi) on or before the Posting Date (or in each case, such later date as
Famous Speech and the Company and the Steering Committee Majority may agree), the
Underwriting Agreement shall terminate, and the Rights Issue will not proceed and
consequently the Debt Restructuring will also not proceed.

The Rights Issue is inter-conditional with the Debt Restructuring. Dealings in
the fully-paid Rights Shares, the Initial Anti-dilution Shares and the Initial Scheme
Shares shall commence on the same day, being the next Business Day after the Initial
Distribution Date. Dealings in the remaining Scheme Shares and remaining Anti-
dilution Shares shall commence on the same day, being the next Business Day after
the Final Distribution Date.
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Share Subscription Agreement

The Share Subscription Agreement includes, among other things, the following major
terms:

Date: 11 March 2016
Parties:
1. Amy Wang
2. Magnificent Gardenia
3. Minmetals South-East Asia
4. Famous Speech
Share Subscription

Magnificent Gardenia agreed to subscribe for and Famous Speech agreed to issue
eight (8) ordinary shares of US$1 each to Magnificent Gardenia at par value of US$1; and
Amy Wang agreed to subscribe for and Famous Speech agreed to issue twenty-one (21)
ordinary shares of US$1 each to Amy Wang at par value of US$1. Upon completion of
the Share Subscription, Famous Speech will be owned as to 73.3% and 26.7% by Amy
Wang and Magnificent Gardenia, respectively.

Conditions Precedent to the Share Subscription Completion
(a) Conditions precedent to Magnificent Gardenia Share Subscription

The Magnificent Gardenia Share Subscription is conditional upon satisfaction of the
following conditions:

(i) the representations and warranties made by Famous Speech and Amy Wang in
the Share Subscription Agreement being true, correct and complete in all
material aspects as at the Share Subscription Completion Date;

(ii) the Shareholder Agreement having been duly executed in the form attached to
the Share Subscription Agreement;

(iii) the Magnificent Gardenia Loan Agreement having been duly executed by
Famous Speech and Magnificent Gardenia in the form attached to the Share
Subscription Agreement;

(iv) Magnificent Gardenia having confirmed in writing the final draft of all
agreements, documentation and undertakings relating to the Offshore Loan, the
Security Deposit, the Underwriting Agreement;
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(v) Magnificent Gardenia being satisfied with the results of its due diligence in
relation to the Group;

(vi) the board of directors of Magnificent Gardenia having duly approved the
execution, delivery and performance of the Share Subscription Agreement and
Share Subscription Transaction Documents;

(vii) the board of directors of Minmetals South-East Asia having duly approved its
execution, delivery and performance of the Share Subscription Agreement.

(b) Conditions precedent to the Amy Wang Share Subscription

The Amy Wang Share Subscription is conditional upon satisfaction of the following
conditions:

(i) the representations and warranties made by Magnificent Gardenia and
Minmetals South-East Asia in the Share Subscription Agreement being true,
correct and complete in all material aspects as at the Share Subscription
Completion Date;

(i1) the Shareholder Agreement having been duly executed in the form attached to
the Share Subscription Agreement;

(iii) the Amy Wang Loan Agreement having been duly executed by Famous Speech
and Amy Wang in the form attached to the Share Subscription Agreement;

(iv) the amendment to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of Famous
Speech having been confirmed by Amy Wang and Magnificent Gardenia.

The Shareholder Agreement includes, among other things, the following major terms:
Allocation of Rights Shares

Magnificent Gardenia is entitled after the completion of the transactions
contemplated under the Share Subscription Transaction Documents to require Famous
Speech to transfer up to 26.7% attributable interest in one or more tranches of the Rights
Shares subscribed by Famous Speech to Magnificent Gardenia for it to hold such Rights
Shares directly. To the extent required by the Offshore Bank, such transfers would be
subject to the repayment of the Offshore Loan in an amount corresponding to the interest
in the Company to be transferred which repayment would need to be funded by
Magnificent Gardenia. In the event of any such transfer, Magnificent Gardenia would
assume sole responsibility for repayment of the proportion of the Offshore Loan
corresponding to the attributable interest transferred. The costs of seeking the consent of
the Offshore Bank and necessary transactions to facilitate any such transfer of Rights
Shares by Famous Speech to Magnificent Gardenia would be borne by Magnificent
Gardenia. Upon any such transfer, Famous Speech would be entitled to redeem a
corresponding percentage of the shares in Famous Speech held by Magnificent Gardenia
at par value of US$1. Following any such redemption, Amy Wang’s interest in Famous
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Speech would increase correspondingly, as a result, with her becoming the sole
shareholder of Famous Speech, should the full 26.7% attributable interest in the Rights
Shares be transferred to Magnificent Gardenia.

The Shareholder Loan Agreements
Shareholder Loans

The Offshore Loan will be secured by a USD standby letter of credit issued by an
onshore commercial bank acceptable to the Offshore Bank. Famous Speech will provide a
Security Deposit through Shanghai Guanding as counter guarantee to the onshore
commercial bank for the issuance of such standby letter of credit.

Pursuant to the Share Subscription Agreement and the Magnificent Gardenia Loan
Agreement, Magnificent Gardenia agreed to provide the Magnificent Gardenia Shareholder
Loan to Famous Speech in the maximum amount of US$4,005,000, being 26.7% of the
Security Deposit. Similarly, under the Share Subscription Agreement and the Amy Wang
Loan Agreement, Amy Wang agreed to provide the Amy Wang Shareholder Loan to
Famous Speech in the maximum amount of US$10,995,000, being 73.3% of the Security
Deposit. The Security Deposit paid from Magnificent Gardenia Shareholder Loan and
Amy Wang Shareholder Loan will be provided to Shanghai Guanding to be used for the
Security Deposit.

Immediately after completion of the Rights Issue, Famous Speech will also pledge its
Rights Shares to the Offshore Bank as security for its obligations in respect of the
Offshore Loan.

Conditions precedent to payment of the Shareholder Loans
(a) Conditions precedent to Magnificent Gardenia Shareholder Loan

The payment of Magnificent Gardenia Shareholder Loan is subject to satisfaction of
the following conditions:

(i) the representations and warranties made by Famous Speech and Amy Wang in
the Share Subscription Agreement being true, correct and complete in all
material aspects from the Share Subscription Completion Date to satisfaction of
all conditions precedent herein;

(i1) the Share Subscription Completion having taken place pursuant to the Share
Subscription Agreement;

(iii) Magnificent Gardenia Loan Agreement and Amy Wang Loan Agreement having
been duly executed respectively in the form attached to the Share Subscription
Agreement;

(iv) the Whitewash Waiver having been granted by the Executive and remaining
effective;

- 56 —



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

(v)

(vi)

the Company having published results of the Rights Issue and confirmed the
required funding for the Rights Shares subscribed by Famous Speech;

no event relating to default or termination of the Share Subscription Transaction
Documents having occurred.

(b) Conditions precedent to the Amy Wang Shareholder Loan

The payment of Amy Wang Shareholder Loan is subject to satisfaction of the
following conditions:

(1)

(i1)

(iii)

@iv)

v)

(vi)

the representations and warranties made by Magnificent Gardenia and
Minmetals South-East Asia in the Share Subscription Agreement being true,
correct and complete in all material aspects from the Share Subscription
Completion Date to satisfaction of all conditions precedent herein;

the Share Subscription Completion having taken place pursuant to the Share
Subscription Agreement;

Magnificent Gardenia Loan Agreement and Amy Wang Loan Agreement having
been duly executed respectively in the form attached to the Share Subscription
Agreement;

Magnificent Gardenia having obtained all approvals necessary for the
transactions under the Share Subscription Agreement;

the Whitewash Waiver having been granted by the Executive and remains
effective;

the Company having published results of the Rights Issue and confirmed the
required funding for the Rights Shares subscribed by Famous Speech;

(vii) no event relating to default or termination of the Share Subscription Transaction

Documents having occurred.

Longstop Date

Conditions precedent to payment of the Shareholder Loan shall be satisfied at or
before 5:00 p.m. on 30 June 2016 or such later date as the Parties may mutually agree
pursuant to the Share Subscription Agreement.

Termination of the Share Subscription Agreement

The Share Subscription Agreement may be terminated by written agreement between
the Parties in accordance with the conditions thereof.
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Alternative Fund Raising Activities

Since the fourth quarter of 2014 the Company and its advisors approached potential
equity investors for the Company, in conjunction with a possible restructuring of the
Senior Notes. The Company approached nine potential strategic investors (including listed
and private companies in industries such as steel, mining, asset management and
commodity trading), five global and regional private equity funds, three special situation
funds and six alternative investors specialising in the acquisition of listed shell companies.
These investors included individuals and corporations of various financial backgrounds,
geographical locations and nature of business.

The Company’s (and its advisor’s) approach to the various potential equity investors
seeking alternative fund raising methods (including debt, equity investment, issuance of
convertible securities), involved numerous meetings, physical site visits to the Company’s
major border-crossing assets, commercial due diligence and commercial negotiations. The
reasons for negotiations not proceeding with such alternatives to concrete agreements
ranged from the initial lack of deal interest by the potential investors or termination of
discussions by the potential investors’ management due ultimately to lack of approval by
the potential investors’ management or investment committee. The Company has also
considered alternative debt fund raising methods in relation to the Debt Restructuring.
However, given the current financial situation of the Company, the Company was either
unable or it was not considered practicable to obtain further funding through: (a) a further
senior debt or bond issuance; (b) further lending from commercial banks; or (c) lending
from any “white knight” the Company had approached. The financial adviser to the
Company, UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, was of the view that there were very slim
chances, if any, of the Company securing commercial underwriters on the basis of hard-
underwriting.

The Company selected Famous Speech as the sole underwriter because it was willing
to engage in negotiations in finalizing the Debt Restructuring and the Rights Issue on
terms favourable for the Debt Restructuring balancing the interests of the Shareholders
and Bondholders. Famous Speech is a special purpose vehicle which is reliant upon
external funding to underwrite the Rights Issue and such funding is not at this stage
committed. The Rights Issue is being underwritten by Famous Speech, a company wholly
owned by Amy Wang at the Latest Practicable Date, and which will be majority owned by
Amy Wang subject to and upon completion of the Share Subscription Agreement, rather
than a vehicle wholly or majority owned by Mr. Wang and/or members of the Controlling
Shareholder Group, because of constraints placed on Mr. Wang and the Controlling
Shareholder Group by their existing financial commitments. The Company has considered
the proposed funding arrangements for Famous Speech and considers its entry into of the
Underwriting Agreement to be in the Company’s best interests, taking into account the
lack of suitable attractive alternatives.
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8. SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has 3,773,198,693 Existing Shares in
issue. Set out below is the table showing the shareholding structure of the Group (assuming no
Shares will be issued and none repurchased on or before the Record Date) (i) as at the Latest
Practicable Date; (ii) immediately after the Share Consolidation becoming effective but before
completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of the Anti-dilution Shares) and the
Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme Shares); (iii) immediately after
completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of the Anti-dilution Shares), the Debt
Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme Shares) and (iv) immediately upon
completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of the Anti-dilution Shares) and the
Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of all the Scheme Shares) and assuming all the
CVR Shares are all issued to Bondholders in settlement of the CVRs:

Immediately upon the Share
Consolidation becoming
effective but before
completion of the Rights
Issue (including the issuance
of all of the Anti-dilution
Shares) and the Debt Immediately after completion of the Rights Issue (including
Restructuring (including the  the issuance of the all Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt
At the Latest Practicable issuance of all the Scheme Restructuring (including the issuance of all the Scheme
Name of Shareholder Date Shares) Shares)" 3
Assuming 0% taken up by the
Assuming 100% taken up by existing Shareholders other

the existing Shareholders® than Famous Speech
Approximate Approximate Approximate Approximate
% of the No. of % of the No. of % of the No. of % of the
Aggregate  total issued Consolidated  total issued Consolidated  total issued Consolidated  total issued
No. of Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares
Controlling Shareholder
Group 1,518,250,109 40.24% 75,912,505 40.24% 75,912,505 2.52% 75,912,505 2.52%
Underwriter — — — — 910,950,060 30.18%  2,188,006,643 72.48%
Sub-total of the
Underwriter and its
concert parties
(including
Controlling
Shareholder Group) — — - — 986,862,565 327%  2,263,919,148 75.00%°
Sub-underwriter — — — — — — 75,912,505 2.520%°
Other public
Shareholders 2,254,948,584 59.76% 112,747,424 59.76%  1,465,716,512 48.55% 112,747,424 3.73%
Bondholders — — — — 565,979,787 18.75% 565,979,787 18.75%°
Total 3,773,198,693 100.00% 188,659,929 100.00%  3,018,558,864 100.00%  3,018,558,864 100.00%
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Name of Shareholder

Immediately after completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of all the
Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of all the
Scheme Shares) and assuming all the CVR Shares are all issued to Bondholders in
settlement of the CVRs > *
Assuming 100% taken up by the existing

Shareholders®
Approximate % of

No. of Consolidated

the total issued

Assuming 0% taken up by the existing
Shareholders other than Famous Speech

No. of Consolidated

Approximate % of
the total issued

Shares Shares Shares Shares

Controlling Shareholder Group 75,912,505 2.43% 75,912,505 2.43%
Underwriter 910,950,060 29.10% 2,188,006,643 69.88%
Sub-total of the Underwriter and

its concert parties (including

Controlling Shareholder

Group) 986,862,565 31.53% 2,263,919,148 72.31%°
Sub-underwriter — — 75,912,505 2.43%°
Other public Shareholders 1,465,716,512 46.81% 112,747,424 3.60%
Bondholders® 678,298,637 21.66% 678,298,637 21.66%
Total 3,130,877,714 100.00% 3,130,877,714 100.00%
Notes:

Takes no account of any Shares that may be issued by the Company in settlement of any CVRs.

Rights Shares of Controlling Shareholder Group’s entitlement under the Rights Issue will be taken up
by Famous Speech pursuant to the Famous Speech Undertaking and the Underwriting Agreement.

Assuming all Scheme Shares and all Anti-dilution Shares are issued on the Initial Distribution Date.
Unless 100% of the Bondholders submit a claim before the Initial Scheme Consideration Deadline and/
or the Scheme Shares are ‘“overdistributed” as described in the section headed “ELECTION
MECHANISM” in this circular above, the Scheme Shares will be issued in two instalments on the
Initial Distribution Date and the Final Distribution Date. The Initial Scheme Shares and the Initial Anti-
dilution Shares will be issued on the Initial Distribution Date, the Company will issue the remaining
Scheme Shares and the remaining Anti-dilution Shares on the Final Distribution Date.

The number of CVR Shares to be issued is assumed to be a maximum of 112,318,850 CVR Shares,
calculated by the total CVR amount US$10 million (HK$77.5 million) divided by the minimum CVR
Settlement Price HK$0.69.

Famous Speech has entered into sub-underwriting arrangement with a third party independent of the
Company, its connected persons and their associates which will be qualified as a member of the public
for the purposes of Rule 8.08 and Rule 8.24 of the Listing Rules, to the extent necessary to ensure that
the Company maintains its public float under the Listing Rules immediately after the completion of the
Rights Issue. Therefore, the maximum number of Consolidated Shares to be held by Famous Speech,
the Controlling Shareholder Group and parties acting in concert with them will be not more than 75% of
the then issued Consolidated Shares immediately after completion of the Rights Issue.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Scheme Shares which will be issued to the Bondholders will constitute
part of the public float.
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As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company does not have any other options, warrants
or convertible securities in issue.

9. REASONS FOR THE RIGHTS ISSUE AND THE DEBT RESTRUCTURING

The Group is principally engaged in the processing and trading of coking coal and other
products and rendering of logistics services.

As mentioned in the Company’s 2014 annual report, the Company’s financial and liquidity
position has been adversely impacted by the depressed price of coking coal and the
on-going oversupply and declining demand in the PRC coal market. These market forces
contributed to a very difficult trading environment.

Under such circumstances, the Group has been streamlining its current operations to lower
its operational costs in the logistics and mining sector as well as strictly controlling the cash
flow of the Group to maintain the Group’s daily operations.

Against the backdrop of the softening Chinese macro economy and real estate market, the
coal industry in China has been facing increasing challenges. Global commodity prices have
decreased significantly over the past few years. Mongolian and seaborne coal sales prices in
China dropped 54.68% and 57.47%, respectively, from 2011 through first half of 2015. As all-
in cost, insurance and freight (CIF) to China’s east coast has become uncompetitive, given the
long transportation distance for Mongolian coal, the volume of imported Mongolian coal into
China has decreased consequently. The prices of both Mongolian and seaborne coal are not
expected to pick up significantly in the coming years.

In the light of the above conditions, the Group has since 2012 been actively implementing
cost controls and business rationalization measures to preserve cash and Shareholder value in
the Company.

Reducing the coal inventory and Mongolian coal procurement

In order to strengthen its cash flow management to support daily operations, the
Group has taken several measures including, amongst others, reducing inventory and
maintaining low inventory of coal. Specifically, due to the difficulty in obtaining working
capital, the Group implemented a strategy to draw down existing inventory levels and
very significantly reduced the volume of procurement of Mongolian coal in 2014 and
much of 2015. However, in late 2015, the Inner Mongolian Railway Bureau started to
deeply discount coal railway transportation fees, presenting the Group with a potential
new opportunity to render integrated supply chain services of Mongolian coal to end
customers (procurement, customs clearance, transportation and sales). This has reversed
the trend mentioned above to some extent.

Maintaining seaborne coal volumes and the market share occupied by the Group

Facing a decreasing market demand for Mongolian coal in China, the Group made
great efforts to maintain seaborne coal volumes and its market share despite the slim
margins generated. However, as a result of the Group’s continuous losses over recent
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years and worsening asset and liability position, the Group started to lose meaningful
banking facility support from 2013, which has adversely impacted the sustainability of its
high-volume seaborne coal business since the seaborne coal sector relies heavily on credit
facilities.

Disposal of equity interest in Grande Cache Coal Corporation (“GCCC”’) and
partnership interest in Grande Cache Coal LP (“GCC LP”, together with GCCC, the
“GCC”).'

GCC is engaged in the production and sales of premium hard coking coal. Owing to
the depressed coal market and continuous operating losses of GCC, the Group did not
have sufficient cash to meet the substantial capital requirements of its upstream coal
mining business. From March 2014, the Company ceased any financial support to GCC
and proactively sought purchasers to acquire its equity interest in GCC. The Company
completed the disposal of the majority of its interest in GCC on 2 September 2015,
leaving the Company holding an approximately 14.69% in GCC and following which
GCC ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company.

Missing the Interest Payments under the Senior Notes

On 8 April 2011, the Company issued the Senior Notes in the aggregate principal
amount of US$500,000,000. The Senior Notes bear interest at 8.50% per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrears. During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company
repurchased Senior Notes in aggregate principal amount of US$153,190,000 with a cash
consideration of US$73,595,000 in the open market. The outstanding Senior Notes with
principal amount of US$309,310,000 matured on 8 April 2016. The Company did not
make the scheduled interest payments of US$13.15 million which were due on 8 April
2015, 8 October 2015 and 8 April 2016 and did not redeem the Senior Notes on maturity.
If the Debt Restructuring were not to proceed, the Company does not expect to be able to
have the funds to repay these Interest Payments and the principal amount of the Senior
Notes in full.

Further actions proposed to be taken by the Group to overcome the challenges
Development of new business model

In response to prevailing market conditions and the challenges to the existing
business model of the Group, the Company is planning to expand its business activities to
embrace a broader model in which the Company will also explore opportunities to provide
integrated e-commerce supply chain services such as trading and matching, logistics and
distribution, collateral management and financing services to small and medium-sized end-
customers as well as banks.

The Company plans in future to continue to monitor market conditions and balance
volumes of imports of Mongolian coking coal and seaborne coking coal accordingly.
However, with the logistics infrastructure and storage facilities owned by the Company,
its expertise in bank commodities trading and specialised industry experience, the
Company is aiming to expand its existing trading and logistics platform and transform
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itself into a one-stop service centre providing an integrated services proposition to its
customers. Under the new expanded business model, the Company plans to evolve to
provide a total supply chain solution to a greater market including small and medium-
sized customers engaged in bulk commodity trading. In particular, it is expected that the
one-stop integrated e-commerce platform will (i) improve supply chain management and
enhance efficiencies for end-customers; (ii) provide end-customers with facilities without
the need to provide additional collateral and at reasonable low cost, and enable banks to
enhance effective collateral management to control risks; (iii) provide matching services
in connection with the provision of existing trading services and facilitate the sharing of
relevant information and data between the customers and suppliers through the whole bulk
commodity transaction process; and (iv) provide timely information in relation to
suppliers and customers backgrounds, transaction records, credit records, financial
strength and market information to all related parties in the value chain and to facilitate
the logistics process. Through implementing the abovementioned changes, the Company
will strive to enhance the utilization of its existing logistics facilities.

Using the proposed one-stop integrated platform the Company plans to explore
opportunities to expand its trading services to include other commodities such as oil,
chemicals, iron ore and copper, in addition to its existing coking coal trading services and
to engage in back-to-back transactions both for coking coal and also for an expanded
range of commodities with the use of hedging derivatives to control price risks. The
expanded services would be complemented by (i) matching services in connection with
the expanding range of trading services that include, connecting customers with suppliers
of various types from different locations, providing market information and transaction-
related data; (ii) logistics and distribution services that include, utilizing the Company’s
current logistics infrastructure, leveraging its internal Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)
system to provide warehousing and logistics management, storage, allocation,
transportation, handling, transshipment, processing, blending, customs clearance, quality
inspection and distribution services; (iii) financing services that include, providing
settlement, stock financing, commercial invoice discounting and factoring services; and
(iv) collateral management services in connection with financing services that including
comprehensive monitoring of collateral assets, providing collateral management services
to banks which would be able to provide facilities otherwise not available without the
Company’s services.

A one-stop integrated platform with an expanded and broadened trading portfolio
will afford the Company the opportunities to provide better supply-chain management
solutions as well as improve and diversify its cash-generating ability through its
established logistics infrastructure.

The Company will in due course consider whether to make any changes to the
composition of the Board to more fully align it with its China-focused business
operations. Any such changes would be separately announced in compliance with the
Listing Rules and no change would be made before the Restructuring Effective Date.
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Risks associated with the new business model

The new business model may have different operational parameters and carry a
higher risk profile. In addition, the implementation of the new business model may
expose the Company to new challenges and risks, including but not limited to (i)
insufficient experience, expertise and skills in offering new services; (ii) stricter
regulation and increased credit risks, market risks and operational risks; (iii) failure
to achieve investment returns from its new businesses; (iv) lack of market and
customer acceptance of the integrated service platform and services; (v) failure to
accurately analyse or judge market conditions; (vi) failure to obtain sufficient
financing from internal and external sources to support its business segments which
facilities are critically important to growing the business and will be used as back-to-
back financing for the trading segment and to facilitate the supply-chain financing
segment; (vii) failure to enhance its risk management capabilities and IT systems in a
timely manner to support its new businesses and a broader range of products and
services.

Disposing of non-core assets

The Company is in the process of identifying further idle and non-core assets that are
not essential to the business going forward. The Company is carefully considering certain
opportunities to dispose of relevant assets, and it is expected that the Company will
dispose of relevant assets in order to support near-term liquidity requirements and the
transformation of the existing business model into the proposed new business model.

Debt Restructuring and the proposed Rights Issue

According to the annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2015, the Company recorded a net loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 of
approximately HK$1,935 million. As noted above, pursuant to the Debt Restructuring, it
is proposed that the gross proceeds from the Right Issue of US$ 50 million
(approximately HK$387.5 million) would, among other things, be applied (together with
the issuance of the Scheme Shares and the CVRs) in full and final discharge of all
amounts outstanding under the Senior Notes, reducing the indebtedness of the Group by
approximately HK$2,538 million and hence significantly enhancing the financial position
of the Group.

After a review of the available strategic alternatives, and having considered the likely
recoveries to all stakeholders on a liquidation of the Company, the Directors believe that
the Debt Restructuring represents the best outcome available for the Shareholders and the
Bondholders, particularly in light of the current lack of alternatives to raise new capital.

The Directors consider that it is prudent for the Company to raise funds through the
Rights Issue and complete the Debt Restructuring to discharge all amounts owing in
respect of the Senior Notes, as this is expected to be necessary for the near-term
sustainability of the Group and beneficial to its long-term growth. The Rights Issue will
provide an opportunity for the Qualifying Shareholders, through subscribing for the
Rights Shares according to their respective shareholding interests in the Company, to
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maintain their respective pro rata shareholding interests and to continue to participate in
the future development of the Group. Based on the reasons disclosed in this section,
notwithstanding the potential dilution impact, given the structure of the Rights Issue and
the basis and factors the Board considered in connection with the Rights Issue and the
Debt Restructuring, the Directors (excluding the Independent Board Committee whose
views are expressed in the section headed ‘“Letter from the Independent Board
Committee”) consider that the terms of the Rights Issue, including the Subscription Price
and the discounts to the relative values as indicated above and the Debt Restructuring, to
be fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

10. USE OF PROCEEDS AND FUNDING NEEDS

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue are expected to be approximately US$50 million
(approximately HK$387.5 million), in aggregate, of which the entire amount will be used to
pay the Cash Consideration of approximately US$41.7 million (approximately HK$323.2
million) to the Bondholders in the Debt Restructuring, the Consent Fee of approximately
US$6.8 million (approximately HK$52.7 million) under the Restructuring Support Agreement
and the success fee to Houlihan Lokey.

Other than the need to raise this US$50 million, the Company expects to be able to fund
its regular business activities for the coming 12 months as well as the other costs of the
Restructuring through its own working capital. Such expectation is based upon a number of
assumptions, including that the prices of Mongolian coking coal and seaborne coking coal will
not fall significantly below present levels, the level of demand for coking coal procured by the
Company for its top 10 customers will not fall significantly below 2015 levels and any
activities undertaken by the Company pursuant to the Company’s new business model will not
have an adverse effect on the financial position of the Company.

11. EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS

No other fund-raising exercise has been carried out by the Company during the 12-month
period immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date.

12. PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

The Board proposes to amend the Articles to enable the Company to deal with any
fractional Consolidated Share to which an individual Shareholder would be entitled to, which
will not be issued by the Company to such Shareholder, but will be aggregated, sold (if a
premium, net of expenses, can be obtained) and retained for the benefit of the Company, if
feasible and applicable.
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The Board has resolved to submit to the Shareholders the following proposed amendment

to the Articles for their consideration and approval:

13.

New Article 7A of the Articles:
“7A. Consolidation of Issued Shares

The Company may from time to time, by Resolution of Members, consolidate all or
any of its issued shares. On any consolidation, the Board may settle any difficulty which
may arise as it thinks expedient and in particular (but without prejudice to the generality
of the foregoing and notwithstanding any other provision of the Memorandum and these
Articles), may compulsorily repurchase fractions of a consolidated share on such terms as
it considers appropriate (including by the payment of a nominal sum at the Board’s
discretion), or, as between the holders of shares to be consolidated, determine which
particular shares are to be consolidated into each consolidated share, and if it shall happen
that any person shall become entitled to fractions of a consolidated share or shares, such
fractions may be sold by some person appointed by the Board for that purpose and the
person so appointed may transfer the shares so sold to the purchaser thereof and the
validity of such transfer shall not be questioned, and so that the net proceeds of such sale
(after deduction of the expenses of such sale) may either be distributed among the persons
who would otherwise be entitled to a fraction or fractions of a consolidated share or
shares rateably in accordance with their rights and interests or may be paid to the
Company for the Company’s benefit”,

to be inserted into the Articles after the existing Article 7.

The proposed amendment to the Articles shall be subject to approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming EGM.

Specific Mandate to Issue New Shares

An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the EGM to seek the Independent
Shareholders’ approval for the grant of the Specific Mandate to authorise the Directors to
allot and issue the New Shares, comprising the Rights Shares, the Scheme Shares and the
Anti-Dilution Shares.

Specific Mandate to Issue CVR Shares

An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the EGM to seek the Independent
Shareholders’ approval for the grant of the CVR Specific Mandate to authorise the
Directors to allot and issue the CVR Shares.

APPLICATION FOR WHITEWASH WAIVER AND TAKEOVERS CODE
IMPLICATIONS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Wang directly holds the entire issued share capital

of Winsway Group. Winsway Group directly holds the entire issued share capital of (i)
Winsway Resources, which directly holds 1,310,143,688 Existing Shares, representing
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approximately 34.72% of the issued Shares; and (ii) Great Start, which holds the entire issued
share capital of Winsway International, which directly holds 208,106,421 Existing Shares,
representing approximately 5.52% of the issued Shares. Accordingly, Mr. Wang is the
controlling shareholder of the Company who is beneficially interested in 1,518,250,109
Existing Shares, representing approximately 40.24% of the issued Shares.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Famous Speech is wholly owned by Amy Wang and
Magnificent Gardenia has conditionally agreed to subscribe for ordinary shares in Famous
Speech pursuant to the Share Subscription Agreement, upon the Share Subscription Completion
Famous Speech will be owned as to 73.3% and 26.7% by Amy Wang and Magnificent
Gardenia, respectively. On 11 March 2016, Famous Speech, the Company and the Controlling
Shareholder Group entered into the Underwriting Agreement under which Famous Speech has
conditionally agreed to fully underwrite the Rights Issue. Mr. Wang has undertaken in the
Underwriting Agreement to procure that each Company of the Controlling Shareholder Group
will not take up its entitlement under the Rights Issue and the Rights Shares underlying such
entitlements will be subject to subscription by Famous Speech under the Underwriting
Agreement. Upon the Controlling Shareholder Group’s renunciation of their entitlements and
assuming no acceptances by the other Qualifying Shareholders of their Rights Issue
entitlements, Famous Speech would be required to take up 565,979,787 Underwritten Shares
and would also receive 1,697,939,361 Anti-dilution Shares. In such circumstances, the total
shareholding of Famous Speech and its concert parties including but not limited to the
Controlling Shareholder Group, upon issuance of the Rights Shares, the Anti-dilution Shares
and the Scheme Shares would amount to a maximum of approximately 77.52% of the then
issued Consolidated Shares as enlarged by the issue of the Rights Shares, the Anti-dilution
Shares and the Scheme Shares and, the Scheme Shares would amount to 18.75% of such
enlarged total issued Consolidated Shares. Famous Speech has entered into a sub-underwriting
arrangement Wincon Asset Management, a third party independent of the Company, its
connected persons and their associates and qualified as a member of the public for the purposes
of Rule 8.08 and Rule 8.24 of the Listing Rules, to the extent necessary to ensure that the
Company maintains its public float under the Listing Rules immediately after the completion of
the Underwriting Agreement and the Rights Issue. Therefore, the maximum number of
Consolidated Shares to be held by Famous Speech, the Controlling Shareholder Group and
parties acting in concert with them will be not more than 75% of the then issued Consolidated
Shares immediately after completion of the Rights Issue and a shareholding interest of 2.52%
will be held by the sub-underwriter assuming none of the Rights Shares were taken up by the
existing Shareholders other than Famous Speech.

The fulfilment by Famous Speech of its underwriting commitment would result in an
obligation to make a mandatory general offer under Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code by Famous
Speech and parties acting in concert with it for all Shares other than those already owned or
agreed to be acquired by them. The Controlling Shareholder Group and Amy Wang are acting
in concert with Famous Speech and subject to completion of the Share Subscription
Agreement, Magnificent Gardenia is presumed to be acting in concert with Famous Speech
pursuant to class (1) of the definition of “acting in concert” under the Takeovers Code.
Accordingly, the Rights Issue is conditional upon, among other things, the Executive granting
the Whitewash Waiver which condition is not waivable. An application has been made by
Famous Speech to the Executive for the Whitewash Waiver which, if granted by the Executive,
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would be subject to, inter alia, the approval of the Independent Shareholders taken on a poll at
the EGM. If the Whitewash Waiver is not granted, the Underwriting Agreement will not
become unconditional and the Rights Issue will not proceed.

14. SPECIAL DEAL
Proceeds from the Rights Issue for Making Payments to Bondholders

To the best knowledge of the Company, certain Bondholders holding an aggregate
principal amount of US$1,280,000 (representing approximately 0.41% of the outstanding
Senior Notes) also hold 28,802,000 Shares in total (representing approximately 0.76% of
the total issued shares of the Company) as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Such Bondholders who are also Shareholders and their respective concert parties and
those who are involved in and/or interested in the Rights Issue, the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the issuance of the CVRs, the Specific Mandate, the
CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal including but not limited to the Controlling
Shareholder Group, Famous Speech (although currently not a Shareholder) and its concert
parties and Minmetals Cheerglory together with its concert parties and its associates shall
abstain from voting on resolution(s) relating to the Rights Issue and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver,
the issuance of the CVRs, the Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate as well as the
Special Deal.

The payment of the Consent Fee and the distribution of the Cash Consideration will
be paid out of the proceeds of the Rights Issue. The payment of the Consent Fee and the
distribution of the Scheme Consideration to Bondholders are not capable of being
extended to all Shareholders and will constitute a Special Deal under Note 5 to Rule 25 of
the Takeovers Code so far as those Bondholders who are also Shareholders are concerned.

The transaction described above will require the consent of the Executive to proceed.
The Executive’s consent, if granted, will be conditional upon (i) the independent financial
adviser to the Independent Board Committee publicly giving an opinion that the terms of
the Special Deal are fair and reasonable; and (ii) the approval of the Independent
Shareholders of the Special Deal at a shareholders’ meeting by way of poll. The Company
is in the process of seeking consent from the Executive to the Special Deal under Rule 25
of the Takeovers Code.

An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the EGM to approve the Special Deal by
way of a poll by the Independent Shareholders.
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15. IMPLICATIONS UNDER THE LISTING RULES

Mr. Wang is a substantial Shareholder and a Director in the prior 12 months and therefore
a connected person of the Company, and Famous Speech is deemed to be a connected person
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transaction
contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 7.21(2) of the Listing Rules, as the
Company has not made arrangements for the Qualifying Shareholders to apply for the Rights
Shares in excess of their entitlements under the Rights Issue or to dispose of Rights Shares not
taken by Qualifying Shareholders in the market as contemplated by Rule 7.21(1) of the Listing
Rules, the Underwriting Agreement is subject to the approval of Shareholders, excluding those
with a material interest in the arrangement.

Save as disclosed in this circular, whereby members of the Independent Board Committee,
namely, Mr. James Downing, Mr. Ng Yuk Keung, Mr. Wang Wenfu, Mr. George Jay Hambro
and Mr. Lu Chuan, whose views will be provided after taking into consideration the advice of
the Independent Financial Advisor, none of the Directors had a material interest in the
Underwriting Agreement and save for members of the Independent Board Committee, none of
them was therefore required to abstain from voting on the board resolutions of the Company in
respect of the transactions contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement.

Further, as the Rights Issue will increase the number of issued Shares by more than 50%,
pursuant to Rule 7.19(6) of the Listing Rules, the Rights Issue is conditional on approval by
the Independent Shareholders by way of poll at the EGM and any controlling shareholder and
their associates shall abstain from voting on the resolution(s) relating to the Rights Issue and
the Underwriting Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder. Accordingly, Mr.
Wang, the controlling shareholder of the Company, and his associates (including the
Controlling Shareholder Group) shall abstain from voting on resolution(s) relating to the
Rights Issue and the transactions contemplated thereunder, including the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the issue of the CVRs, the Specific Mandate, the CVR
Specific Mandate as well as the Special Deal.

Furthermore, Minmetals Cheerglory, a subsidiary indirectly owned by China Minmetals
Corporation, being a state-owned enterprise incorporated in the PRC, is a Shareholder, holding
70,391,376 Shares in total, representing approximately 1.87% of the total issued number of
shares of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date. Magnificent Gardenia, a company
which is indirectly majority owned by China Minmetals Corporation, has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for ordinary shares in Famous Speech pursuant to the Share Subscription
Agreement, upon completion of which Famous Speech will be owned as to 73.3% and 26.7%
by Amy Wang and Magnificent Gardenia, respectively. Accordingly, Minmetals Cheerglory, its
concert parties and its associates shall abstain from voting on resolution(s) relating to the
Rights Issue and the transactions contemplated thereunder, including the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the issuance of the CVRs, the Specific Mandate, the CVR
Specific Mandate as well as the Special Deal.
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Save as disclosed in the sections headed “SPECIAL DEAL”, “IMPLICATIONS UNDER
LISTING RULES” and “EGM”, no Shareholder is required to abstain from voting at the EGM
in respect of the resolution(s) relating to the Rights Issue and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the issuance of the
CVRs, the Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal.

Assuming the Underwritten Shares will be fully taken up by Famous Speech, it is
expected that immediately following the completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance
of the Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme
Shares), Famous Speech and the Controlling Shareholder Group would in aggregate hold more
than 75% of the issued enlarged ordinary Shares and, there would be less than 25% of the
issued enlarged ordinary Shares held in public hands following the completion of the Rights
Issue (including the issuance of the Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring (including
the issuance of the Scheme Shares). Accordingly, Famous Speech will sub-underwrite such
number of Rights Shares to Wincon Asset Management, a third party independent of the
Company, its connected persons and their associates to the extent necessary to ensure that the
Company maintains its public float under the Listing Rules immediately after the completion of
the Underwriting Agreement and the Rights Issue. For the avoidance of doubt, the Scheme
Shares which will be issued to the Bondholders will constitute part of the public float.

16. GENERAL

Famous Speech is principally engaged in investment holding. Subject to and upon
completion of the Share Subscription Agreement, Famous Speech will be owned by Amy Wang
and Magnificent Gardenia as to 73.3% and 26.7%, respectively.

Magnificent Gardenia is a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and
principally engaged in investment holding. The entire issued share capital of Magnificent
Gardenia is directly wholly-owned by Minmetals South-East Asia and ultimately majority
owned by China Minmetals Corporation and China Reform Holdings Corporation Ltd as to
88.4% and 11.6%, respectively, both being state-owned enterprises incorporated in the PRC.

Famous Speech, Mr. Wang (for himself and on behalf of the Controlling Shareholder
Group), Amy Wang and Magnificent Gardenia and Minmetals Cheerglory have confirmed that
none of themselves or any persons acting or presumed to be acting in concert with any of them
has acquired voting rights in the Company in the six months prior to 26 November 2015 until
the Latest Practicable Date which would constitute a disqualifying transaction under the
Takeovers Code.

During the period from the six (6) months prior to 26 November 2015 and until the Latest
Practicable Date:

(a) save as disclosed in the section headed “SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE
COMPANY”, in this circular, none of the Underwriter, any person acting or
presumed to be acting in concert with the Underwriter or the director of the
Underwriter owns or has control or direction over any voting right in or rights over
any Shares or any convertible securities, warrants or options in respect of the Shares;
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(2)

(h)

save as disclosed in the section headed “ENTERING INTO THE IRREVOCABLE
UNDERTAKING” in this circular, neither the Underwriter nor any persons acting or
presumed to be acting in concert with it has received an irrevocable commitment to
vote for or against the resolutions relating to the Rights Issue, the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and/or the Special Deal;

there are no outstanding derivatives in respect of any relevant securities (as defined
in Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) in the Company which have been
entered into by the Underwriter or any person acting or presumed to be acting in
concert with it;

save for the subscription of shares in the Underwriter by Magnificent Gardenia under
the Shares Subscription Agreement, there is no arrangement (whether by way of
option, indemnity or otherwise) in relation to the Shares or shares of the Underwriter
(as the case may be) which might be material to the Rights Issue and the transactions
contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and/or the
Special Deal;

neither the Underwriter nor any person acting or presumed to be acting in concert
with it is a party to any agreements or arrangements to which relate to the
circumstances in which it may or may not invoke or seek to invoke a pre-condition
or a condition to the Rights Issue and transactions contemplated under the
Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and/or the Special Deal; and

no person who owned or controlled any Shares or convertible securities, warrants,
options or derivatives in respect of the Shares had irrevocably committed themselves
to accept or reject the Rights Issue and transactions contemplated under the
Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and/or the Special Deal;

no arrangement of the kind referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code
exists between the Famous Speech and/or the Controlling Shareholder Group and any
other person who owned or controlled any Shares or convertible securities, warrants,
options or derivatives in respect of the Shares;

none of the Underwriter or any person acting or presumed to be acting in concert
with it or the director of the Underwriter has dealt for value in the Rights Shares.

17. PROPOSED CHANGE OF BOARD LOT SIZE

The Board proposes that the board lot for trading in the Consolidated Shares on the Stock
Exchange will be changed from 1,000 Consolidated Shares to 12,000 Consolidated Shares with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on Monday, 17 October 2016. The expected timetable for change of
board lot size of the Consolidated Shares is set out in this circular.

The Existing Shares are currently traded in board lot of 1,000 Existing Shares each and
the market value of each board lot is HK$52 (based on the closing price of HK$0.052 per
Existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Latest Practicable Date). The estimated
price of each Consolidated Share would be HK$1.04, based on the said closing price of
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HK$0.052, upon the completion of Share Consolidation. The Board proposes to change the
board lot size for trading of the Consolidated Shares from 1,000 Consolidated Shares to 12,000
Consolidated Shares with effect from Monday, 17 October 2016.

The market capitalisation of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date was
HK$196,206,332. Given the gross proceeds of from Rights Issue in the amount of
approximately US$50,000,000 (approximately HK$387,500,000), the estimated market
capitalisation will be approximately HK$583,706,332.00, and the theoretical price of the
Consolidated Shares will be approximately HK$0.1934 calculated as the estimated market
capitalisation of HK$583,706,332.00 divided by the total number of Consolidated Shares in
issue upon the completion of Rights Issue and the Debt Restructuring. Based on the theoretical
price of the Shares of HK$0.1934 per Share with reference to the closing price on the Latest
Practicable Date, the new estimated board lot value of 12,000 Consolidated Shares would be
approximately HK$2,320.80. The change of board lot size of the Consolidated Shares will not
result in any changes in the relative rights of the Shareholders.

To alleviate the difficulties in trading odd lots of the Consolidated Shares arising from the
change of board lot size of the Consolidated Shares, the Company will appoint a securities
house as an agent to provide odd lot matching services to the Shareholders who wish to top up
or sell their holdings of odd lots of the Consolidated Shares during the period from 9:00 a.m.
on Monday, 17 October 2016 to 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 8 November 2016. Further details will
be announced regarding the odd lot matching facility. Holders of the Consolidated Shares in
odd lots should note that successful matching of the sale and purchase of odd lots of the
Consolidated Shares is not guaranteed. The Shareholders are recommended to consult their
professional advisers if they are in doubt about the facility.

All existing share certificates in board lot of 1,000 Consolidated Shares will continue to
be evidence of entitlement to the Consolidated Shares and be valid for delivery, transfer,
trading and settlement purposes. No new share certificates for existing Shareholders will be
issued as a result of the change of board lot size of the Consolidated Shares, and therefore no
arrangement for free exchange of existing share certificates in board lot size of 1,000
Consolidated Shares to new share certificates in board lot size of 12,000 Consolidated Shares
is necessary. With effect from 9:00 a.m. Monday, 17 October 2016, any new certificate of the
Consolidated Shares will be issued in new board lot size of 12,000 Consolidated Shares (except
for odd lots or where the Shareholder(s) otherwise instruct(s)). Save and except for the change
in the number of Consolidated Shares for each board lot, new certificates of Shares will have
the same format and colour as the certificates of the Consolidated Shares.

The change of board lot size of the Consolidated Shares is not conditional upon the
approval of the Debt Restructuring and/or the Rights Issue by the Shareholders and
Independent Shareholders, respectively at the EGM.

WARNING OF THE RISKS OF DEALING IN THE SHARES AND RIGHTS SHARES

The Rights Issue is conditional upon the satisfaction of certain conditions as
described in the section headed “CONDITIONS OF THE RIGHTS ISSUE” and is inter-
conditional with the Debt Restructuring. In particular, attention is drawn to the following
conditions that must be satisfied (i) the Underwriting Agreement having become
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unconditional and not having been terminated (see the section headed “TERMINATION
OF THE UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT” in this circular); (ii) the parties to the
Underwriting Agreement complying with their obligations hereunder; (iii) the Executive
granting the Whitewash Waiver; (iv) the Schemes being sanctioned and all conditions
precedent to the Schemes (and any other documentation giving effect to the Debt
Restructuring), other than the completion of the Rights Issue, having been satisfied; and
(v) the Independent Shareholders approving the Rights Issue and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver,
the Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal. Famous Speech is
a special purpose vehicle whose ordinary course of business does not include
underwriting. It is reliant upon external funding to underwrite the Rights Issue and such
Funding is not at this stage committed. If the conditions of the Rights Issue are not
fulfilled or if Famous Speech exercises the right to terminate the Underwriting Agreement
pursuant to the terms therein, the Rights Issue will not proceed. Alternatively, if Famous
Speech fails to secure its external funding it will unlikely be able to comply with its
obligations under the Underwriting Agreement and the Rights Issue will not proceed.

Any Shareholders or potential investors contemplating selling or purchasing Shares
and/or nil-paid Rights Shares up to the date when the conditions of the Rights Issue are
fulfilled will bear the risk that the Rights Issue could not become unconditional and may
not proceed. The Shares are expected to be dealt in on an ex-rights basis from Thursday,
19 May 2016. In particular, attention is drawn to the following material conditions
precedent which would need to be satisfied on or before the ex-rights day; (i) the
Independent Shareholders approving the Rights Issue and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the Specific
Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal; and (ii) the sanction of the
BVI Scheme and the Hong Kong Scheme by the BVI Court and the Hong Kong Court,
respectively. The Company will publish separate announcement(s) to inform the public the
satisfaction of the above condition precedents. Dealings in the Rights Shares in nil-paid
form are expected to take place from Thursday, 2 June 2016 to Friday, 10 June 2016
(both days inclusive).

Any Shareholder or other person contemplating transferring, selling or purchasing
the Shares and/or Rights Shares in their nil-paid form is advised to exercise caution when
dealing in the Shares and/or the nil-paid Rights Shares.

Any party who is in any doubt about his/her/its position or any action to be taken is
recommended to consult his/her/its own professional adviser(s). Any Shareholder or other
person dealing in the Shares or in the nil-paid Rights Shares up to the date on which all
the conditions to which the Rights Issue is subject are fulfilled (and the date on which the
Underwriter’s right of termination of the Underwriting Agreement ceases) will
accordingly bear the risk that the Rights Issue may not become unconditional or may not
proceed.
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18. EGM

The EGM will be held to consider and, if thought fit, pass the resolutions to approve,
among other things: (i) the Rights Issue; (ii) the Underwriting Agreement; (iii) the Whitewash
Waiver, (iv) the Amendment of Articles; (v) the Specific Mandate; (vi) the issuance of the
CVRs; (vii) the CVR Specific Mandate; (viii) the Special Deal and (ix) the Share
Consolidation. Only the Independent Shareholders will be entitled to vote on the resolutions to
approve the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the issue of the
CVRs, the Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal at the EGM.

In accordance with the Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code, only the Independent
Shareholders can consider and, if thought fit, to approve the Rights Issue, the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal; whereas, (i) the Underwriter and its
associates; (ii) any parties acting in concert with the Underwriter; and (iii) Shareholders who
are involved or interested in the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the Special Deal or
the Whitewash Waiver or the Specific Mandate or the CVR Specific Mandate, including
Minmetals Cheerglory, our controlling shareholder Mr. Wang and his associates (including
members of the Controlling Shareholder Group other than Mr. Wang) and their respective
concert parties and (iv) identified Bondholders who are also Shareholders, will be required to
abstain from voting on the resolution(s) to approve the Rights Issue and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the
Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal at the EGM. Save as
disclosed, no other Shareholder has a material interest in the transactions contemplated under
the Rights Issue, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the Specific
Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal and will be required to abstain from
voting on the resolution(s) to approve the Rights Issue and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, including the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the Specific
Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal at the EGM.

A notice convening the EGM to be held at United Conference Centre & Business Centre,
10/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong on Monday, 16 May 2016 from
10:00 a.m. is set out on pages EGM-1 to EGM-7 of this circular, for (a) Independent
Shareholders to consider and, if thought fit, to approve the Rights Issue, the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal; (b) the Shareholders to consider and,
if thought fit, to approve (i) the Amendment of Articles; (ii) the Special Mandate; (iii) the
issuance of the CVRs; (iv) the CVR Specific Mandate; and (v) the Share Consolidation.

A form of proxy for use at the EGM is enclosed with this circular. Whether or not you are
able to attend the EGM, you are requested to complete and sign the accompanying form of
proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and deposit the same with
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
as soon as possible and in any event not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the
holding of the EGM or any adjournment thereof. Completion and return of the form of proxy
will not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the EGM or any adjournment
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thereof should you so wish and in such event, the instrument appointing the proxy shall be
deemed to have been revoked. Voting on the proposed resolution at the EGM will be taken by
poll.

Subject to the approval of the Rights Issue by the Independent Shareholders at the EGM,
the Prospectus Documents will be despatched to the Qualifying Shareholders on or before
Tuesday, 31 May 2016 whereas the Prospectus will be despatched to the Non-Qualifying
Shareholders for information only.

19. DELAY IN PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL RESULTS AND RESUMPTION OF
TRADING

At the request of the Company, trading in the Shares was suspended with effect from 9:00
a.m. on Friday, 1 April 2016, pending the publication of the annual results of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2015. The delay is due to additional time being required to
complete the annual audit and finalise the annual results of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2015.

The 2015 Annual Results were published on 22 April 2016 and an application has been
made by the Company to the Stock Exchange for the resumption of trading in the Shares with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on Monday, 25 April 2016.

RECOMMENDATION

The Independent Board Committee has been formed to advise the Independent
Shareholders in connection with the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash
Waiver and the Special Deal. Somerley Capital Limited has been appointed as the independent
financial adviser to advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders
on the same.

You are advised to read carefully the letter of recommendation from the Independent
Board Committee and the letter of advice from the Independent Financial Adviser set out on
pages 77 to 78 and pages 79 to 106 respectively of this circular. The Independent Board
Committee, having taken into account the advice of the Independent Financial Adviser,
considers that the terms of the Underwriting Agreement are normal commercial terms and the
terms of the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special
Deal are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned.
Accordingly, the Independent Board Committee recommends the Independent Shareholders to
vote in favour of the proposed resolutions approving the Rights Issue, the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal at the EGM.

In addition, the Directors consider that the terms of the Underwriting Agreement are
normal commercial terms and the terms of the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the
Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Directors recommend the
Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of proposed resolutions approving the Rights Issue,
the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal at the EGM.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the additional information set out in Appendices I to III to this
circular.

Yours faithfully,
By order of the Board
Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited
Cao Xinyi
Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary

For the purpose of illustration only, amounts denominated in US$ have been translated
into HK$ at the exchange rate of US$1 to HK$7.75.
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The following is the text of the letter of recommendation, prepared for the purpose of
incorporation in this circular, from the Independent Board Committee to the Independent
Shareholders regarding the Rights Issue.

WINSWAY"
WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED
XEEBEXERRKROBERA A
(formerly known as “WINSWAY COKING COAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 7K I MR BR 23 7 ”)

(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 1733)

25 April 2016
To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

(1) PROPOSED RIGHTS ISSUE IN THE PROPORTION OF 3 RIGHTS SHARES AND
9 ANTI-DILUTION SHARES FOR EVERY 1 CONSOLIDATED SHARE
HELD ON THE RECORD DATE AT HK$0.69 PER RIGHTS SHARE,
(2) CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO THE ENTERING INTO OF
UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT;
(3) APPLICATION FOR WHITEWASH WAIVER;
AND
(4) SPECIAL DEAL

We refer to the circular dated 25 April 2016 (the “Circular”) of the Company of which
this letter forms part. Unless otherwise indicated herein or the context requires otherwise,
capitalised terms issued in this letter shall have the same meanings as defined in the section
headed “Definitions” of the Circular.

We have been appointed by the Board to advise the Independent Shareholders to consider
the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal as
to whether (i) the terms of the Underwriting Agreement are normal commercial terms and the
terms of the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special
Deal are fair and reasonable insofar as the Independent Shareholders are concerned and (ii) the
Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement and the Whitewash Waiver are in the interests of the
Company and the Independent Shareholders and to advise the Independent Shareholders on
how to vote. Somerley Capital Limited has been appointed as the Independent Financial
Adviser to advise you and us in this respect.

Having taken into account, among other matters, the principal factors and reasons
considered by, and the advice and recommendation of Somerley Capital Limited as set out in
its letter of advice to you and us on pages 79 to 106 of the Circular, we consider that the terms
of the Underwriting Agreement are normal commercial terms and the terms of the Rights Issue,
the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal are fair and
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reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned. Furthermore, the Rights
Issue, the Underwriting Agreement and the Whitewash Waiver are in the interests of the
Company and the Independent Shareholders.

Accordingly, we recommend the Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the
relevant resolution(s) to be proposed at the EGM to approve the Rights Issue, the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal, particulars of which are set out in the
Notice of EGM on pages EGM-1 to EGM-7 of the Circular.

Yours faithfully,
Independent Board Committee
Mr. James Downing, Mr. Ng Yuk Keung, Mr. Wang Wenfu,
Mr. George Jay Hambro and Mr. Lu Chuan
Independent Non-executive Directors and Non-executive Director
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The following is the text of a letter of advice from Somerley Capital Limited, the
Independent Financial Adviser, to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders, which has been prepared for the purpose of inclusion in this circular.

20th Floor

China Building

29 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

z SOMERLEY CAPITAL LIMITED

25 April 2016

To: the Independent Board Committee and
The Independent Shareholders

Dear Sirs,

(1) PROPOSED RIGHTS ISSUE IN THE PROPORTION OF
3 RIGHTS SHARES AND 9 ANTI-DILUTION SHARES FOR
EVERY 1 CONSOLIDATED SHARE HELD ON THE RECORD DATE
AT HK$0.69 PER RIGHTS SHARE;
(2) CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO
THE ENTERING INTO OF THE UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT;
(3) APPLICATION FOR WHITEWASH WAIVER;
AND
(4) SPECIAL DEAL

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our appointment to advise the Independent Board Committee and the
Independent Shareholders in connection with the Rights Issue, the Underwriting Agreement,
the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal, details of which are set out in the “Letter from
the Board” contained in the circular of the Company to the Shareholders dated 25 April 2016
(the “Circular”), of which this letter forms part. Capitalised terms used in this letter shall have
the same meanings as those defined in the Circular unless otherwise defined herein.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, 3,773,198,693 Existing Shares have been issued. The
Board proposes to implement the Share Consolidation on the basis that every 20 Existing
Shares be consolidated into 1 Consolidated Share, which is conditional on, among other things,
the Shareholders’ approval on the Share Consolidation at the EGM. Upon the proposed Share
Consolidation becoming effective (assuming no further Shares will be issued and/or
repurchased prior to the date of the EGM), up to 188,659,929 Consolidated Shares (subject to
the effect of treatment of fractional Consolidated Shares) will be in issue, which will rank pari
passu in all aspects with each other. Further details regarding the Share Consolidation are set
out in the section headed “Proposed Share Consolidation” in the “Letter from the Board”
contained in the Circular.
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On 24 February 2016 (after trading hours), the Board resolved to raise approximately
US$50 million for payment of the Cash Consideration to the Bondholders under the Debt
Restructuring, the Consent Fee under the Restructuring Support Agreement and the success fee
payable to Houlihan Lokey, by way of issuing not more than 565,979,787 Rights Shares on the
basis of 3 Rights Shares for every 1 Consolidated Share held on the Record Date at the
Subscription Price of HK$0.69 per Rights Share. Further, 1,697,939,361 Anti-dilution Shares
in the ratio of 3 Anti-dilution Shares for each 1 Rights Share subscribed will be issued for no
further consideration. The Rights Issue is fully underwritten by the Underwriter (i.e. Famous
Speech) pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement entered into on 11 March 2016.

As (i) Mr. Wang is a substantial Shareholder and a Director in the prior 12 months and
therefore a connected person of the Company; and (ii) Famous Speech is deemed to be a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transaction
contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 7.21(2) of the Listing Rules, as the
Company has not made arrangements for the Qualifying Shareholders to apply for the Rights
Shares in excess of their entitlements under the Rights Issue or to dispose of Rights Shares not
taken by Qualifying Shareholders in the market as contemplated by Rule 7.21(1) of the Listing
Rules, the Underwriting Agreement is subject to the approval of Shareholders, excluding those
with a material interest in the arrangement.

Further, as the Rights Issue will increase the number of issued Shares by more than 50%,
pursuant to Rule 7.19(6) of the Listing Rules, the Rights Issue is conditional on approval by
the Independent Shareholders by way of poll at the EGM and Mr. Wang, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and his associates (including the Controlling Shareholder Group)
shall abstain from voting on the resolution(s) to approve the Rights Issue and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the issue of the
CVRs, the Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate as well as the Special Deal at the
EGM. Furthermore, as set out in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the Circular,
Minmetals Cheerglory, its concert parties and its associates shall abstain from voting on the
resolution(s) relating to the above.
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The fulfilment by Famous Speech of its underwriting commitment would trigger a
mandatory general offer under Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code by Famous Speech and parties
acting in concert with it for all the Shares other than those already owned or agreed to be
acquired by them, unless the Whitewash Waiver is obtained from the Executive. In this regard,
Famous Speech has made an application to the Executive for the Whitewash Waiver. The
Whitewash Waiver, if granted by the Executive, would be subject to, among other things, the
approval of the Independent Shareholders at the EGM by way of poll. If the Whitewash Waiver
is not granted, the Underwriting Agreement will not become unconditional and the Rights Issue
will not proceed. Certain Bondholders are also Shareholders as at the Latest Practicable Date.
Payment of the Consent Fee and distribution of the Scheme Consideration to Bondholders are
not capable of being extended to all Shareholders and will constitute a special deal under the
Takeovers Code so far as those Bondholders who are also Shareholders are concerned. This
will require the Executive’s consent to proceed. The Executive’s consent, if granted, will be
conditional upon, (a) the independent financial adviser publicly giving an opinion that the
terms of the Special Deal are fair and reasonable, and (b) Independent Shareholders’ approval
by way of poll at the EGM.

The Independent Board Committee, comprising all independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. James Downing, Mr. Ng Yuk Keung, Mr. Wang Wenfu and Mr. George Jay Hambro and
the non-executive Director, Mr. Lu Chuan, has been formed to advise the Independent
Shareholders in connection with the Rights Issue and the transactions contemplated thereunder,
the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal. We, Somerley
Capital Limited, have been appointed to advise the Independent Board Committee and the
Independent Shareholders in this regard.

We are not associated or connected with the Company and Famous Speech or any of their
substantial shareholders or any party acting, or presumed to be acting, in concert with any of
them and accordingly, we are considered eligible to give independent advice to the
Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in connection with the Rights
Issue and the transactions contemplated thereunder, the Underwriting Agreement, the
Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal. Apart from normal professional fees payable to us in
connection with our appointment, no arrangement exists whereby we will receive any fees or
benefits from the Company and Famous Speech or any of their substantial shareholders or any
party acting, or presumed to be acting, in concert with any of them.
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In formulating our opinion, we have reviewed, among other things, (i) the unaudited
proforma financial information of the Group as set out in Appendix II to the Circular; (ii) the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2014, the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2015 and the 2015 Annual Results; (iii) the Rights
Issue Announcement; (iv) the announcement of the Company dated 26 November 2015; and (v)
the material change statement set out in Appendix I to the Circular. We have relied on the
information and facts supplied by the Company, and the opinions expressed by the Directors,
and have assumed that the information and facts provided and opinions expressed to us are
true, accurate and complete in all material aspects as at the Latest Practicable Date. We have
further assumed that all representations contained or referred to in the Circular are true,
accurate and complete as at the Latest Practicable Date. Independent Shareholders will be
informed as soon as practicable if we become aware of any material change to such
information. We have also sought and received confirmation from the Directors that no
material facts have been omitted from the information supplied and opinions expressed to us.
We consider that the information we have received is sufficient for us to reach our opinion and
give the advice and recommendation set out in this letter. We have no reason to believe that
any material information has been omitted or withheld, or doubt the truth or accuracy of the
information provided. We have, however, not conducted any independent investigation into the
business and affairs of the Group or any of its associates or any party acting, or presumed to
be acting, in concert with any of them, nor have we carried out any independent verification of
the information supplied.

PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

In considering (1) whether the terms of the Underwriting Agreement are on normal
commercial terms and whether the terms of the Rights Issue and transactions contemplated
thereunder, the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal are fair
and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned; and (2) whether the
Rights Issue and transactions contemplated thereunder, the Underwriting Agreement and the
Whitewash Waiver are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, we
have taken into account the principal factors and reasons set out below:

1. Financial information and prospects of the Group

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the processing and trading of coking coal and
other products which involve managing and operating coal processing plants; and (ii) the
rendering of logistics services involving constructing, managing and operating logistics parks
in the PRC.
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(ii)

(a) Historical financial information

Set out below is an extract of the financial results and financial position of the Group
for the past five financial years from 2011 to 2015 (2015 figures as extracted from the
2015 Annual Results; 2014 and 2013 figures as extracted from the Company’s 2014
annual report; 2012 figures as extracted from the Company’s 2013 annual report; 2011
figures as extracted from the Company’s 2011 annual report). Further details on the
financial information of the Group are set out in Appendix I and Appendix IA to the

Circular.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Continuing operations:
Turnover
Gross profit/(loss)
Impairment of non-current assets
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations

Discontinued operation:
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax

(Loss)/profit for the year
(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

FINANCIAL POSITION
Total assets

Total liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders

of the Company

2015
HKS$°000

5,735,319

158,555
(1,143,254)
(1,755,800)
(179,587)
(1,935,387

(1,722,992)
(212,395)

2,704,567
4,427,735
(132,367)

(1,590,801)
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For the year ended 31 December

2014
HK$’000

7,547,738

102,152
(429,743)
(1,215,550)

(4,681,208)

(5,896,758)

(3,693,055)
(2,203,703)

10,286,821
9,904,233
82,211

300,377

2013
HK$’000

13,319,742
10,288

(148,328)

(722,537)

(1,602,797)

(2,325,334)

(1,789,385)
(535,949)

22,133,003
16,136,278
1,987,490

4,009,235

2012
HK$’000

12,387,405
(132,973)

(1,672,128)

(1,672,128)

(1,490,961)
(181,167)

22,868,300
14,613,022
2,529,815

5,725,463

2011
HK$’000

11,610,413
2,197,000

1,051,757

1,051,757

1,051,003
754

16,399,764
9,126,643
42,186

7,230,935
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The Group’s continuing operations include mainly processing and trading of coking
coal and other products, which accounted for over 98% of the Group’s revenue from
continuing operations for both 2014 and 2015. Mongolian coal and seaborne coal have
been the two major products of this business segment of the Group. As set out above, the
results of the Group from continuing operations have deteriorated since 2012 mainly as a
result of the weak coking coal market conditions. The Group continued to face challenges
in 2013 and 2014 as a result of the continuing downturn in the coal industry, depression
in coking coal prices, the ongoing oversupply and declining demand in the PRC coal
market. The Group recorded a gross profit from continuing operations for 2013, 2014 and
2015. However, the gross profit margin in these years was low (about 0.08% to 2.8%) as
compared to that in 2011 (about 18.9%). The Group’s financial results in these years were
further impacted by impairment of non-current assets (2013: approximately HK$148.3
million; 2014: approximately HK$429.7 million; 2015: approximately HK$1,143.3
million) due to the unfavourable future prospect of the coking coal business. As a result
of the poor financial results of the Group in recent years, the Group’s net assets value
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was also affected and kept decreasing,
with an amount of approximately RMB300.4 million as at 31 December 2014, which
represented a decrease of approximately 96% compared to the end of 2011 (i.e. before the
downturn of the coking coal market as set out above). As at 31 December 2015, the
Group recorded net liabilities attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HKS$1.6 billion compared to net assets attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$0.3 billion as at 31 December 2014.
Such change was mainly due to the net loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company of approximately HK$1.7 billion for the year ended 31 December 2015.

On 8 April 2011, the Company issued the Senior Notes, which bear interest at 8.50%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. As at 19 February 2016, the outstanding
Senior Notes and accrued but unpaid interest thereon in aggregate amounted to
approximately US$346.5 million. The Group failed to make the scheduled interest
payment of US$13.15 million with respect to the Senior Notes due on 8 April 2015, 8
October 2015 and 8 April 2016. The 30-day grace period for making the interest payment
has expired and the Group did not redeem the Senior Notes on maturity. On 26 November
2015, the Company announced the proposed Debt Restructuring. Further details of the
Debt Restructuring are set out in the aforesaid announcement and the section headed
“Debt Restructuring with Bondholders™ in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the
Circular.

The Group disposed majority of its equity interest in Grande Cache Coal Corporation
and Grande Cache Coal LP (collectively, the “GCC Group”), which, collectively, are
engaged in the production and sales of premium hard coking coal, on 2 September 2015.
The GCC Group has been classified as ‘“discontinued operations” for 2013, 2014 and
2015 in the financial statements of the Group as set out in the table above, in which
losses were recorded from the discontinued operations. The GCC Group companies ceased
to be subsidiaries of the Company following the disposal. After the disposal of the GCC
Group, the Group no longer has to inject cash to meet the substantial capital requirements
of the upstream coal mining business of the GCC Group.
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(b) Prospects

As set out above, the Group’s financial results have been adversely affected by the
poor market conditions of the coking coal industry. In view of the current market
conditions, the executive Directors expect that both the price and transaction volume of
the Mongolian coal and seaborne coal (being the two major products traded by the Group)
market may not pick up significantly in next three years up to 2019 and the trading
environment will continue to be difficult. As set out in 20154F A B4 e T 3 ol 55 8% J 1
L7 (2015 China’s Coal Industry Reform and Development Briefing) published on
F Ik T4 (www.coalchina.org.cn) on 26 January 2016, it is stated that the demand
for coal in China is expected to increase at a slow pace in the five years commencing
2016. BIE M x T.24 (www.coalchina.org.cn) is the official website of H B/ i T2 1)
& (China National Coal Association), which is managed by BI# ¢ Bl & BB & L&
B (State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council). Also, we have obtained price forecasts of hard coking coal (Australian Market)
from Bloomberg for the period from 2016 to 2019, which are comprised of forecasts from
a number of individual analysts. As advised by the executive Directors, Australia is a
major market of coking coal products and also a major place of supply of coking coal
products to the Group and therefore such data is considered relevant to the Group. Based
on the above information from Bloomberg, the median of the hard coking coal price
forecasts as of 19 April 2016 is expected to increase by a total of approximately 6.7%
from 2016 to 2019. On this basis, we concur with the executive Directors’ view that the
price and transaction volume of the Mongolian coal and seaborne coal market may not
pick up significantly in the period up to 2019.

In order to save cost, improve performance and strengthen the financial position of
the Group, the Group has been/will be implementing different measures. Measures already
taken by the Group include (a) reducing the coal inventory and procurement of Mongolian
coal so as to strengthen the cash flow management to support daily operations; and (b)
disposal of the GCC Group which requires substantial capital requirements for its
upstream coal mining business. The Group will also be undertaking further actions, which
include (i) development of new business model to provide integrated e-commerce supply
chain services such as trading and matching, logistics and distribution, collateral
management and financing services to small and medium-sized end-customers as well as
banks; (ii) disposing of idle and non-core assets; and (iii) undergoing the Debt
Restructuring. Further details of such measures are set out in the section headed
“Reasons for the Rights Issue and the Debt Restructuring” in the “Letter from the Board”
contained in the Circular. The executive Directors consider that the implementation of the
Company’s new business model, with certain new business segments to be carried out,
will help to improve the performance of the Group. However, the implementation of the
new business model may expose the Company to certain challenges and risks, details of
which are set out in the aforesaid section in the Circular.

Upon completion of the Debt Restructuring, the net liabilities position of the Group
is expected to improve. Further details of the financial effect on the Rights Issue and the
Debt Restructuring are set out in the sub-section headed “Financial effects of the Rights
Issue and the Debt Restructuring on the Group” below of this letter.
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2. Reasons for the Rights Issue and use of proceeds

As set out in the section headed “Debt Restructuring with Bondholders™ in the “Letter
from the Board” contained in the Circular, the Company has, since May 2015, been in default
under the Senior Notes (by reason of its failure to make the first Interest Payment), and has
been negotiating a restructuring with the Steering Committee in relation to the Senior Notes to
avoid a potential liquidation of the Company. The Company, Subsidiary Guarantors and certain
of the Consenting Bondholders entered into the Restructuring Support Agreement on 25
November 2015, pursuant to which they have agreed to support the proposed Debt
Restructuring (through the implementation of the Schemes) subject to the terms and conditions
of such agreement. The proposed Debt Restructuring will consist of a redemption of the
outstanding Senior Notes and all accrued but unpaid interest thereon up to the Scheme Record
Time (including, without limitation, the Interest Payments) at a discount, with Bondholders
accepting a combination of the Cash Consideration, the Scheme Shares and the CVRs in full
settlement.

The proposed Scheme Consideration under the Debt Restructuring comprises (i) the Cash
Consideration of approximately US$41.7 million in cash (to be paid out of the proceeds of the
Rights Issue); (ii) the Scheme Shares with an attributed value of US$12.5 million representing
18.75% of the total issued Shares (i.e. 565,979,787 Scheme Shares) on a fully diluted basis
upon completion of the Restructuring and after completion of the Share Consolidation and
issuance of all of the Rights Shares, Anti-dilution Shares and Scheme Shares; and (iii) certain
contingent value rights (“CVRs”) with an aggregate notional value of US$10 million, which,
may be settled in cash or CVR Shares or a combination of both at the Company’s discretion.
Further details in relation to the principal terms of the CVRs are set out in section headed
“Principal terms of the CVRs” in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the Circular. The
Schemes shall become fully effective upon the Restructuring Effective Date, being the date on
which the conditions to the Schemes are satisfied including, among others, (i) sanction of the
BVI Scheme and the Hong Kong Scheme by the BVI Court and the Hong Kong Court
respectively; (ii) the Rights Issue having completed and all of the proceeds therefrom having
been transferred to the Scheme Consideration Trustee.

Upon completion of the Debt Restructuring, the outstanding Senior Notes will be
cancelled and all guarantees and security in connection with the Senior Notes will be released.
The Group’s indebtedness is expected to be reduced by approximately HK$2,547 million, and
the Group’s pro forma net tangible assets attributable to the owners of the Company would be
approximately HK$0.9 billion, as compared to net tangible liabilities of approximately HK$1.6
billion as at 31 December 2015. Further details are set out the section headed “Financial
effects of the Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring on the Group™ of this letter below and in the
unaudited pro forma financial information of the Group contained in Appendix II to the
Circular.

Further details with respect to the Debt Restructuring are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 26 November 2015 and the section headed “Debt Restructuring with
Bondholders™ in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the Circular.
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The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue are expected to be approximately US$50 million
in aggregate (before taking into account of estimated expenses) which will be used to pay the
Cash Consideration to the Bondholders in the Debt Restructuring, the Consent Fee of
approximately US$6.8 million under the Restructuring Support Agreement and the success fee
payable to Houlihan Lokey. After the executive Directors’ review of the available strategic
alternatives (and after taking into account the various cost controls and business rationalisation
measures implemented) and having considered the likely recoveries to all stakeholders on a
liquidation of the Company, the executive Directors consider that the Debt Restructuring
represents the best outcome available for the Shareholders and the Bondholders, particularly in
light of the current lack of alternatives to raise new capital. They also consider that it is
prudent for the Company to raise funds through the Rights Issue and complete the Debt
Restructuring to discharge all amounts owing in respect of the Senior Notes (i.e. reducing the
indebtedness of the Group by approximately HK$2,547 million) and hence improve the
financial position of the Group.

The Rights Issue is subject to certain conditions and is inter-conditional with the Debt
Restructuring. If the Debt Restructuring was not to proceed, the Company does not expect to
be able to have the funds to repay the Senior Notes including all outstanding Interest Payments
by due date. In such circumstances, the executive Directors believe there is a material risk that
certain of the Scheme Creditors would seek to pursue enforcement action against the Company
and/or the Subsidiary Guarantors in respect of their outstanding obligations, which likely to
result in an insolvent liquidation of the Company which is considered likely to result in very
little, if any, return to the Shareholders.

We consider that funds raised through the Rights Issue will facilitate the completion of
the Debt Restructuring, without which the Company may face potential liquidation. The
successful implementation of the Rights Issue and hence the Debt Restructuring is crucial for
the Group to revive its financial position and to achieve near-term sustainability, which is
fundamental for further business development of the Group. Furthermore, we have discussed
with the executive Directors regarding other financing methods and note that (i) it is very
unlikely that the Group could obtain further debt financing and/or bank borrowings in light of
the existing financial position and the Debt Restructuring of the Group, or even if possible,
would be subject to lengthy due diligence and negotiations; (ii) the Rights Issue provides an
opportunity for all Qualifying Shareholders to acquire Shares through taking up their
entitlements to the Rights Issue; and (iii) the Qualifying Shareholders who do not participate
in the fund raising of the Company may be able, subject to market conditions, to dispose of
their Rights Shares entitlements in the market in nil-paid form. Based on the forgoing, we
concur with the executive Directors’ view that the Rights Issue is an appropriate means to raise
funds to facilitate the completion of the Debt Restructuring.

— 87 —



LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

Financial effects of the Rights Issue and the Debt Restructuring on the Group

The unaudited pro forma financial information of the Group assuming completion of the

Rights Issue and the Debt Restructuring, which are inter-conditional, have taken place on 31
December 2015 is set out in Appendix II to the Circular.

(a) Net tangible assets

As set out in Appendix II to the Circular, the Group’s financial position will improve
from net tangible liabilities of approximately HK$1.6 billion to net tangible assets of
approximately HK$0.9 billion, mainly as a result of the net proceeds from the Rights
Issue of approximately HK$0.4 billion and the effect of the Debt Restructuring (being
redemption of outstanding Senior Notes and relevant interest payments, net with the
Consent Fee, the success fee to Houlihan Lokey and the Cash Consideration) of
approximately HK$2.2 billion.

(b) Liquidity

Net proceeds from the Rights Issue will amount to approximately HK$386.7 million
and will be used to facilitate the completion of the Debt Restructuring. As advised by the
executive Directors, there will not be any changes to the cash and cash equivalents level
of the Group as a result of the Rights Issue and the Debt Restructuring. However,
following completion of the Rights Issue and the Debt Restructuring, all amounts
outstanding under the Senior Notes will be fully discharged. The executive Directors
consider that liquidity of the Group will be improved.

The Rights Issue
(a) Principal terms of the Rights Issue
The table below summarises the principal terms of the Rights Issue:

Basis of the Rights Issue : 3 Rights Shares for every 1 Consolidated Share
held on the Record Date

Note: 3 Anti-dilution Shares for each 1 Rights Share
subscribed will be issued for no further
consideration, with details as set out in the sub-
section headed “Anti-dilution protection of the Rights
Shares” under the section headed “Proposed Rights
Issue” in the “Letter from the Board” contained in
the Circular.

Subscription Price : HKS$0.69 per Rights Share.

Number of Existing Shares in :  3,773,198,693 Existing Shares (resulting in up to
issue as at the Latest 188,659,929 Consolidated Shares (subject to the
Practicable Date treatment of fractional Consolidated Shares) upon

the Share Consolidation becoming effective)
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Number of Rights Shares

Number of Rights Shares and
Anti-dilution Shares upon
completion of the Rights
Issue

Amount to be raised

Underwriter

Qualifying Shareholders

Not more than 565,979,787 Rights Shares

Assuming no further Shares will be issued and
repurchased by the Company on or before the
Record Date, based on the number of issued
Existing Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date,
565,979,787 Rights Shares represents (i) 300% of
the issued Consolidated Shares; and (ii)
approximately 75% of the issued Consolidated
Shares upon the issuance of Rights Shares, but
before the issuance of Anti-dilution Shares and
Scheme Shares.

Not more than 2,263,919,148 Consolidated Shares

Assuming no further Shares will be issued and
repurchased by the Company on or before the
Record Date, based on the number of issued
Existing Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date,
2,263,919,148 Rights Shares and Anti-dilution
Shares represents approximately 75% of the
issued Consolidated Shares and upon the issuance
of Rights Shares, Anti-dilution Shares and
Scheme Shares.

Approximately US$50 million

Famous Speech, a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Wang’s daughter, Amy Wang as at the Latest
Practicable Date and will be 73.3% owned by
Amy Wang and 26.7% by Magnificent Gardenia
upon completion of the Share Subscription
Agreement.

The Shareholders being those persons registered
as members of the Company at the close of
business on the Record Date, and not being Non-
Qualifying Shareholders.
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Conditions :  The Rights Issue is conditional upon the
satisfaction or waiver (as appropriate) of certain
conditions including, amongst others, (i) the
Restructuring Support Agreement remaining
effective and not having been terminated before
the Restructuring Effective Date; (ii) the granting
of the Whitewash Waiver by the Executive; (iii)
the Schemes being sanctioned; and (iv) the
Independent Shareholders approving the Rights
Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the issue of
the CVRs, the Whitewash Waiver, the Specific
Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the
Special Deal at the EGM. If the conditions of the
Rights Issue are not fulfilled or if Famous Speech
or the Company terminates the Underwriting
Agreement, the Rights Issue will not proceed.

Further details regarding the conditions of the
Rights Issue are set out in the section headed
“The Underwriting Agreement and Sub-
underwriting Agreement” in the “Letter from the
Board” contained in the Circular.

Status of the Rights Shares . Rank pari passu in all respects with the Shares
then in issue. Holders of fully-paid Rights Shares
will be entitled to receive all future dividends and
distributions which are declared, made or paid
after the date of allotment of the Rights Shares in
their fully-paid form.

Excess application . No application for excess Rights Shares will be
offered to the Qualifying Shareholders.

(b) No excess application

No application for excess Rights Shares will be offered to the Qualifying
Shareholders. Any Shares not subscribed by the Qualifying Shareholders will be taken up
by Famous Speech pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement. The terms of the
Debt Restructuring were finalised with the Steering Committee on the expectation that Mr.
Wang (or his family members or other members of the Controlling Shareholder Group)
would remain as the Controlling Shareholder immediately after the Debt Restructuring and
that the Company would implement its new business model as set out in the “Letter from
the Board” contained in the Circular. In the opinion of the executive Directors, an excess
application mechanism may result in an unexpected introduction of a new substantial
shareholder or controlling shareholder to the Company which may cast uncertainties on
the Company’s future direction which may not be in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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We consider that the absence of excess application arrangements is a disadvantage
for those Qualifying Shareholders who wish to take up additional Rights Shares in excess
of their assured entitlements. However, taking into account, (i) the Qualifying
Shareholders will have the opportunity to minimise the dilution of their shareholding
interests in the Company through the Rights Issue; (ii) Qualifying Shareholders who wish
to increase their shareholding interests in the Company through the Rights Issue may
acquire additional nil-paid Rights Shares in the market subject to availability; and (iii) it
is undesirable that any uncertainty as regards the controlling shareholding be created
through an excess application mechanism, we consider, on balance and in the context of
the Debt Restructuring, the absence of an excess application arrangements is acceptable.

(c) Other matters

Qualifying Shareholders may choose not to subscribe the Rights Shares and to sell
the Rights Shares in their nil-paid form. Any Shareholder or other person dealing in the
Shares or in the nil-paid Rights Shares up to the date on which all the conditions to which
the Rights Issue is subject to are fulfilled (and the date on which the Underwriter’s right
of termination of the Underwriting Agreement ceases) will bear the risk that the Rights
Issue may not become unconditional or may not proceed.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 23 May 2016
to Friday, 27 May 2016 (both days inclusive) for determining the entitlements to the
Rights Issue during which period no transfer of Consolidated Shares will be registered.
Further details of the Rights Issue including the expected timetable is set out in the
“Letter from the Board™ contained in the Circular.

(d) Anti-dilution protection of the Right Shares

As the issue of the Scheme Shares would dilute the 75% shareholding of those taking
up the Rights Shares (including Famous Speech), the issue of the Anti-dilution Shares for
no further consideration in the ratio of three Anti-dilution Shares for each one Rights
Share subscribed, is a mechanism to counter this dilutive effect as agreed in the Term
Sheet. The 1,697,939,361 Anti-Dilution Shares will represent 900% of the Company’s
issued Consolidated Shares based upon the number of Existing Shares as at the Latest
Practicable Date. The Anti-dilution Shares will rank pari passu in all respects with the
Shares then in issue.

Shareholders should note that shareholdings in the Company of the Qualifying
Shareholders who do not take up the Rights Shares to which they are entitled will be very
materially diluted through the issuance of the Rights Shares, the Scheme Shares, the Anti-
dilution Shares and if applicable the issuance of the CVR Shares. Further details of the
dilution effect is set out in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the Circular and the
sub-section headed “Potential dilution effect on shareholding” of this letter below.
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(e) The Underwriting Agreement and Sub-underwriting Agreement

On 11 March 2016, Famous Speech as the underwriter, the Company, Mr. Wang and
the Controlling Shareholder Group entered into the Underwriting Agreement, pursuant to
which Famous Speech has conditionally agreed to subscribe for all Underwritten Shares
that are not taken up under the Rights Issue. Details of the Underwriting Agreement are
set out in the section headed ‘“The Underwriting Agreement and Sub-underwriting
Agreement” in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the Circular. Pursuant to the
Supplemental Irrevocable Undertaking and the Underwriting Agreement, Mr. Wang has
irrevocably undertaken, among other things, that he will not, and will procure the
Controlling Shareholder Group will not, take up the entitlements of Rights Shares under
the Rights Issue. Famous Speech has undertaken pursuant to the Famous Speech
Undertaking that it will take up the Controlling Shareholder Group’s assured entitlements
under the Rights Issue and has also undertaken to enter into a facility agreement with a
commercial bank which shall provide a term loan in the principal amount of up to US$50
million to Famous Speech for the purpose of making available sufficient funds for
underwriting the Rights Issue in full. Pursuant to the Share Subscription Agreement and
the Shareholder Loan Agreements, Amy Wang and Magnificent Gardenia agreed to
provide the Amy Wang Shareholder Loan and the Magnificent Gardenia Shareholder Loan
respectively to Famous Speech to fund the Security Deposit required for obtaining the
Offshore Loan (i.e. up to US$50 million) to be provided by the Offshore Bank to Famous
Speech for underwriting the Rights Issue in full. Further details with respect to the Share
Subscription Agreement, the Shareholder Loan Agreements and related agreement are set
out in the section headed “Special Deal” in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the
Circular. Upon completion of the Rights Issue, Famous Speech will also pledge its Rights
Shares to the Offshore Bank as security for its obligations in respect of the Offshore
Loan.

The table below summarises the principal terms of the Underwriting Agreement:

The Underwriter :  Famous Speech

Total number of Rights : Not less than 565,979,787 Rights Shares
Shares being underwritten (assuming no new Shares are issued and there
by the Underwriter being no repurchase of Shares by the Company on

or before the Record Date) including the
227,737,515 Rights Shares which represent the
Controlling Shareholder Group’s entitlements
under the Rights Issue and which will be
subscribed by Famous Speech. Anti-dilution
Shares will be issued in respect of all Rights
Shares taken up by the Underwriter (as well as
relevant Qualifying Shareholders).

Commission :  Famous Speech will not be entitled to any
commission or fees.
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Sub-underwriting

Termination

On 11 April 2016, Wincon Asset Management, an
independent third party of the Company and as
the sub-underwriter, and Famous Speech entered
into the Sub-underwriting Agreement, pursuant to
which Wincon Asset Management conditionally
agreed to subscribe for up to 75,912,505
Consolidated Shares representing approximately
2.52% of the total issued Shares immediately after
completion of the Rights Issue. None of Wincon
Asset Management, its ultimate beneficial owner,
or their respective associates and concert parties
is a shareholder of the Company. The purpose of
the Sub-underwriting Agreement is to ensure that
the Company maintains its public float under the
Listing Rules immediately after the completion of
the Underwriting Agreement and the Rights Issue.
Further details of the Sub-underwriting Agreement
are set out in the section headed ‘‘The
Underwriting Agreement and Sub-underwriting
Agreement” in the “Letter from the Board”
contained in the Circular.

Famous Speech has the right to terminate its
obligations as stipulated in the Underwriting
Agreement on the occurrence of certain events as
set out in the sub-section headed “Termination of
the Underwriting Agreement” in the “Letter from
the Board” contained in the Circular. The
Company also has the right to terminate the
Underwriting Agreement if Famous Speech fails
to satisfy its funding obligations by 4:00 p.m. on
the Settlement Date. If the Restructuring Effective
Date has not occurred by the Longstop Date (i.e.
15 July 2016), the Underwriting Agreement shall
terminate and no party shall have any obligation
to any other party save for any antecedent breach.
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As set out in the section headed “The Underwriting Agreement and Sub-underwriting
Agreement” in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the Circular, the terms of the
Underwriting Agreement were determined after arm’s length negotiations between the
Company and Famous Speech with reference to the existing financial position of the
Group, the size of the Rights Issue, and the current and expected market conditions. If the
Underwriter or the Company terminates the Underwriting Agreement, the Rights Issue
will not proceed. Famous Speech is reliant upon external funding to underwrite the Rights
Issue and such funding is not at this stage committed. If Famous Speech fails to secure its
external funding it will unlikely be able to comply with its obligations under the
Underwriting Agreement and the Rights Issue will not proceed.

Taking into account (i) the underwriting is needed to raise sufficient funds to
facilitate the completion of the Debt Restructuring; (ii) the terms of the Underwriting
Agreement were determined after arm’s length negotiations between the parties; (iii) the
Underwriter will not be entitled to any commission or fees; and (iv) the Qualifying
Shareholders will be given an opportunity to acquire shares through taking up their
entitlements to the Rights Issue, we are of the view that the terms of the Underwriting
Agreement are fair and reasonable as far as Independent Shareholders are concerned. We
note that underwriting is normally required under the Listing Rules for a rights issue to
proceed.

Analysis of the Subscription Price
(a) Share price performance

The chart below illustrates the daily closing price per Share for the period from 1
January 2014 (being approximately two years prior to the publication of the Rights Issue
Announcement) up to and including the Latest Practicable Date (the “Review Period”).
The chart shows actual market prices, which are prices without adjustments for the effect
of the Share Consolidation. For the purpose of the chart, rather than changing all the
actual market prices, we have made adjustments to the Subscription Price for the effect of
the Share Consolidation by dividing the Subscription Price of HK$0.69 per Rights Share
by 20. In addition, as the Qualifying Shareholders will be issued 3 Anti-dilution Shares
for each 1 Rights Share subscribed (i.e. the Qualifying Shareholders will be issued 4
Shares in total) at the Subscription Price of HK$0.69, we have also provided a dotted line
showing the aforesaid effect of the Share Consolidation and the issuance of the Anti-
Dilution Shares on the Subscription Price (HK$0.69 + 20 + 4).
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Share price chart
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As set out in the chart above, the closing Share prices showed a general downward
trend during the Review Period. The Share closing prices fluctuated between HK$0.125
per Share and HK$0.51 per Share from 1 January 2014 and up to the Last Trading Day,
with the lowest price on 26 August 2015, shortly before the suspension of trading in the
Shares as a result of delay in announcement of 2015 interim results. A number of
announcements have been published by the Company during the period from 1 January
2014 and up to the Last Trading Day, including announcements relating to the disposal of
the GCC Group, the financial results of the Group, non-payment of the coupon of the
Senior Notes and the Debt Restructuring. Trading in the Shares was suspended from 31
August 2015 as a result of the delay in 2015 interim results announcement. On 13 March
2016, the Company published its 2015 interim results announcement and the Rights Issue
Announcement. Trading in the Shares resumed on 14 March 2016 and the Shares closed
at HK$0.082 per Share on the same day, representing a decrease of approximately 43.4%
as compared to the closing price of HK$0.145 per Share on the Last Trading Day. Trading
in the Shares was subsequently suspended on 1 April 2016 as a result of delay in
announcement of 2015 annual results by the Company with a closing Share price of
HK$0.052 per Share on 31 March 2016 before the suspension.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the closing price of the Shares was HK$0.052 per
Share, representing a theoretical adjusted closing price for the effect of the Share
Consolidation of HK$1.04 per Consolidated Share, and the Subscription Price represented
a discount of approximately 34% to such theoretical adjusted closing price.
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(b) Comparison of the Subscription Price

The Subscription Price of HK$0.69 per Rights Share represents:

@

(i1)

(iii)

@iv)

a discount of approximately 76% to the adjusted closing price of HK$2.90 per
Consolidated Share, based on the closing price of HK$0.145 per Existing Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day and adjusted for the
effect of the Share Consolidation;

a discount of approximately 44% to the adjusted theoretical ex-rights price of
approximately HK$1.243 per Consolidated Share based on the closing price of
HK$0.145 per Existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last
Trading Day and adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation;

a discount of approximately 74% to the adjusted average closing price of
approximately HK$2.676 per Consolidated Share, based on the average closing
price of approximately HK$0.1338 per Existing Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the five consecutive trading days up to and including the Last
Trading Day and adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation; and

a discount of approximately 82% to the adjusted average closing price of
approximately HK$3.786 per Consolidated Share, based on the average closing
price of approximately HK$0.1893 per Existing Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last thirty consecutive trading days up to and including the
Last Trading Day and adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation.

As set out in paragraph (a) above, Qualifying Shareholders will be issued 4 Shares in
total (including 1 Rights Share and 3 Anti-Dilution Shares) at the Subscription Price of

HK$0.69.

We have also performed a comparison with the effective Subscription Price of

HK$0.1725 per Share (the “Effective Subscription Price”) (HK$0.69 + 4). The Effective
Subscription Price of HK$0.1725 per Share represents:

v)

(vi)

(vii)

a discount of approximately 94% to the adjusted closing price of HK$2.90 per
Consolidated Share, based on the closing price of HK$0.145 per Existing Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day and adjusted for the
effect of the Share Consolidation;

a discount of approximately 86% to the adjusted theoretical ex-rights price of
approximately HK$1.243 per Consolidated Share based on the closing price of
HK$0.145 per Existing Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last
Trading Day and adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation;

a discount of approximately 94% to the adjusted average closing price of
approximately HK$2.676 per Consolidated Share, based on the average closing
price of approximately HK$0.1338 per Existing Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the five consecutive trading days up to and including the Last
Trading Day and adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation;
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(viii) a discount of approximately 95% to the adjusted average closing price of
approximately HK$3.786 per Consolidated Share, based on the average closing
price of approximately HK$0.1893 per Existing Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last thirty consecutive trading days up to and including the
Last Trading Day and adjusted for the effect of the Share Consolidation; and

(ix) a discount of approximately 83% to the adjusted closing price of HK$1.04 per
Consolidated Share, based on the closing price of HK$0.052 per Existing Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Latest Practicable Date and adjusted
for the effect of the Share Consolidation.

We are of the view that, although the discounts of the Subscription Price and the
Effective Subscription Price to the adjusted average closing prices are substantial, these
discounts give Independent Shareholders an incentive to take up their entitlements to the
Rights Issues and should provide them an opportunity to sell their shares nil paid in the
market if they do not wish to subscribe. Further details of our discussion on the
Subscription Price are set out in paragraph (c) below.

(c) Discussion on the Subscription Price

As set out in the sub-section headed *“Subscription Price” under the section headed
“Proposed Rights Issue” in the ‘“Letter from the Board” contained in the Circular, the
terms of the Rights Issue, including the Subscription Price and the subscription ratio, were
determined after arm’s length negotiations between the Company, Mr. Wang and Famous
Speech taking into account the following factors: (i) the terms set out in the Term Sheet
negotiated between the Company and the Bondholders including the amount of US$50
million needed to satisfy the Company’s obligations under the terms of the Schemes and
in connection with the proposed Debt Restructuring; (ii) as at 30 June 2015, the unaudited
net liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately HK$1.4 billion, equivalent to
approximately negative HK$0.372 per Existing Share, based on 3,773,198,693 Existing
Shares in issue at the date of the Underwriting Agreement; (iii) the market price of the
Existing Shares under the then prevailing market and economic conditions; (iv) the net
loss of the Group for the three consecutive financial years since 2012; and (v) the capital
needs and financial position of the Group.

As discussed above, the Group recorded poor financial results since 2012 mainly as a
result of the difficult market conditions of the coking coal industry and as a result, the
Group recorded net liabilities attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$1.6 billion as at 31 December 2015. The poor financial results also
affected the Group’s indebtedness position and the Group’s payments of the interest of the
Senior Notes. As set out in the sub-section headed “Reasons for the Rights Issue and use
of proceeds” of this letter above, we consider funds raised through the Rights Issue will
facilitate the completion of the Debt Restructuring, which is crucial for the Group to
revive its financial position and to achieve near-term sustainability, which is fundamental
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for further business development of the Group. We consider that the Subscription Price is
fair and reasonable to the Independent Shareholders based on a number of qualitative and
quantitative factors, as follows:

(1) the poor financial results of the Group in recent years which adversely affect the
financial and indebtedness position of the Group;

(2) the Group recorded net liabilities attributable to equity Shareholders of the
Company of approximately HK$1.6 billion as at 31 December 2015;

(3) the Rights Issue is an appropriate means to raise US$50 million to facilitate the
completion of the Debt Restructuring given the Group’s existing financial
position and lack of feasible alternatives in raising funds;

(4) The executive Directors believe that the Debt Restructuring represents the best
outcome available for the Shareholders and the Bondholders (further details of
the Company’s seeking of alternative fund raising alternatives are set out in the
sub-section headed *“Alternative fund raising activities” in the section headed
“The Underwriting Agreement and Sub-underwriting Agreement” in the “Letter
from the Board” contained in the Circular);

(5) the completion of the Debt Restructuring (which is inter-conditional with the
Rights Issue) is crucial for sustainability of the Group and the development of
its business and without which the Group, in our view, faces potential
liquidation; and

(6) the positive financial effects on the Group as a result of the Rights Issue and the
Debt Restructuring including improvement in net liabilities position which are
set out in the sub-section headed ‘“Financial effects of the Rights Issue and the
Debt Restructuring on the Group” of this letter above.

6. Potential dilution effect on shareholding

Set out below is the table showing the shareholding structure of the Group (assuming no
Shares will be issued and none repurchased on or before the Record Date) (i) as at the Latest
Practicable Date; (ii) immediately upon the Share Consolidation becoming effective but before
completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of the Anti-dilution Shares) and the
Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme Shares); (iii) immediately upon
completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of the Anti-dilution Shares) and the
Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme Shares); and (iv) immediately upon
completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of the Anti-dilution Shares) and the
Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of the Scheme Shares) and assuming all the CVR
Shares are issued to Bondholders in settlement of the CVRs. Further details on the effect on
the shareholding structure and the accompanying notes to the shareholding table are set out in
the section headed *“Shareholding structure of the Company” in the “Letter from the Board”
contained in the Circular.
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All Qualifying Shareholders are entitled to subscribe for the Rights Shares. In case all
Qualifying Shareholders take up their entitlements in full under the Rights Issue, the
shareholding of the existing public Shareholders would be diluted by approximately 21.7%
upon completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of all the Anti-dilution Shares) and
the Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of all the Scheme Shares), and assuming all the
CVR Shares are issued to Bondholders in settlement of the CVRs. In case Qualifying
Shareholders opt not to take up their entitlements in full under the Rights Issue, depending on
the extent to which the Qualifying Shareholders take up their entitlements, their shareholding
interests will be diluted by a maximum of approximately 94.0% upon completion of the Rights
Issue (including the issuance of all the Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring
(including the issuance of all the Scheme Shares), and assuming all the CVR Shares are issued
to Bondholders in settlement of the CVRs.

Assuming the Underwritten Shares will be fully taken up by the Underwriter, it is
expected that immediately following the completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance
of all the Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of the
Scheme Shares), Famous Speech and the Controlling Shareholder Group will in aggregate hold
approximately 77.52% of the then enlarged issued Consolidated Shares. Famous Speech has
entered into sub-underwriting arrangements with Wincon Asset Management, a third party
independent of the Company, its connected persons and their associates, to the extent necessary
to ensure that the Company maintains its public float under the Listing Rules immediately after
the completion of the Rights Issue. Therefore, the maximum number of Consolidated Shares to
be held by Famous Speech, the Controlling Shareholder Group and the parties acting in concert
with them will be not more than 75% of the then issued Consolidated Shares immediately after
completion of the Rights Issue.

In order to assess the fairness and reasonableness of the dilution effect to the shareholding
of the existing public Shareholders, we have identified companies which had been placed under
the delisting procedures by the Stock Exchange pursuant to Practice Note 17 with resumption
plans involving (1) debt restructuring or creditors’ scheme of arrangement; and (2) the offer of
shares by way of open offer or rights issue to its existing shareholders (excluding those cases
where majority of the proceeds from the offer were used as working capital of the Company),
and the trading in their shares on the Stock Exchange was resumed during the period from 1
January 2013 up to the Latest Practicable Date after the implementation of the resumption
plans. On a best effort basis, we have identified four companies (the “Precedent Companies™)
based on the selection criteria as set out above. The Precedent Companies represent an
exhaustive list of companies meeting the criteria set out above and our analysis of the
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Precedent Companies set out below can, in our view, provide the Independent Shareholders a
meaningful comparison with comparable transactions. Details of the Precedent Companies and
the respective dilution effect of their resumption plans are summarised in the following table:

Potential
maximum dilution
to existing public
shareholders as a
result of the

transactions

contemplated

under the

Company Stock code Date of circular resumption plans

(Note)

Proview International Holdings 334 30 June 2014 95.5%
Limited

Warderly International Holdings 607 28 October 2013 96.5%
Limited

U-RIGHT International Holdings 627 26 July 2013 91.9%
Limited

FU JI Food and Catering Services 1175 1 March 2013 88.5%

Holdings Limited

Average 93.1%

Minimum 88.5%

Maximum 96.5%

The Company 94.0%

Note: Potential maximum dilution to existing public shareholders of each Precedent Company shown above
was calculated based on (a) the shareholding interest of the existing public shareholders as at the latest
practicable date; and (b) the shareholding interest of the existing public shareholders on a fully-diluted
basis after completion of the transactions contemplated under the resumption plans, as set out in the
respective circular in relation to the resumption plans.

As set out in the table above, the potential maximum dilution effects to existing public
shareholders as a result of the transactions contemplated under the resumption plans of the
Precedent Companies range from approximately 88.5% to approximately 96.5%, with a mean
of approximately 93.1%. The potential maximum dilution of the shareholding interests of the
existing public Shareholders of approximately 94.0% upon completion of the Rights Issue
(including the issuance of all the Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring (including
the issuance of all the Scheme Shares), and assuming all the CVR Shares are issued to
Bondholders in settlement of the CVRs, is within the range of the potential maximum dilution
levels of the Precedent Companies and lower than the potential maximum dilution levels of 2
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out of 4 Precedent Companies. Such maximum dilution of the shareholding interests of the
existing public Shareholders of approximately 94.0% is close to the median of the range of
approximately 93.7%.

Having taken into account (i) the reasons for the Rights Issue as set out in the sub-section
headed ‘“Reasons for the Rights Issue and use of proceeds” above of this letter including,
among other things, that the successful implementation of the Rights Issue and the Debt
Restructuring is crucial for the Group to revive its financial position and to achieve near-term
sustainability; (ii) the Qualifying Shareholders will have the opportunity to mitigate the
dilution of their shareholding interests in the Company through the Rights Issue; (iii) the
Subscription Price is considered to be fair and reasonable as set out in this letter above; (iv)
the analysis on the dilution effect to the shareholding of the existing public Shareholders (as
compared to the Precedent Companies) as set out in this section above; and (v) the Rights
Issue is considered an appropriate means to raise funds to facilitate the completion of the Debt
Restructuring which the executive Directors believe to be the best outcome available to the
Shareholders and the Bondholders, we consider the dilution effect on the existing Shareholders
to be acceptable.

7. Whitewash Waiver — Takeovers Code provisions

As set out in the section headed “Application for Whitewash Waiver and Takeovers Code
implications” in the “Letter from the Board” contained in the Circular, Mr. Wang, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, is beneficially interested in 1,518,250,109 Existing
Shares, representing approximately 40.24% of the issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, Famous Speech has conditionally agreed to fully
underwrite the Rights Issue and Mr. Wang has undertaken in the Underwriting Agreement to
procure that each company of the Controlling Shareholder Group will not take up its
entitlements under the Rights Issue and the Right Shares underlying such entitlements will be
subject to subscription by Famous Speech under the Underwriting Agreement. Upon the
Controlling Shareholder Group’s renunciation of their entitlements and assuming no
acceptances by the other Qualifying Shareholders of their Rights Issue entitlements, Famous
Speech would be required to take up 565,979,787 Underwritten Shares and would also receive
1,697,939,361 Anti-Dilution Shares. In such circumstances, the total shareholding of Famous
Speech and its concert parties including but not limited to the Controlling Shareholder Group,
upon issuance of the Rights Shares, the Anti-dilution Shares and the Scheme Shares would
amount to a maximum of approximately 77.52% of the then issued Consolidated Shares as
enlarged by the issue of the Rights Shares, the Anti-dilution Shares and the Scheme Shares,
and the Scheme Shares would amount to 18.75% of such enlarged total issued Consolidated
Shares. The fulfilment by Famous Speech of its underwriting commitment would result in an
obligation to a mandatory general offer under Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code by Famous
Speech and parties acting in concert with it for all Shares other than those already owned or
agreed to be acquired by them, unless the Whitewash Waiver is obtained from the Executive.
The Rights Issue is conditional upon, among other things, the Executive granting the
Whitewash Waiver which condition is not waivable. An application has been made by Famous
Speech to the Executive for the Whitewash Waiver which, if granted, would be subject to,
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among other things, the approval of the Independent Shareholders at the EGM by way of poll.
If the Whitewash Waiver is not granted, the Underwriting Agreement will not become
unconditional and the Rights Issue will not proceed.

Having taking into consideration (i) the reasons for the Rights Issue as set out in the

section headed “Reasons for the Rights Issue and use of proceeds” above of this letter; and (ii)
that the Subscription Price and the terms of the Underwriting Agreement are considered to be
fair and reasonable as set out in this letter above, we are of the view that the Whitewash
Waiver (the granting of which is one of the conditions precedent of the Rights Issue) is fair
and reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

8.

Special Deal
Proceeds from the Rights Issue for making payments to Bondholders

The Company proposes to implement the Debt Restructuring by way of the Schemes.
Each participating Bondholder will receive a pro rata allocation of the CVRs based on the
outstanding principal amount held by each participating Bondholder and, at its election, a
combination of Cash Consideration and Scheme Shares. Upon completion of the Debt
Restructuring, the aggregate amount of the Cash Consideration and the aggregate number
of the Scheme Shares and CVRs will be completely allocated among the Bondholders in
consideration of all claims in respect of the Senior Notes being extinguished. The Cash
Consideration under the Schemes will be funded by the proceeds of the Rights Issue.

As set out in the section headed ‘“Special Deal” in the ‘“Letter from the Board”
contained in the Circular, certain Bondholders holding an aggregate principal amount of
US$1,280,000 (representing approximately 0.41% of the outstanding Senior Notes) also
hold 28,802,000 Shares in total (representing approximately 0.76% of the total issued
shares of the Company) as at the Latest Practicable Date. The payment of the Consent Fee
and the distribution of the Scheme Consideration to Bondholders are not capable of being
extended to all Shareholders and will constitute a special deal under Note 5 to Rule 25 of
the Takeovers Code so far as those Bondholders who are also Shareholders are concerned.
The Special Deal requires consent from the Executive to proceed, and such consent, if
granted, shall be conditional upon (i) the Independent Financial Adviser to the
Independent Board Committee publicly giving an opinion that the terms of the Special
Deal are fair and reasonable; and (ii) the approval of the Independent Shareholders at the
EGM by way of a poll. The Company is in the process of seeking the Executive’s consent
in this regard.

Taking into account (i) the background and reasons for the Debt Restructuring as
described in the “Letter from the Board” of the Circular and the sub-section headed
“Reasons for the Rights Issue and use of proceeds” of this letter above; (ii) the terms
offered to the Bondholders who are also Shareholders under the Schemes are the same as
those offered to other Bondholders who are not Shareholders; (iii) the Special Deal is a
condition of the Rights Issue which is inter-conditional with the Debt Restructuring, and
if the Debt Restructuring is not successful, it seems to us that the Group will likely be
placed into liquidation; and (iv) Bondholders who are also Shareholders and their
respective concert parties and those who are involved in and/or interested in the Rights
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Issue, the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver, the issuance of the CVRs, the
Specific Mandate, the CVR Specific Mandate and the Special Deal will abstain from
voting on the resolution to approve the Special Deal, we are of the view that the terms of
the Special Deal are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are
concerned.

DISCUSSION
Rights Issue and the Underwriting Agreement

The Company has, since May 2015, been in default under the Senior Notes with aggregate
outstanding amount of approximately US$346.5 million as at 19 February 2016. The proposed
Debt Restructuring was agreed to avoid a potential liquidation of the Company. The Cash
Consideration which forms part of the Scheme Consideration will be funded by the Rights
Issue, which the executive Directors consider an appropriate means to raise funds given the
lack of alternatives. We concur with this view. The Rights Issue, as part of a ‘rescue’ plan for
the Company, is inter-conditional with the Debt Restructuring and will be underwritten by
Famous Speech, a company controlled by the controlling Shareholder’s daughter. No
application for excess Rights Shares will be offered to the Qualifying Shareholders and any
Shares not subscribed by the Qualifying Shareholders will be taken up by the Underwriter and/
or the sub-underwriter. Although the absence of an excess application arrangement is not
desirable, based on the factors set out in the sub-section headed “The Rights Issue” above
(being (i) the Qualifying Shareholders will have the opportunity to minimise the dilution of
their shareholding interests in the Company through the Rights Issue; (ii) Qualifying
Shareholders who wish to increase their shareholding interests in the Company through the
Rights Issue may acquire additional nil-paid Rights Shares in the market subject to availability;
and (iii) it is undesirable that any uncertainty as regards the controlling shareholding be created
through an excess application mechanism) and in the context of the Debt Restructuring, we
consider such absence, on balance, to be acceptable.

The Underwriter will not be entitled to any commission or fees. It has undertaken to enter
into a facility agreement with a commercial bank to obtain funding for the purpose of fulfilling
its underwriting obligations. Based on the factors as set out in the sub-section headed “The
Underwriting Agreement” above, we are of the view that the terms of the Underwriting
Agreement to be fair and reasonable as far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned.

Our analysis of the Subscription Price is set out in the sub-section above headed
“Discussion on the Subscription Price”. Based on the qualitative and quantitative factors set
out in that sub-section, including (a) the indebtedness position and net liabilities of the Group
as at 31 December 2015; (b) the Rights Issue is considered an appropriate means to raise
US$50 million to facilitate the completion of the Debt Restructuring, which is crucial for the
sustainability of the Group and the development of its business, and without which the Group,
in our view, faces potential liquidation; (c¢) the executive Directors believe that the Debt
Restructuring represents the best outcome available for the Shareholders and the Bondholders;
and (d) the positive financial effects on the Group’s financial position as discussed above, we
consider the Subscription Price to be fair and reasonable.
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The maximum dilution to the shareholding interest of the existing public Shareholders of
approximately 94.0% upon completion of the Rights Issue (including the issuance of all the
Anti-dilution Shares) and the Debt Restructuring (including the issuance of all the Scheme
Shares), and assuming all the CVR Shares are issued to Bondholders in settlement of the CVRs
is substantial. However, in view of (i) the reasons for the Rights Issue including, among other
things, that the successful implementation of the Rights Issue and the Debt Restructuring is
crucial for the Group to revive its financial position and to achieve near-term sustainability; (ii)
the Qualifying Shareholders will be given the opportunity to mitigate dilution of their
shareholding interests in the Company through the Rights Issue; (iii) the Subscription Price is
considered to be fair and reasonable as discussed above; (iv) the potential maximum dilution
effect is within the range of the potential maximum dilution levels of the Precedent Companies
and lower than those of 2 out of 4 Precedent Companies as set out above; and (v) the Rights
Issue is considered an appropriate means to raise funds to facilitate the completion of the Debt
Restructuring which the executive Directors believe to be the best outcome available to the
Shareholders and the Bondholders, we consider the potential amount of dilution set out in the
table above is acceptable.

Whitewash Waiver and Special Deal

Famous Speech has applied for the Whitewash Waiver, which is a condition of the Rights
Issue being completed, and which because of the reasons set out above we consider fair and
reasonable. Certain Bondholders also hold approximately 0.76% of the total issued shares of
the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date and they will benefit from the Debt
Restructuring which is not available to all Shareholders and this gives rise to the Special Deal.
Based on the reasons as set out above, we consider that the terms of the Special Deal are fair
and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned.

OPINION

Having taken into account the above principal factors and reasons which are summarised
in the section above headed “Discussion” of this letter, we consider that (1) the terms of the
Underwriting Agreement are on normal commercial terms and the terms of the Rights Issue,
the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal are fair and
reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned; and (2) the Rights Issue, the
Underwriting Agreement and the Whitewash Waiver are in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.

Accordingly, we advise the Independent Board Committee to recommend, and we
ourselves recommend, the Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary
resolutions to be proposed at the EGM to approve the Rights Issue, the Underwriting
Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and the Special Deal.

Yours faithfully,
for and on behalf of
SOMERLEY CAPITAL LIMITED
M. N. Sabine
Chairman
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Mr. M. N. Sabine is a licensed person registered with the SFC and a responsible officer
of Somerley Capital Limited, which is licensed under the SFO to carry out Type 1 (dealing in
securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities. He has over thirty
yvears’ experience in the corporate finance industry.

The English translations of the Chinese names are included in this letter for identification
purpose only and should not be regarded as their official English translations. In the event of

any inconsistency, the Chinese names prevail.
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A. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

The published audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the three years
ended 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 are disclosed in the annual report of the Company
for the three financial years ended 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 published on (i) 29 April
2013, from pages 65 to 164; (ii) 30 April 2014, from pages 70 to 165; (iii) 2 April 2015, from
pages 89 to 226 and also set out in pages IA-1 to IA-138 of this circular. The published
audited consolidated financial information of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
were published on 22 April 2016 and are set out in pages IA-139 to IA-170 of this circular.

The said annual reports and annual results of the Company are available on both the
website of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkex.com.hk) and the website of the Company
(http://www.winsway.com) with the detailed links as follows:

Annual Report Link

2012 Annual Report http://www.winsway.com/attachment/20130429163201001641697_en.pdf
2013 Annual Report http://www.winsway.com/attachment/20140430080201001904212_en.pdf
2014 Annual Report http://www.winsway.com/attachment/2015040217170200032161351_en.pdf

2015 Annual Results http://www.winsway.com/attachment/2016042223020100002493041_en.pdf

Set out below is a summary of the audited financial results of the Group for each of the
three years ended 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Continuing operations:
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue

Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Other operating (expenses)/income,
net

Impairment of non-current assets

Loss from operating activities

Finance income
Finance costs

Net finance (costs)/income

Share of profit/(loss) of an associate

Loss before taxation from
continuing operations
Income tax

Loss from continuing operations

Discontinued operation:

Loss from discontinued operation,
net of tax

Loss for the year

2015 2014 2013

$°000 $°000 $°000
(Restated)

5,735,319 7,547,738 13,319,742
(5,576,764) (7,445,586)  (13,309,454)
158,555 102,152 10,288
2,991 81,346 32,707
(29,141) (159,526) (213,828)
(449,936) (434,511) (360,560)
3,239 (2,187) 9,077
(1,143,254) (429,743) (148,328)

o (1,457,546) _____{ (842,469) _____ (670,644)
69,535 108,974 876,576
(365,034) (401,777) (615,868)
______ (295,499) _____(292,803) ______260.708
___________ 7y 1,803 (140
(1,752,266) (1,133,469) (410,076)
(3,534) (82,081) (312,461)
(1,755,800) (1,215,550) (722,537)
(179,587) (4,681,208) (1,602,797)
(1,935,387) (5,896,758) (2,325,334)
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Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the
Company:
Loss for the year from
continuing operations
Loss for the year from
discontinued operation

Loss for the year attributable to
equity shareholders of the
Company

Non-controlling interests:
Loss for the year from
continuing operations
Loss for the year from
discontinued operation

Loss for the year attributable to
non-controlling interests

Loss for the year

Loss per share
— Basic and diluted (HKS$)

Loss per share — continuing
operations
— Basic and diluted (HKS)

2015 2014 2013

$°000 $°000 $°000
(Restated)

(1,614,760) (1,200,321) (715,812)
(108,232) (2,492,734) (1,073,573)
_.(1.722,992) ___(3.693,055) ___(1,789.385)
(141,040) (15,229) (6,725)
(71,355) (2,188,474) (529,224)

______ (212,395) ___(2,203,703) _____(535.949)
(1,935,387) (5,896,758) (2,325,334)
(0.457) (0.980) (0.474)
(0.429) (0.319) (0.190)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

At 31 At 31 At 31
December December December
2015 2014 2013
$°000 $7000 $7000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 225,333 908,562 3,852,235
Construction in progress — 160,590 558,486
Lease prepayments 502,523 551,103 541,474
Intangible assets 4,816 4,870 6,124,798
Interest in an associate 16,320 17,021 14,843
Interest in a joint venture — — —
Other investments in equity securities 125,065 399,015 400,369
Other non-current assets — 150,813 206,969
Deferred tax assets — — 286,845
Total non-current assets 874,057 2,191,974 11,986,019
Current assets
Inventories 184,785 335,114 1,362,734
Trade and other receivables 886,434 2,060,940 4,616,224
Restricted bank deposits 499,104 956,077 2,150,026
Cash and cash equivalents 259,574 438,552 2,018,000
Trading securities 613 — —
Assets held for sale — 4,304,164 —
Total current assets 1,830,510 8,094,847 10,146,984
Current liabilities
Secured bank loans 1,073,197 1,191,889 1,093,111
Trade and other payables 756,502 2,054,615 7,815,506
Obligations under finance lease — — 130,315
Income tax payable 38,002 39,580 66,525
Senior notes 2,388,573 — —
Liabilities held for sale — 4,097,937 —
Total current liabilities 4256274 7384021 _9,105457
Net current (liabilities)/assets _(2,425,764) 710,826 1,041,527
Total assets less current liabilities (1,551,707) 2,902,800 13,027,546
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At 31 At 31 At 31
December December December
2015 2014 2013
$°000 $7000 $°000
Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 27,453 — 3,065,780
Senior notes — 2,364,347 2,337,010
Deferred income 144,008 155,865 158,887
Obligations under finance lease — — 176,726
Deferred tax liabilities — — 1,082,545
Provisions — — 209,873
Total non-current liabilites 171,461 2,520,212 7,030,821
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (1,723,168) 382,588 5,996,725
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 4,992,337 4,992,337 4,992,337
Reserves (6,583,138)  (4,691,960) (983,102)
Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company (1,590,801) 300,377 4,009,235
Non-controlling interests (132,367) 82,211 1,987,490
TOTAL EQUITY (1,723,168) 382,588 5,996,725

The auditors of the Company for each of the four years ended 31 December 2012, 2013,
2014 and 2015 are KPMG. Their opinions on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2013 were unqualified. A disclaimer of
opinion was expressed in the auditors’ report dated 26 March 2015 on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 included in pages 90
to 91 of the Company’s annual report for 2014 and set out in pages IA-2 to IA-3 of this
circular because of the potential interaction of the multiple material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, existed and their
possible impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Furthermore, an extract of a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 because of the potential interaction of the
uncertainties related to going concern and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated
financial statements was included in pages 32 to 33 of the 2015 Annual Results and pages IA-
169 to IA-170 of the circular.

The facts and circumstances described in the 2015 Annual Results indicate that those
multiple material uncertainties exist as of 31 December 2015.
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Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2015.

B. INDEBTEDNESS

At the close of business on 29 February 2016, being the latest practicable date for the
purpose of preparing this indebtedness statement prior to the printing of this circular, the
Group had the following indebtedness:

(1) Secured bank and other loans of approximately HK$982,691,261, of which
a. HK$102,670,463 were secured by bills receivable;
b. HK$206,517,522 were secured by fixed deposits placed in bank;

c. HK$673,503,276 were secured by property, plant and equipment and land use
rights;

(2) Outstanding secured Senior Notes of approximately HK$2,400,532,718.

Save as aforesaid, none of the companies in the Group had outstanding at the close of
business on 29 February 2016 any mortgages, charges or debentures, loan capital, bank
overdrafts, loans, debt securities or other similar indebtedness or any finance lease or hire
purchase commitments, liabilities under acceptances or acceptances credits or any guarantees or
other material contingent liabilities.

C. WORKING CAPITAL

The Company entered into the Restructuring Support Agreement with certain Consenting
Bondholders.

Completion of the Debt Restructuring will be conditional on, amongst other things,
completion of the Rights Issue and the receipt by the Scheme Consideration Trustee of the
US$50 million from the Rights Issue. Completion of the Rights Issue will be conditional on,
amongst other things, the Schemes being sanctioned and all conditions precedent to the
Schemes (and any other documentation giving effect to the Debt Restructuring) having been
satisfied, other than the completion of the Rights Issue.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have given careful consideration to future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will be able to repay the outstanding Senior Notes and be able to finance its
future working capital and financial requirements. In addition to entering into the Restructuring
Support Agreement on 25 November 2015 and the implementation of the Rights Issue (subject
to the Independent Shareholders’ approval) as part of the Debt Restructuring and as disclosed
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in the paragraph headed “D. Material Change” below, certain measures have been or are being
taken to manage the Group’s liquidity needs and to improve its financial position which
include, but are not limited to, the following:

(1) the Group is negotiating with various financial institutions for renewal of the Group’s
existing borrowings upon their maturity and/or obtaining additional financing; and

(2) the Group is aiming to boost its sales efforts, including speeding up sales of its
existing inventories, seeking new orders from overseas markets, and implementing
more stringent cost control measures with a view to improving operating cash flows.

As of 29 February 2016, there were bank facilities of approximately HK$983 million
available to the Group. As of 15 April 2016, bank facilities from Everbright Bank of
approximately HK$202 million were successfully renewed and extended for an additional 12
months, which is about 20.55% of the total existing borrowings and facilities of the Group.
The Group is continuously keeping good relationships with the facility banks and no
substantial defaults in respect of interests and principals of the borrowings had ever happened
during the past few years even during the Group’s restructuring of the Senior Notes. The good
credit reputation with the banks providing facilities is in favour of the renewal of the existing
borrowings by the Group.

The Directors, after taking into account (i) the Group’s financial resources (including but
not limited to the internally generated revenue and funds); (ii) the Group being able to
complete the Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring; (iii) the Group being able to successfully
negotiate with its lenders the renewal of all existing borrowings upon their maturity (and if
such negotiations are not successful then obtaining additional financing as and when required),
the achievability of which will depend on the completion of the Debt Restructuring and the
future trading results of the Group; and (iv) the Group being able to implement its plans to
control operational costs and to generate adequate cash flows from operations, the achievability
of which will depend on the market environment which is expected to remain challenging, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to satisfy its present requirements for the 12 months
immediately following the date of the Circular in the absence of unforeseeable circumstances.
Should the Group be unable to realise the assumptions or conditions set out in (ii), (iii) or (iv)
above, the Group is unlikely to have sufficient working capital to satisfy its present
requirements for the 12 months immediately following the date of the Circular.

D. MATERIAL CHANGE

Except as set out in this circular as regards the Debt Restructuring and default under the
Senior Notes, and the items as disclosed below, the Directors confirm that there has been no
material change in the financial or trading position or outlook of the Group since 31 December
2014, being the date to which the latest published audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group were made up, up to and including the Latest Practicable Date.
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(1) Increase in consolidated loss from continuing operations for the year ended 31
December 2015; and net liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2015

As disclosed in the 2015 Annual Results, the Group recorded loss from continuing
operations attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$1,615
million for the year ended 31 December 2015, as compared to approximately HK$1,200
million in 2014. The increase in the loss was mainly attributable to (i) decrease in revenue
of approximately 24% mainly due to decrease in sales volume of Mongolian coal and the
continuous falling selling price of Mongolian coal and seaborne coal in 2015; and (ii)
significant impairment of non-current assets that was booked in 2015 in the amount of
approximately HK$1,143 million in relation to, among other things, property, plant and
equipment, construction in progress, other investments in equity securities and loan to a
third party. The Group had net liabilities attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of approximately HK$1,591 million as at 31 December 2015, as compared to
net assets of approximately HK$300 million as at 31 December 2014, mainly attributable
to decrease in certain asset items including non-current assets, trade and other receivables,
inventories, cash and cash equivalents and assets held for sale, partially offset by decrease
in trade and other payables and liabilities held for sale. A disclaimer of opinion has been
given by the Company’s auditors regarding the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2015. Further details with respect to the above are
set out in the 2015 Annual Results.

(2) Disposal of subsidiaries

The Group disposed majority of its equity interest in Grande Cache Coal Corporation
and Grande Cache Coal LP (collectively, the “GCC Group”), which, collectively, are
engaged in the production and sales of premium hard coking coal, on 2 September 2015.
The GCC Group companies ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company following the
disposal. Further details regarding the disposal are set out in the Company’s circular dated
30 June 2015 and the 2015 Annual Results.

(3) Capital commitments

The Group had capital commitments amounted to approximately HK$213 million as
at 31 December 2014 and approximately HK$62 million as at 31 March 2016 mainly for
construction of property, plant and equipment including logistic parks (coal transportation
and storage facilities) and coal processing ancillary facilities. The decrease was mainly
due to adjustments to the development plans of the Group after taking into consideration
the operating environment of the Group’s businesses.

BUSINESS TREND, FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECTS OF THE GROUP
Existing business model

Coking coal prices remained depressed in the first half of 2016 and the trading
prospects remained relatively bearish due to the ongoing oversupply and declining
demand for coking coal in large part associated with slowing growth in the PRC as well
as legislation and policies of the Chinese government to reduce overcapacity in the steel

~1-8 -



APPENDIX I FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

sector which directly affect the demand for coking coal. The main business revenues of
the Company was generated from the trading of seaborne coal and Mongolian coal. From
the end of 2011 to the end of 2015, Mongolian and seaborne coal sales prices of the
Company dropped 63.36% and 60.69%, respectively. The prices of both Mongolian and
seaborne coal are not expected to pick up significantly in the coming years.

In light of the above conditions, the Group has since 2012 been actively
implementing costs controls and business rationalisation measures to preserve cash in the
Company.

The Group has been carefully managing its risks to retain market share, streamlining
its current operations to lower its operating costs in the logistics and mining sector and
adjust its business strategy to establish the Group as an integrated solutions provider in
the supply chain for a variety of commodities. The Group implemented these measures
during 2015. As a result of the deterioration in prices for metallurgical coal and the
expenses incurred in supporting GCC, the Company completed the disposal of the
majority of its equity interest in GCC on 2 September 2015, leaving the Company holding
an approximately 14.69% in GCC and following which GCC ceased to be a subsidiary of
the Company. Shareholders are referred to the Company’s announcement of 8§ May 2015
and 9 October 2015 in relation to the Company’s non-payment of interest under the Senior
Notes and its announcement of 26 November 2015 and 13 March 2016 in relation to the
Debt Restructuring and possible Rights Issue.

Development of new business model

In response to prevailing market conditions and the challenges to the existing
business model of the Group, the Company is planning to expand its business activities to
embrace a broader model in which the Company will also explore opportunities to provide
integrated e-commerce supply chain services such as trading and matching, logistics and
distribution, collateral management and financing services to small and medium-sized end-
customers as well as banks. Further details of the new business model including all
special trade factors or risks are set out in pages 62 to 64 of this Circular.

Completion of the Debt Restructuring and Rights Issue

After completion of the Debt Restructuring and the Rights Issue, the Underwriter and
the Controlling Shareholder Group intends to continue with the existing business model of
the Company and will continue to develop the new business model abovementioned.
Other than the development of the new business model above, no major changes are
currently expected to be introduced in the business, and there will be no redeployment of
the fixed assets of the Company. The Company currently has no plans to make material
changes to the workforce of the Company or its subsidiaries or to materially restructure its
human resources.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

(formerly known as “Winsway Coking Coal Holdings Limited”)

(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “Winsway Coking Coal Holdings Limited”, “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”)
set out on pages 92 to 226, which comprise the consolidated and Company statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2014, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Except for the matters as explained below, we conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Because of the matters described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraphs, however, it is not possible
to form an opinion on the financial statements due to the potential interaction of the uncertainties and their
possible cumulative effect on the financial statements.
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WlNSWAY@ WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION: MULTIPLE UNCERTAINTIES
RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

As explained in note 2(b) to the financial statements, the Group sustained a further loss from continuing
operations before taxation and impairment losses for non-current assets, of $703,726,000 and incurred a
net cash outflow from operating activities of $2,417,795,000 from continuing operations for the year ended
31 December 2014. As at 31 December 2014, the Group had net current assets before the net assets held
for sale, of $504,599,000, which may not be able to fund the Group’s operations in 2015 in view of the net
cash outflow in respect of operating activities for the year ended 31 December 2014. In addition, the Group’s
outstanding Senior Notes amounted to $2,364,347,000 as at 31 December 2014 are due to mature on 8 April
2016.

The directors of the Company have been and are undertaking certain measures to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2(b) to the financial statements. The financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which is dependent on the outcome
of these measures, which are subject to the following uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to
complete the restructuring of the outstanding Senior Notes with cash, equity or other form of consideration
offered at a discount to the principal amount of the Senior Notes; (i) whether the Group is able to obtain
support from the prospective investors and complete the proposed fund raising activities, the achievability of
which depends on a number of factors including the completion of the restructuring of the outstanding Senior
Notes; (i) whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate with the lenders for the renewal of all the existing
borrowings upon their maturity and/or obtaining additional financing as and when required, the achievability of
which depends on the completion of the proposed fund raising activities and the future trading results of the
Group and (iv) whether the Group is able to implement its operation plans to control costs and to generate
adequate cash flows from operations, the achievability of which depends on the market environment which is
expected to remain challenging.

These facts and circumstances, along with other matters as described in note 2(b) to the financial statements,
indicate the existence of multiple material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might

arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION: DISCLAIMER ON VIEW GIVEN BY THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Because of the potential interaction of the uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on the
consolidated financial statements described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraphs, we do not
express an opinion on the financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2015
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WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

for the year ended 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2014 2013
Note $’000 $'000
(Restated

— note 5)

Continuing operations:
Turnover 4 7,547,738 13,319,742
Cost of sales (7,445,586) (13,309,454)

Gross profit 102,152 10,288

Other revenue 6 81,346 32,707
Distribution costs (159,526) (213,828)
Administrative expenses (434,511) (360,560)

Other operating (expenses)/income, net 7 (2,187) 9,077
Impairment of non-current assets 8(c) (429,743) (148,328)

Loss from operating activities (842,469)

Finance income 8(a) 108,974
Finance costs 8(a) (401,777)

Net finance (costs)/income (292,803)

Share of profit/(loss) of an associate 1,803

Loss before taxation from continuing operations (1,133,469) (410,076)
Income tax 9 (82,081) (312,461)

Loss from continuing operations (1,215,550) (722,537)

Discontinued operation:
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax 5 (4,681,208) (1,602,797)

Loss for the year (5,896,758) (2,325,334)

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company are set out in note 36(b).
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (Continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2014 2013
Note $°000 $’000
(Restated

— note 5)

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company:
Loss for the year from continuing operations (1,200,321) (715,812)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations (2,492,734) (1,073,573)

Loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company

(3,693,055) (1,789,385)

Non-controlling interests:
Loss for the year from continuing operations (15,229)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations (2,188,474) (529,224)

Loss for the year attributable to non-controlling interests

(2,203,703) (535,949)

Loss for the year (5,896,758) (2,325,334)

Loss per share
— Basic and diluted (HK$)

Loss per share — continuing operations
— Basic and diluted (HK$)

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company are set out in note 36(b).
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WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2014 2013
Note

Loss for the year (5,896,758) (2,325,334)
Other comprehensive income for the year

(after tax adjustments): 13
Iltem that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation (35,453)
Total comprehensive income for the year (5,932,211) (2,249,654)
Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company (3,719,224) (1,715,471)

Non-controlling interests (2,212,987) (534,183)
Total comprehensive income for the year (5,932,211) (2,249,654)

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

at 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
Note $’000 $'000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 15 908,562 3,852,235
Construction in progress 16 160,590 558,486
Lease prepayments 17 551,103 541,474
Intangible assets 18 4,870 6,124,798
Interest in an associate 20 17,021 14,843
Interest in a joint venture 21 - —
Other investments in equity securities 22 399,015 400,369
Other non-current assets 23 150,813 206,969
Deferred tax assets 34(b) - 286,845

_Total non-currentassets 2,191,974
Current assets

Inventories 24 335,114 1,362,734
Trade and other receivables 25 2,060,940 4,616,224
Restricted bank deposits 26 956,077 2,150,026
Cash and cash equivalents 27 438,552 2,018,000
Assets held for sale 5 4,304,164 —
Total current assets 8,094,847 10,146,984

Current liabilities

Secured bank loans 28 1,191,889 1,093,111
Trade and other payables 33 2,054,615 7,815,506
Obligations under finance lease 31 - 130,315
Income tax payable 34(a) 39,580 66,525
Liabilities held for sale 5 4,097,937 —

Total current liabilities 7,384,021 9,105,457

Net current assets 710,826 1,041,527

Total assets less current liabilities 2,902,800

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements.
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WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

at 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

At

31 December

2014

Note $°000

Non-current liabilities

Secured bank loans 28 -
Senior notes 29 2,364,347
Deferred income 30 155,865
Obligations under finance lease 31

Deferred tax liabilities 34(b)

Provisions 35

Total non-current liabilities 2,520,212

NET ASSETS 382,588

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 36(c) 4,992,337

Reserves 36(f) (4,691,960)

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company 300,377
Non-controlling interests 82,211

TOTAL EQUITY 382,588

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2015.

WANG XING CHUN
Directors
ANDREAS WERNER

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements.
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3,065,780
2,337,010
168,887
176,726
1,082,545
209,873

7,030,821

5,996,725

4,992,337
(983,102)

4,009,235
1,987,490

5,996,725
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Statement of Financial Position

at 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$°000 $'000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 1 119
Interests in subsidiaries 2,717,046 6,246,298

Total non-current assets 2,717,047 6,246,417

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 784
Cash and cash equivalents 5,552

Total current assets 6,336

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1,332,342
Income tax (recoverable)/payable (620)

Total current liabili

ies 1,331,722

Net current liabilities (1,325,386)

Total assets less current liabilities 1,391,661

Non-current liabilities

Senior notes 2,364,347

_Total non-current liabilities 2,364,347
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (972,686) 2,708,123
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 4,992,337 4,992,337
Reserves (5,965,023) (2,284,214)

TOTAL (DEFICIT)/EQUITY (972,686) 2,708,123

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2015.

WANG XING CHUN
Directors
ANDREAS WERNER

—_—— — —

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements.
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WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Changes

for the year ended 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

In Equity

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Retained
Employee earnings/ Non-
Share Statutory share Other Exchange (accumulated controlling Total
capital reserve trusts reserve reserve loss) Total interests equity
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(note 36(c) (note 36(f) (note 36(f) (note 36(f) (note 36(f))
Balance at 1 January 2013 4,992,337 319,310 - 111,217 200,786 101,813 5725463 2,529,815 8,255,278
Equity settled share-based
transactions - - - 2,243 - - 2,243 - 2,243
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 73914 (1,789,385) (1,715,471)  (534,183) (2,249,654)
Appropriation to statutory reserve - 5,667 - - - (5,667) - - -
Contribution to employee
share trusts 36(f) - - (3,000) - - - (3,000) - (3,000
Disposal of subsidiaries — — — — — — — (8,142) (8,142)

Balance at 31 December 2013

4,992,337

Balance at 1 January 2014

Equity settled share-based
transactions

Expiry of share options granted
under share option scheme

Contribution from non-controlling

4,992,337

324,977

324,977

(3,000)

113,460

113,460

10,377

(31,712)

274,700

274,700

(1,693,239)

(1,693,239)

4,009,235

4,009,235

10,377

1,987,490

1,987,490

5,996,725

5,996,725

10,377

interests 310,184 310,184
Total comprehensive income
for the year - (26,169)  (3,693,055) (3,719,224) (2,212,987) (5,932,211)

Appropriation to statutory reserve
Disposal of subsidiaries

Balance at 31 December 2014

4,992,337

8,181
(11)

333,147

(3,000)

92,125

248,531

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements.
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(5,362,763)

1)

300,377

(2,476)

82,211

(2,487)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2014 2013
Note $’000 $'000
Operating activities
Loss before taxation from continuing operations (1,133,469) (410,076)
Loss before taxation from discontinued operation (5,471,184) (1,783,255)
(6,604,653) (2,193,331)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 304,291 442,312
Amortisation of lease prepayments 11,718 11,162
Amortisation of intangible assets 37,543 115,932
Interest income (79,442) (123,338)
Interest expenses 577,015 823,529
Fair value change of derivative financial instruments (30,547) (15,794)
Equity settled share-based transactions 10,377 2,243
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, net 7 291 8,682
Share of (profit)/loss of an associate (1,803) 140
Impairment of non-current assets 5,579,640 1,106,302
Gain on redemption of senior notes (592,495)
Gain on disposal of equity securities 7 (485)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 7 (5,812)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net 20,139 (145,857)
(175,431) (666,820)
Decrease in inventories 805,207 1,081,527
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 2,545,210 (450,299)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (5,356,019) 3,189,910
Income tax paid (26,767) (44,491)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (2,207,800) 3,209,827

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements.
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WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2014
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note

2014

Investing activities

Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment,
construction in progress, lease prepayments and

intangible assets

Government grants received

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Repayment of loan from a third party

Payment for investment in an associate

Interest received

Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank deposits

Proceeds from disposal of investment in equity securities
Proceeds from settlement of derivative financial instruments

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries

(315,738)

5,342
31,031
82,254

992,066

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Capital element of finance lease rentals paid

Interests paid

Contributions to employee share trusts

Payment for redemption of senior notes

Advances to Grande Cache Coal LP from
non-controlling interest

Loan from a third party to Grande Cache Coal LP

794,955

8,552,037
(8,349,318)
(115,340)
(539,873)

179,047
5 108,608

Net cash used in financing activities

(164,839)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents reclassified as
assets held for sale

(1,577,684)

27 2,018,000

(1,764)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

27 438,552

The notes on pages 101 to 226 form part of these financial statements.
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$°000

(778,681)
66,067

10,889
58,974
(13,891)
98,176
(1,169,491)
6,494
51,672
27,954

(1,641,937)

(121,908)
2,110,823

29,085

2,018,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Winsway Coking Coal Holdings Limited”) (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) on 17 September 2007 with limited
liability under the Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands (2004). The Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the processing and trading of
coking coal and other products and rendering of logistics services. In addition, the Group is engaged in
the development of coal mills and production of coking coal, which has been classified as a discontinued
operation since the board of directors committed a plan to dispose of the relevant business on 27 June
2014 (see Note 5).

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, which for this financial year and the comparative period continue to be those of the
predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32), in accordance with transitional and
saving arrangements for Part 9 of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), “Accounts
and Audit”, which are set out in sections 76 to 87 of Schedule 11 to that Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the group is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the group and the company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.
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WlNSWAY@ WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest in an associate and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

—  Derivative financial instruments (see note 2(h)).

— Disposal group held for sale and discontinued operation are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see note 2(y)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is
different from the functional currency of the Company and its principal subsidiaries. The Company’s
functional currency is United Stated dollars (‘US$”). As the Company is a listed company in Hong
Kong, the directors of the Company consider that it is appropriate to present the consolidated
financial statements in HK$.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

The Group experienced a challenging trading period over the past few years as a result of the
continuing depression of the coking coal market. For the year ended 31 December 2014, the
Group sustained a further loss from continuing operations before taxation and impairment losses
for non-current assets, of $703,726,000 and incurred a net cash outflow from operating activities of
$2,417,795,000 from continuing operations. As at 31 December 2014, the Group had net current
assets before the net assets held for sale, of $504,599,000, which may not be able to fund the
Group’s operations in 2015 in view of the net cash outflow in respect of operating activities for the
year ended 31 December 2014. In addition, the Group’s outstanding Senior Notes amounted to
$2,364,347,000 as at 31 December 2014 are due to mature on 8 April 2016.

In view of such circumstances, the directors have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the Group
will be able to repay the outstanding Senior Notes and be able to finance its future working capital
and financial requirements. Certain measures have been and are being taken to manage its liquidity
needs and to improve its financial position which include, but are not limited to, the following:

1)  As disclosed in note 29, the Group has engaged UBS AG, Hong Kong Branch and AlixPartners
Services UK LLP as financial advisors to assist it in completing a possible restructuring of the
outstanding Senior Notes with cash, equity or other form of consideration offered at a discount
to the principal amount of the Senior Notes (the “Debt Restructuring”);

2) The Group is also actively negotiating with prospective investors to raise new capital by
carrying out fund raising activities including but not limited to placing of shares to prospective
investors as a source of funding (“Equity Financing”), which is subject to certain conditions,
including but not limited to the completion of due diligence and the completion of above-
mentioned Debt Restructuring. The directors believe that such Equity Financing would
significantly strengthen the cash flow position of the Group as a whole in the near future;

3) The Group is also negotiating with various financial institutions for renewal of the existing
borrowings upon their maturity and/or obtaining additional financing.

4)  The Group is also maximizing its sales effort, including speeding up sales of its existing
inventories, seeking new orders from overseas markets, and implementing more stringent cost
control measures with a view to improving operating cash flows.
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WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

Whilst the Group is taking measures to preserve cash and secure additional finance, the following
material uncertainties exist:

a) The Senior Notes holders may not accept the Debt Restructuring or any cash consideration
finally agreed may be higher than the consideration originally offered. If this is the case,
the Group may not have sufficient cash to repay the Senior Notes as the Group’s ability to
repay the Senior Notes is dependent upon its ability to generate sufficient cash flows from
the prospective investors, the lenders and its operating activities, which is also uncertain as
explained below.

b)  The Group may not be able to obtain support from the prospective investors and complete the
proposed Equity Financing. The Group’s ability to generate cash flows from such activities will
be dependent upon a number of factors, including the completion of the Debt Restructuring.

c) The Group may not be able to obtain support from the lenders. The Group’s ability to
successfully negotiate with the lenders to renew existing borrowings and/or obtain additional
financing is dependent upon the completion of the proposed fund raising activities and the
future trading results of the Group.

d) The operation plans may not be successfully implemented and future trading results and
cash flows in respect of operating activities may not be in line with the assumptions. The
achievability of the plans is dependent upon the market environment, which is expected to
remain challenging in the coming years.

These facts and circumstances indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)

The factors mentioned in (b) and (c) above are critical to the achievability of the directors’ plans to
manage the liquidity needs. It is the directors’ belief that they will successfully negotiate with Senior
Notes holders on the Debt Restructuring in connection with the outstanding senior notes and the
prospective investors will provide their financial support after satisfying the conditions referred to in
(2) above in order for the Group to meet its financial obligations and to finance its future working
capital and financial requirements.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared by management. The
cash flow projections cover a period of not less than twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. They are of the opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans and measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have
to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in
the financial statements.
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WlNSWAY@ WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following amendments to IFRSs and one new Interpretation that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company:

J Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27, Investment entities

. Amendments to IAS 32, Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

. Amendments to IAS 36, Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets

. Amendments to IAS 39, Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting
. IFRIC 21, Levies

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the new or amended IFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27, Investment entities

The amendments provide consolidation relief to those parents which qualify to be an investment
entity as defined in the amended IFRS 10. Investment entities are required to measure their
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. These amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as the Company does not qualify to be an investment entity.

Amendments to IAS 32, Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the offsetting criteria in IAS 32. The amendments do not have an

impact on these financial statements as they are consistent with the policies already adopted by the
Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 36, Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets

The amendments to IAS 36 modify the disclosure requirements for impaired non-financial assets.
Among them, the amendments expand the disclosures required for an impaired asset or cash
generating unit whose recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. Disclosures
in respect of impaired assets relating to the disposal group held for sale have been disclosed in
note 5.

Amendments to IAS 39, Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting

The amendments to IAS 39 provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a
derivative designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria. The amendments do not have
an impact on these financial statements as the Group has not novated any of its derivatives.

IFRIC 21, Levies

The Interpretation provides guidance on when a liability to pay a levy imposed by a government
should be recognised. The amendments do not have an impact on these financial statements as the
guidance is consistent with the Group’s existing accounting policies.

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with notes 2(p) or
(9) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(g)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture (see
note 2(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(m)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see note 2(y)).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company and other parties contractually
agree to share control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see notes 2(f) and (m)). Any acquisition-date excess over
cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associate
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where

unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint control over a joint
venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(m)).

(f) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of
(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity

interest in the acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

When (ji) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a
bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see

note 2(m)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g) Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in equity securities, other than investments
in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are as follows:

Other investments in equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their transaction price
unless it is determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and
that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets. Cost includes
attributable transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise below. These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in equity securities held for trading are classified as current assets. Any attributable
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each reporting period the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any dividends earned on these investments
as these are recognised in accordance with the policies set out in note 2(v/(iii).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an identical
instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise be reliably measured are recognised in the
statement of financial position at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(m)). Dividend income
from equity securities is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policies set out in notes
2(v)(iii).

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investments or they expire.

(h) Derivative financial instruments

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if certain
criteria are met. Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedge the net investment in a foreign operation, in which case recognition of any
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(M)

1)

Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination of
technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource.

Exploration and evaluation expenditures include costs which are directly attributable to researching
and analysing historic exploration data, conducting topographical, geological, geochemical and
geophysical studies as well as exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling. In addition, costs
incurred to prove the technical feasibility and commercial viability of resources found are included.

Expenditure during the initial exploration stage of a project is charged to profit or loss as incurred.
Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licenses, are capitalised as
exploration and evaluation assets on a project-by-project basis pending determination of the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project. The capitalised costs are presented as
either tangible or intangible exploration and evaluation assets according to the nature of the assets.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of proven and probable
mineral reserves in an area of interest are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets are
tested for impairment and reclassified to “Mineral assets” within property, plant and equipment.
When a project is abandoned, the related irrecoverable costs are written off to profit or loss
immediately.

Property, plant and equipment

() Mineral assets
Mineral assets include the capitalised costs directly attributable to the development and
construction of mines (including amounts transferred from exploration and evaluation assets),
capitalised stripping costs and assets recognised for the restoration obligations of the mining

operations (see note 2(u)(iii)).

When proven and probable coal reserves have been determined, stripping costs incurred to
develop coal mines are capitalised as part of the cost of the mineral assets.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

() Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

() Mineral assets (Continued)

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a surface mine are allocated between
the inventory produced and the stripping activity asset using an average strip ratio for the pit
life. The stripping activity asset is depreciated on a systematic basis, over the expected useful
life of the identified component of the mineralised body that becomes more accessible as a
result of the stripping activity, on an units-of-production basis over the estimated recoverable
mineral reserves that directly benefit from the stripping activity.

Mineral assets are depreciated on the units-of-production method utilising only proven and
probable coal reserves in the depletion base.

(ii) Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(m)).

Construction in progress represents other property, plant and equipment under construction
and equipment pending installation, and is initially recognised in the statement of financial
position at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(m)). The construction in progress is
transferred to property, plant and equipment when the asset is substantially ready for its
intended use.

The cost of self-constructed items of other property, plant and equipment includes the cost
of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of other property, plant
and equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the

carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(ii) Other property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of other property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings 10 to 20 years
Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years
Office and other equipment 2 to 10 years
Railway special assets 8 to 50 years

Where parts of an item of other property, plant and equipment have different useful lives,
the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
(k) Intangible assets
() Mining rights
The cost of mining rights acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of
acquisition. Following the initial recognition, mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated

amortisation and impairment losses (see note 2(m)).

Mining rights are amortised on the units of production method utilising only proven and
probable coal reserves in the depletion base.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation with finite useful lives, and impairment losses (see note 2(m)). Amortisation is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ useful lives. The following
other intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available for
use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Software 10 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.
() Leased assets
An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the
Group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an
agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is
made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.
(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which

do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(I) Leased assets (Continued)
(ii) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts representing
the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments, of such assets are included in property, plant and equipment and the
corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost or valuation of the assets
over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will obtain ownership of
the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 2(). Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note 2(m). Finance charges implicit in the
lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the period of the leases so as to produce
an approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations
for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease (land use rights) is amortised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease term.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities and receivables

Investments in equity securities and other current and non-current receivables that are stated
at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the following
loss events:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

o it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

o significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have
an adverse effect on the debtor; and

o a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows:

o For investments in associates and joint ventures accounted for under the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements (see note 2(g)), the impairment loss
is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying
amount in accordance with note 2(mj(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in
accordance with note 2(m)(ii).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities and receivables (Continued)

o For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset
where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses for equity securities carried
at cost are not reversed.

. For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where these financial assets share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective

group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss
shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Impairment of assets (Continued)

() Impairment of investments in equity securities and receivables (Continued)
Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills receivable included within
trade and other receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of the each reporting
period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment;
o construction in progress;

. lease prepayments;

. intangible assets;

. goodwill; and

o investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

. Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

. Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of
units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)
o Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(m)(i) and (ii).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill and unquoted equity
securities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no

loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at
the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(n) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in
the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period
the write down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

(o) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note
2(m)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are
stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being recognised in profit

or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(p) Interest-bearing borrowings (Continued)

Costs or fees incurred in relation to unsubstantial modification of the terms of interest-bearing
borrowings adjust the carrying amount of interest-bearing borrowings and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified borrowing.

(q) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 2(u)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.

(r) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

(s) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Obligations for contributions to appropriate local defined contribution retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in relevant jurisdictions are recognised as

an expense in profit or loss as incurred, except to the extent that they are included in the cost
of inventories not yet recognised as an expense.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(s) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options and restricted share units granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in the other reserve within equity.
The fair value of share options is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
fair value of restricted share units is measured at grant date using the market price of the
Company’s shares. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options and restricted share units, the total estimated fair value
of the options and restricted share units is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the options and restricted share units will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options and restricted share units that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the other reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of options and restricted share units that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the other reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount related to share options is recognised in the other reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is transferred to the share capital account) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to retained earnings). The equity amount related to restricted share units is
recognised in other reserve until the restricted share units become vested and is transferred to
employee share trusts (see note 36(f)(iv)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(t) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(t) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability
to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately
from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

. in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

. in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(t) Income tax (Continued)
o the same taxable entity; or

o different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(u) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities
(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and other payables. The fair value of financial
guarantees issued at the time of issuance is determined by reference to fees charged in
an arm’s length transaction for similar services, when such information is obtainable, or is
otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates
charged by lenders when the guarantee is made available with the estimated rates that lenders
would have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable
to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or
loss over the term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised in accordance with note 2(u)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (i) the
amount of that claim on the Group is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in
trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Annual Report 2014 127

- TA-39 -




APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(u) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)
(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group
or the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

(iif) Restoration provisions

The Group’s obligations for restoration consist of spending estimates at its mines in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in respective jurisdictions. The Group
estimates its liabilities for final restoration and mine closure based upon detailed calculations
of the amount and timing of the future cash spending to perform the required work. Spending
estimates are escalated for inflation, then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such that
the amount of provision reflects the present value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation. The Group records a corresponding asset associated with the liability
for final restoration and mine closure, which is included in the mineral assets. The obligation
and corresponding asset are recognised in the period in which the liability is incurred. The
asset is depreciated on the units-of-production method over its expected life and the liability
is accreted to the projected spending date. As changes in estimates occur (such as mine plan
revisions, changes in estimated costs, or changes in timing of the performance of restoration
activities), the revisions to the obligation and the corresponding asset are recognised at the
appropriate discount rate.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(v) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided it is

probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable,

can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ premises which is taken
to be the point in time when the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax and other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

(ii) Rendering of services
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by
reference to surveys of work performed.

(iii) Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(v) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(v) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the assets.

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired, are translated into HK$
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(x) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

(y) Disposal group held for sale and discontinued operation
(i) Disposal group held for sale

A disposal group is classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the disposal
group is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with
those assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of all individual assets and
liabilities in a disposal group is brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting policies
before the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale and until disposal, the
non-current asset (except for certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The principal
exceptions to this measurement policy so far as the financial statements of the Group and
the Company are concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits
and financial assets. These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be measured in
accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 2.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(v) Disposal group held for sale and discontinued operation (Continued)

(i) Disposal group held for sale (Continued)
Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on subsequent remeasurement
while held for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated or amortised.

(ii) Discontinued operation
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash
flows of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale (see (i) above), if earlier. It also occurs if the

operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented on the face of
the statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and
— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to

sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(z) Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The Group’s financial position and results of operations are sensitive to accounting methods,
assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation of these financial statements. The Group bases
the assumptions and estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that the Group
believes to be reasonable and which form the basis for making judgements about matters that are not
readily apparent from other sources. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates. Actual
results may differ from those estimates as facts, circumstances and conditions change.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements and other uncertainties affecting application
of those policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in condition and assumptions are
factors to be considered when reviewing these financial statements. The principal accounting policies are
set forth in note 2. Note 5 contains information about the assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair
value of disposal group held for sale. The Group believes the following critical accounting policies involve
the most significant judgements and estimates used in the preparation of these financial statements.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(i) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment other than mineral assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value, if any. The
Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives are based on the
Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological
changes. The depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.

Estimated recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation of mineral assets. This
results in a depreciation charge that is proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life
of mine production. Each mineral asset’s life, which is assessed annually, considers its physical life
limitations and the present assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property
to which the asset relates. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions,
including the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates of future capital expenditures. Changes
are accounted for prospectively.

(ii) Mineral reserves estimates

Engineering estimates of the Group’s mineral reserves are inherently imprecise and represent
only approximate amounts because of the subjective judgements involved in developing such
information. Reserve estimates are updated at regular basis and have taken into account recent
production and technical information about the relevant mineral deposit. In addition, as prices and
cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of mineral reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective basis in
related depreciation and amortisation rates.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering estimates, these estimates are used in
determining depreciation and amortisation expenses and impairment loss. Depreciation and
amortisation rates are determined based on estimated mineral reserve quantity (the denominator)
and capitalised costs of mineral assets (the numerator). The capitalised costs of mineral assets are
depreciated and amortised based on the units produced.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(iif) Exploration and evaluation expenditure

The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure
requires judgement in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to
the Group. It requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions about future
events or circumstances, in particular, whether an economically viable extraction operation can be
established. Estimates and assumptions made may change if new information becomes available.
If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of
expenditure is unlikely, the amount capitalised is written off in profit or loss in the period when the
new information becomes available.

(iv) Mine decommissioning and restoration

The estimation of the liabilities for final restoration and mine closure involves the estimates of the
amount and timing for the future cash spending as well as the discount rate used for reflecting
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The Group considers the factors including future production volume and development plan, the
geological structure of the mining regions and reserve volume to determine the scope, amount
and timing of restoration and mine closure works to be performed. Determination of the effect of
these factors involves judgements from the Group and the estimated liabilities may turn out to be
different from the actual expenditure to be incurred. The discount rate used by the Group may also
be altered to reflect the changes in the market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability, such as change of the borrowing rate and inflation rate in the market. As
changes in estimates occur (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated costs, or changes in
timing of the performance of restoration activities), the revisions to the obligation will be recognised
at the appropriate discount rate.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(v) Impairment of assets including goodwill

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, this asset
may be considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may be recognised in profit or loss. The
carrying amounts of assets are reviewed periodically in order to assess whether the recoverable
amounts have declined below the carrying amounts. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and
the value in use. It is difficult to precisely estimate selling price because quoted market prices for
the Group’s assets are not readily available. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows
generated by the asset are discounted to their present value, which requires significant judgment
relating to the level of sales revenue and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
sales revenue and amount of operating costs.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to level of sale volume, selling price and amount of production costs.

In relation to trade and other receivables and loan to a third party, a provision for impairment is
made and an impairment loss is recognised in profit and loss when there is objective evidence (such
as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Group will
not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoices or the loan
agreement. Management uses judgement in determining the probability of insolvency or significant
financial difficulties of the debtor.

An increase or decrease in the above impairment loss would affect the net profit in future years.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(vi) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such determination is made.

(vii) Impairment of interest in the joint venture and associate

In determining whether an interest in the joint venture and associate is impaired or the event
previously causing impairment no longer exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the area of
impairment of assets relevant to the joint venture and associate (the “Relevant Assets”) and others,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred that may affect the value of Relevant
Assets or such event affecting the value of Relevant Assets have not been in existence; (2) whether
the carrying value of Relevant Assets can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the Relevant Assets or derecognising; (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate; and (4) dividend policy of the
joint venture and associate.

(viii) Allowance for diminution in value of inventories

If the costs of inventories fall below their net realisable values, an allowance for diminution in value of
inventories is recognised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale. Management bases the estimates on all available information, including the current
market prices of the products, and historical operating costs. If the actual selling prices were to
be lower or the costs of completion were to be higher than estimated, the actual allowance for
diminution in value of inventories could be higher than estimated.

(ix) Recognition of deferred tax assets

The Group recognises deferred tax assets in respect of accumulated tax losses and deductible
temporary differences based on management’s estimation of future taxable profits against which
the accumulated tax losses and deductible temporary differences may be offset in the foreseeable
future for each individual subsidiary. The Group has assumed that, based on current economic
circumstances, its operations may generate sufficient taxable profits to utilise certain accumulated
tax losses and deductible temporary differences in the foreseeable future. It is possible that certain
assumptions adopted in the preparation of the profit forecasts for the Group’s operations may not
be indicative of future taxable profits. Any increase or decrease in the recognition of deferred tax
assets would affect the Group’s net asset value.
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4 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(i) Turnover

The Group is principally engaged in the processing and trading of coking coal and other products
and the rendering of logistics services. Turnover represents the sales value of goods sold, net of
value added tax and other sales taxes and is after any trade discounts, and revenue from rendering
of logistics services. The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised in turnover
during the year is as follows:

Continuing operations

2014 2013
$°000 $°000
(Restated)

Coking coal 7,035,543 12,169,694
Thermal coal 365,922 173,500
Coke 10,219 68,257
Coal related products 37,457 611,353

Iron ore - 217,409
Rendering of logistics services 91,132 43,979
Others 7,465 35,550

7,547,738 13,319,742

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes no customer (2013: nil) with whom
transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group revenues.

Details of concentration of credit risk arising from the largest and the largest five customers are set
out in note 37(a).
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4 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(ii) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by a mixture of both business
lines and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following three reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

. Processing and trading of coking coal and other products: this segment manages and
operates coal processing plants and generates income from processing and trading of coking
coal and other products to external customers.

. Development of coal mills and production of coking coal and related products (classified as
a discontinued operation (see note 5)): this segment acquires, explores and develops coal
mills and produces coal from the mills. On 1 March 2012, the Group acquired Grande Cache
Coal Corporation (“GCC”), a Canadian company developing coal mills and producing coking
coal and related products from the mills. On 14 November 2014, the Group, Up Energy
Resources Company Limited (the “Purchaser”) and Up Energy Development Group Limited
(the “Purchaser Guarantor”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which
the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Group has conditionally agreed to
sell 42.74% equity interest in GCC and GCC LP at cash consideration of US$1 (the “Proposed
Disposal) (see note 5).

. Logistics services: this segment constructs, manages and operates logistics parks and
generates income from rendering of logistics services to external customers within the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).
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4 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(ii) Segment reporting (Continued)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s senior executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets, goodwill and current assets with
the exception of interests in an associate and deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities include
trade and other payables, obligations under finance lease, provisions, deferred income and
bank and other borrowings managed directly by the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.
Segment revenue and expenses include the Group’s share of revenue and expenses arising
from the activities of the Group’s joint venture. However, other than reporting inter-segment
sales of coal products and logistics services, assistance provided by one segment to another,
including sharing of assets and technical know-how, is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment (loss)/profit is “adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted (loss)/
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded
as including investment income and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded as including
impairment losses on non-current assets.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted EBITDA, management is
provided with segment information concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales and the
Group’s share of the joint venture’s revenue), interest income and expense from cash balances
and borrowings managed directly by the segments, depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets used by the segments in their operations.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices charged to external parties for similar
orders.
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4 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(ii) Segment reporting (Continued)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of

segment performance for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 is set out below.

Development of coal mills
and production of

Processing and trading coking coal and
of coking coal and related products
other products (Discontinued operation) Logistics services Total
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Revenue from
external customers 7,456,606 WKPIGNGRE 1,080,419 778,504 91,132 43,979 FCERETA 14,003,246
Inter-segment revenue - — PHEIGEEE 1,106,210 10,587 24,864 vl 1,131,074

Reportable segment revenue | riELTEIGE 13,275,763 FRIPLI RS 1,879,714 101,719 68,843 |CREEENEE 15,224,320

Reportable segment (loss)/

profit (adjusted EBITDA) (318,465) Il RLY)] 170,555 (144,318) 13,386 6,609 REZEPLN  (533,867)
Interest income 78,414 120,737 1,015 1,911 13 690 79,442 123,338
Interest expense KPANPEN  (570,029) BPEIELGE  (235,913) (18,884) (17,587) BN (823,529)
Depreciation and amortisation

for the year (CEEPLR  (112,200) BPLEIIEE  (436,629) (22,023) (20,567) FkERREAAN  (569,396)
Impairment of non-current

assets CPRNCRN  (148,328) WERELELHE  (957,974) e E  (1,106,302)
Share of profit/(loss) of

an associate 1,803 (140) 1,803 (140)

Reportable segment assets | :EIvaals 12,499,507 FUEIEAIEE 9,546,800 614,224 626,354 UNEERERE 22,672,751

Additions to non-current
segment assets during
the year 49,288 107,523 138,817 453,857 38,679 54,554 226,784 615,934

Reportable segment
liabilities AR 10,714,993 BERALER 4,642,874 484,160 470,777 UPLERIEN 15,828,644
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4 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(ii) Segment reporting (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities

Revenue

Reportable segment revenue

Elimination of inter-segment revenue
Reclassification of discontinued operation

Consolidated turnover from continuing operations

Loss

Reportable segment loss

Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of non-current assets

Share of profit/(loss) of an associate

Net finance (costs)/income
Reclassification of discontinued operation

Consolidated loss before taxation from
continuing operations

- TA-55 -

2014
$°000

8,844,409
(216,252)
(1,080,419)

7,547,738

(134,524)
(107,647)
(429,743)

1,803
(292,803)
(170,555)

(1,133,469)

2013
$’000
(Restated)

15,224,320
(1,131,074)
(773,504)

13,319,742

(533,867
(132,767
(148,328
(140
260,708
144,318

)
)
)
)

(410,076)
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4 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
(ii) Segment reporting (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities (Continued)

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $'000

Assets

Reportable segment assets 10,759,159 22,672,751
Deferred tax assets - 286,845
Interest in an associate 17,021 14,843
Elimination of inter-segment receivables (489,359) (841,436)
Consolidated total assets 10,286,821 22,133,003
Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities 10,263,973 15,828,644
Current income tax liabilities 39,580 66,525
Deferred tax liabilities (note 5(b)) 90,039 1,082,545
Elimination of inter-segment payables (489,359) (841,436)
Consolidated total liabilities 9,904,233 16,136,278
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4 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(ii) Segment reporting (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of development of coal mills and production of coking coal and
related products segment (discontinued operation) results

2014 2013

Note $'000

(d)

Development of coal mills and production of
coking coal and related products segment

profit/(loss) (adjusted EBITDA) 170,555 (144,318)
Net finance costs for the segment (245,937) (244,334)
Depreciation and amortisation for

the segment (245,905) (436,629)
Impairment of non-current assets for

the segment (5,149,897) (957,974)

(5,471,184) (1,7883,255)
Income tax in respect of operating activities

of GCC LP 5(e) 17,491 180,458
Income tax in respect of write-down of

GCC LP’s net assets 5(e) 772,485 —
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax (4,681,208) (1,602,797)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s non-current assets with the exception of
deferred tax assets (“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers
is based on the location at which the services were provided or the goods delivered. The
geographical location of the specified non-current assets is based on the physical location of
the asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment, the location of the operation to which
they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets, and the location of operations, in the case

of interests in an associate.
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4 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(ii) Segment reporting (Continued)

(d) Geographic information (Continued)

Revenues from
external customers

2014 2013
$°000 $°000
(Restated)

The PRC (including Hong Kong and Macau)

Canada
Reclassification of discontinued operation

7,405,629

1,080,419 773,504
(1,080,419) (773,504)

142,109

7,547,738 13,319,742

Specified non-current assets

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $°000

The PRC (including Hong Kong and Macau)
Canada
Other countries

2,064,229 2,612,124
- 8,997,181
127,745 189,869

2,191,974 11,699,174
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5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION

One of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely GCC LP sustained a net loss from operating activities before
impairment losses for non-current assets of $825 million for the year ended 31 December 2013. As a
result of the continuing depression of the coking coal market, GCC LP incurred significant losses before
taxation of $321 million, before impairment losses, and net cash outflow of $21 million from operating
activities and investing activities during the year ended 31 December 2014. As at 31 December 2014,
GCC LP had total loans of $3,278 million (among which $129 million is repayable in the next 12 months
from 31 December 2014) and cash and cash equivalents balance of $nil, taking into account the fact that
the Group finds itself difficult to continue providing financial support to GCC LP, the operation of GCC
LP as a going concern is dependent on whether GCC LP can extend the repayment of those bank loans
when they fall due and whether GCC LP can obtain new external financing. Without immediate financial
support, GCC LP will be in default of its obligations under the terms of the loans and may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. However, GCC LP is
actively negotiating with relevant banks for the loan restructuring and seeking new external financing. All
these indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the ability of
GCC LP to operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

On 27 June 2014, the board of directors of the Company resolved to commit to a plan to sell part
or all of the Company’s interest in GCC LP to a level at which the Company would cease to hold a
majority or controlling interest. Efforts to sell the disposal group have started and a sale was expected
to be completed within one year as at 27 June 2014. Accordingly, GCC LP has been presented as a
discontinued operation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the assets and liabilities of
GCC LP have been classified as a disposal group held for sale since 27 June 2014. The comparative
consolidated statement of profit or loss has been restated to show the discontinued operation separately
from continuing operations.
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5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION
(CONTINUED)

On 14 November 2014, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Up Energy
Resources Company Limited (the “Purchaser”) and Up Energy Development Group Limited (the
“Purchaser Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire and the
Group has conditionally agreed to sell 42.74% equity interest in Grande Cache Coal Corporation (“GCC”)
and GCC LP (collectively “GCC Operation”) at cash consideration of US$1 (the “Proposed Disposal). In
conjunction with the Proposed Disposal, the Group, the Purchaser and Purchaser Guarantor propose
to enter into a buy-back right agreement pursuant to which the Purchaser will grant the Company a
buy-back right to acquire a 16.86% shareholding interest in GCC Operation (the “Buy-back Right”). As
a condition precedent to the completion of the Proposed Disposal (the “Completion”), the Group, the
Purchaser Guarantor and GCC LP will enter into a marketing agency agreement (the terms of which
have been agreed by the parties on 31 December 2014) on or before the Completion, pursuant to which
GCC LP shall grant certain marketing rights to the Company in relation to the products of GCC LP for
the PRC for a term of 10 years from the date of Completion subject to extension by agreement. As at 31
December 2014, the Completion is conditional upon the fulfilment of various conditions precedent.

(a) Impairment loss relating to the disposal group
An impairment loss of $5,149,897,000 for write-downs of the disposal group to the lower of its
carrying amount and its fair value less costs to sell has been charged to the consolidated statement

of profit or loss for the current period. The impairment loss has been applied to reduce the carrying
amount of intangible assets within the disposal group.
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5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Assets and liabilities of disposal group held for sale

As at 31 December 2014, the disposal group has been stated at fair value less costs to sell and
comprised the following assets and liabilities.

$’000
Property, plant and equipment 2,874,287
Construction in progress 36,980
Intangible assets 941,459

Inventories 222,413
Trade and other receivables 27,142
Restricted bank deposits 201,883
Cash and cash equivalents -

Assets held for sale 4,304,164
Bank and other loans* 3,278,329
Trade and other payables 308,123
Obligations under finance lease 191,701
Provisions 229,745
Deferred tax liabilities*™ 90,039

Liabilities held for sale 4,097,937

On 6 September 2014, GCC LP and the Purchaser entered into a bridge loan agreement pursuant to which the Purchaser
provided a loan facility of US$50 million (equivalent to approximately $388 million) to GCC LP. As at 31 December 2014, GCC LP
has drawn down US$14 million (equivalent to approximately $108,608,000) under the bridge loan agreement.

As at 31 December 2014, GCC LP has an overdraft of $6,496,000 in its bank accounts.

Bank loans amounting to $13,977,000 are secured by property, plant and equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of
$18,399,000. Bank loans amounting to $3,149,248,000 are secured by GCC LP’s total assets.

** During the year ended 31 December 2014, deferred tax liabilities in respect of GCC LP of $789,976,000 ($17,491,000 in respect
of GCC LP’s operating activities and $772,485,000 in respect of write-down of GCC LP’s net assets (see note 5(¢)) has been
reversed. As at 31 December 2014, the remaining balance of $90,039,000 was classified as liabilities held for sale.
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5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION
(CONTINUED)
(c) Cumulative income or expense included in other comprehensive income

There is a foreign currency translation gain of $37,913,000 included in other comprehensive income
relating to the disposal group.

(d) Fair value measurement and value in use calculation

As at 31 December 2014, the Group adopts fair value less costs to sell to measure the value of the
disposal group held for sale.

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The non-recurring fair value measurement for the disposal group of $221,730,000 (before
costs to sell of $15,503,000) has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the
inputs to the valuation technique used. The fair value of the disposal group is determined by
the directors with reference to coal prices and other information provided by the Company’s
financial advisor engaged for the disposal of GCC LP. The directors of the Company expect
that the disposal of GCC LP can be completed in the first half of 2015.

(ii) Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

The following shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of the disposal
group, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation technique: Discounted cash flows
Discounted cash flows consider the present value of the net cash flows expected to be
generated from the disposal group, taking into account the coal price assumptions and

estimated production volume; the expected net cash flows are discounted using a risk-
adjusted discount rate.
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5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION
(CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement/value in use calculation (Continued)
(ii) Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs (Continued)
Significant unobservable inputs:

— the coal price assumptions are based on the median of forecasted prices of coals
in Canada sourced from a number of reputable investment banks as provided by
Company’s financial advisor. These prices were adjusted to arrive at appropriate
consistent price assumptions for the different qualities and type of coal. For short-term
coal price assumptions for the next five years, US$103 to US$141 per tonne and US$55
per tonne for hard coking coal and thermal coal respectively have been used to estimate
future revenues. For coal prices beyond the fifth year, US$145 and US$55 per tonne
for hard coking coal and thermal coal respectively have been used to estimate future
revenues.

— estimated production volumes are based on detailed life-of-mine plans derived from
technical report prepared by competent persons. Production volumes are dependent on
a number of variables, such as the recoverable quantities, the production profile, the cost
of the development of the infrastructure necessary to extract the reserves, the production
costs, the contractual duration of mining rights and the selling price of the coal extracted.
These are then assessed to ensure they are consistent with what a market participant
would estimate.

— pre-tax discount rate of 11.16% was applied to the future cash flows. This discount
rate is derived from the weighted average cost of capital (“‘WACC”) with reference to the
required rate of return demanded by investors for similar companies. The WACC takes
into account both debt and equity, weighted based on ratio of debt to equity of 42%.
The cost of equity is derived from the required return on similar coking coal companies of
12.49%. The cost of debt is based on the market long-term lending rate of 8.00%.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION
(CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement/value in use calculation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2013, the Group adopted value in use calculation in assessing the impairment
loss provided for goodwill related to GCC LP and GCC LP’s mining rights.

(i) Valuation technique and significant key assumptions

The value in use calculation used cash flow projections based on financial forecasts prepared
by management covering the life of the mine.

Significant key assumptions:

— the coal price assumptions were management’s best estimate of the future price of coal
in Canada. The short-term coal price assumptions for the next five years were building on
past experience of the industry and consistent with external sources. These prices were
adjusted to arrive at appropriate consistent price assumptions for the different qualities
and type of coal. Estimated long-term coal prices, adjusted for the place of delivery,
beyond the fifth year of US$175 to US$202 and US$66 per tonne for hard coking coal
and thermal coal respectively were used to estimate future revenues.

— estimated production volumes were based on detailed life-of-mine plans and take into
account development plans for the mines agreed by management as part of the long-
term planning process. Production volumes were dependent on a number of variables,
such as the recoverable quantities, the production profile, the cost of the development of
the infrastructure necessary to extract the reserves, the production costs, the contractual
duration of mining rights and the selling price of the coal extracted. The production
profiles used were consistent with the reserves and resource volumes approved as part
of the Group’s process for the estimation of proved and probable reserves. These were
then assessed to ensure they were consistent with what a market participant would
estimate.
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5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION
(CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement/value in calculation (continued)
(i) Valuation technique and significant key assumptions (continued)

— pre-tax discount rate of 8.80% was applied to the future cash flows. This discount rate
was derived from GCC LP’s weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”), with appropriate
adjustments made to reflect the risks specific to the cash generating units (“CGU”). The
WACC took into account both debt and equity, weighted based on ratio of debt to equity
of 57% considering GCC LP and comparable peer companies’ average capital structure.
The cost of equity of 11.99% was derived from the expected return on investment
by GCC LP’s investors based on publicly available market data of comparable peer
companies. The cost of debt of 3.20% was based on the borrowing cost of interest-
bearing borrowings of GCC LP that reflected the credit rating of GCC LP.
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5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION

(CONTINUED)

(e) Results of discontinued operation

2014

Results of discontinued operation
Revenue 1,080,419
Expenses (1,401,706)
Impairment of non-current assets =

Results from operating activities (321,287)
Income tax 17,491

Results from operating activities, net of tax (303,796)

Write-down to adjust the carrying value of

GCC LP’s net assets to fair value less costs to sell (5,149,897)
Income tax in respect of write-down of

GCC LP’s net assets 772,485
Loss for the year (4,681,208)

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company (2,492,734)
Non-controlling interests (2,188,474)

(4,681,208)

Loss per share
Basic and diluted (0.661)
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773,504
(1,598,785)
(957,974)

(1,602,797)

(1,602,797)

(1,602,797)

2013

(1,783,255)
180,458

(1,073,573)
(529,224)
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5 DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION

(CONTINUED)

(f) Cash (used in)/generated from discontinued operation

2014 2013

Net cash generated from operating activities 209,995 571,073
Net cash used in investing activities (231,353) (511,201)

Net cash used in financing activities (7,801) (36,643)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow for the year (29,159)

6 OTHER REVENUE

2014 2013

Penalty income from an iron ore customer i —
21,919

Government grants
Others

10,788

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group has recognised a penalty income of $70,977,000 from a third party iron ore
customer in relation to its failure to settle the procurement from the Group within an agreed period in accordance with relevant contract
with the Group.

7 OTHER OPERATING (EXPENSES)/INCOME, NET

2014 2013
$’000 $'000
(Restated)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Gain on disposal of equity securities

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Others
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Loss before taxation before continuing operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(a) Net finance costs
2014 2013

$’000 $°000
(Restated)

Interest income (78,427) (121,427)
Gains on repurchase of senior notes (see note 29) - (592,495)
Foreign exchange gain, net - (146,860)

)

Fair value change of derivative financial instruments (30,547) (15,794

_Finance income (108,974) (876,576)
Interest on secured bank loans wholly repayable
within five years 72,127 123,297
Interest on discounted bills 44,176 162,414
Interest on senior notes (see note 29) 230,306 301,905

Total interest expense 346,609

Bank charges 35,029
Foreign exchange loss, net 20,139

Finance costs 401,777

Net finance costs/(income) 292,803
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8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Staff costs

2014 2013
$°000 $°000
(Restated)

Salaries, wages, bonus and other benefits 148,255 169,956
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 8,712 10,095
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 10,377 2,243

167,344 182,294
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8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Other items

2014 2013
$°000 $°'000
(Restated)

Amortisation*

— leased assets 11,152

— intangible assets 569
Depreciation* 121,046
Provision for impairment losses on

Trade receivables (note 25(b)) —

Other receivables —
Impairment losses

— plant and machinery (note 15) 232,891 148,328

— construction in progress (note 16) 189,444 —

— prepayment related to property, plant and equipment

(note 23(ii) 7,408 —

Operating lease charges, mainly relating to buildings 18,848 29,298
Auditors’ remuneration

— audit services 6,259

— tax services 42 111
Cost of inventories 7,353,279 13,138,471

& Cost of inventories includes $6,444,000 (2013 (restated): $12,928,000) and $8,539,000 (2013 (restated): $21,472,000) for

the year ended 31 December 2014 relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation which amount is also included in the

respective total amount disclosed separately above or in note 8(b) for each type of these expenses.
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9 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR

LOSS
2014 2013
$°000 $°000
(Restated)

Continuing operations:
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax

Provision for the year 2,190

Under-provision in respect of prior years 1,619

Current tax — Outside of Hong Kong

Provision for the year 18,584

(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years 5,214

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 284,954
312,461

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2013: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the BVI.
The provision for PRC current income tax is based on a statutory rate of 25% (2013: 25%) of the
assessable profit as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and regulations of the

PRC.

Taxation for other overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in
the relevant countries.
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9 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

2014 2013
$°000 $°000
(Restated)

Continuing operations
Loss before taxation (1,133,469) (410,076)

Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at the

rates applicable to loss in the jurisdictions concerned (166,565) (254,942)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 12,880 17,383
Tax effect of utilisation of previously unrecognised

tax losses (16,349) (7,826)
Tax effect of unused tax losses and other temporary

differences not recognised 254,683 551,113
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years (2,568) 6,733
Actual tax expense 82,081 312,461

160 Annual Report 2014

- 1A-72 -



APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

Poedo

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

10 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 78 of Schedule 11 to the new Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), with reference to section 161 of the predecessor Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32), is as follows:

2014
Equity
Salaries, settled
allowances share-based
Directors’ and benefits payments
fees in kind (note) Total

$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

Executive directors
Wang Xingchun
Andreas Werner
(appointed on 26 August 2014)
Zhu Hongchan
Yasuhisa Yamamoto
(resigned on 26 August 2014)
Ma Li
Wang Changging

Non-executive directors
Liu Qingchun

Lu Chuan

Daniel J. Miller

Independent
non-executive directors

James Downing

Ng Yuk Keung

Jay Hambro

Wang Wenfu

Total
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10 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

2013
Equity
Salaries, settled
allowances share-based
Directors’ and benefits payments
fees in kind (note) Total
$°000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Executive directors
Wang Xingchun — 6,000 2,089 8,089
Cui Yong (resigned on
30 December 2013) — 2,848 (1,072) 1,776
Zhu Hongchan — 3,825 1,246 5,071
Yasuhisa Yamamoto - 3,564 972 4,536
Apolonius Struijk (resigned
on 1 April 2013) — 4,848 (8,469) 1,379
Ma Li (appointed on
1 April 2013) — 3,845 997 4,842
Wang Changqing (appointed
on 30 December 2013) — 2,517 — 2,517
Non-executive directors
Liu Qingchun - - — —
Lu Chuan — — - —
Delbert Lee Lobb, Jr.
(resigned on 16 January 2013) — — — —
Daniel J. Miller.
(appointed on 16 January 2013) — — — —
Independent
non-executive directors
James Downing 1,651 — — 1,651
Ng Yuk Keung 1,651 — — 1,651
Jay Hambro 1,551 — — 1,551
Wang Wenfu 1,651 — — 1,651
Total 6,204 27,447 763 34,414
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10 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Note:

These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these
share options is measured according to the Group’s accounting policies for share-based payment transactions as set out in note 2(s)(ii) and,
in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments are

forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of options granted, are disclosed under note 32.
11 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, five (2013: four) are directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in note 10. During the year ended 31 December 2013, the aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the other one individual were as follow:

2014 2013

Salaries and other emoluments
Share-based payments

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the emoluments of the one individual with the highest
emoluments were within the following bands:

2014 2013

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

$3,500,001 to $4,000,000 1
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12 LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a loss of
$3,693,095,000 (2013: $1,017,949,000) (note 36(a)) which has been dealt with in the financial statements

of the Company.

Details of dividends paid and payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 36(b).

13 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income does not have any tax effect for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013:

Nil).

14 LOSS PER SHARE

(i) From continuing operations and discontinued operation

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on loss attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of $3,693,055,000 (2013: $1,789,385,000) and the weighted
average of 3,767,018,000 ordinary shares (2013: 3,773,182,000 shares) in issue during the

year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic):

2014
’000
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 3,773,199
Effect of shares held by the employee share trusts* (6,181)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)
as at 31 December 3,767,018

* The shares held by the employee share trusts are regarded as treasury shares.
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14 LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
() From continuing operations and discontinued operation (Continued)
(b) Diluted loss per share

For the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2013, basic and diluted loss per share are the
same as the effect of the potential ordinary shares outstanding is anti-dilutive.

(ii) From continuing operations

(a) Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operations for the year ended 31
December 2014 is based on the loss from continuing operations attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of $1,200,321,000 (2013: $715,812,000) and the weighted
average of 3,767,018,000 ordinary shares (2013: 3,773,182,000 shares) in issue during the
year.

(b) Diluted loss per share
For the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2013, basic and diluted loss per share from

continuing operations are the same as the effect of the potential ordinary shares outstanding is
anti-dilutive.
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET
(a) The Group
Railway Office
Plantand  Mineral  special Motor and other

Buildings machinery  assets assets  vehicles equipment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost:
At 1 January 2013 914,869 2,650,676 1303923 308438 172,203 58,788 5,408,897
Additions 2,620 1,162 264,103 854 4,019 5592 278,340
Transferred from construction in progress

(note 16) 51,389 22,102 2,576 - - 2,461 78,528
Disposals (1,041) (17,449 - - (11,564) (437)  (30,491)
Exchange adjustments 23,918 11,102 462 9,667 5,015 703 50,867

_At31 December20t3 991,795 2867,583 1571064 318959 169673 67,107 5786141

At 1 January 2014 991,755 2,667,583 1,571,064 318,959 169,673 67,107 5,786,141
Additions 122 1,481 5,854 - 6,523 1,917 15,897
Transferred from construction in progress

(note 16) 51,044 91,681 229,057 e - 704 372,600
Disposals (489) (5,932) - - (7,181) (2,687)  (16,289)
Reclassified to disposal group held for sale

(note 5) (190,217) (2,408,672) (1,805,534) - - (4,404,423)
Exchange adjustments (3,976) (2,978) (441) (1,079) (641) (363) (9,478)
At 31 December 2014 848,239 343,163 - 317,994 168,374 66,678 1,744,448
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET (CONTINUED)

(@) The Group (Continued)

Railway Office

Plantand  Mineral  special Motor and other
Buildings machinery  assets assets  vehicles equipment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:

At 1 January 2013 109,129 778,358 357,245 7,210 64,021 30,896 1,346,859
Charge for the year 46,932 197,010 144,444 8,751 31,744 13,431 442312
Impairment loss — 148,328 - — - — 148,328
Written back on disposal (107) (6,453) - - (5,263) (350) (12,179
Exchange adjustments 2,943 2,850 109 366 2,265 47 8,580
AT December2013 ... 156,897 1,120,093 501,798 16327 92,767 44024 1933906
At 1 January 2014 158,897 1,120,093 501,798 92,767 44,024 1,933,906
Charge for the year 44,633 85,306 125,121 30,239 10,148 304,291
Impairment loss 173,763 59,128 - - 232,891
Written back on disposal (3,740) - (4,705) (2,666)  (11,111)
Reclassified to disposal group held for sale
(note 5) (50,160) (945,383)  (626,682) - (1,622,225)
Exchange adjustments (401) (755) (237) (277) (175) (1,866)
~ At31December2014 326,732 314,649 118,024 51,331 835,886
Net book value:
At 31 December 2014 521,507 28,514 292,844 15,347 908,562
At 31 December 2013 832,858 1,547,490 1,069,266 302,632 76,906 23,083 3,852,235
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET (CONTINUED)
(@) The Group (Continued)

At 31 December 2014, property, plant and equipment with an aggregate carrying value of
$82,032,000 (2013: $nil) have been pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (see note 28).

At 31 December 2013, property, plant and equipment of GCC LP with an aggregate carrying value
of $18,196,000 was pledged as collateral for its borrowings. These assets were reclassified to
assets held for sale after GCC LP was classified as a disposal group held for sale in 2014 (note 5).

Impairment loss

An impairment loss of $232,891,000 (2013: $148,328,000) for plant and machinery in respect of
the Group’s coal processing factories in the PRC has been charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the current year due to the unfavourable future prospect of the coking coal
business and low utilisation of these facilities. The impairment loss was provided based on value in
use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial forecasts prepared
by management covering a five-year period. The cash flows are discounted using a discount rate
of 13.29% (2013: 11.27%). The discount rate used reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segments.

168 Annual Report 2014

- TA-80 -



APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

PRSedO

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET (CONTINUED)
(b) The Company

Motor Office and other

vehicles equipment Total
$’'000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2013 279 35 314
At 31 December 2013 279 35 314

At 1 January 2014

Disposals

_At31 December2014
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2013 112 20 132
Charge for the year 56 7 63

At 31 December 2013

At 1 January 2014
Charge for the year
Written back on disposal

At 31 December 2014

Net book value:
At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2013 111 8 119
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

The analysis of net book value of properties

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $'000 $’000 $'000
The PRC (including
Hong Kong and Macau) 908,004 1,186,776 119

Canada - 2,664,763 —
Other countries 696 —

Aggregate net book value 908,562 3,852,235 119

As at 31 December 2014, the Group was in the process of applying for the ownership certificate

for certain buildings with an aggregate net book value amounting to $114,062,000 (2013:
$179,666,000). The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group is entitled to lawfully
and validly occupy and use of the above mentioned buildings.

Fixed assets held under finance leases

The Group leases plant and machinery under finance leases expiring from 1 to 5 years. At the end of
the lease term the Group has the option to purchase the leased equipment at a price deemed to be
a bargain purchase option. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

During the year, additions to plant and machinery of the Group financed by new finance leases were
$nil (2013: $8,065,000). At the end of the reporting period, the plant and machinery held under
finance leases related to GCC LP have been classified as assets held for sale and disclosed in note
5.

170 Annual Report 2014

- TA-82 -



APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

PP dO

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

16 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

The Group

2014 2013

$’000 $'000
At 1 January 558,486 375,014
Additions 187,747 251,834
Transferred to property, plant and equipment (note 15) (372,600) (78,528)
Reclassified to disposal group held for sale (note 5) (20,686) —
Disposals (455) —
Exchange adjustments (2,458) 10,166
Impairment (189,444) —
At 31 December 160,590 558,486

Impairment loss

An impairment loss of $189,444,000 (2013: $nil) for construction in progress in respect of certain coal
processing projects under construction in the PRC has been charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the current year due to that the directors determined to abandon these projects given
unfavourable future prospect of the coking coal business in 2014.

The balance of construction in progress as at 31 December 2014 represents certain logistics park
projects under construction in the PRC for which the management assessed no impairment provision
is needed based on value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial forecasts prepared by management covering a five-year period. The cash flows are discounted
using a discount rate of 13.29% (2013: 11.27%). The discount rate used reflects specific risks relating to
the relevant segments.
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17 LEASE PREPAYMENTS

Lease prepayments comprise interests in leasehold land held for own use under operating leases located
in the PRC as follows:

The Group

2014 2013

$°000 $°000
Cost:
At 1 January 570,684 467,895
Additions 23,140 85,760
Exchange adjustments (2,318) 17,029

AUS1December . 591,506 [N 570,684

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 17,336
Charge for the year 11,152
Exchange adjustments 722
Net book value:
At 31 December 551,103 541,474

Lease prepayments represent the net of payments for land use rights paid to the PRC authorities and
the associated government grants received. The Group’s land use rights are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the operating lease periods of 50 years. The associated government grants are recognised
as deduction of lease prepayment amortisation charge for the year over the lease periods of the relevant
lease prepayments.

At 31 December 2014, land use rights with a total carrying amount of $26,333,000 (2013: $27,010,000)
have been pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (see note 28).
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The Group

Mining rights Software Total
$'000 $’000 $'000

Cost:
At 1 January 2013 6,860,627 7,848 6,868,475
Additions - 927 927
Others - (1,253) (1,253)
Exchange adjustments 11,075 117 11,192

_At31 December2013
At 1 January 2014
Additions
Reclassified to disposal group held for sale
(note 5)
Exchange adjustments

6,871,702 7,639 6,879,341

6,871,702 6,879,341
- 737

(6,868,864) (6,868,864)
(2,838) (2,859)

At 31 December 2014

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses:

8,355

At 1 January 2013 137,687 2,126 139,813
Charge for the year 115,363 569 115,932
Impairment loss 498,161 — 498,161
Exchange adjustments 607 30 637
At 31 December 2013 751,818 2,725 754,543

At 1 January 2014

Charge for the year

Reclassified to disposal group held for sale
(note 5)

Exchange adjustments

751,818 754,543
36,780 37,543

(787,673) (787,673)
(925) (928)

At 31 December 2014

3,485

Net book value:
At 31 December 2014

4,870

At 31 December 2013

6,119,884 4,914 6,124,798

As at 31 December 2014, intangible assets mainly represent the net book value of software purchased
by the Group. The mining rights of GCC LP have been classified as assets held for sale and disclosed in

note 5.
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company
2014 2013
$°000

Unlisted shares, at cost 499,109 421,364
7,129,671 7,757,461

(4,911,734) (1,932,527)

Amounts due from subsidiaries*
Impairment loss*

2,717,046 6,246,298
* Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
@ As at 31 December 2014, as the Group has provided impairment loss for non-current assets of GCC LP and the operating subsidiaries

of the Group in the PRC (see notes 5, 15 and 16) and its interest in Peabody-Winsway B.V. (see note 21), the Company also provides

impairment loss for its interests in relevant subsidiaries whose sole activities are investment holding in equity interests in above-

mentioned entities.

The following list contains only the particulars of major subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Date and Effective
place of incorporation/ percentage of equity
establishment and Issued and fully attributable to
Name of company place of operations paid up capital the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

Lucky Colour Limited (“Lucky Colour”) 11 March 2008 United States dollars 100% —  Investment holding
British Virgin (US$") 1
Islands (‘BVI")

Reach Goal Management Ltd. 2 January 2009 US$ 21,770,001 100% —  Investment holding
BVI
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Date and Effective
place of incorporation/ percentage of equity
establishment and Issued and fully attributable to
Name of company place of operations paid up capital the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

Winsway Resources (HK) 23 October 2009 31,312,613 shares 100% —  Investment holding
Holdings Limited Hong Kong
(“Winsway Resources
Holdings (HK)")
Winsway Australia Pty. Ltd. 9 November 2009 Australian dollars 100% — Internal marketing
(“Winsway Australia”) Commonwealth of (‘AUD") 492,994 and consulting
Australia service
(*Australia”)
Winsway Resources Holdings 31 December 2009 Singapore dollars 100% —  Trading of coal
Private Limited The Republic of (“SGD") 1,000,000
(“Winsway Singapore”) Singapore US$ 10,000,000
(Singapore”)
Winsway Coking Coal Logistics 22 December 2009 100,000 shares 100% —  Investment holding
Limited (“Winsway Logistics’) Hong Kong
Winsway Mongolian Transportation 10 May 2010 SGD 10 90% —  Investment holding
Pte. Ltd. ("Mongolian Singapore
Transportation”)
Beijing Winsway Investment 6 November 1995 US$ 276,500,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. PRC
(Beijing Winsway")*
Cheer Top Enterprises Limited 5 January 2005 US$ 23,303,911 . 100%  Investment holding
(“Cheer Top”) BVI
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Date and Effective
place of incorporation/ percentage of equity
establishment and Issued and fully attributable to
Name of company place of operations paid up capital the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect
Color Future International Limited 5 January 2005 US$ 21,770,001 - 100%  Trading of coal
(“Color Future”) BVI
Urad Zhongqi Yiteng Mining Co., Ltd. 7 September 2005 RMB640,000,000 - 100%  Processing and
(“Yiteng")™* PRC trading of coal
Royce Petrochemicals Limited 28 October 2005 US$ 3,900,001 - 100%  Investment holding
(“Royce Petrochemicals”) BVI
Inner Mongolia Haotong Energy 18 November 2005 RMB750,000,000 - 100%  Trading of coal
Joint Stock Co., Ltd. PRC
(“Inner Mongolia Haotong")**
Erlianhaote Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. 18 January 2007 RMB95,370,000 - 95%  Trading of coal and
(“Erlianhaote Haotong”)* PRC rendering of logistics
service
Ejina Qi Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. 19 May 2008 RMB260,000,000 - 100%  Processing and
(‘Ejinagi Haotong")™* PRC trading of coal
Baotou-city Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. 18 September 2008 RMB90,000,000 - 100%  Trading of coal
(‘Baotou Haotong")™ PRC
Nantong Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. 24 February 2009 RMB120,000,000 - 100%  Trading of coal
(*Nantong Haotong")™ PRC
Yingkou Haotong Mining Co., Ltd. 16 November 2009 RMB175,000,000 - 100%  Trading of coal
(*Yingkou Haotong")*™* PRC
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Date and Effective
place of incorporation/ percentage of equity
establishment and Issued and fully attributable to
Name of company place of operations paid up capital the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

Manzhouli Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. 23 December 2009 RMB200,000,000 - 100%  Trading of coal
(“Manzhouli Haotong")™** PRC

Ulangab Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. 2 March 2010 RMB240,000,000 - 100%  Trading of coal
(“Ulangab Haotong”)™ PRC

Longkou Winsway Energy Co., Ltd. 27 April 2010 RMB180,000,000 - 100%  Trading of coal
(‘Longkou Winsway")**** PRC

Ejina Qi Ruyi Winsway Energy Co., Ltd. 30 June 2010 RMB20,000,000 - 51%  Logistics service
(‘Ejina Qi Winsway")™ PRC

Inner Mongolia Hutie Winsway 22 July 2010 RMB30,000,000 - 51%  Logistics service

Logistics Co., Ltd. (‘Inner Mongolia ~ PRC
Hutie Winsway Logistics”)**

Eternal International Logistics Limited 27 October 2010 1 share 100% —  Investment holding
(‘Eternal’) Hong Kong

Million Super Star Limited 18 October 2010 1 share 100% —  Investment holding
(“Million Super Star”) Hong Kong

Winsway Coking Coal Holdings S. a.r.1. 27 September 2011 Canadian dollars - 100%  Investment holding
(“Winsway Luxemburg’) Luxemburg “CA$’ 20,000

0925165 B.C. Ltd. 15 November 2011 CA$ 139,472,368 - 100%  Investment holding

Canada US$ 1,593,249
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Date and Effective
place of incorporation/ percentage of equity
establishment and Issued and fully attributable to
Name of company place of operations paid up capital the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect
Grande Cache Coal LP 1 March 2012 N/A - 60%  Development of coal
Canada mills and production
of coking coal and
related products
Erlian Winsway Mining Co., Ltd.* 14 January 2011 PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Processing and
trading of coal
Nantong Winsway Mining Investment 2 April 2013 RMB200,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd. (‘Nantong Winsway") PRC and trading of Coal
Qinhuangdao Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. 7 June 2013 RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Trading of Coal and
(*Qinghuangdao Haotong”) ** PRC petrochemicals
Nantong Million Super Star Coking Coal 3 July 2013 US$ 60,700,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd. (“Nantong Million”) * PRC
Harbin Fuze Mining Investment Co., Ltd. 27 June 2013 RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Trading of Coal and
(*Harbin Fuze”) * PRC petrochemicals
Standard Rich Inc Ltd. 18 November 2013 10,000 shares - 100%  Trading of Coal
(“Standard Rich”) Hong Kong
Suzhou Wisdom Elite Energy Inc Ltd. 28 January 2014 S$10,000,000 - 100%  Trading of Coal
(“Suzhou Wisdom”) ** PRC
Beijing Shacong E-Commerce Inc Ltd. 26 March 2014 RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of logistics
(‘Beijing Shacong’) ** PRC information service
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19 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Date and Effective
place of incorporation/ percentage of equity
establishment and Issued and fully attributable to
Name of company place of operations paid up capital the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

Erlian Junrong Winsway Mining Co., Ltd. 4 April 2014 RMB2,420,000 - 100%  Trading of Iron ore
(“Erlian Junrong”) ** PRC

Urad Zhongqi Tengshengda 17 June 2014 RMB286,572,705 - 100%  Processing and
Energy Co., Ltd. (‘Tengshengda”) *  PRC trading of Coal

Wholly foreign owned enterprises established under the PRC law.
* Limited liability companies established under the PRC law.
A joint stock company established under the PRC law.
Sino-foreign equity joint ventures established under the PRC law.

& A Sino-foreign cooperative joint venture established under the PRC law.

GCC LP is the only subsidiary of the Group which has material non-controlling interest (NCI). The financial
information of GCC LP has been disclosed in note 5.

20 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

The Group
2014 2013
$°000

Share of net assets

Annual Report 2014 179

- 1A-91 -



APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

20 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
Details of the Group’s interest in the associate are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

Form of Place of Particulars Group’s Held Held
Name of business incorporation  of paid up effective by the bya Principal
associate structure and business  capital interest Company subsidiary activity
Bayannao’er City Hutie Incorporated PRC RMB50,000,000 24% - 24%  Logistics
Ruyi Logistics Co., Ltd. service in

PRC

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of the associate, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and
reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

2014 2013

$’000 $'000
Gross amounts of the associate
Current assets 63,254 68,938
Non-current assets 27,182 5,725
Current liabilities 19,515 12,817
Equity 70,921 61,846
Turnover 28,874 —
Gain/(loss) for the year 7,513 (582)
Total comprehensive income 7,513 (582)
Reconciled to the Group’s interests in the associate
Gross amounts of net assets of the associate 70,921 61,846
Group’s effective interest 24% 24%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate 17,021 14,843
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements 17,021 14,843
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21 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $'000
Carrying amount —
Details of the Group’s interest in the joint venture are as follows:
Form of Place of Issued and Group’s
Name of business incorporation and  fully paid up effective
joint venture structure operation capital interest  Principal activities
Peabody-Winsway Incorporated The Kingdom of Euro36,000 50%  Acquisition, sale, exploration,
Resources B.V. the Netherlands development, mining,
(“Peabody-Winsway”) processing and commercial

exploitation of mineral and
metal resources

Due to the unsatisfactory operating performance and the delay in the commencement of mining activities,
the recoverable amount from value in use calculation decreased accordingly. During the year ended 31
December 2012, an impairment loss of $323,616,000 was provided for the Group’s interest in the joint
venture. No further loss incurred by Peabody-Winsway during the year ended 31 December 2014 was
taken up in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

22 OTHER INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $'000

Unlisted equity securities, at cost 400,369

Other investments in equity securities represent the Group’s equity interests in third party companies
engaged in railway logistics, ports management and coal storage business. As at 31 December 2014, the
Group holds equity interests in a range of 1-9% in these companies.
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23 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Loan to a third party

Advance payments for

(note (i) 127,187 _

equipment purchase and
construction in progress
(note (i) 23,626 —

150,813 206,969 —

()

In 2009, the Company agreed to provide a loan to Moveday Enterprises Limited (“Moveday”) to
purchase additional vehicles to meet with the increasing volume of coal procured by the Group
in Mongolia, and Moveday has agreed to use the trucks purchased through financing provided
by the Company for the provision of transportation services to the Group during the term of the
agreement. Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into on 10 April 2010 (as subsequently amended
by a supplemental deed on 15 September 2010) and the strategic alliance agreement, the Company
agreed to lend Moveday up to US$40 million solely for the purpose of purchasing vehicles for
transporting coal purchased by the Group in Mongolia. The loan to Moveday was provided on an
unsecured basis, at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 3% and repayable over five years in equal annual
installments of US$8 million, commencing from 18 months after the receipt of the loan (being 31
December 2012) by Moveday, with interest payable semi-annually in arrears. The entire loan amount
was fully drawn down in 2010. As Moveday is a third party and the loan to Moveday is an unsecured
loan, the Group do not have an interest in or control over the cash flows or other assets of Moveday
other than in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement (as amended).
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23 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(i)  (Continued)

During 2013, the Group has entered into another supplemental agreement with Moveday to modify
the repayment terms of the remaining outstanding principal of US$32 million. Pursuant to the
supplemental agreement, the remaining outstanding principal is repayable on 31 December from
2013 to 2015 with an amount of US$4 million plus a floating repayment amount up to US$6 million.
The floating repayment amount is calculated based on the volume of coals transported (maximum of
12 million tonnes) by Moveday for the Group during each year. Apart from the repayment terms, all
the other terms of the loan are not changed and Moveday is obliged to repay the entire outstanding
principal on or before 31 December 2016. During the year ended 31 December 2014, Moveday
has repaid principal of US$4 million (2013: US$7.6 million) to the Group and the outstanding loan
balance as at 31 December 2014 is US$20.4 million (2013: US$24.4 million).

The Group and Moveday entered into agreements that Moveday purchases coking coal from
Mongolian coking coal suppliers at mine mouth and sell such coking coal entirely to the Group
at the PRC border at a price on a delivered at place (DAP) basis. Accordingly, during the year
ended 31 December 2014, the Group has purchased coking coal of $nil (2013: $541 million) from
Moveday. In addition to the above, the Group has incurred $40 million (2013: $303 million) for
coking coal transportation service provided by Moveday during the year ended 31 December 2014.

At 31 December 2014, as included in prepayments to suppliers (see note 25), the Group made a
prepayment of $21,078,000 (2013: $nil) to Moveday in respect of its coking coal transportation
services.

(i)  The Group has provided full impairment for all advance payments for equipment purchase and
construction in progress in relation to the coal processing plants and logistic park facilities which
have ceased construction during the year (see note 16). During the year ended 31 December 2014,
$7,408,000 was written off against advance payments for equipment purchase and construction in
progress (2013: $nil).
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24 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the statement of financial position comprise:

At

31 December
2014

$’000

Coking coal
Thermal coal
Coke

Coal related products
Petrochemical products

Others

109,005
48,162
61,411
13,199

140,528
21,487

Less: write down of inventories

393,792

(58,678)

335,114

At
31 December
2013
$’'000

1,302,098
178,391

19,696
112,210
1,612,395

(249,661)

1,362,734

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included

in profit or loss is as follows:

2014
$°000

Carrying amount of inventories sold
Write down of inventories

7,294,601
58,678

7,353,279

184 Annual Report 2014

—1A-96 —

2013
$'000
(Restated)

12,893,569
244,902

13,138,471




APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

PO

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $'000 $°000 $'000

Trade receivables 818,387 1,760,369 —

Bills receivable 507,481 1,428,807 —

Receivables from import agents 291,192 941,750 —

Less: allowance for doubtful debts (56,526) — —

1,560,534 4,130,926 -

Amounts due from related parties 761 7,144 —

Prepayments to suppliers

(note 23(j)) 64,626 81,459 -
Loan to a third party company

(note 23(j)) 31,031 31,018 -

Derivative financial instruments* 31,480 11,600 —

Deposits and other receivables 372,508 354,077 1,090

2,060,940 1,090

Derivative financial instruments represent fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts and a derivative embedded in a purchase

contract of petrochemical products as at 31 December 2014.
All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.
The credit terms for trade debtors are generally within 90 days. The credit terms for receivables from
import agents can be as long as one year, which are comparable to the credit terms for payables to
import agents as granted to the Group. Bills receivable are normally due within 90 days to 180 days from

the date of issuing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 37(a).

At 31 December 2014, trade and bills receivables of the Group of $586,953,000 (31 December 2013:
$489,542,000) have been pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (see note 28).
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25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2014, bills receivable of the Group of $483,472,000 (31 December 2013:
$4,027,409,000) have been derecognised from the consolidated statement of financial position as the
relevant bills have been discounted to banks on a non-recourse basis.

(a) Ageing analysis

Included in trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import agents are trade debtors
with the ageing analysis, based on the invoice date and net of allowance for bad debt, as follows:

The Group
At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$’000 $'000
Less than 3 months 837,833 3,376,394
More than 3 months but less than 6 months 351,249 748,695
More than 6 months but less than 1 year 165,389 4,407
More than 1 year 206,063 1,430
1,560,534 4,130,926

(b) Impairment of trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import
agents

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import
agents are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the

amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade receivables, bills
receivable and receivables from import agents (see note 2(m)).
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25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import
agents (Continued)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$°000 $°000 $’000

At 1 January
Impairment loss recognised

At 31 December

At 31 December 2014, the Group’s trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import
agents of $108,562,000 (2013: $nil) were individually determined to be impaired. The individually
impaired receivables related to customers that were in financial difficulties and management
assessed that only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. Consequently, specific
allowances for doubtful debts of $56,526,000 (2013: $nil) were recognised.
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25 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
(c) Trade debtors and bills receivable that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import agents that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

The Group
At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $’'000

Neither past due nor impaired 1,343,549 4,030,925
Less than 3 months past due 40,965 94,164
More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 123,984 5,837

1,508,498 4,130,926

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that
have a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

26 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
The Group has pledged bank deposits of $956,077,000 (31 December 2013: $2,150,026,000) as at 31

December 2014 as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (see note 28) and banking facilities in respect of
issuance of bills and letters of credit by the Group (see note 33).
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27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $°000 $’000

Cash at bank and in hand 438,552 5,552 30,209

At 31 December 2014, cash and cash equivalents of $213,411,000 (2013: $837,703,000) was held
by the entities of the Group in form of RMB in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency and
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the exchange restriction imposed by the PRC
government.

Included in cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

The Group The Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
$°000 $'000 $’000 $’'000

UsS$ 112,663 38,360 —
RMB 1,984 373,232 4,469

Euro -

HK$ 4,703 3,729 3,075

SGD 3,955 7,354
cAS - 681
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28 SECURED BANK LOANS

(@) The secured bank loans comprise:

The Group
2014 2013
$°000

Short-term loans and current portion of long-term loans 1,191,889 1,093,111
Long-term loans - 3,065,780

1,191,889 4,158,891

The interest rates per annum of bank loans were:

The Group
2014 2013

Short-term loans and current portion of long-term loans 1.53%-7.20% 1.78%-5.60%
Long-term loans - 2.67%—7.68%

(b) The secured bank loans are repayable as follows:

2014 2013

Within 1 year or on demand 1,191,889 1,093,111
After 1 year but within 2 years - 993,474
After 2 years but within 5 years - 2,072,306

1,191,889 4,158,891

At 31 December 2014, bank loans amounting to $523,935,000 (2013: $450,710,000) have been
secured by bank deposits placed in banks with an aggregate carrying value of $521,473,000 (2013:
$420,156,000).
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28 SECURED BANK LOANS (CONTINUED)

(b) The secured bank loans are repayable as follows: (Continued)

At 31 December 2014, bank loans amounting to $584,418,000 (2013: $485,160,000) have been
secured by trade and bills receivables with an aggregate carrying value of $584,418,000 (2013:
$489,542,000).

At 31 December 2014, bank loans amounting to $67,183,000 (2013: $67,411,000) have been
secured by land use rights with an aggregate carrying value of $26,333,000 (2013: $27,010,000)
and property, plant and equipment with an aggregate carrying value of $82,032,000 (2013: $nil).

At 31 December 2014, bank loans amounting to $16,353,000 (31 December 2013: $Nil) were
secured by both bank deposits with an aggregate carrying value of $13,818,000 and bills
receivables with an aggregate carrying value of $2,535,000 (31 December 2013: $Nil).

At 31 December 2013, bank loans amounting to $15,877,000 were secured by property, plant
and equipment of GCC LP with an aggregate carrying value of $18,196,000. At 31 December
2013, bank loans amounting to $3,139,733,000 were secured by total assets of GCC LP with an
aggregate carrying value of $9,546,800,000. These loans were reclassified to liabilities held for sale
after GCC LP have been classified as a disposal group held for sale in 2014 (note 5).

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 37(b).

29 SENIOR NOTES

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $°000 $’000

Senior notes due in 2016 2,364,347 2,337,010 2,364,347 2,337,010

On 8 April 2011, the Company issued senior notes in the aggregate principal amount of US$500,000,000

(“Senior Notes”) and listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The Senior Notes bear
interest at 8.50% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will be due in 2016.
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29 SENIOR NOTES (CONTINUED)

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Group’s existing subsidiaries other than those established/
incorporated under the laws of the PRC, Winsway Coking Coal Holdings S.a.r.l., 0925165 B.C. Ltd., GCC
and GCC LP as an application of the principle stated in the Company’s offering memorandum on 1 April
2011 (the “Subsidiary Guarantor”). In addition, the Company has agreed, for the benefit of the holders
of the Senior Notes, to pledge the capital stock of each Subsidiary Guarantor in order to secure the
obligations of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group repurchased Senior Notes in aggregate principal
amount of US$153,190,000 with a cash consideration of US$73,595,000 in the open market. The Senior
Notes repurchased were redeemed subsequently. The difference between the carrying amount of the
Senior Notes redeemed and the consideration paid, net off against the transaction costs incurred, was
recognised as a gain of US$76,383,000 (equivalent to $592,495,000) on redemption of Senior Notes in
the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss. The outstanding Senior Notes with principal amount
of US$309,310,000 will be matured on 8 April 2016.

In addition, on 11 October 2013, the Company also received consents from holders of the Senior Notes
with a consent payment of US$4,118,000 to certain amendments (“Amendments”) to the indenture,
dated as of 8 April 2011 (“Indenture”), among the Company, the Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined in
the Indenture) and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee. The Amendments eliminated
the limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments, dividend and other payment restrictions affecting
Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the Indenture), sales and issuances of capital stock in Restricted
Subsidiaries, issuances of guarantees by Restricted Subsidiaries, sale and leaseback transactions,
transactions with shareholders and affiliates and business activities as contained in the Indenture. The
consent payment is amortised over the remaining period of the outstanding Senior Notes.

The Group has engaged financial advisors to assist with negotiations with the holders of the Senior Notes
to achieve the Debt Restructuring in respect of the Senior Notes. Further details are set out in Note 2(b).

30 DEFERRED INCOME
Deferred income represents the unfulfilled conditional government grants received, which will be
subsequently recognised as revenue in the statement of profit or loss to compensate the Group for

expenses when incurred, and the unrecognised government grants relating to compensating the Group
for the cost of assets.

31 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

As at 31 December 2014, the obligations under finance leases related to GCC LP have been classified as
liabilities held for sale and disclosed in note 5.
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32 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(a) The 2010 Scheme

The Company has a share option scheme (the “2010 Scheme”) which was adopted on 30 June
2010 (the “2010 Adoption Date”) whereby the directors of the Company are authorised, at their
direction, to invite employees of the Group including directors of any company of the Group, to take

up options at $1 consideration to subscribe for shares of the Company. The options will vest every

three months over a period of five years commencing from 1 April 2010 (the “2010 Initial Vesting
Date”) in equal portions (5% each) on the first day of each three-month period after the 2010 Initial
Vesting Date and are exercisable from 1 April 2011 (12 months after the 2010 Initial Vesting Date
of 1 April 2010) until 29 June 2015 (a period of five years from the 2010 Adoption Date of 30 June
2010) at a fixed subscription price. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one

ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross in shares.

()  The number of options granted to directors and management in 2010 are 52,093,000 and
55,852,000 respectively, whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

2014 2013

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
Outstanding at 1 January $1.677 98,211,913 $1.677 104,928,613
Exercised during the year $1.677 - $1.677 —
Forfeited during the year $1.677 (2,145,750) $1.677  (6,716,700)
Expired during the year $1.677 (21,715,163) $1.677 —
Outstanding at 31 December $1.677 74,351,000 $1.677 98,211,913
Exercisable at 31 December $1.677 70,584,238 $1.677 76,163,913

The options outstanding at 31 December 2014 had an exercise price of $1.677 (2013: $1.677)
per share and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.5 year (2013: 1.5 years).
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32 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) The 2010 Scheme (Continued)

(iii) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured by reference

to the fair value of share options granted. The fair value of the share options is valued by the

directors with reference to a valuation report issued by Sallmanns. The estimate of the fair

value of the share options granted is measured based on a Binominal Tree option pricing

model. The contractual life of the share option is used as an input into this model.

2010
Fair value at measurement date $1.421~$1.492
Share price $2.97
Exercise price $1.677
Expected volatility 63.15%
Option life (expressed as weighted average life used in modeling
under Binominal Tree option pricing model) 5 years
Expected dividends 5.00%
Risk-free interest rate 1.54%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of entities in the same industry

(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options), adjusted for

any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available information. Expected

dividends are based on management estimate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield

of 5-year Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes. Changes in the subjective input assumptions

could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. The condition has not been taken

into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the services received. There was no

market condition associated with the share option grants.

Equity settled share-based payment expense amounting to $3,203,000 during year ended 31
December 2014 (2013: $2,243,000) was recognised in profit or loss.

194  Annual Report 2014

- T1A-106 -



APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

PP I P@Q

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

32 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) The 2014 Scheme

The Company has a new share option scheme (the “2014 Scheme”) which was adopted on 22 July
2014 (the “2014 Adoption Date”) whereby the directors of the Company are authorised, at their
direction, to invite employees of the Group including directors of any company of the Group, to take
up options at $1 consideration to subscribe for shares of the Company. The options will vest every
six months over a period of four years commencing from 1 October 2014 (the “2014 Initial Vesting
Date”) in equal portions (12.5% each) on the first day of each six-month period after the 2014 Initial
Vesting Date and are exercisable during the relevant period to the extent the share options have
vested until 5 years commencing from the date of grant at a fixed subscription price. Each option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross in
shares.

(i)  The number of options granted to directors and management in 2014 are 46,000,000 and
65,400,000 respectively, whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

2014
Weighted
average Number of

exercise price options

Outstanding at 1 January -
Granted during the year 111,400,000
Forfeited during the year -

Outstanding at 31 December 111,400,000

Exercisable at 31 December 13,925,000

The options outstanding at 31 December 2014 had an exercise price of $0.420 per share and
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.6 years.
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32 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) The 2014 Scheme (Continued)

(iii) Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured by reference

to the fair value of share options granted. The fair value of the share options is valued by the

directors with reference to a valuation report issued by Sallmanns. The estimate of the fair

value of the share options granted is measured based on a Binominal Tree option pricing

model. The contractual life of the share option is used as an input into this model.

2014
Fair value at measurement date $0.170~$0.193
Share price $0.420

Exercise price
Expected volatility

Option life (expressed as weighted average life used in modeling

$0.420

53.00%

under Binominal Tree option pricing model) 5 years

Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

0.00%
1.38%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of entities in the same industry

(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options), adjusted for

any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available information. Expected

dividends are based on management estimate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield

of Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could

materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. The condition has not been taken

into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the services received. There was no

market condition associated with the share option grants.

Equity settled share-based payment expense amounting to $7,174,000 during year ended 31

December 2014 was recognised in profit or loss.
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33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group The Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $'000 $’000 $'000

Trade and bills payables 1,385,420 3,074,274 —

Payables to import agents 288,781 3,835,263 —

Amounts due to related parties - 344,292 —

Amounts due to subsidiary companies - — 1,184,524

Prepayments from customers 21,765 182,171 —
Payables in connection with

construction projects 93,670 90,792 —

Payables for purchase of equipment 47,730 59,199 —

Derivative financial instruments*® 16,007 45,405 —

Others 201,242 184,110 59,278 47,889

2,054,615 1,332,342 1,232,413

* Derivative financial instruments represent fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts as at 31 December 2014.

At 31 December 2014, bills payable amounting to $1,155,721,000 (2013: $2,571,106,000) were secured
by deposits placed in banks with an aggregate carrying value of $412,322,000 (2013: $1,037,618,000).
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33 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade and bills payables and payables to
import agents (which are included in trade and other payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

The Group
At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $’'000

Within 3 months 1,394,800 3,636,559
More than 3 months but less than 6 months 81,920 2,477,002
More than 6 months but less than 1 year 32,505 720,633
More than 1 year 164,976 75,343

1,674,201 6,909,537

Trade and bills payables and payables to import agents are expected to be settled within one year or are
repayable on demand. The maturity analysis of these payables is as follows:

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $°000

Due within 1 month or on demand 570,703 2,695,667
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 1,100,798 2,578,842
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 2,700 1,635,028

1,674,201 6,909,537
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34 INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the statements of financial position represents:

The Group The Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $'000 $’000 $'000

At 1 January 66,525 802

Provision for the year (note 9(a)) 1,403 673
(Over)/under-provision in respect of

prior years (note 9(a)) (2,568) 913 1,519

Income tax paid (26,767) (1,703) (2,824)

Exchange adjustments 987 - —

At 31 December 39,580 66,525 170
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34 INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

The Group
Property,
Unrealised plant and
profits on equipment
Inventory Tax  Government intra-group and intangible
provision losses grants  transactions assets Total
$°000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
At 1 January 2013 73917 322,154 32,672 22,348 (1,146,560) (695,469)
(Charged)/credited to consolidated
statement of profit or loss (73,929) (92,391) 19,693 (22,348) 64,484 (104,491)
Exchange adjustments 12 3,377 1,340 = (469) 4,260
At 31 December 2013 233,140 53,705 (1,082,545) (795,700)
At 1 January 2014 233,140 53,705 (1,082,545) (795,700)
Charged to consolidated
statement of profit or loss (29,732) (53,514) (83,246)
Reclassified to disposal group held for
sale (note 5) (203,107) 1,083,122 880,015
Exchange adjustments (301) (577) (1,069)

At 31 December 2014
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34 INCOME TAX IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (Continued)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position

The Group
2014 2013
$°000

Deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated
286,845

statement of financial position
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position (1,082,545)

(795,700)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised:

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of deductible temporary differences
and tax losses incurred by the subsidiaries of the Group of $1,057,620,000 and $1,900,378,000
respectively (2013: $555,800,000 and $1,466,739,000) as management of the Group considers
that it is not possible as at 31 December 2014 to estimate, with any degree of certainty, the future
taxable profits which may be earned by these subsidiaries. In particular, in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy set out in note 2(t), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses at 31 December 2014 as the management considers it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses in the PRC established entities of approximately
$957,988,000, and $537,005,000 and $395,533,000 will expire in five years after the tax losses
generated under current tax legislation in 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively. The tax losses in those
Hong Kong incorporated companies of approximately $9,852,000 can be utilised to offset any future
taxable profits under current tax legislation.

As at 31 December 2014, the deferred tax assets and liabilities related to GCC LP have been
reclassified to disposal group held for sale and disclosed in note 5.
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35 PROVISIONS

The provision for restoration costs has been determined based on management’s best estimates. The
estimate of the associated costs may be subject to change in the near term when the restoration on the
land from current mining activities becomes apparent in future periods. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group reassessed the estimated costs and adjusted the accrued restoration obligations, where
necessary.

As at 31 December 2014, the provisions related to GCC LP have been classified as liabilities held for sale
and disclosed in note 5.

36 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of

the year are set out below:

The Company

Share  Employee Other  Exchange Accumulated

capital share trusts Reserve reserve loss Total

Note $000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 January 2013 4,992,337 - 136,721 (19,892 (1,383,631) 3,725,535
Changes in equity for 2013:

Equity settled share-based transactions - - 2,243 - - 2,243

Contribution to employee share trusts 36(f) - (3,000 - - - (3,000

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 1,294 (1,017,949)  (1,016,655)

Balance at 31 December 2013 4,992,337 138,964 (2,401,580) 2,708,123

Balance at 1 January 2014 4,992,337 (3,000) 138,964 (18,598) (2,401,580) 2,708,123
Changes in equity for 2014:

Equity settled share-based transactions 10,377 10,377

Expiry of share options granted

under share option scheme (31,712) - 31,712 -

Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,909 (3,693,095) (3,691,186)

Balance at 31 December 2014 4,992,337 (3,000) 117,629 (16,689) (6,062,963)  (972,686)
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36 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)
(b) Dividends

(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the
year

There is no dividend declared attributable to the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: nil).

(ii) There is no dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to previous
financial year, approved and paid during the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: nil).

(c) Share capital

2014 2013
No. of shares No. of shares
’000 000
Authorised:
Ordinary shares with no par value 6,000,000 6,000,000
2014 2013
No. of shares No. of shares
’000 $’000 000 $'000
Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:
At 31 December 3,773,199 4,992,337 3,773,199 4,992,337

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Annual Report 2014 203

- IA-115 -



APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

WINSWAY® WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

36 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)
(d) Share issued under share option scheme
No option was exercised during the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: $nil).

(e) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at the end of the reporting

period
2014 2013
Exercise price Number Number
Exercise period $
1 April 2011 to 29 June 2015 1.677 74,351,000 98,211,913
1 October 2014 to 22 July 2019 0.420 111,400,000 —

185,751,000 98,211,913

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company. Further details
of these options are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

(f) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Other reserve

The other reserve comprises the following:

— the aggregate amount of paid-in capital or share capital of the companies now
comprising the Group after elimination of the investments in subsidiaries and the changes
in equity arisen from the acquisition of non-controlling interests;

— the net loss on purchase of non-controlling interest in a subsidiary; and

— the fair value of unexercised share options granted to employees of the Company at the

grant date that has been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 2(s(ii).
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36 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)
(f) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(ii) Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the companies comprising the Group in the PRC,
appropriations to the statutory reserve were made at a certain percentage of profit after
taxation determined in accordance with the accounting rules and regulations of the PRC. The
percentage for this appropriation was decided by the directors of the respective companies
comprising the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2014, amounts in retained
earnings of $8,181,000 (2013: $5,667,000) were transferred from retained earnings to the
statutory reserve.

Statutory reserve can be utilised in setting off accumulated losses or increasing capital of the
companies comprising the Group is non-distributable other than in liquidation.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of operations which are dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies as set out in note 2(w).

(iv) Employee share trusts

The Group operates a long-term incentive program in 2012 to retain and motivate the
employees to make contributions to the long term-growth and performance of the Group,
namely Restricted Share Units Scheme (“RSU Scheme”). A restricted share unit award (“RSU
Award”) gives a participant in the RSU Scheme a conditional right when the RSU Award vests
to obtain either ordinary shares (existing ordinary shares in issue or new ordinary shares to
be issued by the Company) or an equivalent value in cash with reference to the value of the
ordinary shares on or about the date of vesting. The Group reserves the right, at its discretion,
to pay the award in cash or ordinary shares of the Group.
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36 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)
(f) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iv) Employee share trusts (Continued)

Employee share trusts are established for the purposes of awarding shares to eligible
employees under the RSU Scheme. The employee share trusts are administered by trustees
and are funded by the Group’s cash contributions for buying the Company’s shares in the
open market and recorded as contributions to employee share trusts, an equity component.
The administrator of the employee share trusts transfers the shares of the Company to
employees upon vesting.

(v) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2014, there is no aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to
equity shareholders of the Company (2013: $2,708,123,000).

(g) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for equity shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level
of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost, and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher equity shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is total liabilities divided by total assets. The
Group aims to maintain the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31
December 2014 was 96.28% (2013: 72.91%).
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by
the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at bank, trade and other receivables and
over-the-counter derivative financial instruments entered into for hedging purposes. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing
basis.

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at bank are deposited in the reputable banks which
management assessed the credit risk to be insignificant.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 90 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are more than 90 days past due are normally requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period, 0% (2013: 0.12%) and 20% (2013: 13%)
of the total trade and other receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively within the processing and trading of coking coal and other products
segment.
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

Except for the financial guarantees, given by the Group as set out in note 41, the Group does not
provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum exposure
to credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the end of the reporting period is disclosed
in note 41.

Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables are set out in note 25.

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. Note 2(b) explains management’s plans for managing the
liquidity needs of the Group to enable it to continue to meet its obligations as they fall due.
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at the end the reporting period of the
Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay:

The Group
2014 2013
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
More than  More than More than ~ More than
Within 1 Year 2 Years Within 1 Year 2 Years
1 Year but but Carrying 1 Year but but Carrying
oron lessthan less than amount at oron less than less than amount at
demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 December demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 December
$/000 $/000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
Secured bank loans 1,218,858 - 1,218,858 LREEE 1000834 1,229,170 2,901,389 5,131,393 4,158,891
Senior notes 203,962 2,501,531 2,705,493 2,364,347 203880 203880 2,500,531 2,908,291 2,387,010
Finance lease liabiliies - - - - 143,480 184,669 - 328,149 307,041
Trade and other payables
(excluding prepayments
from customers) 2,032,850 2,032,850 PX PRI 7,633,335 - — 7,633,335 7,633,335
3,455,670 2,501,531 5,957,201 CRELNEDE 8981520 1,617,719 5401920 16,001,168 14,436,277
The Company
2014 2013
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
More than  More than More than ~ More than
Within 1 Year 2 Years Within 1 Year 2 Years
1 Year but but Carrying 1 Year but but Carrying
oron lessthan less than amount at oron lessthan  less than amount at
demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 December demand 2 years 5 years Total 31 December
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000 $000
Senior notes 203,962 2,501,531 2,705,493 2,364,347 203880 203880 2,500,531 2,908,291 2,387,010
Trade and other payables
(excluding prepayments
from customers) 1,332,342 1,332,342 ARKPRIPE 1,032,413 - - 1232418 1,232,413
1,536,304 2,501,531 4,037,835 3,696,689 KL 203,880 2,500,531 4,140,704 3,569,423
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s
borrowings at the end of the reporting period.

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
Interest Interest Interest Interest
rate rate rate rate
% % % %

Fixed rate

borrowings:
Finance lease
obligations - - 4.3%-6.5% 307,041 - - -
Bank loans 1.53%-5.50% 820,111 RIELIERIE 647,221 - - -

Senior notes 10% 2,364,347 10% 2,337,010 2,364,347 2,337,010

3,184,458 3,291,272 2,364,347 2,337,010

Variable rate borrowings:
Bank loans PRI I TN 2.37%-7.68% 3,511,670

371,778 3,611,670

Total borrowings 3,556,236 6,802,942 2,364,347 2,337,010

Fixed rate borrowings
as a percentage of

total borrowings 89.54% 48.38% 100%
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates
for non-derivative financial instruments at the end of the reporting period. For variable-rate
borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the borrowings outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2013.

At 31 December 2014, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 25 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the
Group’s loss after tax and accumulated loss by approximately $697,000 (2013: $12,756,000).
Other components of consolidated equity would have no change in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales, purchases and borrowings which
give rise to payables, cash balances and bank loans that are denominated in a foreign currency,
i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate.
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars and Renminbi. The Group
manages this risk as follows:

(i) Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of trade receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies, the Group
ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances. Most of the
Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currency of the entity taking out the
loan. Given this, management does not expect that there will be any significant currency risk
associated with the Group’s borrowings.
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using
the spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

The Group
Exposure to foreign currency (expressed in HK$)
2014 2013
CA$ Us$ RMB SGD HK$ CA$ US$ RMB SGD HKS
$'000 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash and cash equivalents - 112,663 1,984 3,955 754 38,360 373,232 7,354 3,729
Trade and other receivables 23 1,654,508 1,135,008 704 12,204 618,434 3,757,932 629 259
Trade and other payables (24) (1,804,854) (1,069,923) (3)] (112,933)  (1,485,630) (4,390,857) (3,622) (1,935)
Bank loans - (540,287) - - — (485,654 — - —
Net exposure arising from
recognised assets and
liabilities (1)  (677,970) 67,069 4,578 (99,975) (1,314,490)  (259,693) 4,361 2,063

The Company

Exposure to foreign currency (expressed in HK$)

Cash and cash equivalents

Net exposure arising from
recognised assets and
liabilities

2014 2013

MOP$ HK$ RMB MOP$ HK$ RMB

$°000 $000 $000 $000 $°000 $000
— 3,075 4,469
— 3,075 4,469
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s loss after tax (and
accumulated loss) and other components of consolidated equity that would arise if foreign
exchange rate to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United States dollar
would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United States

dollar against other currencies.

The Group
2014 2013
(Increase)/ (Increase)/
Increase/ decrease Increase/ decrease
(decrease) in loss (decrease) in loss
in foreign after tax and in foreign  after tax and
exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated
rate loss rate loss
$°000 $°000 $'000 $’000
CA$ 5% (8,749)
5)% 3,749
us$ 5% (49,293)
(5)% 49,293
RMB 5% (9,738)
5)% 9,738
SGD 5% 164
5)% (164)
HK$ 5% 77
(5)% (77)
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Company

2014 2013
Decrease/ Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) (increase)
(decrease) in loss Increase/ in loss
in foreign after tax and (decrease)  after tax and
exchange accumulated in foreign  accumulated
rate loss exchange rate loss
$°000 $°000 $°000 $'000

RMB 5% 223
5)% (223)
HK$ 5% 154
5)% (154)
MOP$ 5% -
(5)% —

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ loss/profit after tax and equity measured
in the respective functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis excludes differences that would
result from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2013.
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of

the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs

are inputs for which market data are not available.

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)
() Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

2014

The Group
Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2014 categorised into
Fair value at
31 December
2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$000 $000 $000 $000

Recurring fair value measurement
Financial assets:
Derivative financial instruments
— Forward foreign exchange contracts 13,957 13,957
— Other derivative 17,523 17,523

Financial liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments
— Forward foreign exchange contracts

2013

The Group
Fair value measurements
as at 31 December 2013 categorised into

Fair value at
31 December
2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Recurring fair value measurement
Financial assets:
Derivative financial instruments
—Forward foreign exchange contracts 11,600 — 11,600 —
Financial liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments
—Forward foreign exchange contracts 45,405 — 45,405 —
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37 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2014, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts in Level 2 is determined by discounting the
contractual forward price and deducting the current spot rate. The discount rate used is
derived from the relevant government yield curve as at the end of the reporting period plus an
adequate constant credit spread.

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 December 2014 and 2013 except for the Senior Notes (see note 29) and amounts
due from/to subsidiaries which are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment (see notes 19 and 33). Given the terms of amounts due from/to subsidiaries, it is
not meaningful to disclose their fair values.

The Group and the Company

2014 2013
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
$°000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Senior Notes

2,364,347 959,814 2,337,010 1,331,209
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38 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that:
. are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position; or

. are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar
financial instruments, irrespective of whether they are offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group entered into several Bank Notes Pool and offsetting agreements with commercial banks in
domestic China. Under such agreements, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the bills
receivables and restricted bank deposits generated from the collection of those bills receivable with
the Group’s bank loans, and the Group and the commercial banks will settle the amount of the bills
receivables and restricted bank deposits and the bank loans on a net basis.

In addition to the arrangements as mentioned above, the Group also entered into several loan and
offsetting agreements with commercial banks in domestic China with an offset over the Group’s restricted
bank deposits and bank loans. Under such agreements, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off the restricted bank deposits with the bank loans, and the Group and the commercial banks will settle
the difference between the amount of the restricted bank deposits and the bank loans on a net basis.

218 Annual Report 2014

- TA-130 -



APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

POPOeDO

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

38 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements
or similar agreements

Gross amounts
of recognised
financial Net amounts of
liabilities financial assets
offset in presented in
Gross amounts the statement the statement

of recognised of financial of financial
financial assets position position
$’000 $’000 $’000

As at 31 December 2014
Trade and other receivables - -
Restricted bank deposits 1,033,390 (1,023,066)

1,033,390 (1,023,066)

As at 31 December 2013

Trade and other receivables 194,303 (185,761) 8,542
Restricted bank deposits 4,355,101 (4,227,962) 127,139
4,549,404 (4,413,723) 135,681

There are no financial instruments or financial collateral received in connection with the above
offsetting arrangements.
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38 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements or similar agreements

Gross amounts Net amounts

of recognised of financial

financial assets liabilities

Gross amounts offset in presented in
of recognised the statement the statement
financial of financial of financial
liabilities position position

$’000 $’000 $’000

As at 31 December 2014
Secured bank loans 1,023,066 (1,023,066)

As at 31 December 2013
Secured bank loans 4,413,723 (4,413,723) —

There are no financial instruments or financial collateral pledged in connection with the above
offsetting arrangements.
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38 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

The tables below reconcile the “net amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities presented in the

statement of financial position”, as set out above, to the “trade and other receivables”, “restricted bank
deposits” and “secured bank loans” presented in the statement of financial position.

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $’'000

Net amount of trade and other receivables after offsetting
as stated above - 8,542
Trade and other receivables not in scope of offsetting disclosure 2,060,940 4,607,682

Total trade and other receivables 2,060,940 4,616,224

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $'000

Net amount of restricted bank deposits after offsetting
as stated above 10,324 127,139
Restricted bank deposits not in scope of offsetting disclosure 945,753 2,022,887

Total restricted bank deposits 956,077 2,150,026
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38 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)
At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$’°000 $°000

Net amount of secured bank loans after offsetting
as stated above - —
Secured bank loans not in scope of offsetting disclosure 1,191,889 4,158,891

Total secured bank loans 1,191,889 4,158,891

39 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following material related party transactions during the year.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Key management personnel are those persons holding positions with authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the
Group’s directors.
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in note 10, and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 11, is as

follows:

2014 2013

55,816
344

Short-term employee benefits

Equity compensation benefits

The remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 8(b)).
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39 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Material related party transactions

During the year, the Group entered into the following material related party transactions:

2014 2013
$°000

Sales of products to a related party 735,326 201,659
Purchase of products from a related party 486,956 330,499
Rental expense for lease of properties from related parties 7,751 7,677

The directors of the Group is of the opinion that the above related party transactions were
conducted on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the agreements governing such
transactions.

Related party balances

The outstanding balances arising from above transactions at consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

2014 2013

7,144

Amounts due from related parties
Amounts due to related parties

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected transactions
The related party transactions above constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter

14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section headed “Directors’ interests in contracts and
continuing connected transactions” of the Reports of the directors.
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40 COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2014 not provided for in the financial statements
are as follows:

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $°000

Contracted for 213,096
Authorised but not contracted for -

213,096

Capital commitments of the Group are mainly for construction of property, plant and equipment
including logistics parks (coal transportation and storage facilities).

(b) At 31 December 2014, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases are payable as follows:

At At
31 December 31 December
2014 2013

$°000 $°000

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years

27,465
21,646

After 5 years 1,526

The Group leases buildings and others under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 1 to 4 years, with an option to renew when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.
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41 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES — GUARANTEES

The Company’s existing subsidiaries, other than those established/incorporated under the laws of the
PRC, Winsway Coking Coal Holdings S.a.r.l.,, 0925165 B.C. Ltd., GCC and GCC LP, have provided
guarantees for the Senior Notes issued in April 2011 (see note 29).

The guarantees will be released upon the full and final payment and performance of all obligations of the
Company under the Senior Notes.

42 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2014, the directors consider the immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the
Group to be Winsway Resources Holding Limited and Winsway Group Holdings Limited respectively.
Winsway Resources Holding Limited and Winsway Group Holdings Limited are incorporated in British
Virgin Islands. These two entities do not produce financial statements available for public use.

43 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a few amendments and new
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2014 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting period
beginning on or after

Amendments to IFRS 11, Accounting for acquisitions
of interests in joint operations 1 January 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, Clarification of acceptable methods of

depreciation and amortisation 1 January 2016
IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2017
IFRS 9, Financial instruments 1 January 2018
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43 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (CONTINUED)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is
unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position other than
additional disclosures may arise.

In addition, the requirements of Part 9, “Accounts and Audit”, of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap.622) come into operation from the Company’s first financial year commencing after
3 March 2014 (i.e. the Company’s financial year which began on 1 January 2015) in accordance with
section 358 of that Ordinance. The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the expected
impact of the changes in the Companies Ordinance on the consolidated financial statements in the
period of initial application of Part 9. So far it has concluded that the impact is unlikely to be significant
and will primarily only affect the presentation and disclosure of information in the consolidated financial
statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2015 2014

Note $°000 $°000
Continuing operations:
Revenue 3 5,735,319 7,547,738
Cost of sales (5,576,764) (7,445,586)
Gross profit 158,555 102,152
Other revenue 5 2,991 81,346
Distribution costs (29,141) (159,526)
Administrative expenses (449,936) (434,511)
Other operating income/(expenses), net 6 3,239 (2,187)
Impairment of non-current assets 7(c) (1,143,254) (429,743)
Loss from operating activities (1,457,546) (842,469)
Finance income 7(a) 69,535 108,974
Finance costs 7(a) (365,034) 401,777)
Net finance costs (295,499) (292,803)
Share of profit of an associate 779 7777777777777 1,803
Loss before taxation from continuing operations (1,752,266) (1,133,469)
Income tax 3,534) (82,081)
Loss from continuing operations (1,755,800) (1,215,550)
Discontinued operation:
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax 4 (179,587) (4,681,208)
Loss for the year (1,935,387) (5,896,758)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

for the year ended 31 December 2015
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company:
Loss for the year from continuing operations
Loss for the year from discontinued operation

Loss for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests:
Loss for the year from continuing operations
Loss for the year from discontinued operation

Loss for the year attributable to
non-controlling interests

Loss for the year

Loss per share
— Basic and diluted (HKS$)

Loss per share — continuing operations
— Basic and diluted (HKS$)

~1A-140 —

2015 2014
$°000 $°000
(1,614,760) (1,200,321)
(108,232) (2,492,734)
(1,722,992) (3,693,055)
(141,040) (15,229)
(71,355) (2,188,474)

,,,,,,,,, (212,395) (2,203,703)
(1,935,387) (5,896,758)
(0.457) (0.980)

(0.429) (0.319)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2015

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2015 2014
$°000 $°000
Loss for the year (1,935,387) (5,896,758)
Other comprehensive income for the year
(after tax and reclassification adjustments):
Item that may be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation (186,611) (35,453)
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,121,998) (5,932,211)
Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company (1,907,420) (3,719,224)

Non-controlling interests (214,578) (2,212,987)
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,121,998) (5,932,211)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
at 31 December 2015
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
Note $°000 $°000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net 10 225,333 908,562
Construction in progress 11 - 160,590
Lease prepayments 502,523 551,103
Intangible assets 4,816 4,870
Interest in an associate 16,320 17,021
Interest in a joint venture - -
Other investments in equity securities 12 125,065 399,015
Other non-current assets 13 - 150,813
Total non-current assets 874,057 2,191,974

Current assets

Inventories 184,785 335,114
Trade and other receivables 14 886,434 2,060,940
Restricted bank deposits 499,104 956,077
Cash and cash equivalents 259,574 438,552
Trading securities 613 -
Assets held for sale 4 - 4,304,164
Total current assets 1,830,510 8,094,847

Current liabilities
Secured bank loans 1,073,197 1,191,889
Trade and other payables 16 756,502 2,054,615
Income tax payable 38,002 39,580
Senior notes 15 2,388,573 -
Liabilities held for sale 4 - 4,097,937
Total current liabilities - 4,256,274 7,384,021
Net current (liabilities)/assets (2,425,764) 7777777777 710826
Total assets less current liabilities (1,551,707) 2,902,800
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
at 31 December 2015
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
Note $°000 $°000
Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 27,453 -
Senior notes 15 - 2,364,347
Deferred income 144,008 155,865
Total non-current liabilittes 171,461 25202 1 2
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (1,723,168) 382,588
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 4,992,337 4,992,337
Reserves (6,583,138) (4,691,960)
Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company (1,590,801) 300,377
Non-controlling interests (132,367) 82,211
TOTAL EQUITY (1,723,168) 382,588
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Winsway Coking Coal Holdings Limited”)
(the “Company”) was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) on 17 September 2007 with
limited liability under the Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands (2004). The Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the processing and trading
of coking coal and other products and rendering of logistics services. In addition, the Group was engaged in
development of coal mills and production of coking coal, which has been classified as a discontinued
operation since the board of directors committed a plan to dispose of the relevant business on 27 June 2014.
The disposal was completed on 2 September 2015 (see note 4).

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial information for the year ended 31 December 2015 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries and the Group’s interest in an associate and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial information is the historical cost basis
except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below:

— Financial instruments classified as trading securities.
— Derivative financial instruments.
— Disposal group held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The preparation of financial information in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standard
(“IFRSs”) requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The consolidated financial information is presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from
the functional currency of the Company and its principal subsidiaries. The Company’s functional currency
is United Stated dollars (“US$”). As the Company is a listed company in Hong Kong, the directors of the
Company consider that it is appropriate to present the consolidated financial information in HKS$.

The Group experienced a challenging trading period over the past few years as a result of the continuing
depression of the coking coal market. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group sustained a further
loss from continuing operations before taxation and impairment losses for non-current assets, of
$609,012,000 and incurred a net cash outflow from operating activities of $524,899,000 from continuing
operations. As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net current liabilities of $2,425,764,000 and net
liabilities of $1,723,168,000.

In addition, the Group did not make the scheduled interest payments of US$13.15 million in relation to the
Senior Notes (see note 15) which fell due on each of 8 April 2015 and 8 October 2015, respectively
(“Interest Payment”). The Group’s outstanding Senior Notes amounting to $2,388,573,000 as at 31
December 2015 went into default after the 30-day grace period expired on 8 May 2015 for making the
Interest Payment under the terms of the indenture dated 8 April 2011, as amended and supplemented, in
relation to the Senior Notes. A committee of the holders of the Senior Notes (“Bondholders”)
(“Bondholder Group”) was formed for the purposes of facilitating discussions between the Bondholders
and the Group about restructuring of the Senior Notes and an independent financial advisor, Houlihan
Lokey (China) Limited (“Houlihan Lokey”), has been appointed to act as the financial advisor to the
Bondholder Group and Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP (“Akin Gump”) was appointed as legal
adviser to the Bondholder Group.

In view of such circumstances, the directors have given careful consideration to future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will be able
to repay the outstanding Senior Notes and be able to finance its future working capital and financial
requirements. Certain measures have been taken to manage its liquidity needs and to improve its financial
position which include, but are not limited to, the following:

(1) On 25 November 2015, the Company, certain of its subsidiaries and certain of the Bondholders entered
into a restructuring support agreement (“Restructuring Support Agreement”), pursuant to which
such Bondholders have agreed to support the proposed restructuring of the outstanding Senior Notes
(“Debt Restructuring”) to be implemented through schemes of arrangement under section 179A of
the Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands (2004) (“BVI Scheme”) and sections 673
and 674 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (as amended) as applicable in Hong Kong (“Hong
Kong Scheme”) (collectively “Schemes”).

The proposed Debt Restructuring will consist of a redemption of the outstanding Senior Notes and
Interest Payments and all accrued, scheduled interest payments up to the date of the settlement at a
discount, with Bondholders accepting a combination of (i) cash consideration of US$50 million minus
a consent fee in a total amount equal to 2% of the outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid
interest in respect of the Senior Notes as at the date of the Restructuring Support Agreement
(“Consent Fee”), and a success fee payable to Houlihan Lokey (“Cash Consideration”); (ii) new
ordinary shares of the Company proposed to be provisionally allotted and issued to the Bondholders
which shall represent not less than 18.75% of the total issued shares on a fully diluted basis upon
completion of the Debt Restructuring (“Scheme Shares”); and (iii) certain contingent value rights
(“CVRs”) which would give rise to a one-off payment of US$10 million to the Bondholders upon the
occurrence of a triggering event that is the Company’s adjusted profit before taxation in any of the 5
years from the issue date of the CVRs exceeding US$100 million.
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The Schemes are subject to the approval of a majority in number representing at least 75% in value of
the Bondholders present and voting (either in person or by proxy) at the meetings of the Bondholders
in relation to the Hong Kong Scheme, as convened by order of the High Court of Hong Kong (“Hong
Kong Court”) for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, approving the Hong Kong Scheme or
in relation to the BVI Scheme, as convened by order of the Commercial Court of the BVI (“BVI
Court”) for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, approving the BVI Scheme (“Scheme
Meetings”).

In addition, the Schemes are subject to the sanction by the BVI Court and the Hong Kong Court.

The Cash Consideration as well as the Consent Fee and the success fee of Houlihan Lokey are
expected to be funded by the proceeds of a possible rights issue to raise proceeds of approximately
US$50 million (“Rights Issue”).

Completion of the Debt Restructuring will be conditional on, amongst other things, completion of the
Rights Issue and the receipt by the Company of US$50 million from the Rights Issue.

On 11 March 2016, Famous Speech Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
(“Famous Speech”), Mr. Wang, being the controlling shareholder, and his directly or indirectly
wholly owned companies, which together own approximately 40.24% of the existing issued shares of
the Company (“Controlling Shareholder Group”), and the Company entered into an underwriting
agreement, pursuant to which Famous Speech has conditionally agreed to subscribe for all new shares
proposed to be provisionally allotted and issued to the qualifying shareholders for subscription
pursuant to the Rights Issue at the subscription price of the Rights Issue (“Underwriting
Agreement”).

Mr. Wang is beneficially interested in an aggregate of 1,518,250,109 ordinary shares of the Company
(“Shares”), representing approximately 40.24% of the total issued Shares of the Company. Famous
Speech is wholly owned by Amy Wang, the daughter of Mr. Wang, and upon completion of a share
subscription agreement (“Shares Subscription Agreement”) between, among others, Amy Wang and
Magnificent Gardenia Limited, a company ultimately majority owned by China Minmetals
Corporation, a state-owned enterprises incorporated in the PRC (“Magnificent Gardenia”), Famous
Speech will be owned as to 73.3% and 26.7% by Amy Wang and Magnificent Gardenia, respectively.
Assuming no take up of new shares by other qualifying shareholders, the fulfillment by Famous
Speech of its underwriting commitment would result in an obligation to make a mandatory general
offer by Famous Speech and parties acting in concert with it for all the issued Shares (other than those
already owned or agreed to be acquired by them) under Rule 26.1 of the Hong Kong Code on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs (“Takeovers Code”), unless a waiver (“Whitewash
Waiver”) from strict compliance with Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code is granted by the Executive
Director of the Corporate Finance Division of the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong,
or any delegate of the Executive Director (“SFC Executive”). Mr. Wang, the Controlling Shareholder
Group, Amy Wang are acting in concert with Famous Speech and Magnificent Gardenia Limited is
acting in concert with Famous Speech under the Takeovers Code. An application will be made by
Famous Speech to the SFC Executive for the granting of the Whitewash Waiver.

To the best knowledge of the Company, certain Bondholders holding an aggregate principal amount of
US$1,280,000 (representing approximately 0.41% of the outstanding Senior Notes) also hold
28,802,000 Shares in total (representing approximately 0.76% of the total issued Shares) as of the date
hereof. The payment of the Consent Fee and the distribution of the Scheme Consideration to
Bondholders is not capable of being extended to all Shareholders will constitute a special deal
(“Special Deal”) under note 5 to Rule 25 of the Takeovers Code. The Special Deal will require the
consent of the SFC Executive to proceed.
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The Whitewash Waiver and consent for the Special Deal, if granted by the SFC Executive, would be
subject to, among other things, the approval of the shareholders other than (i) Mr. Wang and his
concert parties; (ii) those who are involved or interested in the Rights Issue, the Underwriting
Agreement, the Special Deal and/or the Whitewash Waiver; and (iii) Bondholders who are also
shareholders of the Company (“Independent Shareholders™) at an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company (“EGM”) by way of poll.

Completion of the Rights Issue will be conditional on, amongst other things, the Schemes being
sanctioned and all conditions precedent to the Schemes having been satisfied or as applicable, waived,
other than the completion of the Rights Issue.

(2) The Group is also negotiating with various financial institutions for renewal of the existing borrowings
upon their maturity and/or obtaining additional financing.

(3) The Group is also maximising its sales efforts, including speeding up sales of its existing inventories,
seeking new orders from overseas markets, and implementing more stringent cost control measures
with a view to improving operating cash flows.

Whilst the Group is taking measures to preserve cash and secure additional finance, the following
material uncertainties exist:

(a) The Schemes may not be approved by a majority in number representing at least 75% in value of
the Bondholders present and voting (either in person or by proxy) at the Scheme Meetings.

(b) The Group may not be able to obtain from the shareholders of the Company all necessary
shareholders’ approvals and consents in respect of the Debt Restructuring.

(c) The Hong Kong Court or the BVI Court may decline to sanction the Schemes.

(d) The Whitewash Waiver and consent for the Special Deal may not be granted by the SFC
Executive or approved by the Independent Shareholders at the EGM.

(e) The Group may not be able to obtain from the shareholders of the Company all necessary
shareholders’ approvals and consents in respect of the Rights Issue.

If any of the matters mentioned in (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) is the case, the Rights Issue and Debt
Restructuring will not proceed.

(f) The Group may not be able to obtain support from its lenders. The Group’s ability to successfully
negotiate with its lenders to renew existing borrowings and/or obtain additional financing is
dependent upon the completion of the proposed Debt Restructuring and the future trading results
of the Group.

(g) The operation plans may not be successfully implemented and future trading results and cash
flows in respect of operating activities may not be in line with the assumptions. The achievability
of the plans is dependent upon the market environment, which is expected to remain challenging
in the coming years.

These facts and circumstances indicate the existence of multiple material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

~10 -
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The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared by management. The cash
flow projections cover a period of not less than twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
They are of the opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group
would have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the financial information
for the year ended 31 December 2015 on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the financial
information.

(4) Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following amendments to IFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

. Amendments to IFRS 19, Employee benefits: Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions
. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the new or amended IFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to IFRS 19, Employee benefits: Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions

The amendments introduce a relief to reduce the complexity of accounting for certain contributions
from employees or third parties under defined benefit plans. When the contributions are eligible for
the practical expedient provided by the amendments, a company is allowed to recognise the
contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the period in which the related service is rendered,
instead of including them in calculating the defined benefit obligation. The amendments do not have
an impact on these financial information as the Group does not operate defined benefit plans.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle

These two cycles of annual improvements contain amendments to nine standards with consequential
amendments to other standards. Among them, IAS 24, Related party disclosures has been amended to
expand the definition of a “related party” to include a management entity that provides key
management personnel services to the reporting entity, and to require the disclosure of the amounts
incurred for obtaining the key management personnel services provided by the management entity.
These amendments do not have an impact on the Group’s related party disclosures as the Group does
not obtain key management personnel services from management entities.

11 -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

()

(i)

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the processing and trading of coking coal and other products and
the rendering of logistics services. Revenue represents the sales value of goods sold, net of value
added tax and other sales taxes and is after any trade discounts, and revenue from rendering of
logistics services. The amount of each significant category of revenue is as follows:

Continuing operations

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Coking coal 5,132,256 7,035,543
Thermal coal 84,746 365,922
Coke 93,543 10,219
Coal related products 17,519 37,457
Petrochemical products 307,562 -
Rendering of logistics services 94,000 91,132
Others 5,693 7,465
5,735,319 7,547,738

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes one customer (2014: nil) with whom
transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group revenues.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by a mixture of both business
lines and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following three reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

. Processing and trading of coking coal and other products: this segment manages and operates
coal processing plants and generates income from processing and trading of coking coal and
other products to external customers.

. Development of coal mills and production of coking coal and related products (classified as a
discontinued operation (see note 4)): this segment acquires, explores and develops coal mills and
produces coal from the mills. On 1 March 2012, the Group acquired Grande Cache Coal
Corporation (“GCC”), a Canadian company developing coal mills and producing coking coal and
related products from the mills. On 14 November 2014, the Group, Up Energy Resources
Company Limited (the “Purchaser”) and Up Energy Development Group Limited (the
“Purchaser Guarantor”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which the
Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Group has conditionally agreed to sell
42.74% equity interest in GCC and GCC LP at cash consideration of US$1. Upon the disposal
completed on 2 September 2015, GCC and GCC LP have ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company (see note 9).

. Logistics services: this segment constructs, manages and operates logistics parks and generates
income from rendering of logistics services to external customers within the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”).

—12 -
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(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between segments,
the Group’s most senior executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets and current assets with the exception
of interests in an associate. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables, obligations
under finance lease, provisions, deferred income and bank and other borrowings managed
directly by the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated
by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from
the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments. However, other than
reporting inter-segment sales of coal products and logistics services, assistance provided by one
segment to another, including sharing of assets and technical know-how, is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is “adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted (loss)/
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is regarded as
including investment income and “depreciation and amortisation” is regarded as including
impairment losses on non-current assets.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted EBITDA, management is
provided with segment information concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest
income and expense from cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the segments,
depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is set out below.

Development of coal mills
Processing and trading of ~ and production of coking

coking coal and coal and related products
other products (Discontinued operation) Logistics services Total
2015 2014 015 2014 2015 2014 015 2014

$000 $:000 $000 $°000 $000 $°000 $000 $°000

Revenue from external customers 5,641,319 7,456,606 249,675 1,080,419 94,000 91,132 5984994 8,608,157
Inter-segment revenue - - 54,312 205,665 750 10,587 55,122 216,252
Reportable segment revenue 5,641,319 7,456,606 304,047 1,286,084 94,750 101,719 6,040,116 8,844,409
Reportable segment (loss)/profit

(adjusted EBITDA) (259,022) (318,465) (86,609) 170,555 2,345 13,386 (343,546) (134,524)
Interest income 46,744 8414 438 1,015 6 13 47,188 79442
Interest expense (271,628) (327,725) (172,326) (230,406) (15,712) (18,884) (459,666) (577,015)
Depreciation and amortisation (45,158) (85,624) - (245,905) (12,257) (22,023) (57415) (353,552)
Impairment of non-current assets (660,725) (429,743) - - (482,529) - (1,143,254 (429,743)
Adjustments of carrying value of GCC LP's net

assets to fair value less costs to sell - - 1,793 (5,149,897 - - 1,793 (5,149,897)
Share of profit of an associate - - - - m 1,803 m 1,803
Reportable segment assets 2991968 5,840,771 - 4304164 161,677 614224 3153645 10,759,159
Additions to non-current segment

assets during the year 21,359 49,288 - 138,817 28,791 38,679 50,150 226,784
Reportahle segment liabilities 4,364,086 5771915 - 4,007,898 491,045 484160 4855131 10,03973
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(b)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Revenue

Reportable segment revenue

Elimination of inter-segment revenue
Reclassification of discontinued operation

Consolidated revenue from continuing operations

Loss

Reportable segment loss

Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of non-current assets

Share of profit of an associate

Net finance costs

Reclassification of discontinued operation

Consolidated loss before taxation from continuing operations

Assets

Reportable segment assets

Interest in an associate

Elimination of inter-segment receivables

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities

Current income tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Elimination of inter-segment payables

Consolidated total liabilities
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2015 2014
$°000 $°000
6,040,116 8,844,409
(55,122) (216,252)
(249,675) (1,080,419)
5,735,319 7,547,738
(343,546) (134,524)
(57,415) (107,647)
(1,143,254) (429,743)
779 1,803
(295,499) (292,803)
86,669 (170,555)
(1,752,266) (1,133,469)
At At

31 December 31 December
2015 2014
$°000 $°000
3,153,645 10,759,159
16,320 17,021
(465,398) (489,359)
2,704,567 10,286,821
4,855,131 10,263,973
38,002 39,580

- 90,039
(465,398) (489,359)
4,427,735 9,904,233
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(¢) Reconciliation of development of coal mills and production of coking coal and related products
segment (discontinued operation)results

2015 2014
Note $°000 $°000
Development of coal mills and production of
coking coal and related products segment
(loss)/profit (adjusted EBITDA) (86,669) 170,555
Net finance costs for the segment (206,457) (245,937)
Depreciation and amortisation for the segment - (245,905)
Adjustment of carrying value of GCC LP’s net
assets to fair value less costs to sell 11,793 (5,149,897)

(281,333) (5,471,184)
Income tax in respect of operating activities of

GCCLP 4(e) 91,808 17,491
Income tax in respect of adjustments of

GCC LP’s net assets 4(e) (1,769) 772,485
Loss for the year (191,294) (4,681,208)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation 4(e) 11,707 -
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax (179,587) 4,681,208

(d) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers and (ii) the Group’s non-current assets (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which the services
were provided or the goods delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment,
the location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets, and the
location of operations, in the case of interests in an associate.

Revenues from
external customers

2015 2014
$°000 $°000
The PRC (including Hong Kong and Macau) 5,265,035 7,405,629
Canada 249,675 1,080,419
Korea 347,409 106,053
Japan 122,875 -
Australia - 36,056

Development of coal mills and production of coking coal
and related products (discontinued operation in Canada) (249,675) (1,080,419)
5,735,319 7,547,738
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Specified non-current assets

At At

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

The PRC (including Hong Kong and Macau) 873,668 2,064,229
Other countries 389 127,745
874,057 2,191,974

4  DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 27 June 2014, the board of directors of the Company resolved to commit to a plan to sell part or all of
the Company’s interest in GCC LP to a level at which the Company would cease to hold a majority or
controlling interest. Accordingly, GCC LP has been presented as a discontinued operation in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the assets and liabilities of GCC LP have been classified as a
disposal group held for sale since 27 June 2014.

On 14 November 2014, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Up Energy Resources
Company Limited (the “Purchaser”) and Up Energy Development Group Limited (the “Purchaser
Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Group has
conditionally agreed to sell 42.74% equity interest in Grande Cache Coal Corporation (“GCC”, a subsidiary
of the Group without material businesses except for as the general partner holding 0.01% interest in GCC
LP) and GCC LP at cash consideration of US$1 (the “Disposal”).

On 2 September 2015, all the conditions precedent to the completion of the Disposal were either satisfied or
waived pursuant to the aforementioned sale and purchase agreement, with a total consideration of US$1.
Following the completion of the Disposal, GCC and GCC LP have ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company.

(a) Impairment loss relating to the disposal group
During the year ended 31 December 2014, an impairment loss of $5,149,897,000 for write-downs of
the disposal group to the lower of its carrying amount and its fair value less costs to sell has been

charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the current period. The impairment loss has
been applied to reduce the carrying amount of intangible assets within the disposal group.

~16 -

- TA-153 -




APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

(b) Assets and liabilities of disposal group held for sale

As at 31 December 2014, the disposal group has been stated at fair value less costs to sell and
comprised the following assets and liabilities.

$°000
Property, plant and equipment 2,874,287
Construction in progress 36,980
Intangible assets 941,459
Inventories 222,413
Trade and other receivables 27,142
Restricted bank deposits 201,883
Cash and cash equivalents -
Assets held for sale 4,304,164
Bank and other loans” 3,278,329
Trade and other payables 308,123
Obligations under finance lease 191,701
Provisions 229,745
Deferred tax liabilities™ 90,039
Liabilities held for sale 4,097,937

On 6 September 2014, GCC LP and the Purchaser entered into a bridge loan agreement pursuant
to which the Purchaser provided a loan facility of US$50 million (equivalent to approximately
$388 million) to GCC LP. As at 31 December 2014, GCC LP has drawn down US$14 million
(equivalent to approximately $108,608,000) under the bridge loan agreement.

As at 31 December 2014, GCC LP had an overdraft of $6,496,000 in its bank accounts.

Bank loans amounting to $13,977,000 were secured by property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying amount of $15,725,000. Bank loans amounting to $3,149,248,000 are secured
by GCC LP’s total assets.

ok

During the year ended 31 December 2014, deferred tax liabilities in respect of GCC LP of
$789,976,000 ($17,491,000 in respect of GCC LP’s operating activities and $772,485,000 in
respect of write-down of GCC LP’s net assets (see note 4(e))) has been reversed. As at 31
December 2014, the remaining balance of $90,039,000 was classified as liabilities held for sale.
(¢) Cumulative income or expense included in other comprehensive income

During the year ended 31 December 2014, there is a foreign currency translation gain of $37,913,000
included in other comprehensive income relating to the disposal group.

- 17 -
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(d) Measurement of fair value

As at 31 December 2014, the Group adopts fair value less costs to sell to measure the value of the
disposal group held for sale.

(i)  Fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2014, the non-recurring fair value measurement for the disposal group of
$221,730,000 (before costs to sell of $15,503,000) has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value
based on the inputs to the valuation technique used. The fair value of the disposal group is
determined by the directors with reference to coal prices and other information provided by the
Company’s financial advisor engaged for the disposal of GCC LP.

(ii) Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

The following shows the valuation technique used during the year ended 31 December 2014, in
measuring the fair value of the disposal group, as well as the significant unobservable inputs
used.

Valuation technique: Discounted cash flows

Discounted cash flows consider the present value of the net cash flows expected to be generated
from the disposal group, taking into account the coal price assumptions and estimated production
volume; the expected net cash flows are discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

Significant unobservable inputs:

— the coal price assumptions are based on the median of forecasted prices of coals in Canada
sourced from a number of reputable investment banks as provided by Company’s financial
advisor. These prices were adjusted to arrive at appropriate consistent price assumptions for
the different qualities and type of coal. For short-term coal price assumptions for the next
five years, US$103 to US$141 per tonne and US$55 per tonne for hard coking coal and
thermal coal respectively have been used to estimate future revenues. For coal prices
beyond the fifth year, US$145 and US$55 per tonne for hard coking coal and thermal coal
respectively have been used to estimate future revenues.

— estimated production volumes are based on detailed life-of-mine plans derived from
technical report prepared by competent persons. Production volumes are dependent on a
number of variables, such as the recoverable quantities, the production profile, the cost of
the development of the infrastructure necessary to extract the reserves, the production costs,
the contractual duration of mining rights and the selling price of the coal extracted. These
are then assessed to ensure they are consistent with what a market participant would
estimate.

—  pre-tax discount rate of 11.16% was applied to the future cash flows. This discount rate is
derived from the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) with reference to the required
rate of return demanded by investors for similar companies. The WACC takes into account
both debt and equity, weighted based on ratio of debt to equity of 42%. The cost of equity
is derived from the required return on similar coking coal companies of 12.49%. The cost of
debt is based on the market long-term lending rate of 8.00%.
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(e) Results of discontinued operation

2015 2014
$°000 $°000
Results of discontinued operation
Revenue 249,675 1,080,419
Expenses (542,801) (1,401,706)
Results from operating activities (293,126) (321,287)
Income tax 91,808 17,491
Results from operating activities, net of tax (201,318) (303,796)
Adjustment of carrying value of GCC LP’s net assets to
fair value less costs to sell 11,793 (5,149,897)
Income tax in respect of adjustments of GCC LP’s net assets (1,769) 772,485
Loss for the year (191,294) (4,681,208)
Gain on disposal of GCC and GCC LP (note 9) 11,707 -
Loss from discontinued operation (note 9) (179,587) (4,681,208)
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company (108,232) (2,492,734)
Non-controlling interests (71,355) (2,188,474)
(179,587) (4,681,208)
Loss per share
Basic and diluted (HK$) (0.028) (0.661)
(f) Cash generated from/(used in) discontinued operation
2015 2014
$°000 $°000
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (59,214) 209,995
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 3,935 (231,353)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 64,479 (7,801)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) for the year 9,200 (29,159)

19—

- TA-156 -




APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

5 OTHER REVENUE

2015 2014

Note $°000 $7000

Penalty income from an iron ore customer (i) - 70,977
Government grants 2,991 9,222
Others - 1,147
2,991 81,346

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group has recognised a penalty income of $70,977,000
from a third party iron ore customer in relation to its failure to settle the procurement from the Group
within agreed period in accordance with relevant sales contract.

6  OTHER OPERATING INCOME/(EXPENSES),NET

2015 2014
$°000 $°000

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets 4,268 (291)
Net realised and unrealised loss on trading securities (1,742) -
Others 713 (1,896)
3,239 (2,187)

7  LOSS BEFORE TAXATION FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Loss before taxation from continuing operations is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:

(a) Net finance costs

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Interest income (46,750) (78,427)
Fair value change of embedded derivative financial instruments (22,785) (30,547)
Finance income (69,535) (108,974)
Interest on secured bank loans 49,913 72,127
Interest on discounted bills 7,231 44,176
Interest on senior notes (see note 15) 230,196 230,306
Total interest expense 287,340 346,609
Bank charges 4,030 35,029
Foreign exchange loss, net 73,664 20,139
Finance costs 365,034 401,777
Net finance costs 295,499 292,803
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(b) Staff costs

2015 2014
$°000 $°000
Salaries, wages, bonus and other benefits 104,300 148,255
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 7,080 8,712
Equity settled share-based payment expenses 4,535 10,377
115,915 167,344
(c) Other items
2015 2014
$°000 $°000
Amortisation”
— leased assets 11,062 11,718
— intangible assets 830 763
Depreciation” 45,523 95,166
Provision for impairment losses on
trade and other receivables (note 14(b)) 2,344 56,526
other receivables (note 14(d)) 150,158 11,210
Impairment losses
— property, plant and equipment (note 10) 596,107 232,891
— construction in progress (note 11) 153,995 189,444
— other investments in equity securities (note 12) 250,656 -
— loan to a third party (note 13(i)) 120,189 -
— prepayment related to property, plant and equipment
(note 13(ii)) 22,307 7,408
Operating lease charges, mainly relating to buildings 9,930 18,848
Auditors’ remuneration
— audit services 6,342 6,945
— tax services 20 42
Cost of inventories 5,514,991 7,353,279

# Cost of inventories includes $4,177,000 (2014: $6,444,000) and $6,786,000 (2014: $8,539,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2015 relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation which
amount is also included in the respective total amount disclosed separately above or in note 7(b)
for each type of these expenses.
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8

LOSS PER SHARE

(i) From continuing operations and discontinued operation

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on loss attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of $1,722,992,000 (2014: $3,693,055,000) and the weighted
average of 3,767,018,000 ordinary shares (2014: 3,767,018,000 shares) in issue during the year,
calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic):

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 3,773,199 3,773,199

Effect of shares held by the employee share trusts” (6,181) (6,181)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)

as at 31 December 3,767,018 3,767,018

* The shares held by the employee share trusts are regarded as treasury shares.
Diluted loss per share

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, basic and diluted loss per share are the same as
the effect of the potential ordinary shares outstanding is anti-dilutive.

(ii) From continuing operations

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operations for the year ended 31
December 2015 is based on the loss from continuing operations attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of $1,614,760,000 (2014: $1,200,321,000) and the weighted
average of 3,767,018,000 ordinary shares (2014: 3,767,018,000 shares) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, basic and diluted loss per share from continuing
operations are the same as the effect of the potential ordinary shares outstanding is anti-dilutive.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Upon the completion of the Disposal on 2 September 2015 (see note 4), GCC and GCC LP have ceased to
be subsidiaries of the Group and the Company indirectly held equity interests of 14.69% and 14.685% in
GCC and GCC LP respectively, which reflected the adjustment to the ownership of GCC and GCC LP made
in accordance with the respective obligations of Marubeni and the Company to make capital contribution
under an Amended and Restricted Unanimons Shareholder Agreement. Accordingly, fair value of the
remaining 14.69% and 14.685% equity interest in GCC and GCC LP respectively had been accounted for as
other investments in equity securities of $nil in the consolidated financial information.
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(i) Consideration received
Cash consideration of US$1 has been received at the date of Disposal.

(ii) The assets and liabilities of GCC and GCC LP at the date of Disposal were as follows:

$°000

Property, plant and equipment 2,857,757
Construction in progress 30,808
Intangible assets 947,328
Inventories 115,022
Trade and other receivables 49,913
Restricted bank deposits 177,226
Cash and cash equivalents 10,423
4,188,477

Bank and other loans* 3,564,782
Trade and other payables 287,853
Obligations under finance lease 120,065
Provisions 215,777
4,188,477

Net assets disposed of -

* On 6 September 2014, GCC LP and the Purchaser entered into a bridge loan agreement pursuant
to which the Purchaser provided a loan facility of US$50 million (equivalent to approximately
$388 million) to GCC LP. As at 2 September 2015, GCC LP had accumulatively drawn down
US$50 million (equivalent to approximately $387,535,000) under the bridge loan agreement.

(iii) Gain on disposal of GCC and GCC LP
$°000
Consideration received -
Net assets disposed of -
Non-controlling interests -
Cumulative exchanges difference in respect of the net assets of GCC and GCC LP

reclassified from equity to profit or loss on lost of control of GCC and GCC LP 11,707
Fair value of the remaining interest in GCC and GCC LP -

Gain on disposal 11,707

(iv) Net cash outflow on disposal of GCC and GCC LP

$°000
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents -
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of 10,423
Net cash outflow on disposal 10,423
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

Office and
Plant and Railway other
Buildings ~ machinery Mineral assets ~special assets Motor vehicles  equipment Total
§7000 $°000 $°000 $:000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Cost:
At 1 January 2014 991,755 2,667,583 1,571,064 318,959 169,673 67,107 5,786,141
Additions 122 1,481 5,854 - 6,523 1917 15,897
Transferred from construction
in progress (note 11) 51,044 91,681 229,057 114 - 704 372,600
Disposals (489) (5,932) - - (7,181) (2,687) (16,289)
Reclassified to disposal group
held for sale (note 4) (190217)  (2,408,672)  (1,805,534) - - - (4,404,423)
Exchange adjustments (3,976) (2,978) (441) (1,079) (641) (363) (9.478)
At 31 December 2014 848,239 343,163 - 317,994 168,374 66,678 1,744,448
At 1 January 2015 848,239 343,163 - 317,99 168,374 66,078 1,744,448
Additions - 240 - - 1,273 1,860 3373
Transferred from construction
in progress (note 11) 17,304 1,625 - - - 0647 19,576
Disposals - (617) - - (23,411) (2,722) (26,750)
Exchange adjustments (52,360) (16,056) - (18,564) (7,683) (3,422) (98,085)
At 31 December 2015 813,183 328,355 - 299,430 138,553 63,041 1,642,562
Office and
Plant and Railway other
Buildings machinery Mineral assets ~ special assets Motor vehicles  equipment Total
$000 $°000 $000 $000 $°000 $000 $000
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses:
At 1 January 2014 158,897 1,120,093 501,798 16,327 92,767 44,004 1,933,906
Charge for the year 44633 85,306 125,121 8,844 30,239 10,148 304,291
Impairment loss 173,763 59,128 - - - - 232,801
Written back on disposal - (3,740 - - (4,705) (2,606) (11,111)
Reclassified to disposal group
held for sale (note 4) (50,160) (945,383) (626,682) - - - (1,622,225)
Exchange adjustments (401) (755) (237) 21) (277) (175) (1,866)
At 31 December 2014 326,732 314,649 - 25,150 118,024 51,331 835,886
At 1 January 2015 326,732 314,649 - 25,150 118,024 51,331 835,886
Charge for the year 13,870 2,728 - 4545 19,201 5179 45,523
Impairment loss 318,719 6,982 - 259,812 7,069 3,525 596,107
Written back on disposal - ) - - (18,751) (2,212) (20,968)
Exchange adjustments (11,353) (18,201) - (1,833) (5,140) (2,792) (39,319)
At 31 December 2015 647,968 306,153 - 287,674 120,403 55,031 1,417,229
Net book value:
At 31 December 2015 165,215 22,202 - 11,756 18,150 8,010 225,333
At 31 December 2014 521,507 28514 - 292,844 50,350 15,347 908,562
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At 31 December 2015, property, plant and equipment with an aggregate carrying value of
$173,895,000 (2014: $82,032,000) have been pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings.

Impairment loss

An impairment loss of $596,107,000 (2014: $232,891,000) for property, plant and equipment in
respect of the Group’s coal processing factories and logistic facilities in the PRC has been charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the current year due to the unfavourable future
prospects of the coking coal business and production suspension or low utilisation of the coal
processing factories and logistic facilities. The impairment loss has been provided based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial forecasts prepared by
management covering a five-year period. The cash flows are discounted using a discount rate of
12.36% (2014: 13.29%). The discount rate used reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segments.

(b) The analysis of net book value of properties

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

The PRC (including Hong Kong and Macau) 224,944 908,004
Other countries 389 558
Aggregate net book value 225,333 908,562

As at 31 December 2015, the Group was in the process of applying for the ownership certificate for
certain buildings with an aggregate net book value amounting to $326,000 (2014: $114,062,000). The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy
and use of the above mentioned buildings.

11 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

At 1 January 160,590 558,486
Additions 46,776 187,747
Transferred to property, plant and equipment (note 10) (19,576) (372,600)
Disposals (22,996) (455)
Impairment (153,995) (189,444)
Reclassified to disposal group held for sale (note 4) - (20,686)
Exchange adjustments (10,799) (2,458)
At 31 December - 160,590

Impairment loss
An impairment loss of $153,995,000 (2014: $189,444,000) for construction in progress in respect of certain
logistics and coal processing projects under construction in the PRC has been charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss for the current year since the directors determined to abandon these projects
given unfavourable future prospects of the coking coal business in 2015.
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12 OTHER INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Other investments in equity securities 375,721 399,015
Less: impairment losses (250,656) -
125,065 399,015

Other investments in equity securities represent the Group’s equity interests in third party companies
engaged in coal mining, railway logistics, ports management and coal storage business. As at 31 December
2015, the Group holds equity interests in a range of 1-15% in these companies.

An impairment loss of $250,656,000 to fully write down the carrying amount of the Group’s investments in
equity securities of certain of these companies has been charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the current year due to the unsatisfactory operating performance of these companies. The
impairment has been provided based on a fair value valuation on the respective investments in the equity
securities performed by an independent appraiser using the discounted cash flow method based on cash flow
projections taking into account the transportation price and volume assumptions and source data provided
by the management of the investees. The expected net cash flow discontinued using a risk adjusted pre-tax
discount rate of 12.36%.

13 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Loan to a third party (note (i)) - 127,187
Advance payments for equipment purchase

and construction in progress (note (ii) - 23,626

- 150,813

(i) 1In 2009, the Company agreed to provide a loan to Moveday Enterprises Limited (“Moveday”) to
purchase additional vehicles to meet the increasing volume of coal procured by the Group in
Mongolia, and Moveday agreed to use the trucks purchased through financing provided by the
Company for the provision of transportation services to the Group during the term of the agreement.
Pursuant to a loan agreement entered into on 10 April 2010 (as subsequently amended by a
supplemental deed on 15 September 2010) and the strategic alliance agreement, the Company agreed
to lend Moveday up to US$40 million solely for the purpose of purchasing vehicles for transporting
coal purchased by the Group in Mongolia. The loan to Moveday was provided on an unsecured basis,
at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 3% and repayable over five years in equal annual installments of
US$8 million, commencing from 18 months after the receipt of the loan (being 31 December 2012) by
Moveday, with interest payable semi-annually in arrears. The entire loan amount was fully drawn
down in 2010. As Moveday is a third party and the loan to Moveday is an unsecured loan, the Group
does not have an interest in or control over the cash flows or other assets of Moveday other than in
accordance with the terms of the loan agreement (as amended).

—26—

- TA-163 -




APPENDIX TA FINANCIAL REPORTS OF THE GROUP

In 2013, the Group entered into another supplemental agreement with Moveday to modify the
repayment terms of the remaining outstanding principal of US$32 million. Pursuant to the
supplemental agreement, the remaining outstanding principal was repayable on 31 December from
2013 to 2015 with an amount of US$4 million plus a floating repayment amount. The floating
repayment amount was calculated based on the volume of coals transported (up to a maximum of 12
million tonnes) by Moveday for the Group and up to US$6 million during each year. Apart from the
repayment terms, all the other terms of the loan were not changed and Moveday was obliged to repay
the entire outstanding principal on or before 31 December 2016.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Moveday has repaid interest of US$345,000 to the Group
and the outstanding loan balance as at 31 December 2015 is US$20.40 million (2014: US$20.40
million). In addition to the above, the Group has incurred $81 million (2014: $40 million) for coking
coal transportation service provided.

In October 2015, Moveday informed the Group that it could not repay the outstanding principal and
interest as scheduled in the above-mentioned supplemental agreement due to the financial difficulty
encountered. On 22 January 2016, the Group and Moveday mutually agreed that the outstanding loan
principal of US$4,888,000 (equivalent to approximately $37,886,000) and interest of US$359,000
(equivalent to approximately $2,787,000) which due on 31 December 2015 were offset against the
Group’s payables in connection with coking coal transportation services provided by Moveday. Apart
from the offsetting arrangement, all the other terms of the loan were not changed and Moveday was
obliged to repay the entire outstanding principal on or before 31 December 2016.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has made an impairment provision of $120,189,000
against the loan to Moveday balance based on the communications with management of Moveday
about the adverse financial and operating circumstances of Moveday in 2015.

As at 31 December 2015, as included in prepayment to suppliers (see notes 14) the Group made a
prepayment of $nil (2014: $21,078,000) to Moveday in respect of its coking coal transportation
service.

(ii) The Group has provided full impairment for all advance payments for equipment purchase and
construction in progress in relation to the coal processing plants and logistic park facilities which have
ceased construction during the current period. During the year ended 31 December 2015, $22,307,000
(2014:$7,408,000) was written off against advance payments for equipment purchase and construction
in progress.
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Trade receivables 211,566 818,387
Bills receivable 261,505 507,481
Receivables from import agents 9,916 291,192
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (58,870) (56,526)
424,117 1,560,534

Amounts due from related parties - 761
Loan to a third party company (note 13(i)) 37,886 31,031
Prepayments to suppliers 111,082 64,626
Derivative financial instruments*® 31,760 31,480
Deposits and other receivables 442,957 383,718
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (161,368) (11,210)
886,434 2,060,940

* As at 31 December 2014, derivative financial instruments represent fair value of foreign exchange
forward contracts and a derivative embedded in a purchase contract of petrochemical products.

As at 31 December 2015, derivative financial instruments represent fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts and commodity futures contracts entered into by the Group.

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.
The credit terms for trade debtors are generally within 90 days. The credit terms for receivables from import
agents can be as long as one year, which are comparable to the credit terms for payables to import agents as

granted to the Group. Bills receivable are normally due within 90 days to 180 days from the date of issuing.

At 31 December 2015, trade and bills receivables of the Group of $230,365,000 (31 December 2014:
$586,953,000) have been pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings.

At 31 December 2015, bills receivable of the Group of $nil (31 December 2014: $483,472,000) have been
derecognised from the consolidated statement of financial position as the relevant bills have been
discounted to banks on a non-recourse basis.

(a) Ageing analysis

Included in trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import agents are trade debtors
with the ageing analysis, based on the invoice date and net of allowance for bad debt, as follows:

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Less than 3 months 109,642 837,833
More than 3 months but less than 6 months 168,056 351,249
More than 6 months but less than 1 year 133,940 165,389
More than 1 year 12,479 206,063
424,117 1,560,534
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(b) Impairment of trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import agents

(c)

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import agents
are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is
remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade receivables, bills receivable and
receivables from import agents.

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

At 1 January 56,526 -
Impairment loss recognised 38,403 56,526
Reversal of impairment loss (36,059) -
At 31 December 58,870 56,526

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import
agents of $71,044,000 (2014: $108,562,000) were individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to customers that were in financial difficulties and
management assessed that only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. Consequently,
specific allowances for doubtful debts of $58,870,000 (2014: $56,526,000) were recognised.

Trade debtors and bills receivable that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, bills receivable and receivables from import agents that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Neither past due nor impaired 318,826 1,343,549
Less than 3 months past due 27,088 40,965
More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 66,029 123,984
411,943 1,508,498

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have
a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no

impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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(d) Impairment of other receivables

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

2015 2014
$°000 $°000
At 1 January 11,210 -
Impairment loss recognised 150,158 11,210
At 31 December 161,368 11,210

Included in the impairment loss are impaired value added tax (“VAT”) recoverable of $144,079,000
(2014: $nil) that have been accumulated to date in certain subsidiaries of the Group which can be
deductible from VAT on future sales made. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
recoverability of such amount after commercial production is remote due to the unfavourable future
prospects of the coking coal business.

15 SENIOR NOTES

2015 2014
$°000 $°000
Senior notes due in 2016 2,388,573 2,364,347

On 8 April 2011, the Company issued senior notes in the aggregate principal amount of US$500,000,000
(“Senior Notes”) and listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The Senior Notes bear
interest at 8.50% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will be due in 2016.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Group’s existing subsidiaries other than those established/
incorporated under the laws of the PRC, Winsway Coking Coal Holdings S.a.r.1., 0925165 B.C. Ltd., GCC
and GCC LP as an application of the principle stated in the Company’s offering memorandum on 1 April
2011 (the “Subsidiary Guarantors”). In addition, the Company has agreed, for the benefit of the holders
of the Senior Notes, to pledge the capital stock of each Subsidiary Guarantor in order to secure the
obligations of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group repurchased Senior Notes in an aggregate principal
amount of US$153,190,000 for a cash consideration of US$73,595,000 in the open market. The Senior
Notes repurchased were redeemed subsequently. The difference between the carrying amount of the Senior
Notes redeemed and the consideration paid, net off against the transaction costs incurred, was recognised as
a gain of US$76,383,000 (equivalent to $592,495,000) on redemption of the Senior Notes in the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The outstanding Senior Notes with principal amount of
US$309,310,000 will be matured on 8 April 2016.

In addition, on 11 October 2013, the Company also received consents from holders of the Senior Notes with
a consent payment of US$4,118,000 to certain amendments (“Amendments”) to the indenture, dated as of
8 April 2011 (“Indenture”), among the Company, the Subsidiary Guarantors and Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas, as trustee. The Amendments eliminated the limitations on indebtedness, restricted
payments, dividend and other payment restrictions affecting Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the
Indenture), sales and issuances of capital stock in Restricted Subsidiaries, issuances of guarantees by
Restricted Subsidiaries, sale and leaseback transactions, transactions with shareholders and affiliates and
business activities as contained in the Indenture. The consent payment is amortised over the remaining
period of the outstanding Senior Notes.
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During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group did not make the scheduled Interest Payment. The
Group has defaulted on outstanding Senior Notes amounting to HK$2,388,573,000 as at 31 December 2015
after the 30-day grace period expired on 8 May 2015 for making the Interest Payment under the terms of the
indenture, as amended and supplemented. On 25 November 2015, the Company, certain of its subsidiaries
and certain of the Bondholders entered into a Restructuring Support Agreement, pursuant to which such
Bondholders agreed to support the Debt Restructuring. Further details of the Debt Restructuring are
disclosed in note 2.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Trade and bills payables 242,055 1,385,420
Payables to import agents 8,737 288,781
Amounts due to related parties 383 -
Prepayments from customers 34,284 21,765
Payables in connection with construction projects 103,593 93,670
Payables for purchase of equipment 2,323 47,730
Derivative financial instruments” - 16,007
Others 365,127 201,242
756,502 2,054,615

Derivative financial instruments represent fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts as at 31
December 2014.

At 31 December 2015, bills payable amounting to $159,597,000 (2014: $1,155,721,000) were secured by
deposits placed in banks with an aggregate carrying value of $158,093,000 (2014: $412,322,000).

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade and bills payables and payables to import
agents (which are included in trade and other payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Within 3 months 106,116 1,394,800
More than 3 months but less than 6 months 132,084 81,920
More than 6 months but less than 1 year 8,778 32,505
More than 1 year 3,814 164,976
250,792 1,674,201

Trade and bills payables and payables to import agents are expected to be settled within one year or are
repayable on demand. The maturity analysis of these payables is as follows:

2015 2014

$°000 $°000

Due within 1 month or on demand 164,315 570,703
Due after 1 month but within 3 months - 1,100,798
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 86,477 2,700
250,792 1,674,201
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EXTRACT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The below sections set out an extract of the report by KPMG, the auditor of the Company,
regarding the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015.

Basis for disclaimer of opinion
(a) Impairment of other investments in equity securities

As disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, during the year ended 31 December
2015 the directors of the Company have recognised an impairment loss of $250,656,000
to fully write down the carrying amount of the Group’s investments in certain of these
companies based on a fair value valuation on the respective investments in the equity
securities performed by an independent appraiser using the discounted cash flow method.
These valuations were prepared using the transportation price and volume assumptions
and source data provided by the management of the investees. We were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to evaluate whether the assumptions used in the
above-mentioned valuations were reasonable and appropriately supportable and whether
the source data is complete and accurate. Therefore, we were unable to conclude as to
whether the amount of this impairment provision is, or is not, in accordance with the
applicable accounting framework. Any decrease in the impairment losses recognised
against other investments in equity securities would affect the net liabilities of the Group
as at 31 December 2015 and the Group’s net loss for the year ended 31 December 2015,
and the related disclosures in the financial statements.

(b) Impairment of loan due from a third party

As disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements, the Group had an outstanding loan due
from Moveday Enterprises Limited (“Moveday”) of US$20.40 million (equivalent to
approximately $158,075,000) as at 31 December 2015. During the year ended 31
December 2015 the directors of the Company have made an impairment provision of
$120,189,000 against this balance, having taken into account information about the
adverse financial and operating circumstances of Moveday during the year ended 31
December 2015, and assuming no possibility of any recovery that may be achieved in
future through re-negotiation of the terms of the loan or alternative forms of settlement in
kind. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to evaluate the
reasonableness of the assumptions adopted by the directors of the Company in estimating
the expected timings and amounts of future cash flows arising from the loan. Therefore,
we were unable to conclude as to whether the amount of this impairment provision is, or
is not, in accordance with the applicable accounting framework. Any decrease in the
impairment losses recognised against this loan balance due from Moveday would affect
the net liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and the Group’s net loss for the
year ended 31 December 2015, and the related disclosures in the financial statements.
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(¢) Multiple uncertainties related to going concern

As explained in note 2 to the financial statements, the Group sustained a further loss from
continuing operations before taxation and impairment losses for non-current assets, of
$609,012,000 and incurred a net cash outflow from operating activities of $524,899,000
from continuing operations for the year ended 31 December 2015. As at 31 December
2015, the Group had net current liabilities of $2,425,764,000 and net liabilities of
$1,723,168,000. In addition, the Group did not make the scheduled interest payment of
US$13.15 million in relation to the Senior Notes which fell due on 8 April 2015 and 8
October 2015 respectively and consequently the Group’s outstanding Senior Notes
amounting to $2,388,573,000 as at 31 December 2015 were in default as at 31 December
2015 and continue to be in default.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking certain measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2 to the financial
statements. The financial statements has been prepared on a going concern basis, the
validity of which is dependent on the outcome of these measures, which are subject to the
following uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to complete the proposed
debt restructuring of the outstanding Senior Notes with cash raised from a possible rights
issue, with equity or other form of consideration offered at a discount to the principal
amount of the Senior Notes, the achievability of which depends on a number of factors,
including the restructuring of the outstanding Senior Notes being sanctioned and all
conditions precedent to the debt restructuring schemes and the rights issue having been
satisfied; (ii) whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate with the lenders for the
renewal of all the existing borrowings upon their maturity and/or obtaining additional
financing as and when required, the achievability of which depends on the completion of
the proposed debt restructuring and the future trading results of the Group and (iii)
whether the Group is able to implement its operation plans to control costs and to generate
adequate cash flows from operations, the achievability of which depends on the market
environment which is expected to remain challenging.

These facts and circumstances, along with other matters as described in note 2(b) to the
financial statements, indicate the existence of multiple material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Disclaimer of opinion

Because we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and due to the
potential interaction of the uncertainties related to going concern and their possible cumulative
effect on the consolidated financial statements described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion
paragraphs, we do not express an opinion on the financial statements. In all other respects, in
our opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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I. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF ADJUSTED CONSOLIDATED NET
TANGIBLE (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS

The following is the unaudited pro forma statement of adjusted consolidated net tangible
(liabilities)/assets of the Group (the “Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information”) which
has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring on the
unaudited consolidated net tangible (liabilities)/assets of the Group attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company as if the Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring had been
completed on 31 December 2015.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is prepared based on the consolidated net
liabilities of the Group attributable to equity shareholders of the Company as at 31 December
2015 as extracted from the 2015 Annual Results of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2015 and is adjusted for the effect of the Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring as if
the Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring had been completed on 31 December 2015. An extract
of a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015 because of the potential interaction of the uncertainties related to
going concern and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements was
included in the 2015 Annual Results.

On 25 November 2015, the Company, certain of its subsidiaries and certain of the
Bondholders entered into the Restructuring Support Agreement whereby such Bondholders
have agreed, subject to certain terms and conditions, to support the Debt Restructuring to be
implemented through the Scheme. The proposed Debt Restructuring will consist of a
redemption of the outstanding Senior Notes and Interest Payments and all accrued, scheduled
interest payments up to the date of the settlement at a discount, with Bondholders accepting a
combination of the Cash Consideration; Scheme Shares, and CVRs. The Schemes are subject to
the approval of a majority in number representing at least 75% in value of the Bondholders
present and voting at the Scheme Meetings. In addition, the Schemes are subject to the
approval from the Shareholders and the sanction by the BVI Court and the Hong Kong Court.
The Cash Consideration as well as the Consent Fee and the success fee of Houlihan Lokey are
expected to be funded by the proceeds of a possible Rights Issue to raise net proceeds of
US$50 million.

Completion of the Debt Restructuring will be conditional on, amongst other things,
completion of the Rights Issue and the receipt by the Company of the US$50 million from the
Rights Issue, whereby three (3) Rights Shares will be issued for every one (1) Consolidated
Share held on the Record Date at HK$0.69 per Rights Share. As the issue of the Scheme
Shares would dilute the 75% shareholding of those taking up the Rights Shares, the issue of
Anti-dilution Shares for no further consideration in the ratio of three (3) Anti-dilution Shares
for each one (1) Rights Share subscribed is a mechanism to counter this dilutive effect as
agreed in the Term Sheet annexed with the Restructuring Support Agreement.

In preparation for the issue of Scheme Shares, Rights Shares and Anti-dilution Shares, the
Company shall conduct a Share Consolidation first. The proposed Share Consolidation on the
basis that every 20 Existing Shares be consolidated to one (1) Consolidated Share, with
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fractional entitlements being disregarded, is to the drive the market price per Consolidated
Share away from the base price extremity in anticipation of the issue of the Rights Shares,
Anti-dilution Shares and Scheme Shares.

Further details of the Debt Restructuring are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 26 November 2015 and 13 March 2016 and Section 2 “Debt Restructuring
with Bondholders” the letter from the Board in this Circular.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is prepared for illustrative purpose only,
and because of its hypothetical nature, it may not give a true picture of the consolidated net
tangible (liabilities)/assets of the Group attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
immediately after completion of the Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring or any future date
after completion of the Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring.

Consolidated
net tangible Unaudited pro
liabilities forma adjusted
attributable to consolidated net
equity tangible assets
shareholders of attributable to
the Company as  Estimated net Estimated effect equity

at 31 December  proceeds from  from the Debt shareholders of
2015 the Rights Issue  Restructuring the Company

(note 1) (note 2) (note 3) (note 6)
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
Net (liabilities)/assets
attributable to equity
shareholders of the
Company (1,595,617) 386,651 2,150,247 941,281
HK$
(Note 4)
Consolidated net tangible
liabilities attributable to
equity shareholders of the
Company per share as at
31 December 2015 (0.42)
HK$
(Note 5)
Unaudited pro forma
adjusted consolidated net
tangible assets per share
as at 31 December 2015 0.31
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

The consolidated net tangible liabilities attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$1,595,617,000 as at 31 December 2015 is based on consolidated net liabilities
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$1,590,801,000 excluding
of consolidated intangible assets of HK$4,816,000 as extracted from the published 2015 Annual
Results of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The estimated net proceeds from the Rights Issue of approximately HK$386,651,000 are calculated
based on 565,979,787 Rights Shares to be issued at the Subscription Price of HK$0.69 per Rights
Share (on the basis of 188,659,929 Consolidated Shares after Share Consolidation) as at the Latest
Practicable Date and after deduction of estimated related expenses, including among others,
professional fees, which are directly attributable to the Rights Issue, of approximately
HK$3,875,000. As the issue of the Scheme Shares would dilute the 75% shareholding of those
taking up the Rights Shares, the issue of the Anti-dilution Shares for no further consideration in the
ratio of three (3) Anti-dilution Shares for each one (1) Rights Share subscribed, therefore the number
of Anti-dilution Shares is 1,697,939,361.

The proposed Debt Restructuring will consist of the redemption of the outstanding Senior Notes and
all accrued but unpaid interest thereon up to the date of the settlement at a discount, with
Bondholders accepting a combination of the Cash Consideration, the Scheme Shares and the CVRs
in full settlement. The Scheme Shares would amount to 18.75% of the enlarged total issued Shares
and the number of the Scheme Shares should be 565,979,787. This adjustment represents the effect
of the Debt Restructuring taking into account the payment of the Consent Fee to the Consenting
Bondholders, the success fee to Houlihan Lokey and the Cash Consideration:

Approximately
US$°000* HK$’000
Settlement of the Consent Fee, the success fee to Houlihan Lokey
and the Cash Consideration (50,000) (387,535)
Redemption of the outstanding Senior Notes as at 31 December
2015 308,175 2,388,573
Payment of outstanding interest payments as at 31 December 2015 19,251 149,209
Total 277,426 2,150,247

* For the purpose of estimated effect from the Debt Restructuring, the translation between USS$
and HK$ was made at the exchange rate of US$1 to HK$7.7507, the exchange rate is quoted by
OANDA prevailing on 31 December 2015. No representation is made that the US$ amounts have
been, could have been or could be converted to HK$ at that rate or at any other rate.

The consolidated net tangible liabilities attributable to equity shareholders of the Company per share
as at 31 December 2015 is based on the consolidated net tangible liabilities attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2015 of approximately HK$1,595,617,000 divided
by 3,773,198,693 ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2015.

The unaudited pro forma adjusted consolidated net tangible assets per share as at 31 December 2015
after the completion of the Share Consolidation, Rights Issue and Debt Restructuring is determined
based on the unaudited pro forma adjusted consolidated net tangible asset attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$941,281,000 divided by 3,018,558,864 shares of
the Company in issue after completion of the Share Consolidation, Rights Issue and Debt
Restructuring as at 31 December 2015, which comprises of Consolidated Shares of 188,659,929
shares, Rights Shares of 565,979,787 shares, Anti-dilution Shares of 1,697,939,361 shares and
Scheme Shares of 565,979,787 shares. For the calculation of the number of Shares please refer to
note 2 and note 3 above.

No adjustments have been made to the unaudited pro forma adjusted consolidated net tangible assets

to reflect any trading results or other transactions of the Group entered into subsequent to 31
December 2015.
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II. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF
ADJUSTED CONSOLIDATED NET TANGIBLE ASSETS

The following is the text of a report received from the reporting accountants, KPMG,
Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong, in respect of the Group’s pro forma financial
information for the purpose of incorporation in this circular.

8th Floor
m Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central
Hong Kong

25 April 2016

INDEPENDENT REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS’ ASSURANCE REPORT ON THE
COMPILATION OF PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

TO THE DIRECTORS OF WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED

We have completed our assurance engagement to report on the compilation of pro forma
financial information of Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) by the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) for
illustrative purposes only. The pro forma financial information consists of the unaudited pro
forma statement of adjusted consolidated net tangible assets attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and related notes as set out in Part I of Appendix II
to the circular dated 25 April 2016 (the “Circular”) issued by the Company. The applicable
criteria on the basis of which the Directors have compiled the pro forma financial information
are described in Part I of Appendix II to the Circular.

The pro forma financial information has been compiled by the Directors to illustrate the
impact of the proposed rights issue in the proportion of 3 rights shares and 9 anti-dilution
shares for every 1 consolidated share held on the record date (the “Proposed Rights Issue™)
and the proposed debt restructuring with bondholders (the “Proposed Debt Restructuring’) on
the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2015 as if the Proposed Rights Issue and the
Proposed Debt Restructuring had taken place at 31 December 2015. As part of this process,
information about the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2015 has been extracted by
the Directors from the Group’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31 December
2015 dated 22 April 2016.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Pro Forma Financial Information

The Directors are responsible for compiling the pro forma financial information in
accordance with paragraph 4.29 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and with reference to Accounting
Guideline 7 “Preparation of Pro Forma Financial Information for Inclusion in Investment
Circulars” (“AG 77) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™).

~ 14 -



APPENDIX II UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Our Independence and Quality Control

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the HKICPA, which is founded on fundamental
principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and
professional behavior.

The firm applies Hong Kong Standard on Quality Control 1 and accordingly maintains a
comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures
regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

Reporting Accountants’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express an opinion, as required by paragraph 4.29(7) of the
Listing Rules, on the pro forma financial information and to report our opinion to you. We do
not accept any responsibility for any reports previously given by us on any financial
information used in the compilation of the pro forma financial information beyond that owed to
those to whom those reports were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.

We conducted our engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements (“HKSAE”) 3420 “Assurance Engagements to Report on the Compilation of Pro
Forma Financial Information Included in a Prospectus” issued by the HKICPA. This standard
requires that the reporting accountants plan and perform procedures to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the Directors have compiled the pro forma financial information in
accordance with paragraph 4.29 of the Listing Rules, and with reference to AG 7 issued by the
HKICPA.

For purpose of this engagement, we are not responsible for updating or reissuing any
reports or opinions on any historical financial information used in compiling the pro forma
financial information, nor have we, in the course of this engagement, performed an audit or
review of the financial information used in compiling the pro forma financial information.

The purpose of pro forma financial information included in an investment circular is
solely to illustrate the impact of a significant event or transaction on the unadjusted financial
information of the Group as if the event had occurred or the transaction had been undertaken at
an earlier date selected for purposes of the illustration. Accordingly, we do not provide any
assurance that the actual outcome of the events or transactions at 31 December 2015 would
have been as presented.
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A reasonable assurance engagement to report on whether the pro forma financial
information has been properly compiled on the basis of the applicable criteria involves
performing procedures to assess whether the applicable criteria used by the Directors in the
compilation of the pro forma financial information provide a reasonable basis for presenting
the significant effects directly attributable to the event or transaction, and to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence about whether:

e the related pro forma adjustments give appropriate effect to those criteria; and

e the pro forma financial information reflects the proper application of those
adjustments to the unadjusted financial information.

The procedures selected depend on the reporting accountants’ judgement, having regard to
the reporting accountants’ understanding of the nature of the Group, the event or transaction in
respect of which the pro forma financial information has been compiled, and other relevant
engagement circumstances.

The engagement also involves evaluating the overall presentation of the pro forma
financial information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the pro forma financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated;
(b) such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group, and

(c) the adjustments are appropriate for the purposes of the pro forma financial
information as disclosed pursuant to paragraph 4.29(1) of the Listing Rules.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Group. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in
this circular is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
circular misleading.

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Takeovers Code for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Group. The Directors jointly and severally
accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this circular (other
than information relating to the Controlling Shareholder Group, Famous Speech and parties
acting in concert with any of them) and confirm, having made all reasonable inquiries, that to
the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed (other than those expressed by the Controlling
Shareholder Group, Famous Speech and parties acting in concert with any of them) in this
circular have been arrived at after due and careful consideration, and there are no other facts
not contained in this circular, the omission of which would make any statement in this circular
misleading.

The information in relation to the Controlling Shareholder Group, Famous Speech and
parties acting in concert with any of them contained in this circular has been supplied by Mr.
Wang (and as director of each of the companies in the Controlling Shareholder Group), and
Amy Wang, a director of Famous Speech, respectively. Mr. Wang and Amy Wang accept full
responsibility for the accuracy of the information relating to the Controlling Shareholder
Group, Famous Speech and parties acting in concert with any of them contained in this circular
and confirm, having made all reasonable inquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions
expressed by the Controlling Shareholder Group, Famous Speech and parties acting in concert
with any of them in this circular have been arrived at after due and careful consideration, and
there are no other facts not contained in this circular, the omission of which would make any
statement in this circular misleading.

2. SHARE CAPITAL

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company is authorised to issue a maximum of
6,000,000,000 ordinary shares of one class with no par value.

The total issued shares of the Company (i) as at the Latest Practicable Date; (ii)
immediately following the Share Consolidation becoming effective but before completion of
the Rights Issue (assuming no further issue of new Shares or repurchase of Shares on or before
the Record Date); and (iii) immediately after completion of the Rights Issue (assuming no
further issue of new Shares or repurchase of Shares on or before the Record Date) were and
will be as follows:

(a) Since 31 December 2015 and as at the Latest Practicable Date

3,773,198,693 Shares in issue
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(b) Immediately following the Share Consolidation becoming effective but before
completion of the Rights Issue (assuming no further issue of new Shares or
repurchase of Shares on or before the Record Date)

Authorised:
6,000,000,000 ordinary shares without par value
Issued and fully-paid or credited as fully-paid:

188,659,929 Consolidated Shares (subject to the treatment of fractional Consolidated
Shares) without par value

(c) Immediately after the completion of the Rights Issue and the issue of Scheme
Shares and Anti-dilution Shares (assuming no further issue of new Shares or
repurchase of Shares on or before the Record Date)

Authorised:
6,000,000,000 ordinary shares without par value
Issued and fully-paid or credited as fully-paid:

188,659,929 Consolidated Shares (subject to the treatment of fractional Consolidated
Shares) without par value

565,979,787 Rights Shares to be allotted and issued
565,979,787 Scheme Shares to be allotted and issued
1,697,939,361 Anti-dilution Shares to be allotted and issued

Total number of Consolidated Shares in issue immediately after the Final
Distribution Date

3,018,558,864 Consolidated Shares

All the Rights Shares to be issued will rank pari passu in all respects with each other,
including, in particular, as to dividends, voting rights and capital, and once issued and fully
paid, with all the Shares in issue as at the date of allotment and issue of the Rights Shares.

The Company will apply to the Listing Committee for the listing of and permission to
deal in, the Consolidated Shares arising from the Share Consolidation, the Rights Shares in
both their nil-paid and fully-paid forms, the Scheme Shares, the Anti-dilution Shares and the
CVR Shares. Except for the Senior Notes listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited and traded over the counter and not on-exchange (which are expected to be delisted
after the completion of the Restructuring), no part of the share capital or any other securities of
the Company is listed or dealt in on any stock exchange other than the Stock Exchange and no
application is being made or is currently proposed or sought for the Shares or Rights Shares or
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any other securities of the Company to be listed or dealt in on any other stock exchange. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, there were no arrangements under which future dividends are
waived or agreed to be waived. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has no
outstanding convertible securities, options or warrants and there was no capital of any member
of the Group which is under option, or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put under
option.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no share or loan capital of the Company or any member
of the Group had been put under option or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put
under option and no warrant or conversion right affecting the Shares has been issued or granted
or agreed conditionally, or unconditionally to be issued or granted, except for the Rights
Shares, the Scheme Shares, the Anti-dilution Shares and the CVR Shares.

3. MARKET PRICE

The table below shows the closing price per Share as quoted by the Stock Exchange (i) on
the last day on which trading took place in each of the six calendar months during the period
commencing six months preceding 26 November 2015 (i.e. the date of the first announcement
in respect of the transactions contemplated hereunder) and ending on the Latest Practicable
Date; (ii) 28 August 2015, being the Last Trading Day; and (iii) as at the Latest Practicable
Date:

Closing Price

Date per Share

(HKS$)
27 February 2015 0.420
31 March 2015 0.234
30 April 2015 0.270
26 May 2015 0.310
29 May 2015 0.305
30 June 2015 0.280
31 July 2015 0.227
28 August 2015 0.145
31 August 2015 Suspended
30 September 2015 Suspended
31 October 2015 Suspended
25 November 2015 Suspended
30 November 2015 Suspended
31 December 2015 Suspended
31 January 2016 Suspended
29 February 2016 Suspended
11 March 2016 Suspended
31 March 2016 0.052
Latest Practicable Date Suspended
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The highest and lowest closing prices per Share recorded on the Stock Exchange during

the period commencing 6 months preceding 26 November 2015 and ending on the Latest
Practicable Date are HK$0.4750 on 8 June 2015 and HK$0.052 on 31 March 2016.

4.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(1) Interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As of the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares and underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Aggregate
number of  Approximate
Shares or percentage of
Name of Nature of underlying interest in the
Name of Directors corporation interest Shares corporation'”
James Downing The Company Personal interest 329,000 0.01%
George Jay Hambro The Company Personal interest 573,000 0.02%

Note 1: The percentage shareholding of the Company is calculated on the basis of 3,773,198,693
Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as is known to
any Directors or chief executive of the Company, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(b) Share Options
Restricted Share Unit Scheme

Under the restricted share unit scheme (“RSU Scheme”) adopted by the
Company on 11 June 2012, the Company may grant restricted share unit awards
(“RSU Awards”) to directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors), officers and full-time
employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. An RSU Award gives a
participant in the RSU Scheme a conditional right when the RSU Award vests
to obtain either Shares (existing Shares in issue or new Shares to be issued by
the Company) or an equivalent value in cash with reference to the value of the
Shares on or about the date of vesting, as determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion. The Board may determine the vesting criteria, conditions
and the time when the RSU Awards will vest.

The purposes of the RSU Scheme are to retain and motivate its participants
to make contributions to the long term growth and profits of the Company with
a view to achieving the objective of increasing the value of the Group and to
promote a greater alignment of interests between the participants and the
shareholders of the Company. The Board will select participants to receive RSU
Awards under the RSU scheme at its discretion. During the period from 1
January 2015 up to the Latest Practicable Date, no RSU Awards were granted
by the Company under the RSU Scheme.

2014 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2014 Share Option
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6 June 2014.
The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to reward persons who have
contributed to the Group and to encourage such persons to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company. The eligible participants of the 2014
Share Option Scheme include Directors (including executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) and employees of
the Group. The 2014 Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, will remain in force for a period of 5 years from 6 June 2014. A
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summary of the movements of the outstanding options granted under the 2014
Share Option Scheme from 1 January 2015 up to the Latest Practicable Date
were as follows:

Options Options held

Options Options Options lapsed/ as of the

granted as granted exercised cancelled Latest

at 1 January  during the  during the  during the Practicable

Grantee 2015 period period period* Date
Directors

Cao Xinyi 9,000,000 — — 9,000,000 0

Zhu Hongchan 13,000,000 — — 13,000,000 0

Wang Yaxu 9,000,000 — — 9,000,000 0

Feng Yi 1,500,000 — — 1,500,000 0

Others
Employees 78,900,000 — 78,900,000 0
Total 111,400,000 — — 111,400,000 0

*Note: As of 1 March 2016, the Company have agreed with holders of 73,100,000
outstanding (and unexercised) share options, being all the outstanding options as at
1 March 2016, to cancel their share options with immediate effect. For further
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 1 March 2016.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company, its
holding companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, was not a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

(2) Interests in assets

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had any interest, direct or
indirect, in any assets which had been, since 31 December 2015, being the date to which
the latest published audited financial statements of the Group were made up, acquired or
disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group or are proposed to be acquired or
disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group.

(3) Interests in contracts

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there was no contract or arrangement entered into
by any member of the Group subsisting, in which any of the Directors was materially
interested and which was significant in relation to the business of the Group as a whole.
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(4) Interests in competing business

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as the Directors are aware of, none of the
Directors and their respective close associates had an interest in any business which
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group that needs to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

(5) Directors’ service contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term set out as follows:

Director Date of Service Contract Expiry Date

Cao Xinyi 28 October 2015 27 October 2018
Zhu Hong Chan 7 September 2013 5 September 2016
Wang Yaxu 28 October 2015 27 October 2018
Feng Yi 16 November 2015 31 December 2016

The non-executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term set out as follows:

Director Date of Service Contract Expiry Date
Lu Chuan 6 September 2013 5 September 2016

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term set out as follows:

Director Date of Service Contract Expiry Date
James Downing 18 June 2013 31 May 2016
Ng Yuk Keung 11 October 2013 31 May 2016
Wang Wenfu 11 October 2013 31 May 2016
George Jay Hambro 20 August 2013 31 May 2016

Directors’ service agreements entered into within 6 months before 26 November
2015

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Wang Yaxu with effect
from 28 October 2015 and ending on 28 October 2018. Mr. Wang Yaxu will hold
office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and he will be subject to re-election at that meeting and thereafter in
accordance with the Articles. Mr. Wang Yaxu will be entitled to receive a total sum
of RMB1.61 million per annum as a package for all his positions in the Company.
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The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Feng Yi commencing
from 16 November 2015 and ending on 31 December 2016. Mr. Feng Yi will hold
office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and he will be subject to re-election at that meeting and thereafter in
accordance with the Articles. Mr. Feng Yi is entitled to receive a total sum of
approximately RMBO0.86 million per annum as a package for all his positions in the
Company.

The Company entered into a service contract with Ms. Cao Xinyi commencing
from 28 October 2015 and ending on 27 October 2018. Ms. Cao Xinyi will hold
office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company after her
appointment and she will be subject to re-election at that meeting and thereafter in
accordance with the Articles. Ms. Cao Xinyi is entitled to receive a total sum of
RMB2.3 million per annum as a package for all her positions in the Company.

The remuneration of the executive directors Mr. Wang Yaxu, Mr. Feng Yi and
Ms. Cao Xinyi does not include any discretionary bonus or variable component.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other service agreements entered into with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies in force of the
Directors:

(i) which (including both continuous and fixed term contracts) have been
entered into or amended within 6 months before 26 November 2015;

(ii) which are continuous contracts with a notice period of 12 months or more;
or

(1i1) which are fixed term contracts with more than 12 months to run
irrespective of the notice period.

(6) Other Interests

During the period from the six (6) months prior to 26 November 2015 and until the
Latest Practicable Date:

(a) there was no benefit to be given to any Director as compensation for loss of
office or otherwise in connection with the Rights Issue and transactions
contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and/or
the Special Deal.

(b) there was no agreement or arrangement between any Director and any other
person which is conditional on or dependent upon the outcome of Rights Issue
and transactions contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement, the
Whitewash Waiver and/or the Special Deal; and
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(c) there was no any material contract entered into by the Controlling Shareholder
Group and/or Famous Speech in which any Director has a material personal
interest.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(1) Interests of substantial Shareholders

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Shareholders who had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:
Approximate
Aggregate  percentage of
Name of number of interest in the
Name of Shareholder Corporation Nature of interest Shares  corporation'”
Mr. Wang!"® The Company Interest of controlled 1,518,205,109 40.24%
corporation
Winsway Group'” The Company Interest of controlled 1,518,205,109 40.24%
corporation
Great Start ) The Company Interest of controlled 208,106,421 5.52%
corporation
Winsway International” The Company Beneficial owner 208,106,421 5.52%
Winsway Resources'”! The Company Beneficial owner 1,310,143,688 34.72%
Poly Legend International The Company Person having a 390,000.000 10.34%
Limited¥® security interest in
shares
Yang Peilin® The Company Interest of controlled 390,000.000 10.34%
corporation
Zhuhai Chengzhi Tong The Company Beneficial owner 316,900,000 8.40%
Development Co., Ltd.
Su Songging'® The Company Nominee for another 316,900,000 8.40%
person (other than
a bare trustee)
Shanxi Coal International The Company Person having a 1,128,186,410 29.90%
Energy Group Xinyuan security interest in
Trading Co., Ltd."" shares
Notes:

(1)  Mr. Wang indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of Winsway International and Winsway
Resources and is deemed to be interested in the 208,106,421 Shares and 1,310,143,688 Shares
held by Winsway International and Winsway Resources, respectively.
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(2

(3)

“)

(5)

(6)

(N

Winsway Group indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of Winsway International and
directly holds the entire issued share capital of Winsway Resources and is deemed to be interested
in the 208,106,421 Shares and 1,310,143,688 Shares held by Winsway International and Winsway
Resources, respectively. Mr. Wang is the sole director of Winsway Group.

Great Start holds the entire issued share capital of Winsway International and is deemed to be
interested in the 208,106,421 Shares held by Winsway International. Mr. Wang is the sole
director of Great Start.

On 15 July 2014, Mr. Wang pledged 208,106,421 Shares and 920,079,989 Shares respectively
(together the “July Pledged Shares”) through his indirectly wholly owned companies Winsway
International and Winsway Resources in favour of Shanxi Coal International Energy Group
Xinyuan Trading Co., Ltd, an independent third party of the Company which is a state-owned
enterprise in the PRC, as security for the performance of certain contractual obligation of a
company indirectly owned by Mr. Wang. On 30 September 2014, Mr. Wang further pledged
390,000,000 Shares (the “September Pledged Shares’) through his indirectly wholly owned
company Winsway Resources in favour of Poly Legend International Limited, an independent
third party of the Company, under a bona fide commercial agreement. The July Pledged Shares
and September Pledged Shares represent approximately 29.90% and 10.34% of the issued shares
of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, respectively. For further details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 15 July 2014 and 30 September 2014, respectively. Mr.
Wang is the sole director of both Winsway International and Winsway Resources.

Yang Peilin controls 90% of Poly Legend International Limited and is deemed to be interested in
390,000,000 Shares that pledged by Mr. Wang in favour of Poly Legend International Limited.

On 27 March 2015, Mr. Wang pledged 316,900,000 Shares through his indirectly wholly owned
company Winsway Resources in favour of Zhuhai Chengzhi Tong Development Co., Ltd. (the
“March 2015 Pledge”), an independent third party of the Company, as security for the
performance of certain contractual obligation of Beijing Winsway Investment Co., Ltd., a
company indirectly owned by Mr. Wang, under a bona fide commercial agreement. On 2 June
2015, the pledgee has exercised its rights under the March 2015 Pledge and the underlying Shares
have been transferred. For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 29
March 2015 and 3 June 2015.

The percentage shareholding of the Company is calculated on the basis of 3,773,198,693 Shares
in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Save as disclosed above, as of the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions representing 10% or more of the issued
share capital of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

(2) Other disclosure of interests

Save as disclosed in this Circular, during the period from the six (6) months prior to
26 November 2015 and until the Latest Practicable Date:

(a) none of the Company nor any of the Directors had any interest in the shares or

convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of the Shares
and shares issued by the Controlling Shareholder Group and/or Famous Speech;
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(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

()

no shares or convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of
the Shares and shares issued by the Controlling Shareholder Group and/or
Famous Speech was owned or controlled by a subsidiary of the Company or by
a pension fund (if any) of any member of the Group or by an adviser to the
Company as specified in class (2) of the definition of ‘“‘associate” under the
Takeovers Code;

no arrangement of the kind referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers
Code exists between a person who owned or controlled any shares or
convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of the Shares
and shares issued by the Controlling Shareholder Group and/or Famous Speech
and the Company or any person who is an associate of the Company by virtue
of classes (1), (2), (3) and (4) of the definition of ‘“associate” under the
Takeovers Code;

no shares or convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of
the Shares and shares issued by the Controlling Shareholder Group and/or
Famous Speech was managed on a discretionary basis by any fund managers
connected with the Company;

none of the Company or the Directors had borrowed or lent any shares or
convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of the Shares
and shares issued by the Controlling Shareholder Group and/or Famous Speech;
and

none of any member of the Group or the Directors has dealt for value in the
Rights Shares.

6. LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there were no litigations or claims of material
importance, known to the Directors, pending or threatened against any member of the Group.

7. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of
business) were entered into by members of the Group within two years immediately preceding
26 November 2015 and up to and including the Latest Practicable Date and were or might be

material:

(i) the bridge loan agreement dated 6 September 2014 entered into between Grande
Cache Coal LP (“GCC LP”), 0925165 B.C. Ltd. (the “Seller”) (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company), Up Energy Development Group Limited (the
“Purchaser Guarantor”) and Marubeni Coal Canada Ltd. (the “Marubeni Seller”)
in relation to a bridge loan facility in the amount of US$10,000,000 (the “Bridge
Loan Agreement”);
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(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

the sale and purchase agreement dated 14 November 2014, entered into between the
Seller (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Up Energy Resources
Company Limited (the “Purchaser”) and the Purchaser Guarantor in relation to the
disposal of a 42.74% interest in Grande Cache Coal Corporation (“GCC”) and GCC
LP (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) at consideration of US$1.00;

the interim support agreement dated 17 December 2014 by the Purchaser, Marubeni
Seller, GCC and the Seller (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
entered into which constitutes the management services agreement as referred to in
the Sale and Purchase Agreement, as supplemented by letter agreements among the
same parties dated 24 December 2014 and 12 May 2015, respectively, in respect of
the Purchaser providing management services to GCC at any time prior to
completion as referred to in the Sale and Purchase Agreement;

the amended and restated bridge loan agreement entered into by the Purchaser, the
Purchaser Guarantor, GCC, GCC LP, the Marubeni Seller and the Seller (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) on 17 December 2014, in relation to the
term loan in the amount of US$40,000,000 in addition to the loan under the Bridge
Loan Agreement, as supplemented by letter agreements among the same parties dated
24 December 2014 and 12 May 2015, respectively, amending and restating the
Bridge Loan Agreement as amended by the an amendment agreement dated 2
December 2014 entered into between the parties to the Bridge Loan Agreement;

the amended and restated limited partnership agreement dated 2 September 2015
entered into between GCC, Up Energy (Canada) Limited and the Seller (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) in relation to GCC LP;

the amended and restated unanimous shareholder agreement of GCC dated 2
September 2015 entered into between UP Energy (Canada) Limited, the Seller (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and GCC in relation to, among
other things, rights and obligations of the shares in GCC and the management and
control of GCC (the “Unanimous Shareholder Agreement”);

(vii) the buy-back right agreement dated 2 September 2015 entered into between the

Company, the Purchaser and the Purchaser Guarantor which the Purchaser grants a
buy-back right in favour of the Company (or its wholly-owned affiliate) to purchase
up to a 16.86% partnership interest in GCC LP and a 16.86% equity interest in GCC,
the price for the underlying interest shall be the actual aggregate amount injected
into GCC LP by the Purchaser after completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement
until the date of completion of the buy-back (including investment, advance
payments and shareholder loans), in respect of such underlying interest (as a fraction
of the Purchaser’s total partnership interest), plus interest;

(viii) the settlement side letter dated 2 September 2015 entered into between the

Seller (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), the Purchaser, GCC
and GCC LP in relation to the adjustment to the ownership of GCC and GCC LP
made in accordance with the parties’ respective obligation to make capital
contribution under the Unanimous Shareholder Agreement dated on the even date in
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(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

relation to GCC, pursuant to which GCC is indirectly held as to 14.69% by the
Company and as to 85.31% by the Purchaser Guarantor and GCC LP is indirectly
held as to 14.685% by the Company and as to 85.305% by the Purchaser Guarantor;

the Restructuring Support Agreement dated 25 November 2015 entered into between
the Company, the Consenting Bondholders and the Subsidiary Guarantors in relation
to the standstill and compromise of the outstanding Senior Notes and their
settlement, of which approximately US$309,310,000 in principal amount remains
outstanding as at the Latest Practicable Date;

the irrevocable undertaking letter dated 25 November 2015 given by Mr. Wang in
favour of the Company and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (the
“Trustee”), for the benefit of the Bondholders, in relation to, amongst other things,
accept the Rights Shares provisionally allotted to him under the Rights Issue, and
underwrite the Rights Shares provisionally allotted to but not subscribed by other
existing Shareholders, at the Subscription Price to raise approximately US$50 million
(approximately HK$387.5 million);

the Underwriting Agreement dated 11 March 2016 entered into between the
Company, Mr. Wang, the Controlling Shareholder Group and Famous Speech in
relation to the underwriting arrangement in respect of the Rights Issue to raise
approximately US$50 million (approximately HK$387.5 million);

the irrevocable undertaking letter dated 11 March 2016 given by Famous Speech in
favour of the Company and the Trustee, for the benefit of the Bondholder, in relation
to, amongst other things, Famous Speech to take up the Controlling Shareholder
Group’s assured entitlements under the Rights Issue as Underwritten Shares and to
underwrite the Rights Issue on the terms of the Underwriting Agreement to raise
approximately US$50 million (approximately HK$387.5 million); and

the Supplemental Irrevocable Undertaking dated 11 March 2016 given by Mr.
Wang in favour of the Company and the Trustee, for the benefit of the Bondholders,
in relation to, among other things, Mr. Wang’s further undertaking that he will not,
and will procure the Controlling Shareholder Group will not, take up the entitlements
of Rights Shares under the Rights Issue.
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8.

EXPERTS AND CONSENTS

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The following are the qualifications of the experts who have given opinions, letters
or advice which are contained in this circular:

Name Qualification
KPMG Certified Public Accountants
Somerley Capital Limited a corporation licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing

in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activity under the SFO

Each of the above experts and the Company’s financial advisors, UBS AG Hong
Kong Branch and AlixPartners Services UK LLP, has given, and has not withdrawn,
its written consent to the issue of this circular with the inclusion of and references to
its name and/or opinion in the form and context in which it is included.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the above experts had any interest, direct
or indirect, in any assets which had been, since 31 December 2015, being the date to
which the latest published audited financial statements of the Group were made up,
acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group or are proposed to
be acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the above experts had any shareholding in
any member of the Group and any right, whether legally enforceable or not, to
subscribe for or to nominate persons to subscribe for securities in any member of the
Group.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Registered Office Akara Bldg.

24 De Castro Street
Wickhams Cay 1
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands

Head office and principal Suites 2104-05
place of business in Hong Hutchison House
Kong 10 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Authorised Representatives Cao Xinyi

Wang Yaxu
Company Secretary Cao Xinyi
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Auditor/Reporting
Accountants

Principal Bankers

The Underwriter

Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Financial Adviser

Independent Financial Adviser

Legal Advisers to the
Company

KPMG

Certified Public Accountant
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

China Minsheng Bank (Hong Kong Branch)

Agriculture Bank of China (Hong Kong Branch)

Famous Speech
OMC Chambers
Wickhams Cay 1
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai Hong Kong

UBS AG Hong Kong Branch

50/F Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street

Central, Hong Kong

Somerley Capital Limited
20th Floor, China Building
29 Queen’s Road

Central, Hong Kong

As to Hong Kong law (other than the Schemes)
Reed Smith Richards Butler

20th Floor, Alexandra House

18 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

As to Hong Kong law (in relation to the Schemes)
Stephenson Harwood

18th Floor, United Centre

95 Queensway

Hong Kong
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As to BVI law (other than the Schemes)
Maples and Calder

53rd Floor, The Center

99 Queen’s Road

Central, Hong Kong

As to BVI law (in relation to the Schemes)
Walkers

Suites 1401-1507, Alexandra House

18 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

10. PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Cao Xinyi (BfR18), aged 33, is an executive Director, the chief executive officer
and the company secretary of the Company. Ms. Cao joined the Company in 2009. She
has long-term experience in the business and operations of the Company, and she has
been closely involved with the financial affairs of the Company and has a great deal of
experience in respect of investors’ relationship since joining the Company. Before joining
the Company in 2009, Ms. Cao worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2005 to 2009.
Ms. Cao is also a director of 19 subsidiaries of the Company, namely (1) Inner Mongolia
Haotong Energy Joint Stock Co., Ltd. (NZ k@B A RAR), (2) Beijing
Winsway Investment Management Co., Ltd. (L&KM EHHARRAF), (3) Beijing
Shacong E-commerce Co., Ltd. (AL W HETE TR A BRA ), (4) Cheer Top Enterprises
Limited, (5) Color Future International Limited, (6) Royce Petrochemicals Limited, (7)
King Resources Holdings Limited, (8) Reach Goal Management Ltd, (9) Lucky Colour
Limited, (10) Eternal International Logistics Limited, (11) Million Super Star Limited,
(12) Winsway International Development (HK) Ltd, (13) Winsway Coking Coal Logistics
Co., Limited, (14) Lush Power Management Limited, (15) Wisdom Elite Inc. Limited,
(16) Standard Rich Inc Limited, (17) Rise Deal Enterprises Limited, (18) Great Trend
Enterprises Limited and (19) Emporio Ray Investments Limited. She graduated from the
City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration in
2005. Ms. Cao is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”).

Zhu Hongchan (KRAL#E), aged 41, is an executive Director and a Vice President of
our Company. Ms. Zhu was appointed as a Director on 18 June 2010. She joined
Winsway Group in 1995 and has worked in the Chemical Trading and Sales departments
of our parent group where she accumulated extensive experience in the value-adding
operations of energy resources and commodities, and which has enabled Ms. Zhu to
successfully lead and manage the sales team of our Group in implementing our Group’s
sales and future growth strategies. Ms. Zhu became a Vice President of our Group in
October 2008 and is responsible for the management of the procurement of coal and sales
activities. Ms. Zhu is the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely
Winsway Resources (HK) Holdings Limited, Legend York Star Limited and E-Steel
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Holdings Pte. Ltd., respectively. Ms. Zhu graduated from the Beijing University of
Chemical Technology in 1995 with a bachelor’s degree in Management Engineering and a
degree Executive Master of Business Administration (“EMBA”) from Beijing Jiaotong
University in 2011.

Wang Yaxu (E#B), aged 44, is an executive Director and a Vice President for
fixed asset management and internal administration of the Group. Mr. Wang Yaxu joined
the Group in 1995, where he was mainly responsible for financial management. He then
became an employee of the Company in 2007 upon the Company’s establishment and is
responsible for the accounting and the financial management of the Group. He is also a
director of the Company’s subsidiary, namely Ejina Qi Ruyi Winsway Energy Co., Ltd.
(RIS 40 T 40 75 K I BB R A5 B2 7)), Chairman of Supervisor Committee of Inner Mongolia
Haotong Energy Joint Stock Co., Ltd. (W%E{DL EVR A A PR/ W), and a supervisor
of Yingkou Haotong Mining Co., Ltd. (& O AEZEA FR/AF), Urad Zhongqi Yiteng
Mining Co., Ltd. (J%ﬁ%*Eﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%%ﬁ@féﬁ/z}ﬂ), Urad Zhongqi Tengshengda
Energy Co., Ltd. (f5FL4E 1 6 a2 G2 U5 A PR 55 4% /A \]), Bayannur Hutie Ruyi Logistics
Co., Ltd. (FZ W7 PEER AN ) i 45 BR A7), Ejina Qi Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. (RS
WfJDL B A BR/AF]), Manzhouli Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. (JiiM B4 6 /}?ﬁﬁﬁ/\
A]), Baotou-city Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. (BLEHT I AEIHA FRE (LA R]), Ulanqgab
Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. (%ﬁ%ﬂlﬁﬁ?{nt EVRA FRE AL /A F]), Erlian Winsway Mining
Co., Ltd. (#Lﬂ(Hﬁﬂ%%;ﬁBE/\j), Erlian Junrong Winsway Mining Co., Ltd. (%4
A BR/A 7)), Erlianhaote Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. (ZJFRE Lﬁ??ﬁﬁﬁﬁ/z}ﬂ),
Nantong Million Super Star Coking Coal Co., Ltd. (Fi#i & 2 B A R/ F]), Nantong
Haotong Energy Co., Ltd. (F3%E %A /ﬁﬁlﬁ/\—l) Beijing Shacong E-Commerce Inc.
Ltd. (dtatvbHe %%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ/\j) and Longkou Winsway Energy Co., Ltd. (FE 1 7 7 i
fe i A FRA 7A]), Nantong Winsway Mining Investment Co., Ltd. (5% 7K I 7% 25 4% & A KR
/~7l), Suzhou Wisdom Elite Energy Co., Ltd. (FfMF IR EREVRA FRAF]) and
Shanghai Richway Energy Co., Ltd. (& ZZfEIEARA ). He studied industrial
management and engineering at and graduated from Beijing University of Chemical
Technology in 1995, and graduated with a degree in Executive Master of Business
Administration from Beijing Jiaotong University in 2011.

Feng Yi (J5Z), aged 45, is an executive Director and a Vice President of the
Company. Mr. Feng joined the Company in July 2013 and was mainly responsible for the
Company’s capital and bank financing related works. He is also a director of Inner
Mongolia Haotong Energy Joint Stock Co., Ltd. (A5 i % BE I B 134 BRZA w]). Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Feng worked for Bank of China, Qinhuangdao Branch as the
general manager of corporate banking department from 2003 to 2013 and held other
positions in departments of the Bank of China, Qinhuangdao Branch from 1991 to 2003.
Mr. Feng graduated from Central University of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s
degree in international finance in 1991.

Non-executive Director

Lu Chuan (&)JIl), aged 46, was re-appointed as a non-executive Director on 7
September, 2013. He has extensive experience in business administration, finance and
investment. He previously worked in Nonfemet Finance Shenzhen Corporation Ltd. for a
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number of years and is currently working in Silver Grant, one of our Shareholders and a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 171), as Assistant
General Manager and is mainly responsible for its operations relating to financial asset
investments. He also acted as a non-executive director of China Ground Source Energy
Industry Group Limited (Stock Code: 8128), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange from September 2008 to March 2009. Mr. Lu graduated
from Wuhan University of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in Nautical Mechanical
Engineering in 1991 and from Huazhong University of Science and Technology with a
master’s degree and a doctorate degree both in Management Science and Engineering
Studies in 1997 and 2006, respectively.

Independent Non-executive Directors

James Bedford Downing III (also known as James Downing), aged 62, joined our
Group as an independent non-executive Director on 18 June 2010. Mr. Downing currently
serves as an independent non-executive director on a number of boards. Among others, he
is Non-Executive Chairman of Nuada Medical Group Ltd, a UK-based private sector
medical services company and Native Land Ltd. a UK based residential property
company. From 2001 to 2003, Mr. Downing acted as the Deputy Head of JPMorgan
Chase & Co.’s European Investment Banking group and prior to the merger of J.P.
Morgan & Co. with Chase Manhattan Bank in 2000 he was Head of European Global
Mergers & Acquisitions at Chase Manhattan. Mr. Downing obtained a Master of Business
Administration degree from the Yale School of Management of Yale University in 1982
and a Bachelor of Science degree from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute in 1976.

Ng Yuk Keung (RE), aged 51, was re-appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 11 October 2013. Mr. Ng is currently an executive director and the
chief financial officer of Kingsoft Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 03888), a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ng worked with
PricewaterhouseCoopers for over 12 years from 1988 to 2001. From 2001-2003, Mr. Ng
was the Chief Financial Officer of International School of Beijing, an academic institution
in Beijing, China. He subsequently joined Australian Business Lawyers, a law firm in
Australia in 2003 and was later appointed as a consultant in 2004 responsible for advising
on accounting matters. From 2004 to 2006, he was the deputy chief financial officer, a
joint company secretary and the qualified accountant of Irico Group Electronics Company
Limited (Stock Code: 0438), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
From 2006 to 2010, Mr. Ng was a vice-president, the chief financial officer, the company
secretary and the qualified accountant of China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited. From 2010
to 2012, Mr. Ng was an executive director and the chief financial officer of China NT
Pharma Group Company Limited (Stock Code: 1011), a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange. From February 2007 to October 2011, Mr. Ng was the
independent non-executive director of Xinjiang Xinxin Mining Industry Co., Ltd. (Stock
Code: 3833), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ng
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in Social Sciences
in 1988 and a master’s degree in Global Business Management and E-commerce in 2002.
He is a professional accountant and a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and
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a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Set out below
are the current appointments in other listed companies on the Stock Exchange and the
New York Stock Exchange (as the case may be) which Mr. Ng has undertaken:

Position Name of the listed company Stock Code
Non-executive director Cheetah Mobile Inc. NYSE: CMCM
Honorary adviser China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited 1886
Independent non- Sany Heavy Equipment International 631

executive director Holdings Company Limited
Independent non- Beijing Capital Land Limited 2868

executive director
Independent non- Zhongsheng Group Holdings Limited 881

executive director
Executive director Kingsoft Corporation Limited 3888

Wang Wenfu (£ X&), aged 49, was re-appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Company on 11 October 2013. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in the
mining industry, with international business development, cross-border mergers and
acquisitions, business network establishment and international trading expertise. Before
Mr. Wang joined our Group as an independent non-executive Director in 2010, he worked
for Aluminum Corporation of China Ltd. (“CHALCO”), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, Shanghai Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange since 2004, and
was mainly responsible for the development of CHALCO’s overseas business, cross
border mergers and acquisitions, foreign investment and risk management. He also acted
as the President of Chinalco Overseas Holding Ltd., director and President of Chalco
Hong Kong Ltd., Chairman of Chalco Australia Pty. Ltd. and Chief Representative of
CHALCO’s operations in Vietnam and Indonesia. Mr. Wang graduated from the
Department of Linguistics of Kunming University of Science and Technology in 1987.
He also obtained a Master of Business Administration degree from Monash University in
1995 and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment from the Securities
Institute of Australia in 2002.

George Jay Hambro, aged 41, was re-appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Company on 20 August 2013 and is a member of the Audit, Nomination
and Corporate Governance and Health, Safety & Environment (HSE) Committees. He
began his career as a metals and mining project financier at NM Rothschild & Sons and
then as a Manager of the mining investment banking team at HSBC. In 2002 he joined
what is now Petropavlovsk plc. and was subsequently appointed CEO of Aricom plc.
Following the acquisition of Aricom by Petropavlovsk in 2009, he became the CIO there,
a role he relinquished in 2010 to become Executive Chairman of IRC Limited, a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1029), until January 2016,
and is currently its non-executive chairman. Mr Hambro is now the Chief Investment
Officer and CEO of Mining, Energy and Industrials of SIMEC, a global commodity,
resources and energy group. Mr. Hambro is a Fellow of the Institute of Materials,
Minerals and Mining and holds a Bachelor of Arts in Business Management from
Newcastle University.
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11.

Senior Management

Li Yongqiang (Z’k38), aged 32, is currently the chief financial officer of the
Company and the general manager of finance department of the Company. Mr. Li joined
the Company in May 2010, where he was mainly responsible for the Group’s finance
management and coordination with external auditing on financial statement and tax issues.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Li worked for KPMG as an audit assistant manager
from August 2005 to May 2010. Mr. Li is a member of the Chinese Institution of
Certified Public Accountant, Chinese Certified Tax Agents Association and he is a
Certified Management Accountant of The Institute of Management Accountants.

Company Secretary

Ms. Cao is also the company secretary of the Company. Ms. Cao joined the
Company in 2009. She has long-term experience in the business and operations of the
Company, and she has been closely involved with the financial affairs of the Company
and has a great deal of experience in respect of investors’ relationship since joining the
Company. Before joining the Company in 2009, Ms. Cao worked at
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2005 to 2009.

Business address of the Directors

The business address of each of the Directors is the same as the Company’s head
office and principal place of business located at Suites 2104-05 Hutchison House, 10
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

GENERAL

(a) Save for Famous Speech intending to pledge its Rights Shares to the Offshore Bank
as disclosed under the headings “THE UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT AND SUB-
UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT” and “The Shareholder Loan Agreements”, as at
the Latest Practicable Date, Famous Speech, the Controlling Shareholder Group and
parties acting in concert with it had no intention to enter into, nor had it entered into
any agreement, arrangement or understanding to transfer, charge or pledge any
Shares acquired under the Rights Issue and transactions contemplated under the
Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver and/or the Special Deal to any other
person.

(b) Save for the Underwriting Agreement, there was no agreement, arrangement or
understanding (including any compensation arrangement) between Famous Speech,
the Controlling Shareholder Group or any person acting in concert with any of them
and any of the directors, recent directors, shareholders or recent shareholders of the
Company having connection with or dependence upon the Rights Issue and
transactions contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement, the Whitewash Waiver
and/or the Special Deal.

(c) None of the Directors are interested in Famous Speech or the Controlling
Shareholder Group.

— III-20 —



APPENDIX III GENERAL INFORMATION

This circular, the notice of EGM and the accompanying proxy form are prepared in both
English and Chinese. In the event of inconsistency, the English texts shall prevail.

12. EXPENSES

The expenses in connection with the Rights Issue, including financial advising fees,
printing, registration, translation, legal and accounting fees are estimated to be in the range of
approximately HK$6,748,120 and are payable by the Company.

13. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection during normal business
hours from 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon and from 1:00 p.m. to 5:30 p.m. at the head office and
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suites 2104-05 Hutchison House,
10 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, from the date of this circular up to and including the date of
the EGM:

(a) the memorandum and articles of association of the Company;
(b) the memorandum and articles of association of Famous Speech;

(c) the annual reports of the Company for the three financial years ended 31 December
2012, 31 December 2013, 31 December 2014 and the annual results of the Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015;

(d) the letter from the Independent Board Committee, the text of which is set out on
page 77 to 78 of this circular;

(e) the letter of advice from Somerley Capital Limited, the text of which is set out on
pages 79 to 106 of this circular;

(f) the independent reporting accountants’ assurance report on the compilation of
unaudited pro forma financial information of the Group issued by KPMG, the text of
which is set out in Appendix II to this circular;

(g) the material contracts disclosed in the paragraph under the heading “MATERIAL
CONTRACTS” in this Appendix;

(h) the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph under the heading “DIRECTORS’
SERVICE CONTRACTS” in this Appendix;

(i) the written consents referred to in the paragraph under the heading “EXPERTS AND
CONSENTS” in this Appendix; and

(j) this circular.

The above documents will be uploaded on the website of the SFC at www.sfc.hk and the
Company’s website at www.winsway.com from the date of this circular up to (and including)
the date of the EGM in accordance with Notes 1 and 2 to Rule 8 of the Takeovers Code.
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NOTICE OF EGM

WiNswAY”
WINSWAY ENTERPRISES HOLDINGS LIMITED
KEBXZEZRKR O BRA A
(formerly known as “WINSWAY COKING COAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 7K HE £ (A FR 2 )

(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 1733)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT an extraordinary general meeting of Winsway
Enterprises Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held at United Conference Centre &
Business Centre, 10/F, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong on Monday, 16
May 2016 at 10:00 a.m. or any adjournment thereof (as the case may be) for the purpose of
considering and, if thought fit, passing, with or without amendment, the below resolutions of
the Company.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

1. “THAT the existing articles of association (“Articles of Association”) of the
Company be amended in the following manner:

“7A. Consolidation of Issued Shares

The Company may from time to time, by Resolution of Members, consolidate all or
any of its issued shares. On any consolidation, the Board may settle any difficulty
which may arise as it thinks expedient and in particular (but without prejudice to the
generality of the foregoing and notwithstanding any other provision of the
Memorandum and these Articles), may compulsorily repurchase fractions of a
consolidated share on such terms as it considers appropriate (including by the
payment of a nominal sum at the Board’s discretion), or, as between the holders of
shares to be consolidated, determine which particular shares are to be consolidated
into each consolidated share, and if it shall happen that any person shall become
entitled to fractions of a consolidated share or shares, such fractions may be sold by
some person appointed by the Board for that purpose and the person so appointed
may transfer the shares so sold to the purchaser thereof and the validity of such
transfer shall not be questioned, and so that the net proceeds of such sale (after
deduction of the expenses of such sale) may either be distributed among the persons
who would otherwise be entitled to a fraction or fractions of a consolidated share or
shares rateably in accordance with their rights and interests or may be paid to the
Company for the Company’s benefit”,

to be inserted into the Articles after the existing Article 7.”
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ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

“THAT subject to and conditional upon (i) the passing of the special resolution
numbered 1 as set out in this notice; (ii) the Listing Committee of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited granting the listing of and permission to deal in the
Consolidated Shares (as defined below); and (iii) compliance with the relevant laws
of the British Virgin Islands:

(a) with effect from the business day immediately following the conclusion of this
general meeting of shareholders of the Company, every twenty (20) issued
ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) be consolidated into one (1)
ordinary share of the Company (the “Consolidated Share(s)”) (“Share
Consolidation”). Such Consolidated Shares in issue shall rank pari passu in all
respects with each other in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company;

(b) any fractional Consolidated Shares that might arise upon the Share
Consolidation be aggregated and, if possible, sold for the benefit of the
Company; and

(c) the Directors be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts and things, to
approve, sign and execute all such documents and to take any and all steps as
the Directors in their absolute discretion consider necessary, appropriate,
desirable or expedient to give effect to or in connection with the Share
Consolidation and the matters ancillary thereto.

“THAT subject to and conditional upon (i) the passing of the resolution numbered 2
as set out in this notice and (ii) the fulfilment and/or waiver (in respect of certain
conditions, as applicable) of the conditions as set out in the underwriting agreement
dated 11 March 2016 (the “Underwriting Agreement”) made between, among
others, the Company and Famous Speech Limited (the “Underwriter”) (a copy of
which is produced to the meeting marked “A” and initialled by the chairman of this
meeting for the purpose of identification) and (iii) the Underwriting Agreement not
being terminated in accordance with the terms of the Underwriting Agreement and
the transaction contemplated thereunder be and are hereby approved:

(a) the entering into the Underwriting Agreement by the Company be and is hereby
approved, confirmed and ratified and the performance of the transactions
contemplated thereunder by the Company (including but not limited to the
arrangements for taking up of the underwritten Rights Shares, if any, by the
Underwriter) be and are hereby approved;

(b) the allotment and issue by way of rights of up to 565,979,787 Consolidated
Shares (the “Right Shares™) at a subscription price of HK$0.69 per Rights
Share to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company (the “Qualifying
Shareholders™), at the close of business on the date as the Company and the
Underwriter may agree as the record date for determination of the entitlements
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(©)

(d)

(e)

€9)

of the Shareholders to the Rights Issue (as defined below) (the “Record Date’)
(excluding those Shareholders (the ‘“Non-Qualifying Shareholders”) whose
addresses on the register of members of the Company are outside Hong Kong
on the Record Date in respect of whom the director(s) of the Company (the
“Director(s)”’), after making relevant enquiries, consider it necessary or
expedient to exclude from the Rights Issue on account either of the legal
restrictions under the laws of the relevant place(s) or the requirements of the
relevant regulatory body or stock exchange in that (those) place(s)), on the basis
of 3 Rights Shares for every 1 Consolidated Share held on the Record Date
pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the Underwriting Agreement,
and all the transactions contemplated thereunder (including but not limited to
the underwriting of the Rights Shares by the Underwriter), be and are hereby
approved;

for the purpose of protecting the 75% shareholding percentage represented by
the Rights Shares, the allotment and issue of up to 1,697,939,361 Consolidated
Shares (the “Anti-dilution Shares”) in the ratio of 3 Anti-dilution Shares for
each 1 Rights Share subscribed for no further consideration to Qualifying
Shareholders who elected to take up the Rights Shares, be and are hereby
approved;

the board of Directors or a committee thereof be and are hereby authorised to
issue and allot the Rights Shares and the Anti-dilution Shares pursuant to and in
connection with the Rights Issue notwithstanding that (i) the Rights Shares may
be offered, allotted or issued otherwise than pro rata to the Qualifying
Shareholders and, (ii) in particular, the Directors be and are hereby authorised
to make such exclusions or other arrangements in relation to fractional
entitlements and/or Non-Qualifying Shareholders as they deem necessary,
desirable or expedient having regard to any restrictions or obligations under the
articles of association of the Company or the laws of, or the rules and
regulations of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any
territory outside Hong Kong;

the absence of arrangements for applications for the Rights Shares by
Qualifying Shareholders in excess of their entitlements under the Rights Issue
be and are hereby approved, confirmed and ratified; and

the Directors be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts and things, to sign
and execute all such further documents and to take such steps as the Directors
in their absolute discretion consider necessary, appropriate, desirable or
expedient to give effect to or in connection with the allotment and issue of the
Rights Shares and Anti-dilution Shares, the implementation of the Rights Issue,
the Underwriting Agreement, the exercise or enforcement of any of the
Company’s rights under the Underwriting Agreement and to make and agree to
make such variations of the terms of the Underwriting Agreement as the
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Directors in their absolute discretion consider to be appropriate, necessary or
desirable and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders and all the
transactions contemplated thereunder.

“Rights Issue” under this resolution means the issue of the Rights Shares by the
Company on the terms and subject to the conditions to be set out in the relevant
prospectus and provisional allotment letter.”

“THAT

(a) the terms of the application for a waiver (the ‘“Whitewash Waiver”) granted or
to be granted by the Executive Director of the Corporate Finance Division of
the Securities and Futures Commission to the Underwriter and parties acting in
concert with it (as defined in the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers
and Share Repurchases (“Takeovers Code”)) pursuant to Note 1 on the
Dispensations from Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code from an obligation to make
a general mandatory offer for all the issued shares of the Company not already
owned by the Underwriter and the parties acting in concert with it as a result of
the subscription of the Rights Shares by the Underwriter pursuant to the
Underwriting Agreement be and are hereby approved; and

(b) the Directors be and are hereby authorised, for an on behalf of the Company, to
do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents and take all such
steps as the Directors in their absolute discretion consider necessary, desirable
or expedient to give effect to or in connection with the Whitewash Waiver.”

“THAT conditional upon (i) the Rights Issue as referred to in resolution 3 set out in
this notice being approved and becoming unconditional; and (ii) the Listing
Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited granting or agreeing to
grant the listing of and permission to deal in the Scheme Shares (as defined below):

(a) the allotment and issue of a maximum of 565,979,787 Consolidated Shares (the
“Scheme Shares”) to the holders of the Senior Notes (the “Bondholders”),
pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions of the Schemes (as defined
below) (a copy of which marked “B” has been produced to the meeting and
initialled by the chairman of this meeting for the purpose of identification), and
all the transactions contemplated thereunder, be and are hereby approved; and

(b) the Directors be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts and things, to sign
and execute all such further documents and to take such steps as the Directors
in their absolute discretion consider necessary, appropriate, desirable or
expedient to give effect to or in connection with (i) a scheme of arrangement
between the Company and the Bondholders under section 179A of the Business
Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands (2004) reflecting the terms of the
Debt Restructuring (as defined below) and (ii) a scheme of arrangement
between the Company and the Bondholders pursuant to sections 673 and 674 of
the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (as amended) as applicable in Hong Kong
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reflecting the terms of the Debt Restructuring (as defined below) (collectively,
the “Schemes”), the allotment and issue of the Scheme Shares and all the
transactions contemplated thereunder.”

“THAT conditional upon the Rights Issue as referred to in resolution 3 set out in
this notice being approved and becoming unconditional:

(a) the issue of the CVRs (as defined below) by the Company in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Debt Restructuring and the transactions
contemplated thereunder be and are hereby approved, ratified and confirmed;
and

(b) the Directors be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts and things, to
approve, sign and execute all such documents and to take any and all steps as
the Directors in their absolute discretion consider necessary, appropriate,
desirable or expedient to give effect to or in connection with the issuance of
the CVRs and the allotment and issue of the CVR Shares and the matters
ancillary thereto, or for the purposes of obtaining the approval of, relevant
authorities or to comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

“CVR(s)” in this resolution means certain contingent value rights with an aggregate
notional value of US$10 million, which will be a one-off payment to the
Bondholders in the form of cash and/or CVR Shares at the election of the Company
upon the occurrence of the trigger events.”

“THAT conditional upon the Rights Issue as referred to in resolution 3 set out in
this notice being approved and becoming unconditional, the Directors be and are
hereby granted a special mandate (the “Specific Mandate”) to exercise the powers
of the Company to allot and issue up to 2,829,898,935 New Shares, comprising the
Rights Shares, the Anti-dilution Shares and the Scheme Shares which shall rank pari
passu in all respects among themselves and with the existing ordinary shares of the
Company in issue at the date of such allotments and issue and that the Specific
Mandate is in addition to, and shall not prejudice nor revoke any existing general or
specific mandate(s) which has/have been granted or may from time to time be
granted to the Directors prior to the passing of this resolution.”

“THAT conditional upon the Rights Issue as referred to in resolution 3 set out in
this notice being approved and becoming unconditional, the Directors be and are
hereby granted a special mandate (the “CVR Specific Mandate”) to exercise the
powers of the Company to allot and issue up to 112,318,850 new Consolidated
Shares to be issued to settle the CVRs should the Company choose to use
Consolidated Shares to settle such CVRs at an assumed minimum settlement price of
HK$0.69 which Consolidated Shares shall rank pari passu in all respects among
themselves and with the Consolidated Shares in issue at the date of such allotments
and issue and that the CVR Specific Mandate is in addition to, and shall not
prejudice nor revoke any existing general or specific mandate(s) which has/have been
granted or may from time to time be granted to the Directors prior to the passing of
this resolution.”
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9. “THAT

(a)

(b)

subject to and conditional upon of the passing of resolution number 3 set out in
this notice, the payment of the Consent Fee and the distribution of the Scheme
Consideration as more particularly set out in the section headed “14. SPECIAL
DEAL” of the circular of the Company dated 25 April 2016, be and are hereby
approved for the purposes of Rule 25 of the Takeovers Code; and

the Directors be and are hereby authorised to sign and execute such documents
with or without amendments and do all such acts and things incidental to the
Special Deal in their absolute discretions consider necessary, desirable or
expedient in connection with the implementation of or giving effect to the
Special Deal.

“Consent Fee” in this resolution means approximately US$6.8 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$52.7 million), being the consent fee that will
be shared pro rata among those Consenting Bondholders that became a party to
the Restructuring Support Agreement on or prior to 5:00 p.m. (Hong Kong
time) on 23 December 2015 (or such later date as the Company and the Steering
Committee Majority may agree in writing) in a total amount equal to 2% of the
outstanding principal amount and accrued but unpaid interest in respect of the
Senior Notes as at 25 November 2015.

“Consenting Bondholders” in this resolution means those Bondholders who
have acceded to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

“Restructuring Support Agreement” in this resolution means the restructuring
support agreement dated 25 November 2015 entered into between, among
others, the Company and the Consenting Bondholders.”

By Order of the Board
Winsway Enterprises Holdings Limited
Cao Xinyi
Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 25 April 2016

Principal place of business in Hong Kong: Registered Office:
Suites 2104—-05, Hutchison House Akara Bldg.

10 Harcourt Road 24 De Castro Street
Hong Kong Wickhams Cay 1

Notes:

Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands

1. Any member entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and,
on a poll, vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
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A form of proxy is enclosed. In order to be valid, a form of proxy together with the power of attorney or
other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy thereof, must be deposited at
the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the meeting. Completion and return of a form of proxy will not preclude you from
attending and voting in person if you are subsequently able to be present.

In the case of joint shareholders, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person, or by proxy,
shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders, and for this purpose seniority will be
determined by the order in which the names stand in the Company’s register of shareholders in respect of the
joint holding.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 12 May 2016 to Monday, 16 May
2016, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order
to qualify for the attendance at the EGM, all transfers accompanies by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 11 May 2016.

As at the date of this notice, the executive directors of the Company are Ms. Cao Xinyi, Ms. Zhu Hongchan,
Mr. Wang Yaxu and Mr. Feng Yi, the non-executive director of the Company is Mr. Lu Chuan and the
independent non-executive directors of the Company are Mr. James Downing, Mr. Ng Yuk Keung, Mr. Wang
Wenfu and Mr. George Jay Hambro.
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